AUTOIMMUNE THYROID PATHOLOGY - SPECIFICITY OF THE PEDIATRIC AGE

EDITED BY: Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, Aneta Monika Gawlik and Tommaso Aversa PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology and Frontiers in Pediatrics







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-586-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-586-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

AUTOIMMUNE THYROID PATHOLOGY - SPECIFICITY OF THE PEDIATRIC AGE

Topic Editors:

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, University of Messina, Italy Aneta Monika Gawlik, Medical University of Silesia, Poland Tommaso Aversa, University of Messina, Italy

Citation: Wasniewska, M. G., Gawlik, A. M., Aversa, T., eds. (2021). Autoimmune Thyroid Pathology - Specificity of the Pediatric Age. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-586-0

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Autoimmune Thyroid Pathology—Specificity of the Pediatric Age

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, Aneta Monika Gawlik and Tommaso Aversa

- **07** Hashimoto Thyroiditis and Dyslipidemia in Childhood: A Review Rade Vukovic, Aleksandra Zeljkovic, Biljana Bufan, Vesna Spasojevic-Kalimanovska, Tatjana Milenkovic and Jelena Vekic
- 18 Gender Differences at the Onset of Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases in Children and Adolescents

Valeria Calcaterra, Rossella E. Nappi, Corrado Regalbuto, Annalisa De Silvestri, Antonino Incardona, Rossella Amariti, Francesco Bassanese, Andrea Martina Clemente, Federica Vinci, Riccardo Albertini and Daniela Larizza

24 Long-Term Follow-Up and Outcomes of Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Childhood

Osnat Admoni, Shoshana Rath, Tal Almagor, Ghadir Elias-Assad and Yardena Tenenbaum-Rakover

30 Clinical and Biochemical Characteristics of Severe Hypothyroidism Due to Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Children

Anna Małgorzata Kucharska, Ewelina Witkowska-Sędek, Dominika Labochka and Małgorzata Rumińska

39 Does Hashimoto's Thyroiditis Increase the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Young Type 1 Diabetic Patients?

Barbara Głowinska-Olszewska, Hanna Borysewicz-Sańczyk, Beata Sawicka, Bożenna Klonowska, Dorota Charemska, Beata Żelazowska-Rutkowska and Artur Bossowskit

52 Increasing Co-occurrence of Additional Autoimmune Disorders at Diabetes Type 1 Onset Among Children and Adolescents Diagnosed in Years 2010–2018—Single-Center Study

Barbara Głowińska-Olszewska, Maciej Szabłowski, Patrycja Panas, Karolina Żołądek, Milena Jamiołkowska-Sztabkowska, Anna Justyna Milewska, Anna Kadłubiska, Agnieszka Polkowska, Włodzimierz Łuczyński and Artur Bossowski

64 Autoimmune Thyroid Disease in Specific Genetic Syndromes in Childhood and Adolescence

Eleni Magdalini Kyritsi and Christina Kanaka-Gantenbein

86 Genetic Association Study of IL2RA, IFIH1, and CTLA-4 Polymorphisms With Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases and Type 1 Diabetes

Hanna Borysewicz-Sańczyk, Beata Sawicka, Natalia Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek, Barbara Głowińska-Olszewska, Anna Kadłubiska, Joanna Gościk, Agnieszka Szadkowska, Aleksandra Łosiewicz, Wojciech Młynarski, Adam Kretowski and Artur Bossowski

97 Infliximab Therapy Could Decrease the Risk of the Development of Thyroid Disorders in Pediatric Patients With Crohn's Disease

Aleksandra Furtak, Anna Maria Wedrychowicz, Malgorzata Sladek, Andrzej Wedrychowicz, Krzysztof Fyderek and Jerzy Starzyk 105 Unusual Presentation of Polyautoimmunity and Renal Tubular Acidosis in an Adolescent With Hashimoto's Thyroiditis and Central Pontine Myelinolysis

Nora Bruns, Ilja Finkelberg, Ibrahim Al-Attrach, Peter F. Hoyer and Rainer Büscher

110 Analysis of Polymorphisms rs7093069-IL-2RA, rs7138803-FAIM2, and rs1748033-PADI4 in the Group of Adolescents With Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases

Beata Sawicka, Hanna Borysewicz-Sańczyk,

Natalia Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek, Tommaso Aversa, Domenico Corica, Joanna Gościk, Adam Krętowski, Małgorzata Waśniewska and Artur Bossowski





Editorial: Autoimmune Thyroid Pathology—Specificity of the Pediatric Age

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska^{1*}, Aneta Monika Gawlik² and Tommaso Aversa¹

¹ Department of Human Pathology in Adulthood and Childhood, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ² Department of Pediatrics and Pediatric Endocrinology, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice, Poland

Keywords: autoimmune thyroid diseases, Hashimoto autoimmune thyroiditis, Graves' disease, adolescents, children

Editorial on the Research Topic

Autoimmune Thyroid Pathology-Specificity of the Pediatric Age

Autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITDs) are the most common organ-specific autoimmune disorders and the most frequent cause of acquired thyroid dysfunction in adulthood as well as in childhood. AITDs include two main clinical presentations: Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) and Graves' disease (GD), both characterized by lymphocytic infiltration of the thyroid parenchyma. Clinical and biochemical features of HT and GD are related to hypothyroidism and thyrotoxicosis, respectively (1). In the pediatric population, the prevalence of AITDs is lower than in adults (1.2–1.3% for HT and 1‰ for GD), but increases in presence of chromosomopathies such as Down and Turner syndromes (2). The most common age of presentation of AITDs is adolescence but they may develop at any time, rarely however in infants. Sexual dimorphism, with a female predominance, is similar to adult population.

Although the pathogenic mechanism of AITDs is still under investigation, the evidence in favor of a genetic basis for AITDs is abundant and the factors that might influence the development of autoimmune disease can be related to genetic susceptibility, chromosomal differences or epigenetics (1).

Aim of this Research Topic was to report the most updated views on epidemiology, pathophysiology, diagnosis, long-term prognosis, treatment and management of AITDs in childhood and adolescence. This Research Topic put together eight original articles, two narrative reviews and one very particular case report, summarizing current knowledge on the pathogenesis, clinical long-term experience, clustering and interrelation with other autoimmune diseases, also on the peculiarity of AITDs in genetic syndromes in pediatric populations.

In the narrative review "Hashimoto Thyroiditis and Dyslipidemia in Childhood", Vukovic et al. discussed recent findings regarding the effects of AITDs on lipid metabolism and cardiovascular risk (CVR), including the beneficial impact of L-T4 treatment on dyslipidemia and potential usefulness of novel lipid biomarkers, such as proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9), non-cholesterol sterols, low-density lipoprotein particle size and number and high-density lipoprotein structure and functionality in pediatric patients with AITDs.

In the second review "Autoimmune Thyroid Disease in Specific Genetic Syndromes in Childhood and Adolescence", Kyritsi and Kanaka-Gantenbein presented the state of the art

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Sally Radovick, The State University of New Jersey, United States

*Correspondence:

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska mwasniewska@unime.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 22 December 2020 Accepted: 15 January 2021 Published: 05 February 2021

Citation:

Wasniewska MG, Gawlik AM and Aversa T (2021) Editorial: Autoimmune Thyroid Pathology– Specificity of the Pediatric Age. Front. Endocrinol. 12:645278. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.645278

5

on autoimmune and non-autoimmune thyroid pathology in chromosomal and other genetic origin syndromes, in a very detailed and updated way. We want to emphasize the didactic usefulness of this paper for pediatricians and pediatric endocrinologists.

The description, published by Bruns et al., of a rare case of polyautoimmunity including autoimmune thyroiditis, Sjögren's syndrome, vitiligo and celiac disease, entitled "Unusual presentation of polyautoimmunity and renal tubular acidosis in an adolescent with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and central pontine myelinolysis", highlighted the need for pediatricians to be aware of rare accompanying diseases and their complications in "common" pediatric autoimmune diseases like Hashimoto's thyroiditis and celiac disease.

In the context of this Research Topic, there are also four original retrospective studies that allowed us to increase our clinical knowledge based on the wide experience of the Authors.

Calcaterra et al. analyzed a pediatric population with onset of AITDs to assess gender differences with regard to onset age, disease subtype, pubertal status, autoimmune co-morbidity, family history, and treatment, focusing on the interaction between gender and pubertal stage. In the Authors' opinion, the gender specific characteristics of disease across puberty might help early diagnosis and clinical management of the thyroid pathology.

Admoni et al., in their study of "Long-Term Follow-Up and Outcomes of Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Childhood," tried to assess which factors at presentation can predict evolution over time of AITDs in pediatric age.

Kucharska et al. dealt with the topic "Clinical and Biochemical Characteristics of Severe Hypothyroidism Due to Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Children". Authors concluded that in children with severe hypothyroidism, above all without goiter, the most sensitive clinical symptoms were growth arrest and weight gain. Moreover, the specific biochemical profile closely correlated to the condition involved mostly erythropoiesis, liver function, and kidney function. Furthermore, pituitary enlargement should be considered in every child with severe hypothyroidism.

In a single-center retrospective study, over a 9-year observation period, Glowinska-Olszewska et al. revealed an increasing rate of new diagnosis of type 1 diabetes (T1D) together with a growing overall prevalence of additional autoimmune diseases (AITDs and coeliac) at T1D onset.

REFERENCES

- Aversa T, Corica D, Zirilli G, Pajno GB, Salzano G, De Luca F, et al. Phenotypic Expression of Autoimmunity in Children with Autoimmune Thyroid Disorders. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2019) 10:476. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2019.00476
- Aversa T, Lombardo F, Valenzise M, Messina MF, Sferlazzas C, Salzano G, et al. Peculiarities of autoimmune thyroid diseases in children with Turner or Down syndrome: an overview. *Ital J Pediatr* (2015) 41:39. doi: 10.1186/s13052-015-0146-2

Again Glowinska-Olszewska et al. prospectively investigated whether HT could increase CVR in young patients with T1D. The crucial finding of their study was that young patients with T1D and coexisting additional HT had a much more unfavorable profile of classical CVR factors compared to T1D peers without any additional disease. Furtak et al. in their clinical study suggested the protective role of infliximab therapy in the development of AITD and the usefulness of thyroid ultrasound to identify the probable risk for AITD in pediatric patients with Crohn's disease.

Finally, two very innovative studies on genetic predisposition for autoimmune diseases development have been published on this Research Topic.

Borysewicz-Sanczyk et al. performed a genetic association study of IL2RA, IFIH1, and CTLA-4 polymorphisms with AITD and T1D. Authors confirmed that in children and adolescents the investigated genes loci had a role in T1D, but not in AITD susceptibility.

Furthermore, Sawicka et al. performed an analysis of polymorphisms rs709369-*IL*-2*RA*, rs7138803-*FAIM2* and rs1748033-*PADI4* in a cohort of adolescents with AITDs followed in two European centers of pediatric endocrinology and demonstrated that these polymorphisms confer a genetic predisposition to develop autoimmune thyroid disorders, especially Graves' disease.

In conclusion, this Research Topic provides an important and updated contribution on the peculiarity of AITDs in childhood. Several papers highlighted the need for prospective studies to clarify certain pathogenetic, clinical, and also therapeutic aspects of AITDs in childhood.

Finally, AITDs in pediatric age is confirmed as an active and still growing area of research. Increasing knowledge of pathogenetic mechanisms will allow to better determine predisposition to AITD development, to earlier diagnose thyroid gland dysfunction, and to improve treatment.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MW, AG, and TA conceptualized, designed, wrote and approved the Editorial. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wasniewska, Gawlik and Aversa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Hashimoto Thyroiditis and Dyslipidemia in Childhood: A Review

Rade Vukovic^{1,2*}, Aleksandra Zeljkovic³, Biljana Bufan⁴, Vesna Spasojevic-Kalimanovska³, Tatjana Milenkovic¹ and Jelena Vekic³

¹ Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, Mother and Child Healthcare Institute of Serbia "Dr Vukan Cupic", Belgrade, Serbia, ² School of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ³ Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ⁴ Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia

Hashimoto autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT) is the most common cause of acquired hypothyroidism in the pediatric population. Development of AIT is mediated mainly by cellular immune response directed toward thyroid autoantigens, leading to inflammation and impaired function of thyroid gland. Both thyroid dysfunction and inflammation affect the metabolism of plasma lipoproteins. The alterations in lipid profile worsen with the advancement of hypothyroidism, ranging from discrete changes in euthyroid AIT patients, to atherogenic dyslipidemia in the overt hypothyroidism. In this review, characteristics of dyslipidemia in pediatric AIT patients, and the consequences in respect to the risk for cardiovascular disease (CVD) development are discussed. Additionally, benefit of L-thyroxine treatment on serum lipid profile in pediatric AIT patients is addressed. Finally, potential usefulness of novel lipid biomarkers, such as proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9), non-cholesterol sterols, low-density lipoprotein particle size and number, and high-density lipoprotein structure and functionality in AIT patients is also covered. Further longitudinal studies are needed in order to elucidate the long-term cardiovascular outcomes of dyslipidemia in pediatric patients with Hashimoto AIT.

Keywords: Hashimoto autoimmune thyroiditis, children, dyslipidemia, novel lipid biomarkers, L-thyroxine treatment

INTRODUCTION

Hashimoto autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT) is the most common cause of acquired hypothyroidism in childhood and adolescence. The prevalence of AIT in childhood peaks at early to mid- puberty. Presentation of the disease is rare before the age of 3 years, but there are described cases in infancy, too (1). Female strong preponderance has been reported with female to male ratio up to 3.4:1 (1–3), with high prevalence in patients with Down and Turner syndrome (4). Clinical manifestations of AIT in childhood are extremely diverse, ranging from completely normal, asymptomatic state, to pronounced symptoms of severe thyroid dysfunction.

Thyroid hormones have a broad spectrum of physiological effects on lipoprotein metabolism. As a result, plasma lipid and lipoprotein levels are sensitive to changes in the thyroid hormones concentrations. The alterations in lipid profile accompanying AIT worsen along with the advancement of hypothyroidism, ranging from discrete pro-atherogenic markers in euthyroid AIT, to full-blown dyslipidemia in many patients with the overt hypothyroidism (5–7). Furthermore, autoimmune disease itself has significant impact on lipid profile, as evidenced by a high prevalence of dyslipidemia in patients with autoimmune diseases (8–10), which may account, at least in part,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mohamad Maghnie, University of Genoa, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giorgio Radetti, Ospedale di Bolzano, Italy Malgorzata Wasniewska, University of Messina, Italy

> *Correspondence: Rade Vukovic

radevukovic9@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 26 October 2019 Accepted: 27 November 2019 Published: 10 December 2019

Citation:

Vukovic R, Zeljkovic A, Bufan B, Spasojevic-Kalimanovska V, Milenkovic T and Vekic J (2019) Hashimoto Thyroiditis and Dyslipidemia in Childhood: A Review. Front. Endocrinol. 10:868. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00868

7

to the increased cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk. Thus, it could be regarded as convenient that the efficacy of L-thyroxine (L-T4) treatment in the normalization of lipid status is directly proportionate to the degree of thyroid dysfunction, being highest in the overt hypothyroidism (5, 7, 11, 12). However, the waist majority of data linking autoimmune thyroid disease with dyslipidemia were gained from the studies in adults (13), whereas data in pediatric populations are limited. Also, data is scarce regarding the effects of L-T4 treatment on lipid profile in pediatric hypothyroidism, with or without thyroid autoimmunity (14–18).

In this narrative review, we will discuss recent findings regarding the effects of AIT on lipid metabolism and CVD risk, including the impact of L-T4 treatment on dyslipidemia and potential use of novel lipid biomarkers in pediatric patients with AIT.

DEVELOPMENT AND CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS OF HASHIMOTO'S THYROIDITIS IN CHILDHOOD

Like other autoimmune diseases, AIT is multifactorial disease caused by complex interplay of genetic (1, 19-26), environmental (21, 27-29), and hormonal factors (19, 21, 30), that provoke the inappropriate immune response against thyroid gland. HT is mainly mediated by cellular immune response directed toward thyroid autoantigens, leading to inflammation, fibrosis, and impaired function of thyroid gland (4, 26). The first step in pathogenesis is believed to be activation of autoreactive CD4+ T cells i.e., T helper (Th) cells specific for thyroid autoantigens. Th cells type 1 (Th1) activate cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CD8+ lymphocytes) and macrophages, which directly destroy thyroid follicular cells (31). Another subset of Th cells with a role in development and progress of chronic inflammation and tissue damage in HT are Th17 cells. Higher proportion of Th17 cells, as well as higher levels of cytokines produced by these cells were found in peripheral blood and thyroid tissue in HT patients compared with healthy controls (32-34). It is also observed that T regulatory (Treg) cells, cells with immunosuppressive function, accumulate in thyroid tissue of HT patients. However, in these patients Treg cells were found to be dysfunctional (35, 36). B lymphocytes, although representing humoral immunity, are also activated in AIT, producing antibodies against thyroid autoantigens (26). These cells are part of thyroid lymphocyte infiltrate (37) and exert antibody synthesis in the gland (31, 38). Autoantibodies are crucial component in AIT pathogenesis, since antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity is another and important factor responsible for apoptosis of thyroid follicular cells in this disease (26, 31).

Clinical presentation of AIT is best reviewed with respect to the thyroid status, since children with AIT can present as completely euthyroid, with mild subclinical hypothyroidism, severe overt hypothyroidism, or in the state of subclinical or overt hyperthyroidism (Hashitoxicosis) (39–43). Majority of children with AIT are either euthyroid or subclinically hypothyroid at the time of diagnosis (41, 42). Euthyroid state, defined by thyroid function tests within normal range, is usually asymptomatic, besides the frequent finding of a goiter (41, 42, 44, 45). Subclinical hypothyroidism in AIT, defined by elevated TSH with normal levels of serum thyroid hormones (fT4 and fT3), is usually classified as mild (TSH 4.5-10 mIU/l) or severe (TSH > 10 mIU/l) (7, 41, 46-49). Although the very name-"subclinical hypothyroidism" implies that this form of thyroid dysfunction presents merely as a laboratory finding without any signs or symptoms of clinical hypothyroidism besides goiter, these patients actually may present with other clinical and laboratory findings (7, 45, 47, 50, 51). Typical clinical signs and symptoms of hypothyroidism have been reported in some children with subclinical hypothyroidism, as well as the improvement of hypothyroidism symptoms scores with L-T4 treatment (7, 47, 51). Also, untreated long-lasting subclinical hypothyroidism in children has been firmly associated with subtle pro-atherogenic alterations in lipid profile (7, 17, 52). On the other hand, currently available data indicate that children with untreated longstanding subclinical hypothyroidism have normal linear growth, neurocognitive and behavioral outcomes, and bone health status (7, 47, 48, 53). It should be noted that although the association of obesity and subclinical hypothyroidism is welldocumented, abnormal thyroid function in obese patients seems to be a consequence of obesity, rather than a cause (47, 48).

Overt hypothyroidism, defined by elevated TSH with low level of serum fT4, is present in \sim 20% of all children with AIT at the time of diagnosis, and the onset of clinical manifestations is usually subtle (41, 42, 46). Classical signs and symptoms of overt hypothyroidism which may be seen in these children are: goiter, constipation, weight gain, poor growth velocity or short stature, fatigue and somnolence, poor school performance, cold intolerance, dry skin, bradycardia, yellowishpale skin tone with facial puffiness (myxedema), with frequent laboratory findings of anemia and dyslipidemia (41, 42, 46). Adolescents with overt hypothyroidism can also present with delayed or arrested pubertal development, irregular menstrual periods, menometrorrhagia, or amenorrhea in girls (41, 46). Rarely, girls with longstanding severe overt hypothyroidism can present with precocious puberty and menstrual bleeding with hyperprolactinaemia and delayed bone age (Van Wyk-Grumbach syndrome) (42, 46, 54).

Hashitoxicosis, the initial hyperthyroid phase of AIT caused by the release of preformed thyroid hormones from the gland, can be detected in \sim 10%, and subclinical hypothyroidism in up to 3% of children with AIT (39–43, 55–57). Clinical signs and symptoms of children with hashitoxicosis are those of hyperthyroidism, and cannot be distinguishable can be indistinguishable from Grave's disease: goiter, tachycardia, tremor, weight loss, restlessness, warm moist skin, ophthalmopathy, growth acceleration, delayed, or precocious puberty (39, 41, 58). Fortunately, this hyperthyroid phase of AIT is transient, usually resolving within several months into euthyroid state, or progressing to permanent hypothyroidism (41, 55, 56).

Apart from the described symptoms caused by the thyroid dysfunction itself, children with AIT may also have other autoimmune diseases or syndromes, such as celiac disease, type 1 diabetes (T1DM), Down's or Turner's syndrome, with corresponding symptoms adding to the overall clinical picture (42, 46).

HASHIMOTO THYROIDITIS AND DYSLIPIDEMIA

In general, subclinical hypothyroidism can slow-down metabolic pathways of cholesterol uptake, synthesis, and secretion, as well as reverse cholesterol transport process and catabolism of triglyceride (TG)-rich lipoproteins (Figure 1) (12, 59, 60). As compared to healthy children, total and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) levels are commonly elevated, while the level of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) can be normal or decreased in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism (Table 1). Although some authors reported no differences in serum lipid profile between pediatric patients with subclinical hypothyroidism and controls, the frequency of dyslipidemic children was significantly higher in the patients group (51, 61). The study evaluating children, adolescents and adults with subclinical hypothyroidism suggested that abnormalities in lipid profile are more pronounced in adult patients, as well as in those with severe form of the disease (62). Yet, the impact of the disease severity on lipid profile was not confirmed in later studies in pediatric patients (61, 63).

The hallmark of subclinical hypothyroidism-related dyslipidemia is reduced synthesis of liver LDL receptors and the mechanisms behind this effect have been extensively studied and explained. Emerging evidence suggests that the levels of circulating proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9), a serin-protease responsible for downregulation of liver LDL receptors, is also increased in subclinical hypothyroidism (64), paving the way for innovative lipid-lowering therapy in this category of patients (5). However, data on PCSK9 in children are



FIGURE 1 | Main effector molecules involved in alterations of lipoprotein metabolism driven by thyroid hormones. LDL, low-density lipoprotein; ABCA1, ATP binding cassette subfamily A member 1; SR-BI, scavenger receptor class B type 1; LPL, lipoprotein-lipase; HL, hepatic lipase; LCAT, lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase; CETP, cholesteryl-ester transfer protein. sparse and the studies examining efficacy, safety, and tolerability of PCSK9 inhibitors in pediatric patients are underway (65).

Body cholesterol pool is maintained by delicate balance between the processes of cholesterol synthesis, absorption, and biliary secretion, all of which can be affected even by subtle alterations in thyroid hormones levels (60). Plasma noncholesterol sterols, including cholesterol precursors and plant sterols, are validated biomarkers of cholesterol biosynthesis and intestinal absorption efficiency (66). The results of a small study by Matysik et al. (67) suggested that the levels of plasma non-cholesterol sterols could serve as indicators of disrupted cholesterol homeostasis in patients with hyper- and hypothyroidism. Recently, plasma profile of non-cholesterol sterols from birth to 15 years of age was characterized in pediatric population without dyslipidemia (68). These data could form a solid base for future evaluation of the extent of cholesterol synthesis and absorption alterations in children and adolescents with AIT.

The lack of thyroid hormones is associated with reduced clearance of TG-rich particles, due to attenuated lipoproteinlipase (LPL) and hepatic lipase (HL) activities, and increased production of very-low density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles (5). Hence, apart from the impact on LDL-C level, thyroid dysfunction may affect qualitative characteristics and functional properties of LDL particles. Namely, hypertriglyceridemia is intimately linked to the increased production of small, dense LDL particles (69). Bearing in mind that thyroid hormones may protect LDL particles from oxidation (70), and the fact that small, dense LDL particles are prone to oxidative modifications (69), there is increased potential for adverse modification of LDL particles in hypothyroid state. Indeed, increased small, dense LDL, and oxidized LDL particles were recently reported in normolipidemic adult patients with hypothyroidism (71). These data clearly demonstrated the usefulness of advanced lipid testing for identification of the patients with high CVD risk, which should be further confirmed in pediatric patients with both subclinical and overt thyroid dysfunction.

In contrast to firm scientific and clinical evidence which consistently points to elevated LDL-C concentrations in patients with hypothyroidism, data regarding HDL-C are not homogenous. As it has been presented in **Table 1**, HDL-C levels were decreased or unchanged in hypothyroid states. Interpretation of data and drawing of conclusions is particularly complicated in pediatric population, since most of the data regarding the association of HDL and thyroid status is derived from studies in adults. It is also noteworthy that studies analyzing HDL-C concentration in children with hypothyroidism were conducted in smaller cohorts, which might affect the reliability of the obtained results. Therefore, larger studies with prospective design are needed to resolve this issue.

However, a contemporary approach to HDL's clinical significance might put aside these conflicting results concerning HDL-C levels in hypothyroid subjects, since another question is considered as even more important in modern research and clinical practice. Namely, due to complex structure and numerous functions of HDL, it is nowadays accepted that quality of this lipoprotein's particles is more significant than their

| TABLE 1 Lipid profile of pediatric patien | nts with subclinical hypothyroidism. |
|---|--------------------------------------|
|---|--------------------------------------|

| Authors | N | Age, years | Alterations of lipid profile | References |
|----------------------------|---------|----------------|---|------------|
| Paoli-Valeri et al. (2005) | 17 | 4.3 ± 1.0 | ↓HDL-C; ↔TC; ↔ LDL-C; ↔ TG; ↔ TC/HDL-C; ↔ LDL-C/HDL-C | (14) |
| Cerbone et al. (2014) | 49 | 8.5 ± 0.5 | $\downarrow HDL-C; \uparrow TC/HDL-C; \uparrow TG/HDL-C; \leftrightarrow TC; \leftrightarrow LDL-C; \leftrightarrow TG; \leftrightarrow non-HDL-C$ | (17) |
| Dahl et al. (2018) | 228 | 13.3 ± 4.2 | \uparrow TC; \uparrow non-HDL-C; \leftrightarrow HDL-C | (18) |
| Catli et al. (2014) | 27 | 10 (6.9)* | \leftrightarrow TC; \leftrightarrow LDL-C; \leftrightarrow HDL-C; \leftrightarrow TG | (51) |
| Cerbone et al. (2016) | 39 | 9.2 ± 3.6 | ↓HDL-C; ↑TC-/HDL-C; ↑TG/HDL-C; ↔TC; ↔ TG; ↔ LDL-C; ↔ non-HDL-C | (52) |
| Unal et al. (2017) | 38 | 8.1 ± 3.6 | TC; $LDL-C$; $LDL-C/HDL-C$; $TC/HDL-C$; ↔ HDL-C; ↔ TG | (61) |
| Marwaha et al. (2011) | 280/35# | 12.8 ± 2.8 | $\leftrightarrow/{\downarrow}HDL\text{-C}; \leftrightarrow/{\leftrightarrow}TC; \leftrightarrow/{\uparrow}TG; \leftrightarrow/{\uparrow}LDL\text{-C}$ | (62) |
| Isguven et al. (2016) | 66 | 14.4 ± 2.4 | \uparrow TC; \uparrow LDL-C; \leftrightarrow TG; \leftrightarrow HDL-C | (63) |

In relation to euthyroid or control group: \uparrow , increased; \downarrow , reduced; \leftrightarrow , unchanged. *Median (interquartile range) was reported. [#]280 patients with TSH \leq 10 mIU/L and 35 patients with TSH > 10 mIU/L were studied. TC, total cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; non-HDL-C, non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

cholesterol content (72). As precisely summarized in a review by Triolo et al. (73), functional properties of HDL could be grouped in four essential categories: reverse cholesterol transport, antioxidative, anti-inflammatory, and vasodilatatory activities. It has also been demonstrated that alterations in HDL structure affect its functionality. In addition, it is now clear that both HDL structure and functions can be easily modified if changes occur in their vascular environment (74). Therefore, several new aspects should be considered regarding HDL in patients with AIT, including the impact of subclinical or overt hypothyroidism on HDL's quality, as well as the influence of pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidative environment on these particles. Providing answers on these questions might have significant implications for interpretation of CVD risk in AIT patients, especially those of young age, considering their long-term exposure to possible detrimental factors (Figure 2).

Changes of HDL's structure and function in relation to thyroid hormones status are largely unexplored. However, a recent study has shown that both cholesterol efflux and activity of HDL-associated enzyme paraoxonase 1 (PON1) are decreased in patients with overt hypothyroidism (75), thus implicating diminishing of HDL functionality. Several reasons could be responsible for such findings. Namely, studies involving human subjects and animal models have demonstrated that hypothyroidism is associated with decreased activities of cholesteryl-ester transfer protein (CETP), lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT), and HL (76, 77). Having in mind that these enzymes are key regulators of HDL metabolism, changes in HDL structure and consequently function should be expected. Indeed, a higher prevalence of larger HDL 2 subclasses was found in subjects with hypothyroidism in a study by Tan et al. (76). Larger HDL particles are generally considered as highly atheroprotective, but, as it has been already mentioned, novel data (75) suggest that functionality of HDL particles in hypothyroidism is compromised.

The next aspect that should be considered is the impact of inflammation on HDL particles. So far, changes in both HDL-C level and HDL structure have been reported in several autoimmune diseases (78). It is also noteworthy that AIT is the most frequent co-morbidity of pediatric patients with T1DM

(79). In our recent study, we analyzed lipid and lipoprotein subclasses profile in pediatric T1DM patients with and without co-existing autoimmune diseases and found that those with associated Hashimoto AIT had more profound dyslipidemia (80). Generally speaking, HDL possesses strong anti-inflammatory properties, but it has been demonstrated that pro-inflammatory environment can diminish its protective capacity (78). Being an autoimmune disease, Hashimoto thyroiditis is characterized by chronic inflammation (81). Many components of inflammation are shown to affect HDL particles. Previous researches pointed toward serum amyloid A (SAA), which is abundantly produced in inflammatory states and is capable to replace apolipoprotein AI (apo-AI) on HDL particles, thereby diminishing their anti-inflammatory properties and, paradoxically, turning them into inflammatory agents (78). Moreover, it has been shown that activity of LCAT is reduced (82) as a consequence of inflammation and this can compromise maturation and normal function of HDL particles. In addition, a decrease in CETP mass and activity was also observed in pro-inflammatory conditions (82, 83), although, it was suggested that this could be an adaptive mechanism aimed to prevent massive HDL-C reduction, which is driven by other factors (83). It should also be mentioned that PON1 levels and activity are decreased during inflammation, thereby diminishing antioxidative properties of HDL (84). As for Hashimoto AIT, it has been shown that PON1 level is decreased in these patients (85, 86).

Finally, HDL is a major carrier of sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) and evidence suggests that the interaction of S1P with HDL has significant impact on S1P activity (87, 88). S1P is well-known mediator of immune response (89) and recently it has been demonstrated that S1P participates in the development of Hashimoto AIT through its interaction with S1P receptor 1 (90). Yet, whether structural changes of HDL participate in modification of S1P activity in AIT is still to be revealed. Furthermore, the impact of these interactions on increase of CVD risk in Hashimoto AIT, especially in pediatric population, needs to be evaluated.

Before making any conclusions regarding lipid status in AIT, one should be aware that autoimmune disorders frequently aggregate in the same patient. A recent review (91) has shown



that various autoimmune comorbidities are associated with AIT in an age-dependent manner. Namely, studies reported that frequency of co-existing autoimmune diseases in children with AIT ranges between 6.6 and 58.2%, wherein celiac disease and T1DM are the most frequent comorbidities (91). Thus, possible contribution of other co-existing autoimmune diseases on lipid profile in AIT should not be neglected.

It is known that T1DM is associated with alterations of serum lipid profile. Semova et al. (92) recently demonstrated decreased cholesterol synthesis and increased cholesterol absorption, with concomitant changes in TC, LDL-C, and HDL-C levels in young patients with T1DM, when compared to age-matched healthy individuals. Moreover, it has been suggested that both structural and functional alterations affect HDL particles in T1DM (93). Similarly, it has been shown that patients with celiac disease exhibit changes in lipid profile, especially decreased HDL-C concentration (94). Yet, it is noteworthy that independent effects of co-existing autoimmune diseases on serum lipids are rarely evaluated. However, it has been reported that LDL-C and TG levels are higher in children with concomitant presence of T1DM and celiac disease, when compared to children with T1DM alone (95). Moreover, lower HDL-C levels were found in children with T1DM if celiac disease was co-existing (96). Also, our own results demonstrated that the prevalence of dyslipidemia was higher in pediatric T1DM patients if celiac disease or AIT were concomitantly present (80). Summarizing all mentioned findings, eventual co-existence of other autoimmune diseases should be taken into account for comprehensive evaluation of dyslipidemia in AIT. Further studies are needed to fulfill a gap in current understanding of mechanisms by which polyautoimmunity is involved in development of lipid disorders.

EFFECTS OF L-THYROXINE TREATMENT ON LIPID STATUS IN HASHIMOTO'S AIT

Most of the known data regarding the beneficial effects of L-T4 treatment on lipid profile is derived from studies in adults with overt or subclinical hypothyroidism (12, 75, 97-102). Among the recent studies, Minarikova et al. demonstrated significant improvements of total cholesterol (TC), LDL-C, TG, apoB, atherogenic index of plasma, and LDL subclasses following L-T4 substitution treatment in 40 newly-diagnosed overt hypothyroidism patients with AIT (103). Uniquely designed study of 27 adult patients who underwent total thyroidectomy and radioactive iodine treatment for differentiated thyroid carcinoma, revealed that dynamic changes in thyroid function are associated with corresponding dynamic changes of the lipid profile and HDL function (75). Compared to the baseline levels (on L-T4 treatment), when patients entered the overt hypothyroid state (TSH > 30 mU/L after 4 weeks of L-T4 withdrawal), the levels of TC, TG, LDL-C, apoA-I, and apoB significantly increased, and then again recovered to the baseline levels after 3 months, following the reinstitution of L-T4 treatment. The levels of HDL-C increased during the overt hypothyroid state, with impairment of function (evaluated by cholesterol efflux capacity and PON1 activity), and these changes persisted despite restoration of thyroid hormone levels. It could not be concluded if impaired HDL-C function would also improve after a longer period of follow-up (75).

Results from studies in the adult population also indicate that L-T4 treatment could result in lowering of TPO-Ab levels in patients with AIT (104, 105). This could also potentially lead to the improvement of the lipid profile, having in mind that thyroid

autoimmunity with higher TPO-Ab levels is associated with an unfavorable lipid profile irrespective of thyroid function, in both children and adults (13, 63, 80, 106, 107).

Subclinical hypothyroidism in children, with a prevalence of 2–9%, is generally considered a benign condition with a significant chance of remission, however, findings of subtle proatherogenic abnormalities in these children highlights the lack of consensus regarding treatment criteria (7, 17, 49, 52, 53, 108– 110). Treatment with L-T4, which was usually recommended only in children with goiter, hypothyroidism symptoms or TSH levels > 10 mU/L, is now being recommended by some experts for treatment of mild subclinical hypothyroidism in cases of: positive TPO-Ab, concomitant celiac disease, TSH > 8 mU/L in two repeated measurements, gradually increasing TSH levels, hyperlipidemia and younger patient age (7, 47, 49, 52, 53, 109).

Although the association of thyroid function with atherogenic alterations in lipid profile has been well-documented in children, data is scarce regarding the effects of L-T4 treatment in pediatric hypothyroidism, with or without thyroid autoimmunity (14–18). Dorr et al. observed a decrease of thyroid volume in 25 euthyroid children with Hashimoto's thyroiditis with L-T4 treatment, while changes in lipids were not evaluated (44). Another study also showed reduction of goiter with L-T4 treatment especially in cases of overt hypothyroid, but also in SH and euthyroid children with AIT (45).

Among the very few studies evaluating the effects of L-T4 treatment in children with subclinical hypothyroidism, only two studies investigated changes in the lipid profile (51, 52, 108, 111, 112). In a prospective study by Catli et al., 27 children (median age of 10 years) with subclinical hypothyroidism were treated with L-T4 until achievement of euthyroid state plus 6 months and then compared with euthyroid healthy control group. Seven (26%) of these patients with SH had AIT. Although improvement in the hypothyroidism symptoms score was associated with L-T4 treatment, no significant differences were observed regarding TC, TG, HDL-C, and LDL-C (51). The absence of significant findings could be attributed to the relatively short duration of follow-up as well as low number of patients enrolled. On the other hand, a prospective case-control study by Cerbone et al. discovered significant effects of 2 years of L-T4 treatment on pro-atherogenic markers in children with mild (TSH 4.5-10.0 mU/L) idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism (52). A total of 39 children (mean age 9.2 years) with mild idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism were compared with healthy controls. However, in this study

patients with detectable TPO-Ab, Tg-Ab, or abnormal thyroid echogenicity on ultrasound were excluded from the study. Mean HDL-C levels were lower, with higher TG/HDL-C ratio and atherogenic index (TC/HDL-C), in subclinical hypothyroidism subjects compared with controls. After 2 years of L-T4 treatment, these parameters improved significantly in the SH group, so no more significant differences between subclinical hypothyroidism subjects and controls were observed. It was concluded that 2 years of L-T4 treatment resulted in an improvement of many lipid abnormalities in children with mild idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism (52). However, having in mind that patients with AIT were excluded from this study, results should be interpreted with caution in the context of pediatric hypothyroidism caused by AIT. Further studies are needed to evaluate the metabolic effects of L-T4 treatment in hypothyroid children with AIT, compared with treated non-autoimmune hypothyroid children and not treated healthy controls.

IMPLICATIONS FOR CARDIOVASCULAR PREVENTION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Dyslipidemia and increased carotid intima media thickness (cIMT), a reliable indicator of subclinical atherosclerosis, was recently documented in pediatric patients with Hashimoto thyroiditis (61, 63), suggesting the importance of regular evaluation of cardiovascular risk factors in children with AIT (Figure 3). In recent years, the role of cholesterol in the development of CVD has been challenged. In particular, the main controversy was centered on the impact of dietary fats on cardiovascular risk. According to a recent metaanalysis by de Souza et al. (113), the intake of saturated fatty acids was not associated with a higher cardiovascular risk. Similarly, data from randomized controlled trials shows that the replacement of saturated with polyunsaturated fatty acids might reduce serum cholesterol levels, but does not decrease the risk from all-cause or mortality due to coronary heart disease (114, 115). Nevertheless, a panel of experts from the European Atherosclerosis Society recently issued a Consensus Statement, supported by the evidence from genetic, prospective epidemiologic studies, Mendelian randomization studies and randomized trials evaluating lipid-lowering therapies, that high LDL-C is a causal factor in the pathophysiology of CVD and should remain the main therapeutic target (116).



Although LDL-C level remains primary target for CVD prevention, advanced lipid testing could be advised to reveal hidden cardiovascular risk. In this context, lipoprotein particle size, number and subclasses distribution, HDL lipidome, proteome, and functionality testing may provide valuable information beyond LDL and HDL cholesterol levels. Regarding alterations in metabolism of TG-rich lipoproteins, it can be easily assessed by calculation of non-HDL-C level, as it was recently recommended by expert lipidologists (117). To date, increased PCSK9 levels and its impact on dyslipidema has been reported in the most common autoimmune disease in childhood, T1DM (118), and future studies in pediatric Hashimoto thyroiditis are warranted.

Another important aspect in addressing the link between subclinical hypothyroidism and dyslipidemia is related to the laboratory assessment and interpretation of TSH levels. As stated previously, the definition of subclinical hypothyroidism relies on a mildly elevated serum TSH concentration, which is associated with normal T4 or fT4 levels. According to the guidelines of European Thyroid Association for the management of subclinical hypothyroidism in children, appropriate diagnosis of subclinical hypothyroidism in pediatric patients requires adequate age-adjusted reference ranges for TSH and thyroid hormones is mandatory (119). To date, numerous studies have been performed to define reference range of thyroid hormones in pediatric population, and some of them stratified results according to sex (120-122). Yet, there is still no consensus regarding this issue. Onsesveren et al. (123) recently performed a systematic review of published reference ranges for TSH and fT4 in children and demonstrated substantial differences among studies. For instance, the upper reference limit of TSH ranged between 2.36 and 6.57 mU/L (123). The difference among published reference values could be a consequence of age, gender, and demographic characteristics of included populations, including lifestyle, iodine, and selenium status (120) and/or different assays employed for the laboratory measurements of thyroid hormones. As previously acknowledged by the National Academy of Clinical Biochemistry, serum TSH level has high biological variability, due to short half-life and diurnal variation (124). Also, as a consequence of improved sensitivity and specificity of the methods for TSH determination, the upper reference limit for TSH decreased over time. Finally, it should not be neglected that thyroid hormones circulate bound to plasma

REFERENCES

- Cappa M, Bizzarri C, Crea F. Autoimmune thyroid diseases in children. J Thyroid Res. (2010) 2011:675703. doi: 10.4061/2011/6 75703
- Hunter I, Greene SA, MacDonald TM, Morris AD. Prevalence and aetiology of hypothyroidism in the young. *Arch Dis Child.* (2000) 83:207–10. doi: 10.1136/adc.83.3.207
- Desai MP, Karandikar S. Autoimmune thyroid disease in childhood: a study of children and their families. *Indian Pediatr.* (1999) 36:659–68.
- Wassner AJ. Pediatric hypothyroidism: diagnosis and treatment. Paediatr Drugs. (2017) 19:291–301. doi: 10.1007/s40272-017-0238-0

proteins, and their biological action is exerted by the fraction (0.02–0.1%) of unbound or "free" form (4). Hence, the direct fT4 assays may be inaccurate in patients with severe systemic illness or abnormalities of protein binding, so caution is needed when interpreting such tests in this setting (4).

Unlike other forms of subclinical hypothyroidism in childhood, Hashimoto AIT is characterized by an increased likelihood for progression to overt hypothyroidism (47). Long-term cardiovascular outcomes in pediatric patients with Hashimoto thyroiditis are largely unknown due to lack of longitudinal prospective studies. In addition, clinical studies aimed to address benefit of L-T4 administration on future cardiovascular health are required. Available data indicate that statins also have certain immunomodulatory properties (125). Hence, the impact on conventional dyslipidemia treatment on thyroid autoimmunity should be explored in the future.

CONCLUSIONS

Available evidence suggests that AIT is associated with profound changes of lipid profile, which are driven not only by a decrease in thyroid hormones, but also by chronic inflammation and disturbed redox balance. In light of the current scientific data, novel biomarkers of altered lipoprotein metabolism might provide more complete information regarding lipid profile of Hashimoto AIT patients and subsequent cardiovascular risk. However, lack of reliable results in pediatric AIT patients urges the need for more comprehensive studies aimed to explore characteristics of dyslipidemia in children with Hashimoto AIT and implications for their future cardiovascular health.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

The authors from the Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Pharmacy are financially supported by a grant from the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development, Republic of Serbia (Project No. 175035).

- Duntas LH, Brenta G. A renewed focus on the association between thyroid hormones and lipid metabolism. *Front Endocrinol.* (2018) 9:511. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00511
- 6. Yetkin DO, Dogantekin B. The lipid parameters and lipoprotein(a) excess in hashimoto thyroiditis. *Int J Endocrinol.* (2015) 2015:952729. doi: 10.1155/2015/952729
- Catli G, Abaci A, Buyukgebiz A, Bober E. Subclinical hypothyroidism in childhood and adolescense. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 27:1049–57. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2014-0089
- Ma C, Harskamp CT, Armstrong EJ, Armstrong AW. The association between psoriasis and dyslipidaemia: a systematic review. *Br J Dermatol.* (2013) 168:486–95. doi: 10.1111/bjd.12101

- Bag-Ozbek A, Giles JT. Inflammation, adiposity, and atherogenic dyslipidemia in rheumatoid arthritis: is there a paradoxical relationship? *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep.* (2015) 15:497. doi: 10.1007/s11882-014-0497-6
- Tselios K, Koumaras C, Gladman DD, Urowitz MB. Dyslipidemia in systemic lupus erythematosus: just another comorbidity? *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. (2016) 45:604–10. doi: 10.1016/j.semarthrit.2015.10.010
- O'Brien T, Dinneen SF, O'Brien PC, Palumbo PJ. Hyperlipidemia in patients with primary and secondary hypothyroidism. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (1993) 68:860–6. doi: 10.1016/S0025-6196(12)60694-6
- Rizos CV, Elisaf MS, Liberopoulos EN. Effects of thyroid dysfunction on lipid profile. Open Cardiovasc Med J. (2011) 5:76–84. doi: 10.2174/1874192401105010076
- Tamer G, Mert M, Tamer I, Mesci B, Kilic D, Arik S. Effects of thyroid autoimmunity on abdominal obesity and hyperlipidaemia. *Endokrynol Pol.* (2011) 62:421–8.
- Paoli-Valeri M, Guzman M, Jimenez-Lopez V, Arias-Ferreira A, Briceno-Fernandez M, Arata-Bellabarba G. Atherogenic lipid profile in children with subclinical hypothyroidism. *An Pediatr.* (2005) 62:128–34. doi: 10.1157/13071309
- Witte T, Ittermann T, Thamm M, Riblet NB, Volzke H. Association between serum thyroid-stimulating hormone levels and serum lipids in children and adolescents: a population-based study of german youth. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2015) 100:2090–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-4466
- Zhang J, Jiang R, Li L, Li P, Li X, Wang Z, et al. Serum thyrotropin is positively correlated with the metabolic syndrome components of obesity and dyslipidemia in chinese adolescents. *Int J Endocrinol.* (2014) 2014:289503. doi: 10.1155/2014/289503
- Cerbone M, Capalbo D, Wasniewska M, Mattace Raso G, Alfano S, Meli R, et al. Cardiovascular risk factors in children with long-standing untreated idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 99:2697–703. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-1761
- Dahl AR, Iqbal AM, Lteif AN, Pittock ST, Tebben PJ, Kumar S. Mild subclinical hypothyroidism is associated with paediatric dyslipidaemia. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2018) 89:330–5. doi: 10.1111/cen.13752
- Weetman AP. The immunopathogenesis of chronic autoimmune thyroiditis one century after hashimoto. *Eur Thyroid J.* (2013) 1:243–50. doi: 10.1159/000343834
- Brown R, Francis GL. Autoimmune thyroid disorders. J Thyroid Res. (2011) 2011:432890. doi: 10.4061/2011/432890
- 21. Dong YH, Fu DG. Autoimmune thyroid disease: mechanism, genetics and current knowledge. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2014) 18:3611–8.
- 22. Menconi F, Monti MC, Greenberg DA, Oashi T, Osman R, Davies TF, et al. Molecular amino acid signatures in the MHC class II peptide-binding pocket predispose to autoimmune thyroiditis in humans and in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:14034–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0806584105
- Zeitlin AA, Heward JM, Newby PR, Carr-Smith JD, Franklyn JA, Gough SC, et al. Analysis of HLA class II genes in Hashimoto's thyroiditis reveals differences compared to Graves' disease. *Genes Immun.* (2008) 9:358–63. doi: 10.1038/gene.2008.26
- 24. Jacobson EM, Tomer Y. The CD40, CTLA-4, thyroglobulin, TSH receptor, and PTPN22 gene quintet and its contribution to thyroid autoimmunity: back to the future. *J Autoimmun.* (2007) 28:85–98. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2007.02.006
- Tomer Y. Genetic susceptibility to autoimmune thyroid disease: past, present, and future. *Thyroid*. (2010) 20:715–25. doi: 10.1089/thy.2010.1644
- Rydzewska M, Jaromin M, Pasierowska IE, Stozek K, Bossowski A. Role of the T and B lymphocytes in pathogenesis of autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Thyroid Res.* (2018) 11:2. doi: 10.1186/s13044-018-0046-9
- 27. Cogni G, Chiovato L. An overview of the pathogenesis of thyroid autoimmunity. *Hormones.* (2013) 12:19–29. doi: 10.1007/BF03401283
- Brent GA. Environmental exposures and autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid*. (2010) 20:755–61. doi: 10.1089/thy.2010.1636
- Eschler DC, Hasham A, Tomer Y. Cutting edge: the etiology of autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2011) 41:190–7. doi: 10.1007/s12016-010-8245-8
- Effraimidis G, Wiersinga WM. Mechanisms in endocrinology: autoimmune thyroid disease: old and new players. *Eur J Endocrinol*. (2014) 170:R241–52. doi: 10.1530/EJE-14-0047

- Pyzik A, Grywalska E, Matyjaszek-Matuszek B, Rolinski J. Immune disorders in Hashimoto's thyroiditis: what do we know so far? J Immunol Res. (2015) 2015:979167. doi: 10.1155/2015/979167
- 32. Qin Q, Liu P, Liu L, Wang R, Yan N, Yang J, et al. The increased but nonpredominant expression of Th17- and Th1-specific cytokines in Hashimoto's thyroiditis but not in Graves' disease. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (2012) 45:1202–8. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X2012007500168
- Li D, Cai W, Gu R, Zhang Y, Zhang H, Tang K, et al. Th17 cell plays a role in the pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in patients. *Clin Immunol.* (2013) 149:411–20. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2013.10.001
- Gonzalez-Amaro R, Marazuela M. T regulatory (Treg) and T helper 17 (Th17) lymphocytes in thyroid autoimmunity. *Endocrine*. (2016) 52:30–8. doi: 10.1007/s12020-015-0759-7
- Mao C, Wang S, Xiao Y, Xu J, Jiang Q, Jin M, et al. Impairment of regulatory capacity of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells mediated by dendritic cell polarization and hyperthyroidism in Graves' disease. *J Immunol.* (2011) 186:4734–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0904135
- Glick AB, Wodzinski A, Fu P, Levine AD, Wald DN. Impairment of regulatory T-cell function in autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid.* (2013) 23:871–8. doi: 10.1089/thy.2012.0514
- Ben-Skowronek I, Szewczyk L, Kulik-Rechberger B, Korobowicz E. The differences in T and B cell subsets in thyroid of children with Graves' disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *World J Pediatr.* (2013) 9:245–50. doi: 10.1007/s12519-013-0398-0
- Ramos-Levi AM, Marazuela M. Pathogenesis of thyroid autoimmune disease: the role of cellular mechanisms. *Endocrinol Nutr.* (2016) 63:421–9. doi: 10.1016/j.endonu.2016.04.003
- Wasniewska M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Lombardo F, Aversa T, Mussa A, et al. Outcomes of children with hashitoxicosis. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 77:36–40. doi: 10.1159/000334640
- Brown RS. Autoimmune thyroiditis in childhood. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. (2013) 5 (Suppl 1):45–9. doi: 10.4274/Jcrpe.855
- Caturegli P, De Remigis A, Rose NR. Hashimoto thyroiditis: clinical and diagnostic criteria. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:391–7. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2014.01.007
- Diaz A, Lipman Diaz EG. Hypothyroidism. Pediatr Rev. (2014) 35:336–47; quiz 48–9. doi: 10.1542/pir.35-8-336
- 43. Aversa T, Valenzise M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Mussa A, Capalbo D, et al. Subclinical hyperthyroidism when presenting as initial manifestation of juvenile Hashimoto's thyroiditis: first report on its natural history. J Endocrinol Invest. (2014) 37:303–8. doi: 10.1007/s40618-014-0054-0
- 44. Dorr HG, Bettendorf M, Binder G, Karges B, Kneppo C, Schmidt H, et al. Levothyroxine treatment of euthyroid children with autoimmune hashimoto thyroiditis: results of a multicenter, randomized, controlled trial. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2015) 84:266–74. doi: 10.1159/000437140
- Svensson J, Ericsson UB, Nilsson P, Olsson C, Jonsson B, Lindberg B, et al. Levothyroxine treatment reduces thyroid size in children and adolescents with chronic autoimmune thyroiditis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2006) 91:1729–34. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-2400
- Counts D, Varma SK. Hypothyroidism in children. Pediatr Rev. (2009) 30:251–8. doi: 10.1542/pir.30-7-251
- Salerno M, Capalbo D, Cerbone M, De Luca F. Subclinical hypothyroidism in childhood - current knowledge and open issues. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2016) 12:734–46. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2 016.100
- Gallizzi R, Crisafulli C, Aversa T, Salzano G, De Luca F, Valenzise M, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism in children: is it always subclinical? *Ital J Pediatr.* (2018) 44:25. doi: 10.1186/s13052-018-0462-4
- 49. Crisafulli G, Aversa T, Zirilli G, Pajno GB, Corica D, De Luca F, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism in children: when a replacement hormonal treatment might be advisable. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:109. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00109
- Cooper DS, Biondi B. Subclinical thyroid disease. *Lancet.* (2012) 379:1142– 54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60276-6
- Catli G, Anik A, Unver Tuhan H, Bober E, Abaci A. The effect of L-thyroxine treatment on hypothyroid symptom scores and lipid profile in children with subclinical hypothyroidism. *J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol.* (2014) 6:238–44. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.1594

- Cerbone M, Capalbo D, Wasniewska M, Alfano S, Mattace Raso G, Oliviero U, et al. Effects of L-thyroxine treatment on early markers of atherosclerotic disease in children with subclinical hypothyroidism. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2016) 175:11–9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0833
- Cerbone M, Bravaccio C, Capalbo D, Polizzi M, Wasniewska M, Cioffi D, et al. Linear growth and intellectual outcome in children with long-term idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2011) 164:591–7. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-0979
- Rastogi A, Bhadada SK, Bhansali A. An unusual presentation of a usual disorder: Van Wyk-Grumbach syndrome. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 15(Suppl 2):S141–3. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.83356
- 55. Shahbaz A, Aziz K, Umair M, Sachmechi I. Prolonged duration of hashitoxicosis in a patient with Hashimoto's thyroiditis: a case report and review of literature. *Cureus*. (2018) 10:e2804. doi: 10.7759/cureus.2804
- Nabhan ZM, Kreher NC, Eugster EA. Hashitoxicosis in children: clinical features and natural history. J Pediatr. (2005) 146:533–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.10.070
- 57. Wasniewska M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Mussa A, Capalbo D, Messina MF, et al. Thyroid function patterns at Hashimoto's thyroiditis presentation in childhood and adolescence are mainly conditioned by patients' age. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 78:232–6. doi: 10.1159/000343815
- Hanley P, Lord K, Bauer AJ. Thyroid disorders in children and adolescents: a review. JAMA Pediatr. (2016) 170:1008–19. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0486
- Duntas LH, Brenta G. The effect of thyroid disorders on lipid levels and metabolism. *Med Clin North Am.* (2012) 96:269–81. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2012.01.012
- Brenta G, Fretes O. Dyslipidemias and hypothyroidism. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev.* (2014) 11:390–9.
- Unal E, Akin A, Yildirim R, Demir V, Yildiz I, Haspolat YK. Association of subclinical hypothyroidism with dyslipidemia and increased carotid intimamedia thickness in children. *J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol.* (2017) 9:144–9. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.3719
- Marwaha RK, Tandon N, Garg MK, Kanwar R, Sastry A, Narang A, et al. Dyslipidemia in subclinical hypothyroidism in an Indian population. *Clin Biochem*. (2011) 44:1214–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2011.07.003
- Isguven P, Gunduz Y, Kilic M. Effects of thyroid autoimmunity on early atherosclerosis in euthyroid girls with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. (2016) 8:150–6. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.2145
- Fazaeli M, Khoshdel A, Shafiepour M, Rohban M. The influence of subclinical hypothyroidism on serum lipid profile, PCSK9 levels and CD36 expression on monocytes. *Diabetes Metab Syndr.* (2019) 13:312–6. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2018.08.021
- 65. Gaudet D, Langslet G, Gidding SS, Luirink IK, Ruzza A, Kurtz C, et al. Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of evolocumab in pediatric patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia: rationale and design of the HAUSER-RCT study. J Clin Lipidol. (2018) 12:1199–207. doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2018.05.007
- 66. Gojkovic T, Vladimirov S, Spasojevic-Kalimanovska V, Zeljkovic A, Vekic J, Kalimanovska-Ostric D, et al. Can non-cholesterol sterols and lipoprotein subclasses distribution predict different patterns of cholesterol metabolism and statin therapy response? *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2017) 55:447–57. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2016-0505
- 67. Matysik S, Klunemann HH, Schmitz G. Gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry method for the simultaneous determination of oxysterols, plant sterols, and cholesterol precursors. *Clin Chem.* (2012) 58:1557–64. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2012.189605
- Gylling H, Korhonen M, Mutanen A, Nissinen MJ, Pakarinen M, Simonen P. Serum non-cholesterol sterols and cholesterol metabolism in childhood and adolescence. *Atherosclerosis.* (2018) 278:91–6. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2018.09.017
- Rizzo M, Kotur-Stevuljevic J, Berneis K, Spinas G, Rini GB, Jelic-Ivanovic Z, et al. Atherogenic dyslipidemia and oxidative stress: a new look. *Transl Res.* (2009) 153:217–23. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2009.01.008
- Faure P, Oziol L, Artur Y, Chomard P. Thyroid hormone (T3) and its acetic derivative (TA3) protect low-density lipoproteins from oxidation by different mechanisms. *Biochimie*. (2004) 86:411–8. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9084(04)00058-6

- Bansal SK, Yadav R. A study of the extended lipid profile including oxidized LDL, small dense LDL, lipoprotein (a) and apolipoproteins in the assessment of cardiovascular risk in hypothyroid patients. J Clin Diagn Res. (2016) 10:BC04–8. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/19775.8067
- 72. Favari E, Thomas MJ, Sorci-Thomas MG. High-density lipoprotein functionality as a new pharmacological target on cardiovascular disease: unifying mechanism that explains high-density lipoprotein protection toward the progression of atherosclerosis. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. (2018) 71:325–31. doi: 10.1097/FJC.000000000000573
- Triolo M, Annema W, Dullaart RP, Tietge UJ. Assessing the functional properties of high-density lipoproteins: an emerging concept in cardiovascular research. *Biomark Med.* (2013) 7:457–72. doi: 10.2217/bmm.13.35
- 74. Rizzo M, Berneis K, Zeljkovic A, Vekic J. Should we routinely measure lowdensity and high-density lipoprotein subclasses? *Clin Lab.* (2009) 55:421–9.
- 75. Jung KY, Ahn HY, Han SK, Park YJ, Cho BY, Moon MK. thyroid function and lipid profiles, Association between high-density apolipoproteins, and lipoprotein function. Clin (2017)11:1347-53. 10.1016/j.jacl.2017. Lipidol. doi: 08.015
- Tan KC, Shiu SW, Kung AW. Effect of thyroid dysfunction on highdensity lipoprotein subfraction metabolism: roles of hepatic lipase and cholesteryl ester transfer protein. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1998) 83:2921–4. doi: 10.1210/jc.83.8.2921
- Franco M, Castro G, Romero L, Regalado JC, Medina A, Huesca-Gomez C, et al. Decreased activity of lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase and hepatic lipase in chronic hypothyroid rats: implications for reverse cholesterol transport. *Mol Cell Biochem*. (2003) 246:51–6. doi: 10.1023/A:10234518 11547
- Montecucco F, Favari E, Norata GD, Ronda N, Nofer JR, Vuilleumier N. Impact of systemic inflammation and autoimmune diseases on apoA-I and HDL plasma levels and functions. *Handb Exp Pharmacol.* (2015) 224:455–82. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-09665-0_14
- Kahaly GJ, Hansen MP. Type 1 diabetes associated autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev. (2016) 15:644–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.02.017
- Bojanin D, Milenkovic T, Vekic J, Vukovic R, Zeljkovic A, Janac J, et al. Effects of co-existing autoimmune diseases on serum lipids and lipoprotein subclasses profile in paediatric patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Biochem.* (2018) 54:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2018.01.026
- Richard-Eaglin A, Smallheer BA. Immunosuppressive/autoimmune disorders. Nurs Clin North Am. (2018) 53:319–34. doi: 10.1016/j.cnur.2018. 04.002
- de la Llera Moya M, McGillicuddy FC, Hinkle CC, Byrne M, Joshi MR, Nguyen V, et al. Inflammation modulates human HDL composition and function *in vivo. Atherosclerosis.* (2012) 222:390–4. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.02.032
- Jahangiri A, de Beer MC, Noffsinger V, Tannock LR, Ramaiah C, Webb NR, et al. HDL remodeling during the acute phase response. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:261–7. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.178681
- Feingold KR, Grunfeld C. Effect of inflammation on HDL structure and function. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2016) 27:521–30. doi: 10.1097/MOL.00000000000333
- Korkmaz H, Tabur S, Ozkaya M, Oguz E, Elboga U, Aksoy N, et al. Paraoxonase and arylesterase levels in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Redox Rep.* (2016) 21:227–31. doi: 10.1080/13510002.2015.11 07310
- Ates I, Altay M, Yilmaz FM, Topcuoglu C, Yilmaz N, Berker D, et al. The impact of levothyroxine sodium treatment on oxidative stress in Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2016) 174:727–34. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-1061
- 87. Ruiz M, Frej C, Holmer A, Guo LJ, Tran S, Dahlback B. Highdensity lipoprotein-associated apolipoprotein M limits endothelial inflammation by delivering sphingosine-1-phosphate to the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2017) 37:118–29. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.308435
- Galvani S, Sanson M, Blaho VA, Swendeman SL, Obinata H, Conger H, et al. HDL-bound sphingosine 1-phosphate acts as a biased agonist for the endothelial cell receptor S1P1 to limit vascular inflammation. *Sci Signal*. (2015) 8:ra79. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaa2581

- Chi H. Sphingosine-1-phosphate and immune regulation: trafficking and beyond. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2011) 32:16–24. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2010.11.002
- Han C, He X, Xia X, Guo J, Liu A, Liu X, et al. Sphk1/S1P/S1PR1 signaling is involved in the development of autoimmune thyroiditis in patients and NOD.H-2(h4) mice. *Thyroid*. (2019) 29:700–13. doi: 10.1089/thy.2018.0065
- Aversa T, Corica D, Zirilli G, Pajno GB, Salzano G, De Luca F, et al. Phenotypic expression of autoimmunity in children with autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:476. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00476
- 92. Semova I, Levenson AE, Krawczyk J, Bullock K, Williams KA, Wadwa RP, et al. Type 1 diabetes is associated with an increase in cholesterol absorption markers but a decrease in cholesterol synthesis markers in a young adult population. *J Clin Lipidol.* (2019). doi: 10.1016/j.jacl.2019.09.008. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ganjali S, Dallinga-Thie GM, Simental-Mendia LE, Banach M, Pirro M, Sahebkar A. HDL functionality in type 1 diabetes. *Atherosclerosis.* (2017) 267:99–109. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.10.018
- Caliskan Z, Demircioglu K, Sayar S, Kahraman R, Caklili O, Ozcan FB, et al. Lipid profile, atherogenic indices, and their relationship with epicardial fat thickness and carotid intima-media thickness in celiac disease. *North Clin Istanb.* (2019) 6:242–7. doi: 10.14744/nci.2019.54936
- 95. Salardi S, Maltoni G, Zucchini S, Iafusco D, Zanfardino A, Confetto S, et al. Whole lipid profile and not only HDL cholesterol is impaired in children with coexisting type 1 diabetes and untreated celiac disease. *Acta Diabetol.* (2017) 54:889–94. doi: 10.1007/s00592-017-1019-5
- 96. Jessup AB, Law JR, Spagnoli A. Are HDL levels lower in children with type 1 diabetes and concurrent celiac disease compared with children with type 1 diabetes only? J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 27:1213–6. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2013-0464
- Monzani F, Caraccio N, Kozakowa M, Dardano A, Vittone F, Virdis A, et al. Effect of levothyroxine replacement on lipid profile and intima-media thickness in subclinical hypothyroidism: a double-blind, placebo- controlled study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2004) 89:2099–106. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031669
- Villar HC, Saconato H, Valente O, Atallah AN. Thyroid hormone replacement for subclinical hypothyroidism. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2007) CD003419. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003419.pub2
- Razvi S, Ingoe L, Keeka G, Oates C, McMillan C, Weaver JU. The beneficial effect of L-thyroxine on cardiovascular risk factors, endothelial function, and quality of life in subclinical hypothyroidism: randomized, crossover trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2007) 92:1715–23. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1869
- 100. Meier C, Staub JJ, Roth CB, Guglielmetti M, Kunz M, Miserez AR, et al. TSH-controlled L-thyroxine therapy reduces cholesterol levels and clinical symptoms in subclinical hypothyroidism: a double blind, placebo-controlled trial (Basel Thyroid Study). J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2001) 86:4860–6. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.10.7973
- 101. Caraccio N, Ferrannini E, Monzani F. Lipoprotein profile in subclinical hypothyroidism: response to levothyroxine replacement, a randomized placebo-controlled study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2002) 87:1533–8. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.4.8378
- 102. Li X, Wang Y, Guan Q, Zhao J, Gao L. The lipid-lowering effect of levothyroxine in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2017) 87:1–9. doi: 10.1111/cen.13338
- 103. Minarikova Z, Gaspar L, Kruzliak P, Celecova Z, Oravec S. The effects of treatment on lipoprotein subfractions evaluated by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis in patients with autoimmune hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2014) 13:158. doi: 10.1186/1476-511X-13-158
- 104. Krysiak R, Okopien B. The effect of levothyroxine and selenomethionine on lymphocyte and monocyte cytokine release in women with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2011) 96:2206–15. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2986
- 105. Schmidt M, Voell M, Rahlff I, Dietlein M, Kobe C, Faust M, et al. Long-term follow-up of antithyroid peroxidase antibodies in patients with chronic autoimmune thyroiditis (Hashimoto's thyroiditis) treated with levothyroxine. *Thyroid.* (2008) 18:755–60. doi: 10.1089/thy.2008.0008

- 106. Korzeniowska K, Ramotowska A, Szypowska A, Szadkowska A, Fendler W, Kalina-Faska B, et al. How does autoimmune thyroiditis in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus influence glycemic control, lipid profile and thyroid volume? *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2015) 28:275–8. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2013-0455
- 107. Mazaheri T, Sharifi F, Kamali K. Insulin resistance in hypothyroid patients under Levothyroxine therapy: a comparison between those with and without thyroid autoimmunity. J Diabetes Metab Disord. (2014) 13:103. doi: 10.1186/s40200-014-0103-4
- 108. Monzani A, Prodam F, Rapa A, Moia S, Agarla V, Bellone S, et al. Endocrine disorders in childhood and adolescence. Natural history of subclinical hypothyroidism in children and adolescents and potential effects of replacement therapy: a review. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2013) 168:R1–R11. doi: 10.1530/EJE-12-0656
- 109. Radetti G, Maselli M, Buzi F, Corrias A, Mussa A, Cambiaso P, et al. The natural history of the normal/mild elevated TSH serum levels in children and adolescents with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and isolated hyperthyrotropinaemia: a 3-year follow-up. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2012) 76:394– 8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04251.x
- 110. Wasniewska M, Salerno M, Cassio A, Corrias A, Aversa T, Zirilli G, et al. Prospective evaluation of the natural course of idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism in childhood and adolescence. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2009) 160:417–21. doi: 10.1530/EJE-08-0625
- 111. Wasniewska M, Corrias A, Aversa T, Valenzise M, Mussa A, De Martino L, et al. Comparative evaluation of therapy with L-thyroxine versus no treatment in children with idiopathic and mild subclinical hypothyroidism. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 77:376–81. doi: 10.1159/000339156
- 112. Catli G, Kir M, Anik A, Yilmaz N, Bober E, Abaci A. The effect of L-thyroxine treatment on left ventricular functions in children with subclinical hypothyroidism. *Arch Dis Child*. (2015) 100:130–7. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-306381
- 113. de Souza RJ, Mente A, Maroleanu A, Cozma AI, Ha V, Kishibe T, et al. Intake of saturated and trans unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *BMJ*. (2015) 351:h3978. doi: 10.1136/bmj.h3978
- 114. Ramsden CE, Zamora D, Majchrzak-Hong S, Faurot KR, Broste SK, Frantz RP, et al. Re-evaluation of the traditional diet-heart hypothesis: analysis of recovered data from Minnesota Coronary Experiment (1968-73). *BMJ*. (2016) 353:i1246. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i1246
- 115. Harcombe Z, Baker JS, Cooper SM, Davies B, Sculthorpe N, DiNicolantonio JJ, et al. Evidence from randomised controlled trials did not support the introduction of dietary fat guidelines in 1977 and 1983: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Open Heart.* (2015) 2:e000196. doi: 10.1136/openhrt-2014-000196
- Ference BA, Ginsberg HN, Graham I, Ray KK, Packard CJ, Bruckert E, et al. Low-density lipoproteins cause atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.
 Evidence from genetic, epidemiologic, and clinical studies. A consensus statement from the European Atherosclerosis Society Consensus Panel. *Eur Heart J.* (2017) 38:2459–72. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx144
- 117. Langlois MR, Chapman MJ, Cobbaert C, Mora S, Remaley AT, Ros E, et al. Quantifying atherogenic lipoproteins: current and future challenges in the era of personalized medicine and very low concentrations of LDL cholesterol. A consensus statement from EAS and EFLM. *Clin Chem.* (2018) 64:1006–33. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2018.287037
- 118. Bojanin D, Vekic J, Milenkovic T, Vukovic R, Zeljkovic A, Stefanovic A, et al. Association between proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin 9 (PCSK9) and lipoprotein subclasses in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus: effects of glycemic control. *Atherosclerosis.* (2019) 280:14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2018.11.020
- 119. Lazarus J, Brown RS, Daumerie C, Hubalewska-Dydejczyk A, Negro R, Vaidya B. 2014 European thyroid association guidelines for the management of subclinical hypothyroidism in pregnancy and in children. *Eur Thyroid J.* (2014) 3:76–94. doi: 10.1159/000362597
- Kapelari K, Kirchlechner C, Hogler W, Schweitzer K, Virgolini I, Moncayo R. Pediatric reference intervals for thyroid hormone levels from birth to adulthood: a retrospective study. *BMC Endocr Disord*. (2008) 8:15. doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-8-15

- 121. Chaler EA, Fiorenzano R, Chilelli C, Llinares V, Areny G, Herzovich V, et al. Age-specific thyroid hormone and thyrotropin reference intervals for a pediatric and adolescent population. *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2012) 50:885–90. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2011-0495
- 122. Elmlinger MW, Kuhnel W, Lambrecht HG, Ranke MB. Reference intervals from birth to adulthood for serum thyroxine (T4), triiodothyronine (T3), free T3, free T4, thyroxine binding globulin (TBG) and thyrotropin (TSH). *Clin Chem Lab Med.* (2001) 39:973–9. doi: 10.1515/CCLM.2001.158
- 123. Onsesveren I, Barjaktarovic M, Chaker L, de Rijke YB, Jaddoe VWV, van Santen HM, et al. Childhood thyroid function reference ranges and determinants: a literature overview and a prospective cohort study. *Thyroid.* (2017) 27:1360–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0262
- 124. Baloch Z, Carayon P, Conte-Devolx B, Demers LM, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Henry JF, et al. Laboratory medicine practice guidelines. Laboratory support for the diagnosis and monitoring of thyroid disease. *Thyroid*. (2003) 13:3– 126. doi: 10.1089/105072503321086962

125. Gullu S, Emral R, Bastemir M, Parkes AB, Lazarus JH. In vivo and in vitro effects of statins on lymphocytes in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Eur J Endocrinol. (2005) 153:41–8. doi: 10.1530/eje.1. 01941

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Vukovic, Zeljkovic, Bufan, Spasojevic-Kalimanovska, Milenkovic and Vekic. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Gender Differences at the Onset of Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases in Children and Adolescents

Valeria Calcaterra^{1,2*}, Rossella E. Nappi^{3,4}, Corrado Regalbuto^{1,2}, Annalisa De Silvestri⁵, Antonino Incardona^{1,2}, Rossella Amariti^{1,2}, Francesco Bassanese^{1,2}, Andrea Martina Clemente^{1,2}, Federica Vinci^{1,2}, Riccardo Albertini⁶ and Daniela Larizza^{1,2}

¹ Pediatric and Adolescent Unit, Department of Internal Medicine and Therapeutics, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ² Pediatric Endocrinology Unit, Department of Maternal and Children's Health, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy, ³ Research Center for Reproductive Medicine, Gynecological Endocrinology and Menopause, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy, ⁴ Department of Clinical, Surgical, Diagnostic and Padiatric Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁵ Biometry and Clinical Epidemiology, Scientific Direction, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy, ⁶ Laboratory of Clinical Chemistry, Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy,

Background: The incidence of autoimmune thyroid diseases (ATD) may vary with the beginning of reproductive function, although few reports differentiate the incidence before and during the onset of puberty, examining gender bias. We analyzed onset of ATD in a pediatric population to assess gender differences in onset age, disease subtype, pubertal status, autoimmune co-morbidity, family history and treatment, focusing on the interaction between gender and pubertal stage.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, University of Messina, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giorgio Radetti, Ospedale di Bolzano, Italy Anna Malgorzata Kucharska, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

> *Correspondence: Valeria Calcaterra valeria.calcaterra@unipv.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 March 2020 Accepted: 30 March 2020 Published: 17 April 2020

Citation:

Calcaterra V, Nappi RE, Regalbuto C, De Silvestri A, Incardona A, Amariti R, Bassanese F, Clemente AM, Vinci F, Albertini R and Larizza D (2020) Gender Differences at the Onset of Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases in Children and Adolescents. Front. Endocrinol. 11:229. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00229 **Patients and methods:** We retrospectively recorded 382 children and adolescents with ATD. In each patient physical examination was considered. The presence of other associated autoimmune diseases (AAD) and familial predisposition was also recorded.

Results: Predominant prevalence was noted in females compared to males (p < 0.001), both in Hashimoto's diseases (HD or HT) and Graves' disease (GD) (p < 0.001). Mean age at diagnosis showed no significant difference between sexes (p > 0.05). A higher prevalence in pubertal subjects was noted compared to prepubertal (p < 0.001, particularly HT in early and GD in late pubertal stage), without sexes difference intra-(prepubertal vs. pubertal) and inter-puberty groups (prepubertal vs. early pubertal vs. late pubertal). Both in HT and in GD, the prevalence of autoimmune associated diseases (AAD) was higher in males compared to females (p = 0.04), with similar distribution according to the pubertal maturation. The familial predisposition was similarly distributed in both genders (p > 0.05) and into pubertal stages (p > 0.05).

Conclusions: Females are more prone to develop ATD during puberty, earlier in HT than in GD. The effect of puberty is not different between genders, suggesting the role of additional factors other than hormones. The screening for detection of ATD is recommended in all patients with positive family history and other autoimmune diseases, mostly in males. Considerations of gender in pediatrics could be important to define pathogenic mechanisms of ATD and to help in early diagnosis and clinical management.

Keywords: gender difference, autoimmune thyroid disease, children, adolescents, thyroiditis

18

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune thyroid diseases (ATD), which includes both Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) and Graves' disease (GD), are the most common etiology of acquired thyroid dysfunction in pediatrics (1–3) ATD are characterized by the production of anti-thyroid antibodies, by an infiltration of autoreactive B and T lymphocytes into the thyroid parenchyma and by alterations in thyroid function (hyperthyroidism in GD, normal function or subclinical/overt hypothyroidism in HT) (4).

Both polyautoimmunity and familial autoimmunity are typical findings of ATD (5, 6), supporting that the risk of developing disease is related to genetic susceptibility, with environmental factors playing a role in triggering disease in susceptible individuals (7). Different genetic factors are associated not only with susceptibility to a certain disease, but also with specific autoantibodies and disease phenotypes (7).

In pediatrics, ATD usually occur in puberty (1, 2) but they may occur at any time, rarely even in children under 1 year of age (2). The incidence of autoimmune disease may vary with the onset of reproductive function, although the incidence before and during the onset of puberty. In particular, the consideration of gender exist in examining the data in pediatric endocrinology, whereas a higher incidence rate of ATD in the adult female population is well-described (7). Reasons underlying a higher rate of ATD diagnosis in women are unclear. Moreover, we lack a real knowledge on gender-specific phenotypes.

That being so, we analyzed a pediatric population with onset of ATD to assess the gender differences as regard onset age, disease subtype, pubertal status, autoimmune comorbidity, family history and treatment, focusing on the interaction between gender and pubertal stage. The gender specific characteristics of disease across puberty may help early diagnosis and clinical management.

METHODS

Patients

We retrospectively recorded 382 children and adolescents with ATD (HT and GD) who have been referred to the Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology Unit of the Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo for diagnosis and treatment over a decade (2009–2019).

ATD diagnosis was based on the finding of one or more positive thyroid autoantibodies and a characteristic thyroid ultrasound, lacking homogeneity, with a hypogenic or mixed echopattern.

In each patient, physical examination was performed. The presence of eventual associated autoimmune diseases (AAD) at the ATD diagnosis was also recorded.

Positive family history of autoimmune thyroid disorders was collected (only first-degree relatives were considered significant) in order to analyze the effect of familial predisposition on the development of ATD.

The protocol was performed with the approval of the Ethical Committee of Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy and according to the Declaration of Helsinki. All

participants or their responsible guardians were asked their written consent after being informed about the nature of the study.

Physical Examination

Physical examination of patients at first diagnosis included evaluation of height, weight, BMI (calculated as body weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared), stages of puberty according to Marshall and Tanner (8, 9).

Anthropometric and blood pressure measurements were performed as previously described (10).

Pubertal development was classified as: prepubertal = Tanner 1; early puberty = Tanner 2–3; late puberty = Tanner 4–5.

Biochemical Data

TSH, FT4 and FT3 and anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies (TPOAb), anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (TGAb) anti-thyrotropin receptor antibodies (TRAb), were measured as previously reported (11).

Thyroid ultrasound studies were performed by the same operator (VC) with patients in a supine position with the neck hyperextended, by using an Aloka machine (Aloka Prosound α 5, Aloka, Tokyo, Japan) with a 7–13 MHz linear transducer.

Statistical Analysis

Qualitative variables were described as counts and percentage and the chi square test was used to compare the differences between groups. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test the normal distribution of quantitative variables. As quantitative variables were normally distributed, the results were expressed as the mean value and standard deviation (SD) and compared between groups with *t*-test.

RESULTS

Overall Population With ATD

Out of the 382 patients with ATD (361 HT and 21 GD) included in the study, 325 (85%) were females and 57 (15%) were males (p < 0.001). Mean age at the diagnosis was 11.58±0.21 years without significant sexes difference (females 11.55 ± 0.23 vs. males 11.73 ± 0.47, p = 0.7).

Pre-pubertal status was present in 79 (20.9%) of our patients, and pubertal condition in 298 (78%), p < 0.001; in particular early puberty was recorded in 188 (49.74%) and late puberty in 111 (29.37%), p < 0.001, without sexes difference intra- (prepubertal vs. pubertal p = 0.6) and inter-puberty groups (prepubertal vs. early pubertal vs. late pubertal, p = 0.86), **Figure 1**.

AAD was noted in 100 (26.18%) of our overall population, with higher prevalence in males compared to females (37.0% vs. 24.31%, p = 0.04). Mean age of the subjects with poliautoimmunity was similar compared to patients with a single disease (11.45 \pm 0.24 vs. 11.93 \pm 0.81, p = 0.8) and there was no difference between gender or according to pubertal stage distribution (p > 0.05). Celiac disease was detected in 58 of subjects (58%; 47F/11M, p < 0.01 and in 2 cases type 1 diabetes was also present), type 1 diabetes in 19 (19%; 13F/6M, p < 0.01), autoimmune gastritis 6 (6%; 3M/3F, p < 0.01), vitiligo 11



(11%; 9F/2M, p < 0.01), and alopecia in 9 (9%; 8F/1M, p < 0.01) children.

Positive family history of autoimmune diseases was reported in 204 of our patients (53.83%), without difference in prevalence between males and females (p = 0.7). Mean age at onset was not different in patients with or without a positive family history (11.77±0.26 vs. 11.29 ± 0.35, respectively, p = 0.3), as well as the gender lineage did not make any difference (p = 0.25). Distribution of the pubertal maturation in the groups with or without positive family history was similar taking into account the gender bias (p = 0.21 and p = 0.84, respectively).

At the onset of disease, hormonal treatment was started in 204 (53.4%; 183 with L-thyroxine and 21 with metimazole) of children and the rate was similar in males and females (p = 0.8) with no gender difference also according to pre- and pubertal condition (p = 0.6 and p = 0.8, respectively).

Hashimoto's Thyroiditis (HT)

Out of the 382 patients with ATD, 361 subjects were diagnosed with HT, with predominance of female population (F = 306, 84.7% vs. M = 55, 15.2%, p < 0.001). Mean age at diagnosis was 11.58 \pm 0.21 years without significant difference between gender (females 11.55 \pm 0.23 vs. males 11.73 \pm 0.47, p = 0.7).

Pre-pubertal status was detected in 21.3% of our patients, and pubertal condition in 78.7%, p < 0.001; in particular, early puberty was recorded in 50.57% and late puberty in 28.14%, p < 0.001, without difference between gender intra- (prepubertal vs. pubertal, p = 0.61) and inter-puberty groups (prepubertal vs. early pubertal vs. late pubertal, p = 0.9), **Figure 1**.

AAD was diagnosed in 27.14% of the study sample with ATD, with higher prevalence in males compared to females (36.84% vs. 19.38%, p < 0.01). The mean age of the patients with poliautoimmunity was similar in comparison with those carrying only one disease (11.45 ± 0.24 vs. 11.93 ± 0.81 , p = 0.8); no difference between gender was found (p = 0.9). Celiac disease was detected in 56 of subjects (56%; 47F/9M, p < 0.01), type 1 diabetes mellitus in 17 (17%; 13F/4M, p < 0.01), autoimmune gastritis in 6 (3F/3M; 6%; p < 0.01), vitiligo in 11 (11.2%; 8F/2M, p < 0.01), and alopecia in 9 (9.1%; 8F/1M, p < 0.01) children. Distribution of the pubertal stages in the patients with or without associated autoimmune diseases was not different according to the gender (p = 0.9 and p = 0.4, respectively).

Positive familiarity for autoimmune diseases was reported in 54.47% of our patients, without a different prevalence between males and females (p = 0.7). Mean age at onset in subjects with positive familiarity was not different compared to patients without (11.77 ± 0.26 vs. 11.29 ± 0.35 , respectively, p = 0.3) and no difference was evident according to gender lineage (p = 0.25). Even the distribution of the pubertal stages in the groups with or without a positive family history was not different taking into account the gender bias (p = 0.2 and p = 0.8, respectively).

At the onset of disease, hormonal treatment with L-thyroxine was started in 183 of children (47.9%) and the rate was similar in males and females (p = 0.8). No significant difference between gender according to the presence of both polyautoimmunity and puberty (p = 0.3 and p = 0.5, respectively). In our series, all patients were adequately treated, with a good control of signs and symptoms.

Graves' Disease (GD)

Out of the 382 patients with ATD, 21 subjects were diagnosed with GD, with a higher prevalence in females (F = 19, 90.4% vs. M = 2, 9.5%, p < 0.001). Mean age at diagnosis was not

different in females compared to males (12.14 \pm 0.74 vs. 12.76 \pm 2.76 years, p = 0.6).

Pre-pubertal status was recorded in 19.0% of patients and pubertal condition in 81%, p < 0.001, with predominance of late puberty (early puberty 33.0% vs. late puberty in 47.62%, p = 0.03); no gender difference between intra- (prepubertal vs. pubertal p = 0.8) and inter-puberty groups (prepubertal vs. early pubertal vs. late pubertal, p = 0.9) was documented, **Figure 1**.

Associated autoimmune diseases was detected in 2 males patients (9.52%, p < 0.01), that presented both CD and type 1 diabetes, and were at late puberty.

A positive familiarity for autoimmune diseases was reported in 42.86% of patients, without difference in prevalence between males and females (p = 0.8). Mean age at onset was not different in subjects with or without a positive family history (12.84±0.70 vs. 11.0±0.50, respectively, p = 0.4) and according to the gender lineage (p = 0.25). Distribution of the pubertal stages in the groups with or without familiarity was not different according to the gender (p = 0.3).

At the onset of disease, metimazole was started in all patients, with a good response in each of them.

DISCUSSION

Predominance of ATD, both HT and GD, was confirmed in females pediatric and adolescent population. Puberty represents a crucial period for ATD development, without significant gender difference according to pubertal stages. In HT early puberty is a period at greater risk for diagnosis, whereas in GD late puberty is more represented. Poliautoimmunity is more frequent in males compared to females. By contrast, familial predisposition was similarly between genders and into pubertal stages.

The gender differences existing in autoimmune thyroid disease follow a female bias (7) even in a pediatric population, which has displayed a female preponderance of 2:1 (3). Different factors may underlie this striking gender difference, including genetic effects, gender differences in sex hormones, immune response and organ vulnerability (7).

Evidence in favor of a genetic basis for the ATD is abundant and the factors that might influence the development of autoimmune disease may be related to genetic susceptibility, chromosomal differences, or epigenetics (12–16).

Genetic studies of patients with autoimmune disorders, including ATD, have shown the role of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC), as compared with other genome areas (17). The association between HLA genes and autoimmune disorders shows a gender bias toward females (17), justifying the predominance of autoimmune diseases, including ATD, in the female population (3, 5, 17, 18).

Findings reported in our series are in line with the evidence that ATD is often accompanied by other organ-specific autoimmune disorders, confirming that common genetic factors may prejudice an individual to developing autoimmunity (7). Although the exact pathogenic mechanism of the coexistence of autoimmune diseases has not been clearly elucidated, the

role of HLA haplotypes, such as HLA-B8 and -DR3, in the overlapping of autoimmune disorders was well-supported by higher frequency of these haplotypes in several diseases (19, 20).

We confirmed the higher prevalence of ATD in females. Moreover, we showed that the prevalence of AAD was higher in males compared to females. This result supports that non-HLA genes, such as Polymorphisms in cytotoxic T-lymphocyte anti- gen-4, acid phosphatase locus 1, Discs large homolog 5, interleukin-10, and apolipoprotein E, may be also associated with susceptibility to multiple autoimmune disease (7, 21). Additionally, the stronger susceptibility in women, may support a possible pathogenic role for mechanisms related to genes on the X-chromosome, as reported in animal models (22–25), even though the role of Y chromosome in autoimmune disease and in poliautoimmunity could be not excluded.

The observed familial predisposition to GD and HT confirms the crucial role of the genetic component in the development of this disease. Indeed, we documented that more than 50% of subjects with ATD presented a positive family history, supporting the notion that maternal and paternal inheritance may also contribute to the pathogenesis of autoimmune disease. The lack of the gender specific familial risk suggests that the interaction of genes and environmental factors may underlie parental inheritance of autoimmunity (26).

In adults, a difference between males and females are reported in age at onset of ATD (27). In this study in pediatrics, the gender difference is not evident, but we noted the importance of pubertal stages given the higher prevalence in pubertal compared to prepubertal subjects. These results may confirm that exposure to hormonal changes during puberty plays a fundamental role in immune function (5, 7, 17, 28–30) and consequently in the development of ATD. In our population this is not gender specific, supporting that factors other than hormones, such as environmental effects, could influence the effect of puberty on the disease state (7).

We are aware that there are some limitations in our study starting from recognizing that the retrospective design has numerous disadvantages with an inferior level of evidence. Of note, we did not observe a gender difference in the severity among ATD, as it has been previously reported (7). However, we recorded only the start and the response to treatments, as an index of severity of the disease, and our data do not exclude the effect of the young age on a good prognosis (3, 5, 7). On the other hand, other factors, such as type of symptoms, goiter, ophthalmopathy, hormonal levels would have been necessary to confirm the severity of the disease. Additionally, in this report no environmental factors related to susceptibility to GD and HT, as well as to disease manifestations, have been taken into account (7, 26). Further prospective studies are mandatory to gain a better insight into this research topic.

In conclusion, females are more prone to develop ATD during puberty, in particularly HT in early stage and GD in late stage. The impact of puberty is not different in females and males, supporting the role of additional factors other than sex hormones. We recommend screening for detection of ATD in all children and adolescents with positive family history and other autoimmune diseases, especially in males. Considerations of gender in pediatrics could be important to define pathogenic mechanisms of ATD and to help in early diagnosis and clinical management.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee of Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico

REFERENCES

- Ibili ABP, Selver Eklioglu B, Atabek ME. General properties of autoimmune thyroid diseases and associated morbidities. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2020) 33:509–15. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2019-0331
- Pasala P, Francis GL. Autoimmune thyroid diseases in children. Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab. (2017) 12:129–42. doi: 10.1080/17446651.2017.13 00525
- Cappa M, Bizzarri C, Crea F. Autoimmune thyroid diseases in children. J Thyroid Res. (2010) 2011:675703. doi: 10.4061/2011/6 75703
- Minelli R, Gaiani F, Kayali S, Di Mario F, Fornaroli F, Leandro G, et al. Thyroid and celiac disease in pediatric age: a literature review. *Acta Biomed.* (2018) 89:11–16. doi: 10.23750/abm.v89i9-S.7872
- Brown MA, Su MA. An inconvenient variable: sex hormones and their impact on T cell responses. J Immunol. (2019) 202:1927–33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1801403
- Aversa T, Corica D, Zirilli G, Pajno GB, Salzano G, de Luca F, et al. Phenotypic expression of autoimmunity in children with autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:476. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019. 00476
- Ngo ST, Steyn FJ, McCombe PA. Gender differences in autoimmune disease. Front Neuroendocrinol. (2014) 35:347–69. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2014. 04.004
- Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in patterns of pubertal changes in boys. Arch Dis Child. (1969) 45:13–23. doi: 10.1136/adc.45. 239.13
- Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in patterns of pubertal changes in girls. Arch Dis Child. (1969) 44:291–303. doi: 10.1136/adc.44.2 35.291
- Calcaterra V, Larizza D, de Silvestri A, Albertini R, Vinci F, Regalbuto C, et al. Gender-based differences in the clustering of metabolic syndrome factors in children and adolescents. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 33:279– 88. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2019-0134
- Calcaterra V, Regalbuto C, Dobbiani G, Montalbano C, Vinci F, De Silvestri A, et al. Autoimmune thyroid diseases in children and adolescents with maturity onset diabetes of the young type 2. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2019) 92:52–5. doi: 10.1159/000502037
- Shukla SK, Singh G, Ahmad S, Pant P. Infections, genetic and environmental factors in pathogenesis of autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Microb Pathog.* (2018) 116:279–88. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2018. 01.004
- Noso S, Park C, Babaya N, Hiromine Y, Harada T, Ito H, et al. Organ specificity in autoimmune diseases: thyroid and islet autoimmunity in alopecia areata. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2015) 100:1976–83. doi: 10.1210/jc.201 4-3985
- 14. Jabrocka-Hybel A, Skalniak A, Piatkowski J, Pach D, Hubalewska-Dydejczyk A. How far are we from understanding the genetic

San Matteo, Pavia, Italy. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kids.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VC, RN, and DL designed experiments and wrote and supervised the manuscript. CR recorded data of the patients and wrote the manuscript. AI, RAm, FB, AC, and FV recorded data of the patients. AD performed statistical analysis. RAl performed biochemical evaluation. All authors have read and approved the paper.

basis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis? *Int Rev Immunol.* (2013) 32:337–54. doi: 10.3109/08830185.2012.755175

- Hadj-Kacem H, Rebuffat S, Mnif-Féki M, Belguith-Maalej S, Ayadi H, Péraldi-Roux S. Autoimmune thyroid diseases: genetic susceptibility of thyroid-specific genes and thyroid autoantigens contributions. *Int J Immunogenet.* (2009) 36:85–96. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-313X.2009.0 0830.x
- Jacobson EM, Tomer Y. The genetic basis of thyroid autoimmunity. *Thyroid*. (2007) 17:949–61. doi: 10.1089/thy.2007.0153
- Gough SC, Simmonds MJ. The HLA region and autoimmune disease: associations and mechanisms of action. *Curr Genomics*. (2007) 8:453– 65. doi: 10.2174/138920207783591690
- Selmi C, Gershwin ME. Sex and autoimmunity: proposed mechanisms of disease onset and severity. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2019) 15:607– 15. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2019.1606714
- Barrett JC, Clayton DG, Concannon P, Akolkar B, Cooper JD, Erlich HA, et al. Type 1 Diabetes Genetics Consortium. Genome-wide association study and meta-analysis find that over 40 loci affect risk of type 1 diabetes. *Nat Genet*. (2009) 41:703–7. doi: 10.1038/ng.381
- Zakharova MY, Belyanina TA, Sokolov AV, Kiselev IS, Mamedov AE. The contribution of major histocompatibility complex class II genes to an association with autoimmune diseases. *Acta Nat.* (2019) 11:4– 12. doi: 10.32607/20758251-2019-11-4-4-12
- Du L, Yang J, Huang J, Ma Y, Wang H, Xiong T, et al. The associations between the polymorphisms in the CTLA-4 gene and the risk of Graves' disease in the Chinese population. *BMC Med Genet.* (2013) 14:46. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-14-46
- Lin Q, Hou R, Sato A, Ohtsuji M, Ohtsuji N, Nishikawa K, et al. Inhibitory IgG Fc receptor promoter region polymorphism is a key genetic element for murine systemic lupus erythematosus. J Autoimmun. (2010) 34:356– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2009.08.011
- Santiago-Raber ML, Kikuchi S, Borel P, Uematsu S, Akira S, Kotzin BL, et al. Evidence for genes in addition to Tlr7 in the Yaa translocation linked with acceleration of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:1556– 62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.2.1556
- 24. Subramanian S, Tus K, Li QZ, Wang A, Tian XH, Zhou J, et al. A Tlr7 translocation accelerates systemic autoimmunity in murine lupus. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:9970–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.06039 12103
- Murphy ED, Roths JB. A Y chromosome associated factor in strain BXSB producing accelerated autoimmunity and lymphoproliferation. *Arth Rheum.* (1979) 22:1188–94. doi: 10.1002/art.178022110
- Hoppenbrouwers IA, Liu F, Aulchenko YS, Ebers GC, Oostra BA, van Duijn CM, et al. Maternal transmission of multiple sclerosis in a dutch population. *Arch Neurol.* (2008) 65:345–8. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2 007.63
- 27. Manji N, Carr-Smith JD, Boelaert K, Allahabadia A, Armitage M, Chatterjee VK, et al. Influences of age, gender, smoking, and family history on

autoimmune thyroid disease phenotype. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2006) 91:4873-80. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1402

- Kochummen E, Marwa A, Umpaichitra V, Perez-Colon S, Chin VL. Screening for autoimmune thyroiditis and celiac disease in minority children with type 1 diabetes. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 31:879– 85. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2017-0254
- Moulton VR. Sex hormones in acquired immunity and autoimmune disease. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2279. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 02279
- Trombetta AC, Meroni M, Cutolo M. Steroids and autoimmunity. Front Horm Res. (2017) 48:121–32. doi: 10.1159/00045 2911

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Calcaterra, Nappi, Regalbuto, De Silvestri, Incardona, Amariti, Bassanese, Clemente, Vinci, Albertini and Larizza. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Long-Term Follow-Up and Outcomes of Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Childhood

Osnat Admoni¹, Shoshana Rath¹, Tal Almagor^{1,2}, Ghadir Elias-Assad^{1,2} and Yardena Tenenbaum-Rakover^{1,2*}

¹ Pediatric Endocrine Institute, Ha'Emek Medical Center, Afula, Israel, ² Rappaport Faculty of Medicine, Technion Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel

Background: Autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT) is the most common cause of acquired hypothyroidism in children. The natural outcome of AIT in childhood has been reported previously however follow-up duration is generally short and results variable.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, University of Messina, Italy

Reviewed by:

Mariella Valenzise, University of Messina, Italy Mariacarolina Salerno, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

*Correspondence:

Yardena Tenenbaum-Rakover rakover_y@clalit.org.il; yardenaten@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 15 March 2020 Accepted: 23 April 2020 Published: 05 June 2020

Citation:

Admoni O, Rath S, Almagor T, Elias-Assad G and Tenenbaum-Rakover Y (2020) Long-Term Follow-Up and Outcomes of Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Childhood. Front. Endocrinol. 11:309. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00309 **Objectives:** To characterize clinical and biochemical findings at presentation of AIT, evaluate long-term outcomes and assess which factors at presentation predict evolution over time.

Study cohort: 201 children under 18 years of age at presentation (82% female) were enrolled. Subjects were divided into five subgroups according to thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) level at referral.

Results: Mean follow-up was 8.1 years (range 0–29 years). At presentation, 34% of patients had overt hypothyroidism, 32% subclinical hypothyroidism (SCH), 16% compensated hypothyroidism, 14% were euthyroid, and 3.7% had Hashitoxicosis. Children with overt hypothyroidism were younger (10.6 vs. 13.2 years) and had higher thyroid peroxidase antibody titers. At the time of the study, levothyroxine (LT₄) therapy was required in 26% of children who were euthyroid at presentation, 56% of SCH patients, 83–84% of those with TSH above 10 mIU/L, and 57% of those with Hashitoxicosis. Over the years, 16% of children presenting with overt hypothyroidism stopped therapy. Free T₄ at presentation was the only predictor of outcome over time.

Conclusions: Our findings suggest that only 26% children who were euthyroid at presentation developed hypothyroidism, whereas over 50% of those with SCH went on to require treatment. Of those presenting with overt hypothyroidism, 16% recovered with time. The only predictive parameter for LT_4 therapy at the end of the study was free T_4 levels at presentation. Long-term follow-up is required to determine ongoing therapy needs and screen for additional autoimmune diseases.

Keywords: autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT), Hashimoto's thyroiditis, thyroid autoantibodies, goiter, Hashitoxicosis

24

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT), also known as Hashimoto's thyroiditis, is the most common cause of acquired hypothyroidism in childhood, with a prevalence of 1 to 3%, peaking during adolescence (1-3). There is a female predominance, with a female-to-male ratio of 4-8:1 (2). AIT is characterized by thyroid destruction due to an autoimmunemediated process, resulting in gradual thyroid failure with or without goiter. The diagnosis of AIT is suggested by the presence of anti-thyroid antibodies against peroxidase (TPOAb) and/or thyroglobulin (TGAb) and by a typical hypo-echogenic and heterogeneous ultrasound pattern. Children are commonly referred for endocrine evaluation due to thyroid enlargement or on the basis of abnormal thyroid function results discovered as part of a medical workup for variable complaints (often unrelated to thyroid dysfunction) or for positive family history of AIT. At the time of diagnosis, thyroid function in children may be variable ranging from euthyroidism (52.1%), to overt (22.2%) or subclinical hypothyroidism (SCH) (19.2%) or, more rarely to either subclinical or overt hyperthyroidism (6.5%) (4).

Predictive factors for progression from euthyroidism or SCH to overt hypothyroidism, or for recovery from hypothyroidism over time, have been investigated in some studies, with variable results (3–19). Some of the studies included a small number of patients (5, 7, 8, 12, 19) and were of short duration (9, 10, 13, 16). Moreover, the definition of SCH, as well as indications for levothyroxine (LT₄) supplemental therapy, differ among authors (15) and include goiter shrinkage in some instances (20). de Vries et al. (18) reported that almost all of their patients required LT₄ treatment either at referral or during follow-up. Conversely, other studies suggested favorable outcomes for patients who were euthyroid or had SCH at referral (6–9, 11, 16), whereas only 25–50% of those with initial thyroid dysfunction experienced normalization of thyroid function over time (1, 8, 9, 12–14, 17).

Predictive factors for the development of overt hypothyroidism included: elevated TGAb and the presence of goiter (6), as well as elevated TPOAb, elevated thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) and the presence of celiac disease (16).

The objectives of this retrospective study were to evaluate the long-outcomes of AIT in children with variable thyroid function at presentation, to evaluate the prevalence of euthyroid and/or SCH patients developing overt hypothyroidism, and the prevalence of patients with overt hypothyroidism becoming euthyroid after long-term treatment, and to identify predictive factors of long-term outcomes.

SUBJECTS AND METHODS

Study Cohort

We enrolled 201 subjects in the study, all under 18 years of age at diagnosis. They were followed up on a 6-monthly basis at Ha'Emek Medical Center or in outpatient clinics affiliated with the hospital. All patients had positive TGAb and/or TPOAb. Most subjects also had at least one of the following: abnormal thyroid function, enlarged thyroid gland, morphological changes on thyroid ultrasound. Patients were

referred for evaluation by a pediatric endocrinologist due to one or more of the following: abnormal thyroid functions, elevated thyroid antibodies, presence of goiter and various complaints that were related to abnormal thyroid function. Patients with diabetes mellitus type 1 (DMT1) diagnosed prior to the diagnosis of AIT, and those with Down or Turner syndromes, were excluded from the study. LT₄ supplemental therapy was initiated in overt hypothyroidism, when TSH levels were above 10 mIU/L, and in a few individuals with TSH < 10 mIU/L for the purpose of goiter shrinkage. LT₄ dose was adjusted to maintain TSH concentrations within a normal range. Data were collected retrospectively from computerized medical files and included: clinical findings and thyroid function at presentation, during follow-up and at the last visit; LT₄ therapy initiation; additional autoimmune diseases and family history of autoimmune and thyroid diseases.

Hormone Analysis

Serum TSH (normal range 0.4–4.2 mIU/L) and free thyroxine (FT₄; normal range 10–20 pmol/L) concentrations were measured by direct automated chemiluminescent immunoradiometric assays using ADVIA Centaur (Bayer Corporation, Tarrytown, NY). TGAb and TPOAb were measured by direct automated chemiluminescent immunoradiometric assay using Immulite 2000 (Siemens, Llanberis, Gwynedd, UK). TGAb and TPOAb were considered positive above 35 U/mL.

Subgroups

Patients were classified into five subgroups according to TSH level at presentation: (i) hyperthyroid (TSH < 0.03 mIU/L and FT₄ \geq 20 pmol/L); (ii) euthyroid (TSH 0.4–4.2 mIU/L and FT₄ 10–20 pmol/L); (iii) SCH (TSH 4.3–10 mIU/L); (iv) compensated hypothyroid (TSH 10.1–20 mIU/L with normal FT₄); (v) hypothyroid (TSH > 20 mIU/L). Since our practice is to initiate LT₄ therapy in patients with TSH above 10 mIU/L even if FT₄ is within the normal range, we divided patients into two subgroups according to their TSH levels: those with TSH 4.3–10 mIU/L were defined as SCH while those with TSH above 10 mIU/L and FT₄ above 10 pmol/L were defined as compensated SCH.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SAS v9.4 statistical software package (Cary, NC). Study groups were compared by Kruskal–Wallis test (continuous variables) and Chi-square or Fisher's Exact Test (categorical variables). Pairwise comparisons were made using Wilcoxon two-sample tests and Chi-square or Fisher's exact test for continuous and categorical variables, respectively, using Bonferroni correction. Univariate analyses were performed for the study outcome: LT₄ therapy at the end of the study follow-up. Stepwise logistic regression was used for multivariable analysis to establish independent predictors for LT₄ therapy at the end of the follow-up period. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Ha'Emek Medical Center.

RESULTS

The study population consisted of 201 subjects (female-tomale ratio of 4.5:1) with mean age of 11.7 \pm 3.4 years (range 2.25–17.75 years). Reasons for referral were goiter or thyroid dysfunction and/or increased thyroid autoantibodies identified during a work-up performed for various other complaints (hair loss, obesity, weight gain, short stature, pubertal delay, fatigue and headaches).

Mean TSH at presentation was 55 \pm 145 mIU/L (range 0.02–1,225) and FT₄ 12.7 \pm 6.7 pmol/L (range 1.2–67). TSH at presentation, was undetectable in 3.7% of subjects, within the normal range in 14%, slightly increased in 32%, and elevated (>10 mIU/L) in 50%. FT₄ was below the normal range in 29% of patients. TGAb was positive in 83% and TPOAb in 95% of cases. Thyroid gland enlargement was identified in 66% of patients by neck examination.

Fifty-five patients (28%) had an additional autoimmune disease diagnosed either before or after AIT diagnosis. Autoimmune comorbidities included celiac disease (15 patients), pernicious anemia (nine patients), rheumatic diseases (six patients), vitiligo (five patients), DMT1 (three patients), alopecia areata (three patients) and others (14 patients). Positive family history of thyroid diseases was reported in 80 patients (40%), including AIT, Graves' disease, papillary thyroid carcinoma, and multinodular goiter. Follow-up duration was 8.1 years (range 0–29).

The cohort was divided into five subgroups according to TSH level at diagnosis: hyperthyroid (seven patients), euthyroid (27 patients), SCH (60 patients), compensated SCH (30 patients), and hypothyroid (64 patients). Clinical and biochemical findings in the different subgroups are presented in **Table 1**. Subjects with overt hypothyroidism were younger than euthyroid subjects (p = 0.0011). As expected FT₄ levels were significantly lower (p < 0.0001) in overtly hypothyroid children compared to those with SCH and euthyroid patients. TGAb levels at presentation did not differ between groups, but TPOAb values were higher in the overtly hypothyroid group than in the euthyroid group (p = 0.0004). Gender did not differ between groups.

At LT₄ initiation, patients with overt hypothyroidism were significantly younger than those in the euthyroid, SCH, and hyperthyroid groups (p = 0.0016) and had higher TSH and lower FT₄ levels.

During the follow-up period, LT_4 therapy was initiated in 100% of subjects presenting with overt or compensated hypothyroidism; however, at the time of the study, 5 (16%) and 11 (17%) of those patients, respectively, no longer required treatment.

No differences in variables at presentation were found between patients who were off therapy compared to those who required therapy at the end of the follow-up period. As for the other groups, three patients (43%) presenting with hyperthyroidism, 27 patients (44%) with SCH and 20 (74%) of the euthyroid group did not receive treatment. Follow-up duration, age at last visit and thyroid autoantibodies at the time of the study did not differ among groups (**Table 1**). A comparison of thyroid antibody levels in the whole cohort revealed lower levels at the study endpoint compared to levels at the time of referral. Univariate analysis revealed that patients who underwent therapy at presentation were younger (11.4 vs. 12.7 years, p = 0.036), had higher TSH (73 vs. 5.0 mIU/L, p < 0.0001), lower FT₄ (11.7 vs. 15.8 pmol/L, p < 0.0001) and higher TPOAb (920 vs. 521 U/mL, p = 0.002). Gender and TGAb did not differ.

At the end of the study, 122 patients were receiving LT_4 therapy, while 64 were not. Looking for factors at presentation predictive of LT_4 therapy at the end of the follow-up period, multivariable logistic regression performed for age, gender, TSH, FT_4 , TPOAb, TGAb, goiter, familial history of thyroid disease and additional autoimmune diseases revealed that only FT_4 level at presentation was predictive for a future need for LT_4 therapy.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we examined clinical and laboratory characteristics at presentation of AIT in children and adolescents and its natural progression. We found that about 75% of children euthyroid at diagnosis remained in this stable condition over time, whereas only 16% of those presenting with overt hypothyroidism attained remission.

The primary cause for referral to our service was thyroid function abnormality or elevated autoantibodies (68%) and the most prevalent complaint was thyroid enlargement (32%). Interestingly, goiter was identified in 66% of the patients on physical examination at presentation, in keeping with the high prevalence of goiter reported in previous studies (10, 11).

The prevalence of AIT is about 1.2 to 3%, with 87% of cases asymptomatic at presentation and spontaneous resolution occurring in 50% (1, 2). The benign evolution of euthyroid AIT in children has been reported in several studies (7–9, 12–14). Our finding, that only 26% of children who were euthyroid at presentation developed hypothyroidism during the follow-up period is consistent with these data, suggesting that most euthyroid children remain disease free over time. On the other hand, in the study of de Vries et al. (18) almost all patients were treated with LT₄ at referral or during follow-up, however, their data suggested that appropriately monitored LT₄ therapy, even in euthyroid children, does not appear to be harmful.

SCH is characterized by serum TSH levels between 4.2 and 10 mIU/L with normal FT_4 levels. In the presence of thyroid autoantibodies, the diagnosis of AIT is most likely (20). Lazar et al. (21) demonstrated spontaneous normalization of TSH values in most patients with SCH without supplemental therapy. Female gender and initial TSH above 7 mIU/L were predictors of sustained highly elevated TSH. In this study however, the cohort was not limited to subjects with AIT. The risk of deterioration of thyroid status over time is higher in AIT compared to idiopathic SCH (53 vs. 11%) (5, 14, 15), as observed in our study, where 56% of those with SCH required treatment over time.

The presence of additional autoimmune diseases (6, 15, 16) and of genetic syndrome such as Turner and Down syndromes

TABLE 1 | Comparison of clinical and biochemical parameters in the five subgroups.

| At diagnosis | Hyperthyroidism | Euthyroidism | SCH | Compensated SCH | Hypothyroidism | P-value |
|---|---|---|----------------------------|------------------------------|------------------------------|---------|
| Hormonal status | TSH < 0.03 mlU/L FT ₄ > 20 pmol/L | TSH 0.4–4.2 mIU/L FT ₄ 10–20 pmol/L | TSH 4.3–10 mIU/L | TSH 10.1-20 mIU/L | TSH > 20 mIU/L | |
| No. of patients | 7 (3.7%) | 27 (14.3%) | 60 (32%) | 30 (16%) | 64 (34%) | |
| Gender (F:M) % male | 6:1 (14%) | 25:2 (8%) | 43:17 (28%) | 22:8 (27%) | 57:7 (11%) | |
| At presentation | | | | | | |
| Age (years) | 13.8 ± 2.6 (8.2–16.2) | 13.2 ± 3.0 (7.7–17.8) | 11.5 ± 2.9 (5.2–17.5) | 12.0 ± 3.8 (4.5–17.6) | 10.6 ± 3.4 (2.3–17.6) | 0.005 |
| TSH (mIU/L) | 0.03 ± 0.01 (0.02-0.04) | 2.4 ± 1.0 (0.9-4.1) | 7.1 ± 1.7 (4.4–9.8) | 13.5 ± 3.0 (10.1–19.6) | 152.1 ± 226 (21.7–1224.7) | <0.0001 |
| FT ₄ (pmol/L) | 34.5 ± 16.1 (19.6–67.0) | 14.8 ± 2.2 (11.3–19.2) | 14.1 ± 2.3 (9.4–19.8) | 13.3 ± 1.7 (10.3–17.1) | 7.8 ± 3.1 (1.2–14.2) | <0.0001 |
| TPOAb (U/mL) | 681 ± 448 (65–1,000) | 397 ± 321 (26-1,000) | 721 ± 1005 (10–5,730) | 645 ± 397 (35–1,000) | 1,195 ± 2,010 (11–13,372) | 0.01 |
| TGAb (U/mL) | 357 ± 408 (30–1,136) | 451 ± 723 (28–3,000) | 485 ± 868 (20–3,000) | 529 ± 1,092 (25–4,284) | 876 ± 1,463 (30–6,500) | 0.5 |
| At LT ₄ therapy initiation | | | | | | |
| Age (years) | 17.4 ± 4.5 (12.5–23.3) | 14.8 ± 3.9 (9.2–22.4) | 13.5 ± 3.7 (6.0–21.8) | 12.8 ± 4.5 (5.0–23.3) | 10.6 ± 3.4 (2.3–17.8) | 0.0001 |
| Years between diagnosis and \ensuremath{LT}_4 therapy | 4.4 ± 3.6 (1.07–9.5) | 2.7 ± 2.1 (0-8.1) | 1.4 ± 2.2 (0-11.3) | 0.27 ± 1.3 (0-12.4) | 0.05 ± 0.271 (0–2.17) | <0.0001 |
| TSH at LT ₄ initiation (mIU/L) | 47.6 ± 69 (6.4–150.6) | 36.0±49.2 (0.9–132) | 17.2 ± 28.0 (5.0–150.4) | 21.9 ± 29.1 (5.5–150) | 153.1 ± 2,283 (5.3–1,223) | <0.0001 |
| FT_4 at LT_4 initiation (pmol/L) | 10.4 ± 6.9 (6.9–14.4) | 11.4 ± 4.3 (3.4–16.4) | 13.2 ± 2.4 (8.8–19.8) | 13.0 ± 2.7 (4.4–17.8) | 7.7 ± 3.1 (1.2–13.7) | <0.0001 |
| Time of study | | | | | | |
| Age (years) | 21.6 ± 6.7 (15–33) | 19.5 ± 6.3 (8.1–31.1) | 18.7 ± 5.5 (9.4–31.0) | 20.0 ± 5.9 (9.3–35.0) | 18.9 ± 5.8 (5.1–33.0) | 0.76 |
| Follow-up duration (years) | 8.0 ± 6.5 (0.4–19) | 6.4 ± 6.1 (0-20.8) | 7.6 ± 6.1 (0–20.8) | 8.7 ± 6.7 (0.1–29.4) | 9.3 ± 5.5 (0.8–22.0) | 0.11 |
| TSH (mIU/L) | 5.2 ± 4.3 (0.02-11.6) | 3.4 ± 3.4 (0.36–18.6) | 6.4 ± 3.4 (0.4–18.6) | 15.1 ± 53.3 (0.3–296) | 13.1 ± 31.8 (0.04–196) | 0.15 |
| FT ₄ (pmol/L) | 14.9 ± 8.4 (12.3–28.4) | 14.9 ± 9.9 (9.9–19.9) | 14.9 ± 7.2 (9.9–19.9) | 15.7 ± 6.4 (11.4–21.1) | 14.9 ± 5.6 (2.2–28.4) | 0.9 |
| TGAb (U/mL) | 460 ±599 (34–1,255) | 411 ± 833 (30–3,000) | 540 ± 980 (20–3,000) | 1,655 ± 4,363 (39–15,907) | 443 ± 565 (21–3,000) | 0.58 |
| TPOAb (U/mL) | 515 ± 456 (76–1,000) | 390 ± 291 (24-1,000) | 692 ± 866 (11-1,000) | 632 ± 380 (29–1,300) | 552 ± 535 (10–3,000) | 0.59 |
| No of patients undergoing LT_4 therapy at time of study (%) | 4 (57%) | 7 (26%) | 33 (56%) | 25 (83%) | 53 (84%) | <0.0001 |

of study (%)

TSH normal range 0.4-4.2 mIU/L.

FT₄ normal range 10–20 pmol/L.

SCH, sub clinical hypothyroidism, TPOAb, TPO abs; TGAb, Thyroglobulin antibodies.

(14, 15) has been shown to increase the risk of deterioration in thyroid function. In our study, therefore, patients with these syndromes were excluded, as were children with DMT1 in whom thyroid seropositive antibodies were detected after the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus, as the natural history of AIT in these children differs (22).

Amongst our cohort, a small number of patients were treated with LT_4 therapy for goiter shrinkage despite TSH levels below 10 mIU/L, an approach that is suggested in a few studies (23, 24). Even though LT_4 therapy has been shown to reduce thyroid autoantibodies in patients with SCH and overt hypothyroidism, its beneficial effect on the evolution of thyroid function (11, 25), and on metabolic (26) and neurocognitive outcome (27–29) remains uncertain. In the United States, the prevalence of positive thyroid antibodies, in the disease-free population above 12 years of age, is about 10%, it is more prevalent in females and increases with age (30). TPOAb are significantly associated with thyroid function but TGAb are not (30). In our study, elevated TPOAb were associated with initiation of LT₄ at presentation, but were not predictive for long-term LT₄ treatment, whereas, in our multivariate analysis, only FT₄ values at presentation predicted future treatment requirements in children with AIT.

Normalization of thyroid function over time has been reported to occur in 30–50% of children presenting with overt hypothyroidism (8, 9). In our study, supplemental therapy was initiated in all such patients with remission occurring in only 16% by the end of the follow-up period. Although this remission rate is lower than that reported in other studies, it suggests that reassessment of thyroid status is important given that 16% of those with overt autoimmune hypothyroidism may not require lifelong LT_4 therapy.

Hyperthyroidism was the presenting symptom in seven patients (3.7%), with four developing hypothyroidism over time. Although hyperthyroidism is an uncommon presentation of AIT, awareness of this condition is important and should be differentiated from Graves' disease in order to avoid unnecessary suppressive therapy (3, 31).

A family history of thyroid disease was present in 40% of children with AIT, including Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Graves' disease, multinodular goiter and papillary thyroid carcinoma, suggesting a genetic susceptibility to thyroid disease. In addition, other autoimmune diseases were present in 28% of the cohort. These findings highlight the need for screening patients with AIT for additional autoimmune diseases.

This large, long-term retrospective study adds further information to the controversial issue of the natural history of AIT in childhood. The major limit of this study is its retrospective nature, with variable duration of follow-up among individuals.

In conclusion, this study indicates that 26% of children with normal thyroid function at presentation develop overt hypothyroidism, over 50% of those with initial SCH may eventually require LT_4 treatment and 16% of those presenting with overt hypothyroidism may recover over time. FT₄ at

REFERENCES

- Rallison ML, Dobyns BM, Keating FR, Rall JE, Tyler FH. Occurrence and natural history of chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis in childhood. J Pediatr. (1975) 86:675–82. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(75)80350-7
- Segni M. Disorders of the thyroid gland in infancy, childhood and adolescence. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al., editors. *Endotext*. South Dartmouth, MA: MDText.com (2000). Available online at: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK278943 (accessed March 18, 2017).
- 3. Crisafulli G, Gallizzi R, Aversa T, Salzano G, Valenzise M, Wasniewska M, et al. Thyroid function test evolution in children with Hashimoto's thyroiditis is closely conditioned by the biochemical picture at diagnosis. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2018) 7:22. doi: 10.1186/s13052-018-0461-5
- Wasniewska M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Mussa A, Capalbo D, Messina MF et al. Thyroid function patterns at Hashimoto's thyroiditis presentation in childhood and adolescence are mainly conditioned by patients' age. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 78:232–6. doi: 10.1159/000343815
- Aversa T, Valenzise M, Corrias A, Salerno M, De Luca F, Mussa A, et al. Underlying Hashimoto's thyroiditis negatively affects the evolution of subclinical hypothyroidism in children irrespective of other concomitant risk factors. *Thyroid*. (2015) 25:183–7. doi: 10.1089/thy.2014.0235
- 6. Radetti G, Gottardi E, Bona G, Corrias A, Salardi S, Loche S. Study Group for Thyroid Diseases of the Italian Society for Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetes (SIEDP/ISPED). The natural history of euthyroid Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children. *J Pediatr.* (2006) 149:827–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.08.045

presentation appears to be the only factor predicting evolution of thyroid status. Further long-term studies on large cohorts of patients are needed to better clarify the natural history of AIT and identify prognostic factors for therapeutic intervention.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study involving human participants was reviewed and approved by Ha'Emek Medical Center Helsinki Comittee. Written informed consent for participation was not provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin, nor was written consent required from the local ethics committee since the study was retrospective collecting data from medical files.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

OA collected the data and reviewed and revised the manuscript. TA, SR, and GE-A reviewed and revised the manuscript. YT-R drafted the initial manuscript, designed the study, coordinated and collected the data, and revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Naama Schwartz for professional statistical analysis and Camille Vainstein for professional English editing.

- Fava A, Oliverio R, Giuliano S, Parlato G, Michniewicz A, Indrieri A, et al. Clinical evolution of autoimmune thyroiditis in children and adolescents. *Thyroid.* (2009) 19:361–7. doi: 10.1089/thy.2008.0239
- Wang SY, Tung YC, Tsai WY, Lee JS, Hsiao PH. Long-term outcome of hormonal status in Taiwanese children with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Eur J Pediatr*. (2006) 165:481–3. doi: 10.1007/s00431-006-0112-5
- Demirbilek H, Kandemir N, Gonc EN, Ozon A, Alikasifoglu A. Assessment of thyroid function during the long course of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children and adolescents. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2009) 71:451–4. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008.03501.x
- Özen S, Berk Ö, Simşek DG, Darcan S. Clinical course of Hashimoto's thyroiditis and effects of levothyroxine therapy on the clinical course of the disease in children and adolescents. *J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol.* (2011) 3:192–7. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.425
- Lee HS, Hwang JS. The natural course of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children and adolescents. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 27:807–12. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2013-0373
- Moore DC. Natural course of "subclinical" hypothyroidism in childhood and adolescence. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. (1996) 150:293–7. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.1996.02170280063012
- Wasniewska M, Salerno M, Cassio A, Corrias A, Aversa T, Zirilli G, et al. Prospective evaluation of the natural course of idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism in childhood and adolescence. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2009) 160:417–21. doi: 10.1530/EJE-08-0625
- 14. Wasniewska M, Aversa T, Salerno M, Corrias A, Messina MF, Mussa A, et al. Five-year prospective evaluation of thyroid function in girls with subclinical

mild hypothyroidism of different etiology. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2015) 173:801–8. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0484

- Salerno M, Capalbo D, Cerbone M, De Luca F. Subclinical hypothyroidism in childhood – current knowledge and open issues. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2016) 12:734–46. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2016.100
- Radetti G, Maselli M, Buzi F, Corrias A, Mussa A, Cambiaso P, et al. The natural history of the normal/mild elevated TSH serum levels in children and adolescents with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and isolated hyperthyrotropinaemia: a 3-year follow-up. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2012) 76:394–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04251.x
- Aversa T, Corrias A, Salerno M, Tessaris D, Di Mase R, Valenzise M, et al. Five year prospective evaluation of thyroid function test evolution in children with Hashimoto's thyroiditis presenting with either euthyroidism or subclinical hypothyroidism. *Thyroid*. (2016) 26:1450–6. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0080
- de Vries L, Bulvik S, Phillip M. Chronic autoimmune thyroiditis in children and adolescents: at presentation and during long-term follow-up. Arch Dis Child. (2009) 94:33–7. doi: 10.1136/adc.2007.134841
- Jaruratanasirikul S, Leethanaporn K, Khuntigij P, Sriplung H. The clinical course of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children and adolescents: 6 years longitudinal follow-up. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2001) 14:177–84. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2001.14.2.177
- Crisafulli G, Aversa T, Zirilli G, Pajno GB, Corica D, De Luca F, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism in children: when a replacement hormonal treatment might be advisable. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:109. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00109
- Lazar L, Frumkin RB, Battat E, Lebenthal Y, Phillip M, Meyerovitch J. Natural history of thyroid function tests over 5 years in a large pediatric cohort. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2009) 94:1678–82. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-2615
- Kordonouri O, Klinghammer A, Lang EB, Grüters-Kieslich A, Grabert M, Holl RW. Thyroid autoimmunity in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* (2002) 25:1346–50. doi: 10.2337/diacare.25. 8.1346
- Svensson J, Ericsson UB, Nilsson P, Olsson C, Jonsson B, Lindberg B, et al. Levothyroxine treatment reduces thyroid size in children and adolescents with chronic autoimmune thyroiditis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2006) 91:1729–34. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-2400
- 24. Scarpa V, Kousta E, Tertipi A, Vakaki M, Fotinou A, Petrou V, et al. Treatment with thyroxine reduces thyroid volume in euthyroid children and adolescents with chronic autoimmune thyroiditis. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2010) 73:61–7. doi: 10.1159/000271917

- 25. Wasniewska M, Corrias A, Avesta T, Valenzise M, Mussa A, De Marino L, et al. Comparative evaluation of therapy with L-thyroxine versus no treatment in children with idiopathic and mild subclinical hypothyroidism. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 77:376–81. doi: 10.1159/000339156
- Cerbone M, Capalbo D, Wasniewska M, Alfano S, Mattace Raso G, Oliviero U, et al. Effects of L-thyroxine treatment on early markers of atherosclerotic disease in children with subclinical hypothyroidism. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2016) 175:11–9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0833
- Cerbone M, Bravaccio C, Capalbo D, Polizzi M, Wasniewska M, Cioffi D, et al. Linear growth and intellectual outcome in children with long-term idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2011) 164:591–7. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-0979
- Capalbo D, Alfano S, Polizzi M, Di Mase R, Improda N, Esposito A, et al. Cognitive function in children with idiopathic subclinical hypothyroidism: effects of 2 years of levothyroxine therapy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 105:dgaa046. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa046
- Radetti G, Salerno M, Guzzetti C, Cappa M, Corrias A, Cassio A, et al. Thyroid function in children and adolescents with Hashimoto's thyroiditis after l-thyroxine discontinuation. *Endocr Connect.* (2017) 6:206– 12. doi: 10.1530/EC-17-0023
- Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Flanders WD, Hannon WH, Gunter EW, Spencer CA, et al. Serum TSH, T₄, and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2002) 87:489– 99. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.2.8182
- Wasniewska M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Lombardo F, Aversa T, Mussa A, et al. Outcomes of children with hashitoxicosis. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 77:36–40. doi: 10.1159/000334640

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Admoni, Rath, Almagor, Elias-Assad and Tenenbaum-Rakover. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Clinical and Biochemical Characteristics of Severe Hypothyroidism Due to Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Children

Anna Małgorzata Kucharska*, Ewelina Witkowska-Sędek, Dominika Labochka and Małgorzata Rumińska

Department of Paediatrics and Endocrinology, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

Introduction: In the majority of countries, autoimmune thyroiditis is the main cause of acquired hypothyroidism in children. Typically, the natural course of the disease is initially insidious and the diagnosis is incidental. There are some children who develop severe hypothyroidism without a proper diagnosis. The aim of the study was to analyze the clinical and biochemical profiles of children with severe primary hypothyroidism due to autoimmune thyroiditis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, University of Messina, Italy

Reviewed by:

Mariella Valenzise, University of Messina, Italy Artur Bossowski, Medical University of Bialystok, Poland

> *Correspondence: Anna Małgorzata Kucharska ankucharska@wum.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 31 March 2020 Accepted: 11 May 2020 Published: 08 July 2020

Citation:

Kucharska AM, Witkowska-Sędek E, Labochka D and Rumińska M (2020) Clinical and Biochemical Characteristics of Severe Hypothyroidism Due to Autoimmune Thyroiditis in Children. Front. Endocrinol. 11:364. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00364 **Materials and Methods:** We analyzed the records of 354 patients diagnosed between 2009 and 2019 with autoimmune thyroiditis. Only patients with TSH above 100 μ IU/mL, associated with decreased free thyroxine and the presence of antithyroid antibodies, were enrolled in the study. The analysis encompassed clinical symptoms, thyroid and biochemical status, bone age, and imaging.

Results: Twenty-six children were enrolled in the study. The mean age at diagnosis was 10.26 ± 3.3 years, with a female preponderance of 1.8:1. The most frequent symptom was growth impairment (77%) and weight gain (58%). Goiters were present in 42% of patients. Less common findings were pituitary hypertrophy (four patients) and hypertrichosis (three patients). Median values at the time of diagnosis were TSH 454.3 uIU/ml (295.0–879.4), anti-TPO antibodies 1,090 IU/ml, and anti-Tg antibodies 195 IU/ml. Anti-TSHR ab were evaluated only in six out of the 26 patients. The characteristic biochemical profile was correlated with the grade of hypothyroidism, and the strongest correlations were found with CBC parameters, lipid profile, aminotransferases, and creatine.

Conclusion: In children with severe hypothyroidism, the most sensitive symptoms are growth arrest and weight gain despite the fact that, in some children, the auxological parameters at presentation could be within normal values for the population. The specific biochemical profile closely correlates to the severity of thyroid hormone deficiency and involves mostly erythropoiesis, liver function, and kidney function. Pituitary enlargement

30

should be considered in each child with severe hypothyroidism. It is necessary to conduct prospective studies evaluating the actual frequency of anti-TSHR antibodies and pituitary enlargement in children with extremely high TSH, especially those presenting without goiters.

Keywords: severe autoimmune hypothyroidism, symptoms, hypertrichosis, pituitary hypertrophy, children

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune thyroiditis (AIT) is the main cause of acquired hypothyroidism in children (1, 2). Typically, the natural course of disease is initially insidious and many patients are diagnosed incidentally before they present overt hypothyroidism (3). There are also some children who develop severe hypothyroidism for several months without a proper diagnosis.

The most common form of AIT is classic Hashimoto's disease with goiter-a high level of antithyroid antibodies and infiltration of the thyroid gland by macrophages and lymphocytes that form the specific thyroid lymphatic tissue (4). Some patients develop atrophic autoimmune thyroiditis, which is characterized by thyroid gland fibrosis, reduction of blood perfusion, and severe damage of thyroid tissue resulting in rapid progression of severe hypothyroidism. This atrophic thyroiditis is considered the form of autoimmune thyroid disease associated with lower levels of anti-thyroid antibodies in comparison to the goitrous form of AIT. It is typical that the majority of patients with atrophic AIT are diagnosed at the phase of advanced overt hypothyroidism (5). The diagnosis of AIT in those patients is usually delayed, probably because of the lack of goiter. In such children, some characteristic changes in the clinical and biochemical picture can be observed. Although the symptoms of hypothyroidism seem to be well-known, they are still often overlooked. Stereotypically, a child with hypothyroidism is an obese, short, slow, and sleepy patient with a goiter. Nonetheless, particular symptoms usually have a specific pattern: in children with hypothyroidism, there is an observed redistribution of subcutaneous tissue due to myxedema rather than simple obesity; growth arrest is more characteristic than absolute short stature; and weight gain is observed with normal or even reduced food intake. Some patients also present non-specific symptoms like fainting and headaches. In laboratory tests, the most characteristic abnormalities are lipid disorders (6) and anemia (7, 8), but in some cases liver (9) and kidney (10) function could also be impaired.

The aim of our study was to analyze the clinical and biochemical profiles of children with severe primary hypothyroidism due to autoimmune thyroiditis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was retrospective. The medical records of 354 patients with AIT diagnosed between 2009 and 2019 in our institution were reviewed. Only patients with severe hypothyroidism (SH) were enrolled in the study. The criteria of inclusion were thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) value above 100 μ IU/mL associated with free thyroxine (fT4) concentration below

reference values and the presence of antithyroid antibodies: anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies (anti-TPO ab) and/or anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (anti-Tg ab). Twenty-six patients (17 girls, nine boys) aged 10.26 ± 3.3 years met these criteria.

Serum concentrations of TSH, fT4, free triiodothyronine (fT3), anti-Tg ab, anti-TPO ab, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), creatinine, urea, fasting glucose, total cholesterol (total-C), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), triglycerides (TG), and complete blood cell count (CBC) were analyzed. TSH receptor antibodies (TSHR ab) were measured in six out of 26 patients. Bone age (BA) using the Greulich and Pyle method (11) was evaluated in 14 out of 26 patients. An ultrasound of the thyroid gland was performed in each patient using 7.5–11 MHz linear transducer. In patients with specific indications, magnetic resonance imaging of pituitary gland was also performed.

The study was approved by the Bioethics Committee at the Medical University of Warsaw.

Biochemical Analysis

The serum concentrations of TSH, fT4, fT3, anti-Tg ab, and anti-TPO ab were measured by the immunofluorescence method using the Architect i1000SR Analyzer (Abbott Diagnostics, Abbott Park, Illinois, USA). The anti-TSHR ab levels were measured by electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) with the Cobas e801 Analyzer (Diagnostics Roche, Basel, Switzerland). ALT and AST activity, creatinine, and urea concentrations were measured by the dry chemistry method using Vitros 5600 Analyzer (Ortho Clinical Diagnostics, Raritan, New Jersey, USA). The glomerular filtration rate (GFR) was calculated using creatinine level, age, sex, and height by Bedside Schwartz method (12).

Fasting glucose was determined in blood serum using Vitros 5600 Analyzer (Ortho Clinical Diagnostics, Raritan, New Jersey, USA). The lipid profile parameters were determined using Vitros 5600 Analyzer (Ortho Clinical Diagnostics, Raritan, New Jersey, USA). CBC was measured in blood collected in EDTA samples using Sysmex-XN-1000i hematological analyzer (Sysmex Europe, Norderstedt, Germany): red blood cell (RBC) count, hemoglobin (Hgb), mean corpuscular volume (MCV), mean corpuscular hemoglobin (MCH), mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC), total white blood cell (WBC) count, and platelet (PLT) count. Blood samples were obtained from patients after overnight fasting.

Reference values of analyzed laboratory parameters are shown in **Table 1**.

| Parameter | Results | Reference limits |
|-------------------------|------------------------|------------------|
| Thyroid | | |
| TSH (μIU/ml) | 454.3 (310.4 – 899.0) | 0.58 – 3.59 |
| fT4 (ng/dl) | 0.39 (0.39 – 0.43) | 0.84 - 1.47 |
| fT3 (pg/ml) | 1.48 ± 0.66 | 2.33 - 4.35 |
| Tg ab (IU/I) | 934.0 (197.4 – 1902.7) | <4.1 |
| TPO ab (IU/I) | 195.4 (38.3 – 647.1) | <5.6 |
| Liver | | |
| ALT (U/I) | 49.0 (25.0 - 108.0) | 10 – 30 |
| AST (U/I) | 73.0 (41.0 – 98.0) | 10 - 40 |
| Fasting glucose (mg/dl) | 81.7 ± 8.0 | 70 – 99 |
| Kidneys | | |
| Creatinine (mg/dl) | 0.7 (0.6 – 0.8) | 0.2 - 0.7 |
| Urea (mg/dl) | 28.1 ± 7.0 | 15 - 36.4 |
| Lipids | | |
| total-C (mg/dl) | 255.0 (214.0 – 343.0) | <170 |
| LDL-C (mg/dl) | 170.4 (145.0 – 244.0) | <110 |
| HDL-C (mg/dl) | 57.6 ± 22.9 | >45 |
| TG (mg/dl) | 109.5 (67.0 – 173.0) | <90 |
| CBC | | |
| RBC (× $10^6/\mu$ l) | 4.1 ± 0.6 | 4.7 - 6.1 |
| Hgb (g/dl) | 12.0 ± 1.5 | 14 – 18 |
| MCV (fl) | 87.8 ± 5.3 | 78 – 95 |
| MCH (pg) | 29.2 ± 1.7 | 26 - 32 |
| MCHC (g/dl) | 33.4 ± 1.0 | 31 – 35 |
| WBC (× $10^3/\mu$ l) | 6.7 ± 2.0 | 4 - 10 |
| PLT (× $10^3/\mu$ l) | 256.8 ± 64.5 | 150 - 400 |

Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation or median with interquartile range as appropriate.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Statistica 13.1. Data was checked by the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Results were reported as means \pm standard deviation (SD), median and interquartile ranges (IR), or as percentages, as appropriate. Correlations between variables were evaluated using the Spearman's correlation analysis for non-normally distributed data and the Pearson's correlation test for normally distributed data. A p < 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Clinical Symptoms in SH Children

The mean age at diagnosis was 10.26 (range 3.0–14.85), with girls' preponderance 1.8:1 (17:9). Growth arrest was the most frequent symptom (77%), whereas absolute short stature (height <3rd percentile for Polish population) was present only in 38%. The second most frequent symptom was weight gain, reported in 58% of patients; simultaneously, absolute obesity was found in 38% (n = 10) of patients (**Table 2**). Only 11 out of 26 patients (42%) had a goiter confirmed by ultrasound volume



evaluation (**Figure 1**). The rarest symptoms were headaches, reported by four (15%) patients, and among them, seizures in one patient (4%). In those four patients, the CNS imaging was performed and anterior pituitary hypertrophy of variable grade was found without focal changes. Three patients had substantial hypertrichosis on the whole skin area, which disappeared when euthyroidism was achieved again. The characteristics of all clinical symptoms and findings in the SH children are presented in **Figure 1**. We also analyzed the diagnostic delay in SH children. The mean putative time from the occurrence of the first symptoms to the moment of diagnosis ranged from 6 months to 3 years.

Laboratory Findings

The evaluation of CBC revealed that 38% (n = 10) of patients had reduced RBC, 42% (n = 11) had decreased Hb value, and MCV in the majority of our patients was normal or slightly increased, with only one child having low MCV value.

Average values of laboratory results in all SH children are presented in **Table 1**. Parameters of lipid profile and kidney and liver function are shown in **Table 3**.

Relations of TSH, fT4, and fT3 Levels With Other Biochemical Parameters and CBC

In SH children, TSH levels were significantly positively correlated with AST (R = 0.46, p = 0.026) and urea

| No | Age (years) | Sex | TSH (mIU/I) | fT4 (ng/dl) | fT3 (pg/ml) | Anti-TPO (nl < 5.6) | Anti-Tg (nl< 4.1) | Anti-TSHR (positive >1.75IU/L) | Goiter | Bone age (years) | Height SDS | BMI (kg/m²) | BMI (SDS) | Puberty Tanner scale |
|----|---------------------|-----|----------------|-------------|----------------|------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------------|--------|---------------------|---------------|----------------|--------------|----------------------------|
| 1 | 3 | F | >1,000 | 0.41 | 1.4 | 49.0 | 17.0 | | Yes | 2 | -3.99 | 19.1 | 2.42 | B1P1 |
| 2 | 4.59 | F | 279.64 | 0.43 | 2.37 | 9340.9 | 61.2 | | No | | 0.16 | 28.9 | 8.50 | B1P1 |
| 3 | 5.34 | F | 859.74 | <0.4 | 0.99 | 140.0 | 2630.6 | | No | 2.5 | -1.8 | 19.6 | 2.39 | B1P1 |
| 4 | 5.67 | М | 534.45 | <0.4 | 0.99 | 4899.6 | 143.6 | | No | 4 | -2.13 | 14.9 | -0.54 | G1P1 |
| 5 | 6.75 | F | 332.4 | 0.4 | 1.6 | 2001.0 | 1400.0 | | Yes | 6 | -1.29 | 18.3 | 1.21 | B1P1 |
| 6 | 8.5 ^{twin} | F | >1,000 | 0.15 | 0.92 | 187.0 | 36.8 | 0.8 | No | 3.5 | -3.5 | 24.5 | 3.18 | B1P1 |
| 7 | 8.5 ^{twin} | F | 359.0 | 0.48 | 2.74 | 383.6 | 416.9 | 0.8 | No | 5 | -2.4 | 21.7 | 2.04 | B1P1 |
| 8 | 8.59 | F | 171.22 | 0.5 | 2.52 | 7.7 | 250.9 | | Yes | | 1.06 | 30.4 | 4.59 | B1P1 |
| 9 | 9.08 | F | >1,000 | <0.4 | 0.99 | 65.5 | 784.8 | 1.8 | No | 8 | -1.53 | 22.2 | 1.75 | B1P1 |
| 10 | 9.67 | М | 278.37 | 0.45 | 2.5 | 2756.7 | 283.5 | | Yes | | -0.34 | 20.3 | 1.04 | G1P1 |
| 11 | 10 | F | 561.43 | <0.4 | 0.99 | 124.5 | 26.6 | 0.33 | No | | 0.18 | 22.2 | 1.75 | B1P1 |
| 12 | 10 | F | 316.97 | <0.4 | 1.49 | 2668.9 | 440.8 | | No | 8 | -1.8 | 24.3 | 2.47 | B1P1 |
| 13 | 10.17 | F | 355.78 | <0.4 | 1.31 | 1804.4 | 15.7 | | No | | -0.36 | 23.4 | 1.96 | B1P1 |
| 14 | 10.5 | Μ | 134.59 | 0.48 | 1.86 | 541.4 | 225.2 | | No | 9 | 1.66 | 24.8 | 2.45 | G1P1 |
| 15 | 10.58 | М | 362.13 | 0.51 | 1.49 | 476.1 | 29.8 | | No | | -1.3 | 23.5 | 1.65 | G1P2 |
| 16 | 11.68 | М | 962.85 | <0.4 | 1.11 | 1185.8 | 554.8 | 0.8 | No | 8.5 | 2.17 | 18.6 | 0.15 | G1P1 |
| 17 | 11.75 | F | 899.0 | 0.04 | 0.25 | 1589.7 | 1761.0 | 0.77 | Yes | | -1.06 | 24.3 | 1.92 | B2P2 |
| 18 | 12 | F | >1,000 | <0.4 | 1.49 | 653.0 | 69.7 | | Yes | | -0.21 | 18.0 | -0.36 | B2P2 |
| 19 | 12.09 | М | 613.39 | <0.4 | 0.99 | 1723.3 | 21.9 | | No | 11 | -2.06 | 25.9 | 2.08 | G2P2 |
| 20 | 12.17 | М | 447.21 | <0.4 | 1.08 | 2806.2 | 739.4 | | Yes | | 0.06 | 22.5 | 1.19 | G2P2 |
| 21 | 13.42 | F | 133.94 | 0.41 | 2.18 | 233.2 | 158.0 | | Yes | | -1.46 | 17.1 | 0.88 | B3P3 |
| 22 | 13.84 | F | 461.48 | <0.4 | 1.1 | 1584.7 | 3712.0 | | Yes | 12.5 | -3.05 | 25.7 | 1.86 | B3P3 |
| 23 | 14.67 | М | 310.4 | <0.4 | 0.99 | 207.7 | 39.8 | | No | | -0.22 | 25.8 | 2.17 | G3P3 |
| 24 | 14.67 | F | 561.98 | 0.36 | 0.98 | 873.3 | 45.8 | | Yes | 12 | -3.6 | 19.1 | -0.37 | B3P4 |
| 25 | 14.67 | F | 100.28 | 0.49 | 1.93 | 994.6 | 165.5 | | Yes | | 0.61 | 19.1 | -0.38 | B4P4 |
| 26 | 14.85 | М | >1,000 | 0.22 | 0.74 | 88.8 | 15.5 | | no | 12.5 | -2.1 | 21.5 | 1.04 | G2P3 |

TABLE 2 | The auxological characteristics and hormonal and antibodies profile in patients with severe hypothyroidism.

TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone at presentation; fT4, free thyroxine value at presentation; fT3, free triiodothyronine value at presentation; anti-TPO, anti-thyroxine peroxidase antibodies and anti-Tg, antithyroglobulin antibodies (normal values in brackets); anti-TSHR, anti-TSH receptor antibodies; Height SDS, height values in SD standardized for age and sex; BMI, body mass index; BMI SDS, BMI values in SD standardized for age and sex; B, breast development; P, pubic hair development. Patients No. 6 and 7. were monozygotic twins.

levels (R = 0.50, p = 0.043). Negative correlations were found between TSH and RBC (R = -0.75, p < 0.0001) and between TSH and Hgb (R = -0.74, p < 0.0001). TSH concentrations and MCV were positively correlated (R = 0.46, p = 0.019). Surprisingly, lipid profile turned out to not be significantly correlated with TSH value in SH children, although lipid parameters were highly increased (**Tables 1, 3**).

Free T4 levels were strongly negatively correlated with total-C (R = -0.66, p = 0.001) and LDL-C (R = -0.61, p = 0.009). Positive correlations were found between fT4 and certain CBC parameters such as RBC (R = 0.45, p = 0.023), Hgb (R =0.45, p = 0.024), MCHC (R = 0.49, p = 0.015), and PLT (R = 0.46, p = 0.021). Free T4 concentration was negatively correlated with MCV (R = -0.57, p = 0.003). Unfortunately, the evaluation of fT4 associations was limited, because in most patients at diagnosis we received the laboratory result of fT4 concentration as a value of "< 0.4 ng/dl" (**Table 2**), so for statistical calculations we determined the value arbitrarily as 0.39 ng/dl. We found a statistically significant negative correlation between fT3 levels and ALT (R = 0.46, p = 0.046) and AST (R = -0.68, p = 0.001). A strong negative correlation was found between fT3 and total-C (R = -0.67, p = 0.002). Free T3 also correlated with CBC parameters: positively with RBC (R = 0.53, p < 0.05) and Hgb (R = 0.47, p = 0.031), and negatively with MCV (R = -0.58, p < 0.05) and MCH (R = -0.45, p < 0.05).

Bone age was delayed more than 1 year in nine out of 14 children in whom it was determined. The median difference between chronological age and BA was 0.4 years, with the range from 0 to 5 years. We found a significant negative correlation between TSH value and absolute BA (R = -0.55, p = 0.040), but no correlation between TSH and degree of BA delay (delta in years) (p = 0.08).

No relationships between anti-Tg ab or anti-TPO ab and any evaluated parameter were found in our study. Antibodies against TSHR were evaluated only in six out of 26 SH patients at the presentation and in one of them the value was positive: 1.8 IU/l (by the cut-off 1.75 IU/l). None of our patients had thyroid ophthalmopathy. **TABLE 3** | Liver and kidney function tests in children with severe hypothyroidism.

| No | Age (years) | TSH (mIU/L) | ALT (U/L) | AST (U/L) | Creatynine (mg/dl) | Urea (mg/dl) | GFR (ml/min/1.73 m ²) | | Lipid | profile | |
|----|----------------|----------------|--------------|--------------|-----------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------|------------------|------------------|---------------|
| | (years) | (1110/2) | (0,2) | (0, 2) | (ing/di) | (mg/ui) | (111/1111/11/011) | Total-C (mg/dl) | HDL-C (mg/dl) | LDL-C (mg/dl) | TG (mg/dl) |
| 1 | 3 | >1,000 | 62 | 90 | 0.6 | | 56.4 | 183 | 27 | 134.8 | 106 |
| 2 | 4.6 | 279.64 | 25 | 39 | | | | 221 | | | |
| 3 | 5.3 | 859.74 | 114 | 133 | 0.7 | 33 | 60.8 | 613 | 88 | 494.4 | 153 |
| 4 | 5.7 | 534.45 | 49 | 85 | 0.7 | 27 | 61.7 | 235 | 58 | 146 | 153 |
| 5 | 6.7 | 332.4 | 52 | 58 | 0.6 | 30 | 77.8 | 286 | 85 | 189.6 | 57 |
| 6 | 8.5 | >1,000 | 25 | 49 | 0.5 | 28 | 93.3 | 230 | 36 | 145 | 119 |
| 7 | 8.5 | 359.0 | 19 | 43 | 0.5 | 39 | 98.3 | 208 | 50 | 148 | 48 |
| 8 | 8.6 | 171.22 | 21 | 29 | 0.6 | 23 | 94.2 | 214 | | | |
| 9 | 9.1 | >1,000 | 139 | 98 | | | | 289 | 86 | 192.8 | 51 |
| 10 | 9.7 | 278.37 | 151 | 86 | 0.6 | 21 | 94.2 | 214 | 30 | | 477 |
| 11 | 10 | 561.43 | 44 | 92 | 0.8 | 27 | 72.8 | 411 | 51 | 348 | 81 |
| 12 | 10 | 316.97 | 35 | 46 | 0.5 | 27 | 61.4 | | | | |
| 13 | 10.2 | 355.78 | 48 | 55 | 0.9 | 27 | 63.8 | 400 | 27 | 195.4 | 296 |
| 14 | 10.5 | 134.59 | | | | | | 189 | 62 | 114.6 | 62 |
| 15 | 10.6 | 362.13 | | | 0.8 | 28 | 69.2 | 281 | | | 224 |
| 16 | 11.7 | 962.85 | 108 | 144 | 1.1 | 38 | 50.7 | 253 | 71 | 156 | 58 |
| 17 | 11.75 | 899.0 | 59 | 101.7 | 1.1 | 41 | 53.7 | 343 | 23 | 244 | 383 |
| 18 | 12 | >1,000 | 26 | 41 | | | | 283 | | | 162 |
| 19 | 12.1 | 613.39 | 113 | 128 | 1.1 | 41 | 52.4 | 375 | 84 | 254 | 113 |
| 20 | 12.2 | 447.21 | 97 | 98 | 0.8 | 19 | 79.5 | 366 | 57 | 272 | 184 |
| 21 | 13.4 | 133.96 | 24 | 40 | 0.6 | 14 | 106.0 | 208 | 78 | 114.8 | 76 |
| 22 | 13.8 | 461.48 | 16 | 25 | 0.4 | | 146.6 | 255 | 80 | 160.6 | 72 |
| 23 | 14.7 | 310.4 | 82 | 159 | 1.5 | 25 | 45.9 | | | | |
| 24 | 14.7 | 561.98 | 108 | 73 | 0.8 | | 85.9 | | | | |
| 25 | 14.7 | 100.28 | 14 | 16 | 0.8 | 31 | 86.2 | 164 | 44 | 99.4 | 103 |
| 26 | 14.9 | >1,000 | | | | | | | | | |

DISCUSSION

Clinical Symptoms

Growth arrest in children is the most sensitive symptom of thyroid hormone deficiency because of the thyroid's strong impact on growth hormone synthesis and action. Nevertheless, in our group of patients, only 77% reported decreased growth velocity as the main problem. We can easily explain this observation taking into consideration the age of our patients and their pubertal status. All patients in whom the growth retardation was not reported were at the age of 13-14 years and had almost reached their final height and completed their pubertal development. Additionally, comparing the number of children with growth inhibition and absolute short stature, we can conclude that growth arrest, rather than height below the third percentile, is the most sensitive symptom of hypothyroidism. Similarly, comparing the frequency of weight gain (58%) and BMI >2SD (38%) in our group of SH patients, it can be concluded that it is not obesity, but fast weight gain that is typical of hypothyroidism.

The next observation concerns goiter. It seems to be a strange finding that goiter occurence is so rare and not of very high

volume in SH children under such a strong stimulation of extremely increased TSH (**Table 2**). In the literature, there is evidence that some patients with atrophic AIT could be positive for anti-TSHR ab (13, 14) that act as TSH-blocking factors. They are usually polyclonal and bind to the leucine-rich repeat region of the extracellular domain of the TSHR, similar to stimulating antibodies present in patients with Graves' disease (15, 16). Blocking antibodies cut off the signal pathway of TSHR, and this can cause atrophic changes in the thyroid gland. Nevertheless, in our group, the number of patients in whom anti-TSHR ab were determined was too small to make reliable conclusions. In our opinion, in hypothyroid patient without goiter, anti-TSHR antibodies should be the obvious element of laboratory workshop.

For the last 10 years, reports evaluating large groups of children with severe hypothyroidism have been scanty and most of them concern cases with some unusual manifestations. Cabrera et al. (17) reported a relatively large group of 62 children with severe primary hypothyroidism. In this group, eight (24%) patients at prepubertal age experienced pseudoprecocious puberty with such symptoms as thelarche and/or menarche in girls and isolated testicular enlargement in boys, which regressed

during the thyroid hormone replacement. In de Vries et al., the group of 114 children and adolescents with autoimmune thyroiditis reported normal onset and duration of puberty; however, in their study, only 40 children were hypothyroid with TSH value between 11.8 and 236 mIU/l (18). In our study also, none of the patients presented symptoms of precocious puberty. The only abnormality related to puberty in our group was excessive menstrual bleeding in one girl at the age of 14.7 years. It is a typical symptom of hypothyroidism in menstruating girls, which is connected with impaired production of coagulation factors in the liver (19). Additionally, primary hypothyroidism is often associated with increased prolactin level, which can cause puberty arrest and oligomenorrhea or secondary amenorrhea. Khawaja et al. reported 16 patients younger than 20 with severe hypothyroidism (TSH >50 mIU/l) where two girls presented precocious puberty with precocious menarche and breast development with prepubertal response to gonadotropinreleasing hormone stimulation test (20).

Skin symptoms present in our patients, such as myxedema, dry, rough skin as well as loss of head hair are widely known as symptoms of hypothyroidism and are easily identified by patients and doctors. As an unusual skin symptom presented by SH children, we consider substantial hypertrichosis of individual intensity, which disappeared in the course of thyroid hormone treatment. Hypertrichosis accompanied by hair loss has been reported in hypothyroid patients (21). The question is why the same patient can suffer loss of head hair and, simultaneously, significant hypertrichosis on other skin areas. To explain this phenomenon, one has to take into account the fact that skin symptoms are dependent not only on thyroid hormone deficiency, but also on excessive TSH level. Thyroid hormone receptor Beta 1 has been proved to be expressed in the human hair follicle (22), but also TSHR messenger RNA (mRNA) and protein have been detected in human scalp hair follicles (23). Western blot and immunohistochemical analyses of skin specimens have confirmed the presence of TSHR protein in keratinocytes and fibroblasts (24). Moreover, it has been found that TSH treatment can induce the proliferation of cultured keratinocytes and fibroblasts (24). We can presume that the hypertrichosis observed in SH children could be dependent on prolonged TSH excess, whereas the head hair loss could rather result from thyroid hormones deficiency.

It is worthy to notice that in our group of SH children, at the moment of diagnosis none have the associated autoimmune comorbidities such as celiac disease, adrenal insufficiency, or diabetes mellitus, which is often observed in adult patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Our data are concordant with observation of Ruggeri et al. (25), who reported that association between HT and other autoimmune diseases increases with age and occurs most frequently in adults.

Laboratory Characteristics

It is widely known that anemia is associated with hypothyroidism (26). Its prevalence in adults has been reported at 14–43% in overt hypothyroidism (26, 27). The evaluation of vitamin B12, iron, and folic acid levels in hypothyroid patients with anemia has not revealed any significant differences (26, 27). In our

group of SH children, anemia was present with similar frequency (38%), although one might have expected a higher prevalence in severe hypothyroidism. The positive correlation of TSH level and MCV in our study supports the hypothesis of Das et al. (28), which suggests that the basic background of anemia in hypothyroidism is a deficiency of erythropoietin dependent on thyroid hormone deficiency. Nevertheless, the differences in the values of Hgb, MCV, and RBC among our patients also suggest that the pathophysiology of anemia in hypothyroidism is much more complicated and must have various reasons including iron deficiency in some cases.

Hypothyroidism is closely associated with abnormal liver function resulting in atherogenic lipid profile and elevated aminotransferases. Liver function tests return to normal during thyroid hormone replacement (29). Nevertheless, increased prevalence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in hypothyroid adults with abnormal alanine aminotransferase according to the grade of hypothyroidism has been reported (30).

In our study, we found an increase of cholesterol and its fractions in SH patients, but we did not observe any evident correlations of lipid parameters with the TSH level. On the contrary, very clear associations were found between fT4 or fT3 concentrations and lipid profile. We suppose that perhaps extremely increased TSH values should be evaluated for statistical use in logarithmic scale, because the deviations of TSH values in our study were very high in comparison to deviations in lipids concentrations. In our group of SH children, aminotransferases were elevated in the majority of patients in whom they were measured (n = 23). We observed a preponderance of AST elevation: it was detected in 82% (n = 19) of children and ALT increased in 65% (n = 15) (**Tables 1**, 3). The value of TSH correlated positively only with AST concentration. Most authors suggest that more frequent AST than ALT elevation in hypothyroidism results from associated myopathy, not only the liver injury (30). On the other hand, other factors could also be involved in pathomechanism of the injury, including oxidative stress and decreased ceruloplasmin level, which is reported in hypothyroid patients (31, 32).

Myopathy and rhabdomyolysis have been reported as the factors partially responsible for the increase of creatinine, which is released from muscles (33). Serum creatinine elevation has been observed in adults as well as in children with hypothyroidism (34). This change can normalize during the treatment with thyroxine; however, in a long-standing study by Elgadi et al. (35), the authors suggest that renal impairment induced by hypothyroidism in children is not as benign as has been previously considered. In their study, GFR did not normalize completely even after 5 years of thyroxine therapy in some patients (35).

In our group of SH children, creatinine concentration was elevated in four patients, but calculated GFR was decreased in 11 children and was determined only in 15 out of 26 patients. It shows that this is not considered a routinely examined parameter in hypothyroid patients. The pathomechanism of renal impairment in hypothyroidism is not fully understood. It is suggested that thyroid hormones have an influence on muscle
function, circulating volume, and cardiac function, and also have a direct effect on the kidney (36).

Imaging Bono Ago

Bone Age In general experience, BA in hypothyroidism is delayed proportionally to the grade and duration of thyroid hormones

proportionally to the grade and duration of thyroid hormones deficiency. In our group, the BA was determined in patients with significant height deficiency (below third percentile) and we had a unique opportunity to observe monozygotic twin girls at the age of 8.5 years with severe hypothyroidism with a different delay of BA (3 and 5 years, respectively) (**Table 2**). They had similar thyroid hormone deficiency, but the duration of hypothyroidism was longer in the girl with greater BA delay.

Thyroid Ultrasonography

In ultrasound scans, thyroid glands in our patients were hypoechogenic, 11 out of 26 patients (42%) had goiter, and a small thyroid was found in three children (11.5%). Thyroid blood perfusion was increased in 53.8%, and reduced in 11.5%. Nodules or focal changes were present only in two out of 26 SH children. They were of benign character.

Pituitary MRI

An interesting finding was pituitary hyperplasia found in four SH children suffering from headaches. One of those four children also had seizures. The incidence of pituitary hyperplasia secondary to hypothyroidism is unknown and probably underestimated. Pituitary MRI in patients with hypothyroidism is recommended only when some suggestive symptoms are present, i.e., vision disturbances, seizures, or severe headaches. A recent review of literature by Cao et al. (37) reported only 17 pediatric cases published from 1980 to 2017 (retrieved from Pubmed). On the other hand, Shukla et al. (38) published a review of pituitary hyperplasia in adult patients with hypothyroidism, which suggests that it is an underestimated problem and the frequency of pituitary hyperplasia has not been clearly identified. Khawaja et al. (20) reported that pituitary enlargement is observed in 70% of patients with TSH value >50 mIU/L and in 84% of patients with TSH higher than 100 mIU/L. Additionally the authors suggested that in younger patients, the frequency of pituitary enlargement can be even higher, but in their study there were only 16 patients below 20 years of life (20).

In our group of SH children, the MRI was performed only in four out of 26 children and the indications for this examination were headaches or neurological symptoms, not hypothyroidism. In these four children, everyone had an enlarged anterior pituitary and the function of tropic hormones secreted in pituitary was not impaired (**Supplementary Table 1**).

In SH patients, a deep deficiency of thyroid hormones causes excessive over-secretion of thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) resulting in hypersecretion of TSH and prolactin. Increased prolactin and enlarged pituitary can suggest false pituitary adenoma, moreover the overlapping clinical symptoms such as growth arrest and weight gain associated with pituitarysuprasellar tumors could be differentiated with other childhood suprasellar tumors, i.e., craniopharyngioma. The differential diagnostics can be easy considering thyroid tests results because patients with craniopharyngioma typically present secondary and not primary hypothyroidism. More difficult could be the differentiation from prolactinoma. Another problem is not to overlook TSH-secreting adenomas, which were sporadically reported in patients with severe longstanding hypothyroidism due to the possible autonomisation of thyrotrophs (39, 40). Histology studies in humans revealed some characteristic changes of pituitary cells known as "thyroidectomy cells" (41) and additionally, it is suggested that thyrotroph hyperplasia is attributed to a loss of inhibitory feedback of the hypothalamopituitary axis (42). In concert to these findings, it could be presumed that patients without goiter positive for blocking anti-TSHR ab might be particularly predisposed to pituitary enlargement because of the interference of these antibodies with the ultrashort loop (TSH-pituitary) (43), which could additionally enhance the pituitary enlargement.

FINAL CONCLUSIONS

In children with severe hypothyroidism, the most sensitive symptoms are growth arrest and weight gain, despite the fact that, in some children, the auxological parameters at presentation could be within normal values for the population. The specific biochemical profile is closely correlated with severity of thyroid hormone deficiency and involves mostly erythropoiesis, liver function, and kidney function. Pituitary enlargement should be considered in each child with severe hypothyroidism. It is necessary to conduct prospective studies evaluating the actual frequency of anti-TSHR antibodies and pituitary enlargement in children with extremely high TSH, especially without goiters.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets presented in this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Bioethics Committee at the Medical University of Warsaw. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AK designed the study, wrote, and supervised the manuscript. EW-S performed statistical analysis and wrote the manuscript. DL and MR recorded data of the patients, wrote the manuscript, and collected the literature data. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2020.00364/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Cappa M, Bizzarri C, Crea F. Autoimmune thyroid diseases in children. J Thyroid Res. (2010) 2011:675703. doi: 10.4061/2011/675703
- Hunter I, Greene SA, MacDonald TM, Morris AD. Prevalence and aetiology of hypothyroidism in the young. *Arch Dis Child.* (2000) 83:207–10. doi: 10.1136/adc.83.3.207
- Aversa T, Corica D, Zirilli G, Pajno GB, Salzano G, De Luca F, et al. Phenotypic expression of autoimmunity in children with autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:476. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019. 00476
- Ajjan RA, Weetman AP. The pathogenesis of Hashimoto's thyroid-itis: further developments in our understanding. *Horm Metab Res.* (2015) 47:702–10. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1548832
- Wassner AJ. Pediatric hypothyroidism: diagnosis and treatment. *Paediatr Drugs.* (2017) 19:291–301. doi: 10.1007/s40272-017-0238-0
- Pearce EN. Update in lipid alterations in subclinical hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2012) 97:326–333. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-2532
- Floriani C, Feller M, Aubert CE, M'Rabet-Bensalah K, Collet TH, den Elzen WPJ, et al. Thyroid dysfunction and anemia: a prospective cohort study and a systematic review. *Thyroid*. (2018) 28:575–82. doi: 10.1089/thy.2017.0480
- Wopereis DM, Du Puy RS, van Heemst D, Walsh JP, Bremner A, Bakker SJL, et al. Thyroid studies collaboration. the relation between thyroid function and anemia: a pooled analysis of individual participant data. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2018) 103:3658–67. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-00481
- Malespin M, Nassri A. Endocrine diseases and the liver: an update. *Clin Liver Dis.* (2019) 23:233–46. doi: 10.1016/j.cld.2018.12.006
- Ellervik C, Mora S, Ridker PM, Chasman DI. Hypothyroidism and kidney function: a mendelian randomization study. *Thyroid.* (2020) 30:365–79. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019.0167
- Greulich WW, Pyle SI. Radiographic Atlas of Skeletal Development of the Hand and Wrist. 2nd ed. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press (1959). doi: 10.1097/00000441-195909000-00030
- Staples A, LeBlond R, Watkins S, Wong C, Brandt J. Validation of the revised Schwartz estimating equation in a predominantly non-CKD population. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2010) 25:2321–6. doi: 10.1007/s00467-010-1598-7
- Kahaly GJ, Diana T, Glang J, Kanitz M, Pitz S, König J. Thyroid stimulating antibodies are highly prevalent in hashimoto's thyroiditis and associated orbitopathy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 101:1998–2004. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-1220
- Feingold SB, Smith J, Houtz J, Popovsky E, Brown RS. Prevalence and functional significance of thyrotropin receptor blocking antibodies in children and adolescents with chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2009) 94:4742–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-1243
- Nagayama Y, Rapoport B. The thyrotropin receptor 25 years after its discovery: new insight after its molecular cloning. *Mol Endocrinol.* (1992) 6:145–56. doi: 10.1210/me.6.2.145
- Kraiem Z, Lahat N, Glaser B, Baron E, Sadeh O, Sheinfeld M. Thyrotrophin receptor blocking antibodies: incidence, characterization and *in-vitro* synthesis. *Clin Endocrinol.* (1987) 27:409–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1987.tb01168.x
- Cabrera SM, DiMeglio LA, Eugster EA. Incidence and characteristics of pseudoprecocious puberty because of severe primary hypothyroidism. J Pediatr. (2013) 162:637–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.10.043
- De Vries L, Bulvik S, Phillip M. Chronic autoimmune thyroiditis in children and adolescents: at presentation and during long-term follow-up. *Arch Dis Child*. (2009) 94:33–7. doi: 10.1136/adc.2007.134841
- Poppe K, Velkeniers B, Glinoer D. Thyroid disease and female reproduction. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2007) 66:309–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007. 02752.x
- Khawaja NM, Taher BM, Barham ME, Naser AA, Hadidy AM, Ahmad AT, et al. Pituitary enlargement in patients with primary hypothyroidism *Endocr Pract.* (2006) 12:29–34. doi: 10.4158/EP.12.1.29
- Ai J, Leonhardt JM, Heyman WR. Autoimmune thyroid disease: etiology, pathogenesis and dermatological manifestation. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2003) 48:641–56. doi: 10.1067/mjd.2003.257

- Billoni N, Buan B, Gautier B, Gaillard O, Mahe YF, Bernhard BA. Thyroid hormone receptor b1 is expressed in the human hair follicle. *Br J Dermatol.* (2000) 142:645–52. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2133.2000. 03408.x
- Bodó E, Kromminga A, Bíró T, Borbíró I, Gáspár E, Zmijewski MA, et al. Human female hair follicles are a direct, nonclassical target for thyroid-stimulating hormone. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2009) 129:1126–39. doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.361
- Cianfarani F, Baldini E, Cavalli A, Marchioni E, Lembo L, Teson M, et al. TSH receptor and thyroid-specific gene expression in human skin. J Invest Dermatol. (2010) 130:93–101. doi: 10.1038/jid. 2009.180
- Ruggeri RM, Trimarchi F, Giuffrida G, Certo R, Cama E, Campennì A, et al. Autoimmune comorbidities in Hashimoto's thyroiditis: different patterns of association in adulthood and childhood/adolescence. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2017) 176:133–41. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0737
- M'Rabet-Bensalah K, Aubert CE, Coslovsky M, Collet TH, Baumgartner C, den Elzen WPJ, et al. Thyroid dysfunction and anaemia in a large population-based study. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2016) 84:627–31. doi: 10.1111/cen. 12994
- Erdogan M, Kösenli A, Ganidagli S, Kulaksizoglu M. Characteristics of anemia in subclinical and overt hypothyroid patients. *Endocr J.* (2012) 59:213–20. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ11-0096
- Das KC, Mukherjee M, Sarkar TK, Dash RJ, Rastogi GK. Erythropoiesis and erythropoietin in hypo- and hyperthyroidism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1975) 40:211–20. doi: 10.1210/jcem-40-2-211
- Burra P. Liver abnormalities and endocrine diseases. Best Practice Res Clin Gastroenterol. (2013) 27:553–63. doi: 10.1016/j.bpg.2013. 06.014
- Chung GE, Kim D, Kim W, Yim JY, Park MJ, Kim YJ, et al. Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease across the spectrum of hypothyroidism. *J Hepatol.* (2012) 57:150–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2012.02.027
- Bhattacharya A, Saha, R, Mondal T, Choudhuri S, Gupta S. Ceruloplasmin and serum MDA levels in hypothyroid patients. *Int J of Biomed Adv Res.* (2014) 5:369–72. doi: 10.7439/ijbar.v5i8.832
- Valenzise M, Porcaro F, Zirilli G, De Luca F, Cinquegrani M, Aversa T. Hypoceruloplasminemia: an unusual biochemical finding in a girl with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and severe hypothyroidism. *Pediatr Med Chir.* (2018) 40. doi: 10.4081/pmc.2018.179
- Comak E, Koyun M, Kiliçarslan-Akkaya B, Bircan I, Akman S. Severe rhabdomyolysis and acute renal failure in an adolescent with hypothyroidism. *Turk J Pediatr.* (2011) 53:586–9.
- den Hollander JG, Wulkan RW, Mantel MJ, Berghout A. Correlation between severity of thyroid dysfunction and renal function. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2005) 62:423–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02236.x
- Elgadi AE, Verbovszki P, Berg UB. Long-term effects of primary hypothyroidism on renal function in children. J Pediatr. (2008) 152:860–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2007.10.050
- Kimmel M, Braun N, Alscher MD. Influence of thyroid function on different kidney function tests. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2012) 35:9–17. doi: 10.1159/000329354
- Cao J, Lei T, Chen F, Zhang C, Ma C, Huang H. Primary hypothyroidism in a child leads to pituitary hyperplasia: a case report and literature review. *Medicine*. (2018) 97:e12703. doi: 10.1097/MD.0000000000 12703
- Shukla P, Bulsara K, Luthra P. Pituitary hyperplasia in severe primary hypothyroidism: a case report and review of the literature. *Case Rep Endocrinol.* (2019) 2019:ID2012546. doi: 10.1155/2019/20 12546
- Langlois MF, Lamarche JB, Bellabarba D. Long-standing goiter and hypothyroidism: an unusual presentation of a TSH-secreting adenoma. *Thyroid.* (1996) 6:329–35. doi: 10.1089/thy.1996.6.329
- 40. Marucci G, Faustini-Fustini M, Righi A, Pasquini E, Frank G, Agati R, et al. Thyrotropin-secreting pituitary tumours: significance of "atypical adenomas" in a series of 10 patients and association with Hashimoto thyroiditis as a cause of delay in diagnosis. *J Clin Pathol.* (2009) 62:455–9. doi: 10.1136/jcp.2008.061523

- Alkhani AM, Cusimano M, Kovacs K, Bilbao JM, Horvath E, Singer W. Cytology of pituitary thyrotroph hyperplasia in protracted primary hypothyroidism. *Pituitary*. (1999) 1:291–5. doi: 10.1023/A:10099668 12195
- Eiland L, Oyesiku NM, Ritchie JC, Isaacs S, Ioachimescu AG. Pathogenesis of marked pituitary enlargement and increased serum thyroid-stimulating hormone in primary hypothyroidism. *Thyroid.* (2012) 22:101–2. doi: 10.1089/thy.2011.0237
- Prummel MF, Brokken LJ, Wiersinga WM: Ultra short-loop feedback control of thyrotropin secretion. *Thyroid.* (2004) 14:825–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2004.14.825

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kucharska, Witkowska-Sędek, Labochka and Rumińska. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Does Hashimoto's Thyroiditis Increase the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Young Type 1 Diabetic Patients?

Barbara Głowinska-Olszewska^{1*}, Hanna Borysewicz-Sańczyk¹, Beata Sawicka¹, Bożenna Klonowska², Dorota Charemska², Beata Żelazowska-Rutkowska³ and Artur Bossowski¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, University of Messina, Italy

Reviewed by:

Yevgeniya Kushchayeva, University of South Florida, United States Pietro Scicchitano, ASLBari-Azienda Sanitaria Localedella Provincia di Bari (ASL BA), Italy Marco Matteo Ciccone, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy

*Correspondence:

Barbara Głowinska-Olszewska barbara.glowinska-olszewska@ umb.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 April 2020 **Accepted:** 01 June 2020 **Published:** 24 July 2020

Citation:

Głowinska-Olszewska B, Borysewicz-Sańczyk H, Sawicka B, Klonowska B, Charemska D, Żelazowska-Rutkowska B and Bossowski A (2020) Does Hashimoto's Thyroiditis Increase the Risk of Cardiovascular Disease in Young Type 1 Diabetic Patients? Front. Endocrinol. 11:431. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00431 ¹ Department of Pediatrics, Endocrinology, Diabetology With Cardiology Division, Medical University of Białystok, Białystok, Poland, ² Department of Clinical Pediatrics, Faculty of Medical Sciences, Specialist Children's Hospital, University of Warmia and Mazury in Olsztyn, Olsztyn, Poland, ³ Department of Paediatric Laboratory Diagnostics, Medical University of Białystok, Białystok, Poland

Background: Immunological and hormonal disorders have undoubted influence on the development of atherosclerotic process. Autoimmune diseases accompanying type 1 diabetes (T1D) may additionally accelerate atherosclerosis progression and increase the risk of cardiovascular events in the future. The influence of subclinical hypothyroidism on the cardiovascular system, in particular, has recently aroused great interest. The aim of our study was to assess intima-media thickness (cIMT) of common carotid arteries and the occurrence of classical atherosclerosis risk factors together with selected new biomarkers of cardiovascular diseases in young patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus coexisting with Hashimoto's disease (HD).

Patients and Methods: The study included 50 adolescents and young adults with T1D with mean age 17.1 \pm 3 years, with mean diabetes duration of 10.5 \pm 3.3 years, including 20 patients with diagnosed HD: T1D and HD(+), and 30 patients with no additional diseases: T1D and HD(-). Twenty-two healthy, age-matched volunteers formed control group (C). We analyzed mean HbA₁c value from all years of disease, BMI, blood pressure, lipids, new biomarkers of atherosclerosis (hsCRP, adiponectin, myeloperoxidase, NT-proBNP peptide, vitamin D), and cIMT of common carotid arteries.

Results: In the group of patients with T1D and HD(+), significantly higher BMI was found: 23.3 ± 4.4 vs. 21.28 ± 2.9 in group HD(-) and 19.65 ± 2.4 kg/m² in group C (p = 0.003), and higher waist circumference: 79 ± 10.9 vs. 75.10 ± 7.6 in group HD(-) vs. 69.0 ± 7.4 cm in group C (p < 0.001). The mean value of HbA₁c was higher in group T1D and HD(+): 8.8% than in group HD(-): 8.1% (p = 0.04). Significantly higher concentration of hsCRP and lower vitamin D were observed in T1D and HD(+) in comparison to T1D and HD(-) and the control group. The IMT index in the HD(+) group was 0.46 ± 0.05 mm and was comparable to the HD(-) group but significantly higher than in healthy controls: 0.41 ± 0.03 mm (P < 0.05).

Conclusions: Young patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus and with coexisting Hashimoto's thyroiditis have a higher BMI, a higher waist circumference, and a higher HbA₁c value, which altogether may cause faster development of macroangiopathy in the near future. Additional risk for cardiovascular disease may result from low vitamin D and increased hsCRP concentration in this group of patients. Coexistence of Hashimoto's thyroiditis did not significantly affect the cIMT value in the studied population.

Keywords: diabetes type 1, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, cardiovascular risk, obesity, children, young adults

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are the major chronic complications of type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and cause increased mortality (1). The estimated life expectancy is 14 years less for women and 17 years for men with childhood onset T1D (2). The risk of atherosclerosis development and early ischemic heart disease in T1DM patients is several times higher than in the general population (3). T1DM in children has been identified as a high-risk factor for premature development of CVD (4). Type 1 diabetes mellitus is also associated with a significantly higher prevalence of additional autoimmune diseases, including the incidence of Hashimoto's disease (HD) estimated at 3% to even 50% (5). The influence of subclinical hypothyroidism, including HD, on increased cardiovascular risk remains a current topic of research (6–9).

Over the last decade, atherosclerosis has been identified as an inflammatory disease involving pro-inflammatory cytokines that activate the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules, together with proteases and also other mediators (10). Inflammation concerns the formation of all stages of atherosclerotic lesions, including fatty acids, most commonly prevalent in children (11). The causes of inflammation in the vessel wall are not fully explained. According to one of the current hypotheses, atherosclerosis is an autoimmune disease. There is an increasing evidence provided by observing patients with diagnosed autoimmune diseases, especially lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, or antiphospholipid syndrome. In the course of these diseases, atherosclerotic lesions develop rapidly and extensively, much faster and more often than in the general population. It seems that immunological dysregulation in the course of these diseases is crucial in accelerating the process of the autoimmune vascular damage. This suggests that the onset of atherosclerosis may be related to genetic predisposition to autoimmune diseases (12-14).

In the preclinical phase of the atherosclerosis process, great attention is paid to numerous "new biomarkers," their usefulness in estimating the risk of cardiovascular disease, and explaining the complicated and still not fully understood pathogenesis of this disease (15). The last years confirmed the importance of high-sensitivity c-reactive protein (hsCRP) determination (16, 17). Clinical usefulness of many other biomarkers is discussed, of which oxidative stress markers, adiponectin, vitamin D, and atrial natriuretic peptide—NT-proBNP are documented both in basic and clinical studies (18, 19). Non-invasive, ultrasonography-based studies performed among young people have shown the relationship between all known, traditional risk factors and abnormalities of blood vessel structure and function (20, 21). Recent studies have shown that T1DM already in children, adolescents, and young adults is associated with the greater carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT), the recognized marker of early structural atherosclerotic lesions (22). Nowadays, it is well-known that thickness of cIMT increases in patients with DMT1 as the disease progresses, and arterial parameters depend on the metabolic control but also on coexisting obesity, hypertension, and dyslipidemia (23–25).

Noteworthy, studies in patients who suffer from type 1 diabetes mellitus and additionally with coexisting autoimmune diseases regarding CVD risk factors, new biomarkers, and vascular status have not been conducted so far. Thus, the issue whether autoimmune diseases accompanying diabetes may further accelerate the progression of atherosclerosis and increase the risk of future cardiovascular events stays to be clarified. The current problem faced by young patients with all chronic diseases and especially DMT1 among them is not only life expectancy but also quality of life, which largely depends on the condition of the cardiovascular system.

Therefore, the purpose of the study was to evaluate cIMT (carotid intima-media thickness), classical cardiovascular risk factors, and selected new biomarkers of atherosclerosis in young patients with DMT1 with coexisting HD. We wanted to explain whether and how additional autoimmune disease in the course of type 1 diabetes mellitus in young people leads to accelerated development of atherosclerosis. We assumed that the new knowledge may help to create the appropriate therapeutic goals for these patients to minimize their cardiovascular risk and to understand better the mechanisms of atherosclerosis connected with thyroid autoimmunity.

PATIENTS

We recruited consecutive adolescents and also young adults diagnosed with type 1 diabetes remaining under the routine care of Children's Hospital and outpatient clinic in Olsztyn. The inclusion criteria for the study group were ages over 10 and under 26 and duration of illness at least 5 years. Criteria for exclusion from the study group were other types of diabetes, coexistence of other autoimmune disease (e.g., celiac disease), multiple autoimmune diseases in one patient, the occurrence of microvascular complications, previous recognition of hypertension or hyperlipidemia, and/or taking any additional drugs apart from insulin treatment and levothyroxine (from 0.5 to 2.0 mcg/kg body mass/day orally) if classified into the HD group.

Due to the diagnosis confirming the presence or absence of additional disease, patients were qualified to particular study groups: (1) group with diabetes mellitus type 1 and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (n = 20), and (2) group with DMT1 without additional accompanying disease (n = 30). Patients were qualified to particular groups on the basis of the results of periodic screening tests according to the guidelines presented by the Polish Diabetological Society and ESPE. The diagnosis of Hashimoto's thyroiditis was stated on the basis of standard criteria: elevated serum TSH level, decreased thyroid hormone (fT4) concentration always accompanied by elevated thyroid antibodies (aTPO and/or aTG) titer, and typical ultrasound. Among our patients, three persons were recognized with clinical hypothyroidism with decreased fT4. Two patients at recognition had elevated antibodies and had typical US picture indicating thyroid autoimmunity but with normal TSH and fT4, and the other 15 studied patients were diagnosed with subclinical hypothyroidism (elevated thyroid antibodies and TSH, fT4 within the norm with different degrees of thyroid gland involvement in ultrasonography). All included into the study were treated chronically with levothyroxine to keep TSH and fT4 within the normal range. To the Hashimoto group, we included patients with at least 1-year history of the additional diagnosis, with confirmed current euthyreosis (actual TSH and fT4 within normal range) status in laboratory tests.

The reference group consisted of 22 healthy, age-matched volunteers. They were healthy, slim, normotensive students, young doctors, children of staff, and their friends. All of them had tests that excluded autoimmune and other diseases. People with mental disorders, including eating disorders (e.g., anorexia and bulimia), were not qualified for the study. The control group included individuals after exclusion of atherosclerosis risk factors (diabetes, hyperlipidemia, hypertension, and obesity) and without family history of cardiovascular diseases. Individuals in the reference group did not take any drugs. The recruitment process is presented in the flow chart (**Figure 1**).

The study protocol was approved by the Bioethics Committee of the Warmia and Mazury Chamber of Physicians and Dentists in Olsztyn, Poland. In each case of a juvenile patient (below 16 years), his or her parents'/guardians', and in the case of persons aged 16 years and over, their personal, informed written consent forms were obtained—in order to participate in the study.

METHODS

All patients had to undergo physical examination. Their height and weight were measured in a standard way by using a Harpenden stadiometer and a digital scale. Then their body mass index (BMI) was counted on the base of a standard formula. In order to adjust for age and sex, the BMI standard deviation score (BMI-SDS) was calculated and assessed using age- and sexspecific BMI growth charts according to a local Polish OLAF study (26). Patients were divided as normal weight, overweight, or obese depending on the BMI-SDS. Waist circumference was measured with clinic centimeter and converted to waist-SDS. There were two measurements of the systolic blood pressure (SBP) and the diastolic blood pressure (DBP) at the right arm, each one after a 10-min rest with the use of calibrated sphygmomanometer of the proper cuff size, and the readings were averaged.

Laboratory Analyses

For laboratory tests, venous blood was collected after 8-12 h of fasting. Eight milliliters of blood was collected and then centrifuged for 10 min at 2,000 turns per minute. Several of the variables (HbA1c, lipids, vitamin D, hormones, and thyroid antibodies) were performed on an ongoing basis in the hospital laboratory using standard methods. HbA1c was evaluated in two ways: the last value in time when the blood sample was taken, and the mean value from the total time of disease duration. The remaining material (serum) was stored at a temperature of -80°C until the determination. Adiponectin (Adp), natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP), and myeloperoxidase (MPO) markers were analyzed immunoenzymatically using ELISA kits that are commercially accessible (Parameter Human Immunoassays, R&D Systems, Inc., Minneapolis, USA). hsCRP was determined owing to the immunoturbidimetric method [Tina-quant hsCRP (Latex) HS, Roche; Hitachi 912, La Roche, Japan]. Serum levels of free thyroxine (fT4) and TSH were calculated on electrochemiluminescence, ECLIA, with Cobas E411 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). The range of normal values for fT4 was between 1.1 and 1.7 ng/dL, and that for TSH was between 0.28 and 4.3 (µIU/l). Anti-TPO and anti-TG antibodies were measured in all samples using ECLIA with Modular Analytics E170 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). The positive values for antibodies were >34 IU/mL for anti-TPO-Abs and >115 IU/mL for anti-TG-Abs.

Ultrasound Measurements

The procedure of ultrasound measurements was conducted in the timeslot between 8:00 and 10:00 a.m., and after a fasting period from 8 to 12 h. Measuring of intima-media thickness (IMT) in the right and left common carotid arteries was conducted as described in previous methodology, with our own modification (27, 28). Measuring covered end-diastolic (minimum diameter) IMT of the far walls (the distance between the leading edge of the first echogenic line and the leading edge of the second echogenic line) within a distance larger than 1 cm from the bifurcation. The mean value of six measurements (three from the left and three from the right carotid artery) was included in the analyses. The representative images for two groups (DMT1 and controls) with graphic scheme for IMT are presented in the **Supplementary Figures 1–3**.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis was performed using Statistica 12.0 (Stat Soft, USA). All the continuous variables were tested for normal distribution by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov, with Lilliefors correction and Shapiro-Wilk tests. For variables meeting the



criteria of normal distribution, the Student's t-test was used when comparing two variables. In the analysis of more than two groups, the analysis of variance was used with Tukey's posthoc RIR test for unequal numbers. The results are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Non-parametric tests were used for variables not meeting the criteria of normal distribution. Mann-Whitney U non-parametric test was applied to compare quantitative variables. In the case of comparisons for more than two groups, the ANOVA rang Kruskal-Wallis test and the median test with post-hoc tests of multiple comparisons were used for all samples. Results are shown as median (Me) and interquartile range or mean and SD. We performed a post-hoc sample size calculation basing on our outcome to achieve a power of 1- β = 0.70–0.80 for the ANOVA Kruskal-Wallis test at level α = 0.05. Under these assumptions, an amount of a minimum 20 participants per group is required.

The analysis of correlations was performed using the Spearman test with the determination of the rank-order (rho) correlation coefficient. In order to detect independent determinants of IMT, multivariate regression analysis was performed. Only variables for which the *p*-value in a univariate

analysis was <0.05 were included in this model. All comparisons were adjusted to age, gender, BMI, and blood pressure values. Statistically significant results were found at the level of P < 0.05.

RESULTS

We recruited a total of 50 patients with diabetes type 1 (20, 40% males), aged mean 17.1 + 3 years, with mean diabetes duration of 10.3 + 3.1 years, mean HbA₁c from the whole disease at 8.4 + 1.3%, and HbA₁c at the time of the analysis at 8.7 + 1.2%. Ninety-two percent of the patients were treated with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII). Twenty patients (7, 35% males) were diagnosed with HD [T1D HD(+)]. Thirty patients had T1D without any other additional diseases [T1D HD(-)]. Studied groups were similar in mean age, diabetes duration, metabolic control, and daily insulin requirement. Body mass was higher in the HD(+) group (P = 0.006). TSH level was significantly (P = 0.002), and fT4 insignificantly higher in the T1D HD(+) group, although all values stayed within the normal range. The control group consisted of

| TABLE 1 | General | characteristics | of the | study | groups. |
|---------|---------|-----------------|--------|-------|---------|
|---------|---------|-----------------|--------|-------|---------|

| | DMT1 total N = 50 | DMT1 group with Hashimoto's thyroiditis N = 20 | DMT1 group without Hashimoto's thyroiditis N = 30 | Control group N = 22 | P-values |
|---|-------------------------|---|--|-------------------------|-----------|
| Age (years) | 17.1 ± 3 | 17.6 ± 3.1 | 16.8 ± 3.0 | 16.5 ± 5.0 | 0.62** |
| Gender (M/F) [n (%)] | 20 (40%)/30 (60%) | 7 (35%)/13 (65%) | 13 (45%)/17 (57%) | 9 (41%)/13 (59%) | |
| Diabetes duration (years) | 10.3 ± 3.1 | 10.8 ± 3.5 | 10.0 ± 2.8 | | 0.33* |
| Age of onset (years) | 6.8 ± 3.6 | 6.8 ± 3.4 | 6.8 ± 3.9 | | 0.90* |
| Body mass (kg) | 63.4 ± 14.5 | $68.3 \pm \mathbf{15.3^a}$ | 60.3 ± 13.3 | 54.0 ± 13.8 | 0.006** |
| Height (cm) | 170.6 ± 11 | 170.8 ± 11.6 | 170.5 ± 11.2 | 164.4 ± 13.0 | 0.13** |
| HbA1c mean (total disease duration time) (%) | 8.4 ± 1.3 | 8.8 ± 1.4 | 8.1 ± 1.1 | | 0.06* |
| HbA1c last (%) | 8.7 ± 1.2 | 9.0 ± 1.2 | 8.6 ± 0.4 | 5.4 ± 0.3 | 0.17* |
| Daily insulin requirement (UI/kg/24 h) | 0.8 ± 0.18 | 0.8 ± 0.17 | 0.8 ± 0.16 | | 0.65* |
| Remission period (months) | 7.9 ± 7.6 | 6.6 ± 7.6 | 8.8 ± 7.6 | | 0.35* |
| TSH uIU/L | 2.9 ± 0.9 | $3.5\pm0.6^{\mathrm{a,b}}$ | 2.4 ± 0.8 | 2.33 ± 1.24 | 0.002** |
| fT4 | 1.33 ± 0.28 | 1.37 ± 0.19 | 1.31 ± 0.33 | 1.32 ± 0.24 | 0.61** |
| aTPO IU/ml | 94 ± 185 | $209\pm255^{a,b}$ | 17 ± 16 | 18 ± 10 | < 0.005** |
| aTG IU/ml | 432 ± 987 | $1030 \pm 1370^{a,b}$ | 34 ± 68 | 53 ± 36 | < 0.005** |
| Creatinine mg/dl | 0.75 ± 0.16 | 0.76 ± 0.16 | 0.75 ± 0.16 | 0.76 ± 0.2 | 0.92** |
| AST U/L | 25.1 ± 18 | 31.6 ± 26.4 | 21.6 ± 7.4 | 23.5 ± 6.5 | 0.07** |
| ALT U/L | 28 ± 10 | 29.4 ± 11.3 | 27.1 ± 10.0 | 24.6 ± 7.1 | 0.27** |

*p-values in t-student test [difference between Hashimoto (+) and Hashimoto (-) patients].

**p-values in ANOVA variance test (differences between both diabetic and control groups).

 $^{a}p < 0.05$ —compared to the control group.

 ^{b}p < 0.05-compared to the diabetes and Hashimoto (-) group in post-hoc tests. The data are presented as mean \pm SD.

22 (9, 41% males), age/gender-matched healthy volunteers. The general characteristic of the study groups is shown in **Table 1**.

First, we analyzed classical risk factors of cardiovascular diseases. We found significantly higher BMI and SDS-BMI in patients with T1D and HD(+) compared to T1D and HD(-) and to control groups (p = 0.003, p = 0.010, respectively). Nine patients (45%) from the HD(+) group were found to be overweight or obese. Waist circumference was higher in the HD(+) group compared to both the remaining groups (p < 0.001), and waist-SDS was significantly higher in comparison with the control group (p = 0.002). SBP was higher among both HD(+) and HD(-) compared to controls (p <0.001), and DBP was the highest in T1D and HD(+) (p = 0.008). Within lipid parameters, we found significant differences in the triglycerides level, with the highest values in the T1D and HD(+)groups (p = 0.005 in comparison to controls). The HbA₁c value, averaged from the whole disease period, was higher in HD(+)(p = 0.04) and comparable with the HD(-) group when the last value from the time of the current analysis was considered (Table 2, Figure 2).

Next, we analyzed the differences in new biomarkers of the atherosclerotic process. We showed significant differences in the myeloperoxidase level that was higher in both diabetic groups in comparison with controls (p = 0.012), hsCRP, higher in T1D and HD(+) compared to T1D and HD(-) (**Figure 3A**), and to the control groups (p < 0.001), as well as in the vitamin D

level, which we found lower in both diabetic groups compared to healthy ones (p < 0.001) (Figure 3B, Table 2).

Finally, we analyzed the IMT value. The thickness of the intima-media of the common carotid arteries was significantly higher in both diabetic groups: 0.46 ± 0.05 mm in T1D with HD(+), 0.45 ± 0.04 mm in T1D with HD(-) compared to the control group: 0.41 ± 0.03 mm (both p < 0.05) (Figure 4). IMT correlated significantly positively with BMI-SDS, SBP, and mean HbA₁c, and negatively with vitamin D (Figure 5). In Table 3, we present other results of the correlation analysis between IMT and studied classical risk factors and new biomarkers of cardiovascular disease in the group of HD(+) patients. In the multivariate regression model regarding this group, IMT was associated significantly with SDS-BMI and vitamin D level ($R^2 = 0.48$, B = 0.18, p < 0.04).

DISCUSSION

The crucial finding of our study is that young patients (teenagers and young adults) with T1D and coexisting additional Hashimoto's disease HD(+) have much more unfavorable profile of classical cardiovascular risks factors compared to T1D peers without any additional disease. We found higher body mass, waist circumference, blood pressure values, and triglycerides concentration, as well as poorer metabolic control, evaluated as mean glycated hemoglobin from the whole disease period and

TABLE 2 | Comparison of clinical parameters, lipid levels, metabolic control, and analysis of the concentration of "new biomarkers" of the atherosclerotic process between study groups.

| | DMT1 group with Hashimoto's thyroiditis N = 20 | DMT1 group N = 30 | Control group N = 22 | P-values* |
|---------------------------|--|-----------------------------|-------------------------|-----------|
| BMI (kg/m²) | $23.3\pm4.4^{\rm a,b}$ | 21.28 ± 2.9 | 19.65 ± 2.4 | 0.003 |
| BMI-SDS | 1.015 (0.14–1.36) ^{a,b} | 0.24 (-0.2-0.93) | -0.1 (-0.3-0.28) | 0.010 |
| Waist (cm) | $79\pm10.9^{a,b}$ | 75.1 ± 7.6 | 69.0 ± 7.4 | < 0.001 |
| Waist-SDS | 0.98 (0.52–1.9) ^a | 0.47 (-0.13-1.18) | -0.14 (-0.27-0.23) | 0.002 |
| SBP (mmHg) | 125 ± 15^{a} | 121.5 ± 11^{a} | 109 ± 9 | < 0.001 |
| DBP (mmHg) | 74 ± 8^{a} | 71.1 ± 6 | 69 ± 5 | 0.008 |
| Total cholesterol (mg/dl) | 180 ± 30 | 176 ± 25 | 164 ± 29 | 0.160 |
| LDL (mg/dl) | 96 ± 31 | 101 ± 28 | 89 ± 28 | 0.100 |
| HDL(mg/dl) | 57 ± 10 | 57 ± 11 | 59 ± 11 | 0.150 |
| TG (mg/dl) | $108\pm354^{\mathrm{a}}$ | 82 ± 27 | 75 ± 39 | 0.005 |
| HbA1c mean % | 8.8 ± 1.4 | 8.1 ± 1.1 | _ | 0.040** |
| HbA1c last % | 9.0 ± 1.2^{a} | 8.6 ± 1.1^{a} | 5.4 ± 0.2 | < 0.001 |
| Adiponectin (ng/ml) | 8764.3 (6659–14616) | 7704.6 (4816–10231) | 9746.6 (4933–11333) | 0.650 |
| Myeloperoxidase (ng/ml) | 184.6 (120–325) ^a | 200.8 (95–281) ^a | 96.8 (72–139) | 0.012 |
| NTproBNP (pg/ml) | 29.5 (17.8–40.0) | 23.4 (15.2–43.8) | 28.9 (17–37) | 0.080 |
| hsCRP (mg/L) | 0.98 (0.4–2.49) ^{a,b} | 0.36 (0.23–0.69) | 0.2 (0.1–0.31) | < 0.001 |
| Vitamin D (ng/ml) | 17.9 ± 7.9^{a} | 18.5 ± 8.1^{a} | 25.4 ± 5.7 | <0.001 |

The data are presented as mean \pm SD or median (interquartile range).

*ANOVA Kruskal-Wallis test.

**t-student test.

 $^{a}p < 0.05 - compared to the control group.$

 $^{b}p < 0.05$ —compared to the diabetes group in post-hoc tests.

just the last value. In the present study, we also confirmed that patients with recognized HD had higher concentration of hsCRP compared not only to the healthy group but also to the T1D HD(–) group. Moreover, the myeloperoxidase level was higher, whereas the vitamin D concentration was lower in both groups of diabetic patients. However, the cIMT value was comparable between HD(+) and HD(–) T1D patients, and in both groups, considerably higher than in the control group.

In the current study, we chose to evaluate the population of teenagers and young adults with T1D. To the best of our knowledge, they represent the rarely studied population of diabetic patients. CV risk factors are quite commonly studied in diabetic children groups or in adult ones when clinical complications and apparent macroangiopathy have already appeared. Our study provides the unique possibility to get the knowledge on CV risk factors status in T1D patients being almost or already young adults, with quite a long time of diabetes duration (at least 5 years), yet without confirmed cardiovascular complications. As the main target, however, we decided to investigate the group with coexistence of autoimmune hypothyroidism. Additional autoimmune diseases, among them mainly thyroid autoimmunopathies, are frequent comorbidities of T1D. Their prevalence increases with diabetes duration (29), and generally, the frequency of additional autoimmune diseases is increasing in the last decades (5). Just a few studies published so far have presented the data of single cardiovascular risk factors, specifically dyslipidemia, in pediatric diabetic patients with coexisting thyroid autoimmunity (30, 31).

Multiple studies in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism have shown the association with cardiovascular abnormalities, like impaired endothelial function, increased IMT, left ventricular dysfunction, heart failure, coronary artery disease, and cardiovascular death. Many of these studies proved the substantial contribution of dyslipidemia, hypertension, obesity, insulin resistance, and metabolic syndrome in these complications (7, 32). The recently published meta-analyses on early atherosclerosis in SH patients showed that severity of thyroid hormones disturbance is closely associated with the degree of arteries' function and structure, but other factors, like additional diseases, could not be ruled out (32, 33). The scientific research on the relevance of low-normal thyroid function on components of the metabolic syndrome (MS) shows that the state is significantly associated with all components of MS (34). Several studies in obese and also in non-obese individuals, with thyroid function at normal range, presented the results of association between elevated thyroid antibodies with insulin resistance and hsCRP (16, 35). Low-normal thyroid function may be implicated into atherosclerosis development via connections with insulin resistance and metabolic syndrome (36). All our patients with HD(+) were in laboratory euthyroid state, and to make this group more homogeneous, all included subjects were treated with supplemental dose of levothyroxine.



Notwithstanding, we observed significant differences in the TSH level between the HD(+) and HD(-) groups, which may be one of the explanations of observed differences in CV risk factors intensity.

Studies considering early atherosclerosis risk in childhood thyroid autoimmunity are scarce, and the results are inconsistent. In euthyroid girls newly diagnosed with HD, increased total cholesterol and hsCRP levels were found, like in our study, but also increased cIMT and no differences in BMI contrary to our results (37, 38). In another study conducted on a large group of Spanish children, higher levels of thyrotropin were found in obese young patients. The difference between obese and normal weight may be related to higher incidence of thyroid autoimmunity in the overweight patients (39). Isolated increased TSH was found to be common in other obese pediatric

population, without significant relationship to autoimmune status (40). Recently published meta-analysis clearly indicated that obesity was independently significantly associated with hypothyroidism, recognition of HD, and thyroid antibodies (41).

Our current analyses proved that more altered parameters associated with CV risk were found in the group of T1D with HD. This group had the highest BMI, expressed also as SDS-BMI, and waist circumference, which is the key index in insulin resistance recognition in clinical settings. Almost half of the group fulfilled criteria for overweight or obesity. Ciccone et al. presented the results of the study in women with Hashimoto's thyroiditis, where they found that IMT is increased only in obese and overweight patients. This correlation between Hashimoto's thyroiditis and IMT seemed to be independent of TSH and thyroid hormone values. They conclude that HD represents





a marker of atherosclerosis development when combined to adiposity (42).

The increasing prevalence of obesity worldwide is parallel to increasing numbers of not only cardiovascular diseases or cancers but autoimmune conditions as well. Obesity is regarded as a chronic low-grade inflammation process, where many inflammatory markers and cytokines are overproduced and over-activated. This process may result in increased pathogenic processes leading up to increased outbreak of type 1 diabetes, higher numbers of autoimmune thyroiditis, and cardiovascular disease in the future. Obesity seems to be a core environmental contributing factor to the onset and development of autoimmune diseases (43).

The excess in body weight has become an urgent problem among patients with T1D. It is reported that T1D is being recognized with higher SDS-BMI nowadays, and there is a trend for increasing BMI with diabetes duration (44). As many as 30% of young diabetic patients are overweight or obese (45, 46). Very alarming data come from recent DCCT/EDIC published studies. This is a crucial, longitudinal observation for T1D intensive insulin treatment implementation. The results of the study proved, firstly, that intensive insulin treatment regimens result in improvement in metabolic control and significant reduction in IMT and all vascular complications rates, CVD, and myocardial infarctions among them (47). Recent observation, however, found that these subjects from the intensive group, who experienced excessive weight gain, had increased IMT and total CVD event after 15 years observation, comparing to the group treated conventionally, thus with poorer metabolic control. Weight gain in long-term observation seems to nullify the success of intensive insulin therapy and improved metabolic control (48). The issue whether evolving, obesity-connected autoimmunity in T1D patients additionally exacerbates the risk of early CVD remains unexplained.

In our group of T1D and HD(+) patients, we also confirmed elevated triglycerides level. The amount of already published data proved that thyroid dysfunction and autoimmune process, even in young population, is connected with impaired lipid metabolism. Severe atherogenic dyslipidemia may occur in overt hypothyroidism, while in euthyroid AIT patients, the alterations are discrete. The lack of thyroid hormones is related to reduced clearance of TG-rich particles. Hypertriglyceridemia has been associated with the increased production of small, dense LDL (49). Long-term consequences of childhood AITDassociated dyslipidemia remain unknown, but the short-term data reveal improvement in lipid profile with L-thyroxine



treatment [reviewed in (50)]. Atherogenic dyslipidemia is a huge, recognized but undertreated and pending problem among young people with T1D (46, 51, 52).

In our study, we decided not to limit analyses only to traditional risk factors but to investigate selected new biomarkers of atherosclerosis as well. The relevance of hsCRP as a new and independent atherosclerosis biomarker, associated mainly with obesity and low-grade inflammatory state, is established (10, 17). A correlation between cIMT and adiponectin, leptin, and high C-reactive protein (hsCRP) has been demonstrated in obese children (53, 54). Here in our study, we proved higher hsCRP level in patients with HD(+). Our data showed decreased concentration of vitamin D in both groups of diabetic patients. Some studies reported correlation between the deficiency of vitamin D and the risk of autoimmune disease (55, 56). Several observations found decreased vitamin D levels in obese and T1D patients (57, 58). What is more interesting, supplementation with vitamin D was associated with an improvement in peripheral vascular function in diabetic children (57, 58). The discussion whether supplementation with vitamin D may be preventive in general or selected population in CVD prevention is open (59).

Both our presented diabetic groups had significantly higher cIMT compared to the healthy group. The difference between the HD(+) and HD(-) groups was not apparent, although many differences in cardiovascular risk intensity were noticed and discussed above that indicated that HD(+) should be at higher risk. In our patients, IMT was correlated with BMI, SBP, and HbA1c. These results are in line with already published data considering young diabetic patients (24, 60). Both our diabetic groups had poor metabolic control. The mean disease value was far from recommendations. Unfortunately, this is a wellrecognized clinical problem that pediatric and young population is very problematic in keeping proper metabolic control even with modern technologies (61). We think that it is possible that chronic hyperglycemia at this teenager age remains the main contributor to IMT, like some other authors found (62). However, contrary to ours and the studies discussed above, the

| TABLE 3 Correlation analysis between cIMT and other studied variables in |
|--|
| DMT1 with Hashimoto's thyroiditis group. |

| | cIMT |
|-------------------|-------------------------------|
| Age | Rho = 0.280, <i>P</i> = 0.075 |
| Diabetes duration | Rho = 0.030, P = 0.860 |
| BMI | Rho = 0.580, P < 0.001 |
| BMI-SDS | Rho = 0.560, P < 0.001 |
| Waist SDS | Rho = 0.490, P < 0.001 |
| SBP | Rho = 0.300, P = 0.04 |
| DBP | Rho = 0.370, P = 0.013 |
| Total cholesterol | Rho = 0.019, P = 0.900 |
| LDL-cholesterol | Rho = 0.001, P = 0.100 |
| HDL-cholesterol | Rho = 0.080, P = 0.570 |
| Triglicerides | Rho = 0.140, <i>P</i> = 0.340 |
| HbA1c mean | Rho = 0.400, P = 0.009 |
| Adiponectin | Rho = -0.040, P = 0.810 |
| Myeloperoxidase | Rho = 0.170, P = 0.350 |
| NT proBNP | Rho = 0.230, P = 0.170 |
| hsCRP | Rho = 0.280, <i>P</i> = 0.075 |
| Vitamin D | Rho = -0.420, P = 0.006 |

results of SEARCH CVD Study clearly stated that CV risk factors burden increased gradually in young people with T1D, BMI was a major risk modifiable factor that was predicting carotid IMT, and HbA₁c alone could not explain the value of IMT (24). So far, additional autoimmune processes were not included into such analyses among T1D patients.

cIMT was proved to be increased in clinically overt hypothyroidism, and the decrease was noticed after thyroxin treatment (63). However, there are also some reports that prove the increased cIMT in euthyroid, non-diabetic state but connected with autoimmune thyroid condition (64). The issue of significance of pharmacological treatment among patients with SH remains open. In some studies, thyroxin replacement was related to significant reduction in carotid IMT, and improving lipid profile (65, 66).

The issue whether HD as an autoimmune condition may be responsible for autoimmune, inflammation-based endothelial dysfunction itself remains to be elucidated. However, some studies demonstrated these early vessels impairment in HD patients to be independent from other risk factors for CVD (67). An increased ongoing inflammatory status might contribute to increased insulin resistance in both obese and non-obese AIT patients even with euthyroidism (35). It should be established whether HD is an independent cardiovascular risk factor. The possible pathogenic mechanism of the connection between HD, type 1 diabetes, obesity, and early atherosclerosis remains unclear. However, several hypotheses can be discussed. In patients without T1D, it was proved that IMT is related to hormone levels, even when their values remain within the normal range. In our group, we confirmed that the T1D HD(+) patients had higher TSH level despite the pharmacological treatment, and the level of thyroid antibodies remained high, indicating ongoing autoimmune process. The lack of difference in IMT

values between HD(+) and HD(-) patients can be explained by probably the strongest influence of poor metabolic control in all diabetic patients. Metabolic control, expressed as the HbA₁c level, is known to be the strongest cardiovascular risk factor in children with T1D. Recently published DCCT/EDIC study population data clearly revealed that HbA1c is associated with numerous traditional CVD risk factors, and that this association cannot alone be an explanation of its effect on the CVD risk. It is concluded that aggressive management of traditional nonglycemic CVD risk factors is indicated in all T1D patients and, together with excellent metabolic control, remains the primary objective (68). However, it cannot be entirely excluded that autoimmune thyroiditis may itself be causing inflammation of autoimmune origin that keeps atherosclerosis process accelerated in the long run. Randomized, controlled, and longitudinal studies on larger patient groups with T1D and HD(+) are needed to prove the benefits of additional early levothyroxine replacement on reducing the CVD risk in young patients with diabetes type 1, additionally to continuous efforts for improving metabolic control. Long-term cardiovascular consequences of T1D in today's young patients, affected additionally by autoimmune hypothyroidism, remain unknown due to lack of longitudinal prospective studies.

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

We are aware that there are certain limitations of our study implicating a careful interpretation of the study results. The main limitation of our study is the small sample size of the population and the small number of patients included into every studied group. Moreover, all patients came from the same one center. However, the sample size calculation allowed us to carry out the designed study. Another limitation is that we did not perform screening tests for other autoimmunities, except for celiac disease. There are no screening recommendations because of the rare occurrence among diabetic type 1 patients. Additional diseases, other than thyroid and celiac, are diagnosed on the basis of clinical presentation firstly. We did not recruit into the study group these patients with recognized autoimmune disease other than Hashimoto's thyroiditis, so we cannot exclude that among our patients, there might have been any additional subclinical autoimmune processes.

CONCLUSIONS

Young patients suffering from type 1 diabetes mellitus and with coexisting Hashimoto's thyroiditis have a higher BMI, a higher waist circumference, and a higher HbA₁c value, which altogether may cause faster development of macroangiopathy in the near future. Additional risk for cardiovascular disease may result from low vitamin D and increased hsCRP concentration in this group of patients. Coexistence of Hashimoto's thyroiditis did not significantly affect the cIMT value in the studied population. Explaining whether and how additional autoimmune diseases in the course of type 1 diabetes mellitus in young people lead to accelerated development of atherosclerosis can help not only to

create the right therapeutic goals for these patients to minimize their cardiovascular risk but also may be the next step in understanding the autoimmune mechanisms of atherosclerosis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Bioethics Committee of the Warmia and Mazury Chamber of Physicians and Dentists in Olsztyn, Poland. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BG-O designed the study, performed the statistical analysis, and drafted and wrote the manuscript. HB-S and BS analyzed the data, participated in the study conception, and designed and contributed to a great extent to the discussion. BK and

REFERENCES

- de Ferranti SD, de Boer IH, Fonseca V, Fox CS, Golden SH, Lavie CJ, et al. Type 1 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association and American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care*. (2014) 37:2843–63. doi: 10.2337/ dc14-1720
- Rawshani A, Sattar N, Franzen S, Rawshani A, Hattersley AT, Svensson AM, et al. Excess mortality and cardiovascular disease in young adults with type 1 diabetes in relation to age at onset: a nationwide, register-based cohort study. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:477–86. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31 506-X
- Lind M, Svensson AM, Kosiborod M, Gudbjornsdottir S, Pivodic A, Wedel H, et al. Glycemic control and excess mortality in type 1 diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:1972–82. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1408214
- 4. Kavey RE, Allada V, Daniels SR, Hayman LL, McCrindle BW, Newburger JW, et al. Cardiovascular risk reduction in high-risk pediatric patients: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Expert Panel on Population and Prevention Science; the Councils on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, Epidemiology and Prevention, Nutrition, Physical Activity and Metabolism, High Blood Pressure Research, Cardiovascular Nursing, and the Kidney in Heart Disease; and the Interdisciplinary Working Group on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research: endorsed by the American Academy of Pediatrics. *Circulation.* (2006) 114:2710–38. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.179568
- Kahaly GJ, Hansen MP. Type 1 diabetes associated autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:644–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.02.017
- Ahirwar AK, Singh A, Jain A, Patra SK, Goswami B, Bhatnagar MK, et al. Raised TSH is associated with endothelial dysfunction in metabolic syndrome: a case control study. *Rom J Intern Med.* (2017) 55:212– 21. doi: 10.1515/rjim-2017-0023
- Biondi B, Cappola AR, Cooper DS. Subclinical hypothyroidism: a review. JAMA. (2019) 322:153–60. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.9052
- Biondi B, Palmieri EA, Lombardi G, Fazio S. Effects of subclinical thyroid dysfunction on the heart. Ann Intern Med. (2002) 137:904– 14. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-137-11-200212030-00011

DC participated in patients' recruitment, collecting the data, and analyses. BŻ-R performed the laboratory analyses of new biomarkers and analyzed them. AB was involved in the design, conception, analysis, and revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed in discussions and read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by grants from Medical University of Bialystok, Poland and Medical Faculty of University of Warmia and Mazury in Olsztyn, Poland.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2020.00431/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | The graphic scheme of IMT measurement.

Supplementary Figure 2 | IMT ultrasonography representative image for diabetic patient.

 $\label{eq:super-$

- Vargas-Uricoechea H, Bonelo-Perdomo A, Sierra-Torres CH. Effects of thyroid hormones on the heart. *Clin Investig Arterioscler*. (2014) 26:296– 309. doi: 10.1016/j.arteri.2014.07.003
- Libby P, Ridker PM Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. (2002) 105:1135–43. doi: 10.1161/hc0902.104353
- Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman WP III, Tracy RE, Wattigney WA. Association between multiple cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in children and young adults. The Bogalusa heart study. N Engl J Med. (1998) 338:1650–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199806043382302
- Escarcega RO, Lipinski MJ, Garcia-Carrasco M, Mendoza-Pinto C, Galvez-Romero JL, Cervera R. Inflammation and atherosclerosis: cardiovascular evaluation in patients with autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2018) 17:703–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2018.01.021
- Frostegard J. Atherosclerosis in patients with autoimmune disorders. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2005) 25:1776– 85. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000174800.78362.ec
- Sima P, Vannucci L, Vetvicka V. Atherosclerosis as autoimmune disease. Ann Transl Med. (2018) 6:116. doi: 10.21037/atm.2018.02.02
- Lyngbakken MN, Myhre PL, Rosjo H, Omland T. Novel biomarkers of cardiovascular disease: applications in clinical practice. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci.* (2019) 56:33–60. doi: 10.1080/10408363.2018.1525335
- Li Y, Zhong X, Cheng G, Zhao C, Zhang L, Hong Y, et al. Hs-CRP and all-cause, cardiovascular, and cancer mortality risk: a meta-analysis. *Atherosclerosis.* (2017) 259:75–82. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2017.02.003
- Libby P, Ridker PM. Inflammation and atherosclerosis: role of C-reactive protein in risk assessment. Am J Med. (2004) 116:9S-16S. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2004.02.006
- Hoefer IE, Steffens S, Ala-Korpela M, Back M, Badimon L, Bochaton-Piallat ML, et al. Novel methodologies for biomarker discovery in atherosclerosis. *Eur Heart J.* (2015) 36:2635–42. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv236
- Pastori D, Carnevale R, Pignatelli P. Is there a clinical role for oxidative stress biomarkers in atherosclerotic diseases? *Intern Emerg Med.* (2014) 9:123– 31. doi: 10.1007/s11739-013-0999-6
- Litwin M, Niemirska A. Intima-media thickness measurements in children with cardiovascular risk factors. *Pediatr Nephrol.* (2009) 24:707–19. doi: 10.1007/s00467-008-0962-3

- O'Leary DH, Polak JF. Intima-media thickness: a tool for atherosclerosis imaging and event prediction. Am J Cardiol. (2002) 90:18L-21L. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(02)02957-0
- 22. Dalla Pozza R, Ehringer-Schetitska D, Fritsch P, Jokinen E, Petropoulos A, Oberhoffer R, et al. Intima-media thickness measurement in children: a statement from the Association for European Paediatric Cardiology (AEPC) working group on cardiovascular prevention endorsed by the association for European Paediatric Cardiology. *Atherosclerosis.* (2015) 238:380–7. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.12.029
- 23. Glowinska-Olszewska B, Moniuszko M, Hryniewicz A, Jeznach M, Rusak M, Dabrowska M, et al. Relationship between circulating endothelial progenitor cells and endothelial dysfunction in children with type 1 diabetes: a novel paradigm of early atherosclerosis in high-risk young patients. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2013) 168:153–61. doi: 10.1530/EJE-12-0857
- 24. Shah AS, Dabelea D, Fino NF, Dolan LM, Wadwa RP, D'Agostino R, et al. Predictors of increased carotid intima-media thickness in youth with Type 1 diabetes: the SEARCH CVD study. *Diabetes Care.* (2016) 39:418– 25. doi: 10.2337/dc15-1963
- 25. Urbina EM, Isom S, Bell RA, Bowlby DA, D'Agostino R Jr, Daniels SR, et al. Burden of cardiovascular risk factors over time and arterial stiffness in youth with type 1 diabetes mellitus: the SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. J Am Heart Assoc. (2019) 8:e010150. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118. 010150
- Kulaga Z, Litwin M, Tkaczyk M, Palczewska I, Zajaczkowska M, Zwolinska D, et al. Polish 2010 growth references for school-aged children and adolescents. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2011) 170:599–609. doi: 10.1007/s00431-010-1329-x
- Glowinska-Olszewska B, Tolwinska J, Urban M. Relationship between endothelial dysfunction, carotid artery intima-media thickness and circulating markers of vascular inflammation in obese hypertensive children and adolescents. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2007) 20:1125–36. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2007.20.10.1125
- Jourdan C, Wuhl E, Litwin M, Fahr K, Trelewicz J, Jobs K, et al. Normative values for intima-media thickness and distensibility of large arteries in healthy adolescents. J Hypertens. (2005) 23:1707–15. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000178834.26353.d5
- Kordonouri O, Hartmann R, Deiss D, Wilms M, Gruters-Kieslich A. Natural course of autoimmune thyroiditis in type 1 diabetes: association with gender, age, diabetes duration, and puberty. *Arch Dis Child*. (2005) 90:411– 4. doi: 10.1136/adc.2004.056424
- Bojanin D, Milenkovic T, Vekic J, Vukovic R, Zeljkovic A, Janac J, et al. Effects of co-existing autoimmune diseases on serum lipids and lipoprotein subclasses profile in paediatric patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Biochem.* (2018) 54:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2018.01.026
- Korzeniowska K, Ramotowska A, Szypowska A, Szadkowska A, Fendler W, Kalina-Faska B, et al. How does autoimmune thyroiditis in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus influence glycemic control, lipid profile and thyroid volume? J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2015) 28:275–8. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2013-0455
- Gong N, Gao C, Chen X, Fang Y, Tian L. Endothelial function in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism: a meta-Analysis. *Horm Metab Res.* (2019) 51:691–702. doi: 10.1055/a-1018-9564
- Gao N, Zhang W, Zhang YZ, Yang Q, Chen SH. Carotid intima-media thickness in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism: a meta-analysis. *Atherosclerosis.* (2013) 227:18–25. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.10.070
- Roos A, Bakker SJ, Links TP, Gans RO, Wolffenbuttel BH. Thyroid function is associated with components of the metabolic syndrome in euthyroid subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2007) 92:491–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1718
- 35. Liu J, Duan Y, Fu J, Wang G. Association between thyroid hormones, thyroid antibodies, and cardiometabolic factors in non-obese individuals with normal thyroid function. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2018) 9:130. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00130
- van Tienhoven-Wind LJ, Dullaart RP. Low-normal thyroid function and the pathogenesis of common cardio-metabolic disorders. *Eur J Clin Invest.* (2015) 45:494–503. doi: 10.1111/eci.12423
- Isguven P, Gunduz Y, Kilic M. Effects of thyroid autoimmunity on early Atherosclerosis in Euthyroid girls with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. (2016) 8:150–6. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.2145

- Unal E, Akin A, Yildirim R, Demir V, Yildiz I, Haspolat YK. Association of subclinical hypothyroidism with Dyslipidemia and increased carotid intimamedia thickness in children. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. (2017) 9:144– 9. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.3719
- Garcia-Garcia E, Vazquez-Lopez MA, Garcia-Fuentes E, Galera-Martinez R, Gutierrez-Repiso C, Garcia-Escobar I, et al. Thyroid function and thyroid autoimmunity in relation to weight status and cardiovascular risk factors in children and adolescents: a population-based study. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. (2016) 8:157–62. doi: 10.4274/jcrpe.2687
- Ruszala A, Wojcik M, Starzyk JB. The impact of thyroid function on the occurrence of metabolic syndrome in obese children and adolescents. *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab.* (2019) 25:1–5. doi: 10.5114/pedm.2019.84705
- Song RH, Wang B, Yao QM, Li Q, Jia X, Zhang JA. The impact of obesity on thyroid autoimmunity and Dysfunction: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2349. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02349
- 42. Ciccone MM, de Pergola G, Porcelli MT, Scicchitano P, Caldarola P, Iacoviello M, et al. Increased carotid IMT in overweight and obese women affected by Hashimoto's thyroiditis: an adiposity and autoimmune linkage? *BMC Cardiovasc Disord.* (2010) 10:22. doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-10-22
- Versini M, Jeandel PY, Rosenthal E, Shoenfeld Y. Obesity in autoimmune diseases: not a passive bystander. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:981– 1000. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2014.07.001
- 44. de Keukelaere M, Fieuws S, Reynaert N, Vandoorne E, Kerckhove KV, Asscherickx W, et al. Evolution of body mass index in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2018) 177:1661–6. doi: 10.1007/s00431-018-3224-9
- 45. Luczynski W, Szypowska A, Glowinska-Olszewska B, Bossowski A. Overweight, obesity and features of metabolic syndrome in children with diabetes treated with insulin pump therapy. *Eur J Pediatr.* (2011) 170:891–8. doi: 10.1007/s00431-010-1372-7
- 46. Szadkowska A, Michalak A, Chylinska-Fratzak A, Baranowska-Jazwiecka A, Koptas M, Pietrzak I, et al. Achieving target levels for vascular risk parameters in Polish school-age children with type 1 diabetes–a single center study. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2018) 31:1073–9. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2018-0098
- Nathan DM, Cleary PA, Backlund JY, Genuth SM, Lachin JM, Orchard TJ, et al. Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:2643–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa052187
- Purnell JQ, Braffett BH, Zinman B, Gubitosi-Klug RA, Sivitz W, Bantle JP, et al. Impact of excessive weight gain on cardiovascular outcomes in Type 1 diabetes: results from the diabetes control and complications trial/epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications (DCCT/EDIC) study. *Diabetes Care.* (2017) 40:1756–62. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2523
- Rizzo M, Kotur-Stevuljevic J, Berneis K, Spinas G, Rini GB, Jelic-Ivanovic Z, et al. Atherogenic dyslipidemia and oxidative stress: a new look. *Transl Res.* (2009) 153:217–23. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2009.01.008
- Vukovic R, Zeljkovic A, Bufan B, Spasojevic-Kalimanovska V, Milenkovic T, Vekic J. Hashimoto thyroiditis and Dyslipidemia in childhood: a review. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). (2019) 10:868. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019. 00868
- 51. Ahmadizar F, Souverein P, de Boer A, van der Zee AHM. Undertreatment of hypertension and hypercholesterolaemia in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: long-term follow-up on time trends in the occurrence of cardiovascular disease, risk factors and medications use. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2018) 84:776–85. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13482
- Katz M, Giani E, Laffel L. Challenges and opportunities in the management of cardiovascular risk factors in youth with Type 1 diabetes: lifestyle and beyond. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2015) 15:119. doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0692-4
- Osiniri I, Sitjar C, Soriano-Rodriguez P, Prats-Puig A, Casas-Satre C, Mayol L, et al. Carotid intima-media thickness at 7 years of age: relationship to C-reactive protein rather than adiposity. J Pediatr. (2012) 160:276–80.71. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2011.07.020
- 54. Galcheva SV, Iotova VM, Yotov YT, Bernasconi S, Street ME. Circulating proinflammatory peptides related to abdominal adiposity and cardiometabolic risk factors in healthy prepubertal children. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2011) 164:553–8. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-1124

- 55. Pludowski P, Holick MF, Pilz S, Wagner CL, Hollis BW, Grant WB, et al. Vitamin D effects on musculoskeletal health, immunity, autoimmunity, cardiovascular disease, cancer, fertility, pregnancy, dementia and mortality-a review of recent evidence. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2013) 12:976–89. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2013.02.004
- Yang CY, Leung PS, Adamopoulos IE, Gershwin ME. The implication of vitamin D and autoimmunity: a comprehensive review. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2013) 45:217–26. doi: 10.1007/s12016-013-8361-3
- Deda L, Yeshayahu Y, Sud S, Cuerden M, Cherney DZ, Sochett EB, et al. Improvements in peripheral vascular function with vitamin D treatment in deficient adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2018) 19:457– 63. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12595
- Soskic S, Stokic E, Isenovic ER. The relationship between vitamin D and obesity. *Curr Med Res Opin.* (2014) 30:1197– 9. doi: 10.1185/03007995.2014.900004
- Paschou SA, Kosmopoulos M, Nikas IP, Spartalis M, Kassi E, Goulis DG, et al. The impact of obesity on the association between vitamin D deficiency and cardiovascular disease. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2458. doi: 10.3390/nu11102458
- 60. Dalla Pozza R, Beyerlein A, Thilmany C, Weissenbacher C, Netz H, Schmidt H, et al. The effect of cardiovascular risk factors on the longitudinal evolution of the carotid intima medial thickness in children with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2011) 10:53. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-10-53
- Miller KM, Foster NC, Beck RW, Bergenstal RM, DuBose SN, DiMeglio LA, et al. Current state of type 1 diabetes treatment in the US: updated data from the T1D exchange clinic registry. *Diabetes Care.* (2015) 38:971– 978. doi: 10.2337/dc15-0078
- Obermannova B, Petruzelkova L, Sulakova T, Sumnik Z. HbA₁c but not diabetes duration predicts increased arterial stiffness in adolescents with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2017) 18:304– 10. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12385
- Monzani F, Caraccio N, Kozakowa M, Dardano A, Vittone F, Virdis A, et al. Effect of levothyroxine replacement on lipid profile and intima-media thickness in subclinical hypothyroidism: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2004) 89:2099–106. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031669

- Topaloglu O, Gokay F, Kucukler K, Burnik FS, Mete T, Yavuz HC, et al. Is autoimmune thyroiditis a risk factor for early atherosclerosis in premenopausal women even if in euthyroid status? *Endocrine*. (2013) 44:145– 51. doi: 10.1007/s12020-012-9842-5
- 65. Aziz M, Kandimalla Y, Machavarapu A, Saxena A, Das S, Younus A, et al. Effect of thyroxin treatment on carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT) reduction in patients with subclinical hypothyroidism (SCH): a meta-analysis of clinical trials. J Atheroscler Thromb. (2017) 24:643– 59. doi: 10.5551/jat.39917
- 66. Zhao T, Chen B, Zhou Y, Wang X, Zhang Y, Wang H, et al. Effect of levothyroxine on the progression of carotid intimamedia thickness in subclinical hypothyroidism patients: a metaanalysis. *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e016053. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016053
- Taddei S, Caraccio N, Virdis A, Dardano A, Versari D, Ghiadoni L, et al. Low-grade systemic inflammation causes endothelial dysfunction in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2006) 91:5076– 82. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1075
- Bebu I, Braffett BH, Orchard TJ, Lorenzi GM, Lachin JM, Group DER. Mediation of the effect of glycemia on the risk of CVD outcomes in type 1 diabetes: the DCCT/EDIC study. *Diabetes Care.* (2019) 42:1284– 9. doi: 10.2337/dc18-1613

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Głowinska-Olszewska, Borysewicz-Sańczyk, Sawicka, Klonowska, Charemska, Żelazowska-Rutkowska and Bossowski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Increasing Co-occurrence of Additional Autoimmune Disorders at Diabetes Type 1 Onset Among Children and Adolescents Diagnosed in Years 2010–2018–Single-Center Study

Barbara Głowińska-Olszewska^{1*}, Maciej Szabłowski¹, Patrycja Panas¹, Karolina Żołądek¹, Milena Jamiołkowska-Sztabkowska^{1,2}, Anna Justyna Milewska³, Anna Kadłubiska¹, Agnieszka Polkowska¹, Włodzimierz Łuczyński^{1,4} and Artur Bossowski¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aneta Monika Gawlik, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

Reviewed by:

Maurizio Delvecchio, Giovanni XXIII Children's Hospital, Italy George Paltoglou, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

*Correspondence:

Barbara Głowińska-Olszewska barbara.glowinska-olszewska @umb.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 April 2020 Accepted: 17 June 2020 Published: 06 August 2020

Citation:

Głowińska-Olszewska B, Szabłowski M, Panas P, Żołądek K, Jamiołkowska-Sztabkowska M, Milewska AJ, Kadłubiska A, Połkowska A, Łuczyński W and Bossowski A (2020) Increasing Co-occurrence of Additional Autoimmune Disorders at Diabetes Type 1 Onset Among Children and Adolescents Diagnosed in Years 2010–2018 – Single-Center Study. Front. Endocrinol. 11:476. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00476 ¹ Department of Pediatrics, Endocrinology, Diabetology With Cardiology Division, Medical University of Bialystok, Białystok, Poland, ² Department of Pediatrics, Rheumatology, Immunology and Metabolic Bone Diseases, Medical University of Bialystok, Białystok, Poland, ³ Department of Statistics and Medical Informatics, Medical University of Bialystok, Białystok, Poland, ⁴ Department of Medical Simulations, Medical University of Bialystok, Białystok, Poland

Objectives: The prevalence of type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1D) in children is growing, but its relation to other autoimmune disorders that coexist since the onset of diabetes is not recognized. The objective of this study was to assess the incidence of T1D and the prevalence of autoimmune illnesses additionally coexisting since the diabetes mellitus onset in children during a period of 9 years' observation.

Methods: In this retrospective study, the incidence rate (IR) of the T1D was calculated as the total number of all cases that were newly diagnosed per 100,000 population people between 0 and 18 years of age. The selected age groups (0–4, 5–9, 10–14, and 15–18 years) were examined, respectively. The studied group included 493 children (264 [53.55%] boys) between 0 and 18 years old newly diagnosed with T1D in one of the Polish centers in the years 2010–2018. Other autoimmune illnesses diagnoses were obtained from medical records taken from the first hospital treatment, when T1D was recognized.

Results: The annual standardized IR of T1D increased from 19.2/100,000 in year 2010 to 31.7/100,000 in 2018 (1.7-fold over 9 years' observation), with an increase in the incidence rate ratio (IRR) by 4% per year. The highest growth in IR was recorded in 5- to 9-year-olds (from 19.61 in 2010 to 43.45 in 2018). In 61 (12.4%) of the studied group, at least one additional autoimmune disease was diagnosed. The prevalence doubled from 10.4% in the year 2010 to 20.8% in the year 2018. Autoimmune thyroid illnesses were found in 37 children (7.5%); their incidence increased from 6.3% to almost 2-fold, 12.5%, in 2018. In 26 children (5.3%), celiac disease was recognized; the prevalence increased from 4.2 to 9.8% in the study period. The prevalence of additional autoimmune thyroid disease was higher in glutamic acid decarboxylase–positive antibodies ($\chi^2 = 3.4$, $\rho = 0.04$) patients, the oldest age group (15–18 years) ($\chi^2 = 7.1$, $\rho = 0.06$), and in girls ($\chi^2 = 7.1$, $\rho = 0.007$).

Conclusions: The standardized IR of T1D in children increased 1.7-fold over the 9-year observation period, and IRR increased 4% per year. Additional autoimmunity represents a significant comorbidity in patients with new-onset T1D. The number of children diagnosed with additional autoimmune diseases that accompany T1D is rapidly growing in all age groups throughout recent years.

Keywords: diabetes type 1, autoimmune thyroid diseases, celiac disease, children, epidemiology

INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1D) has received much attention lately, and the rapid increase in the number of patients should not be disregarded. According to the ninth edition of IDF Diabetes Atlas 2019 (1), it is estimated that 1,110,100 young people younger than 20 years have T1D worldwide. Type 1 diabetes incidence in children increases by 2-5% annually worldwide, according to large epidemiologic studies (2), and it depends on the geographic region; for example, in Asian countries, the incidence rates (IRs) are usually very low (3), whereas the rates in some European countries, for example, Finland, are indisputably high (4). In European cases, the incidence among girls is currently the highest in the age group between 5 and 9 years, whereas that of boys is highest in the 10- to 14-years age group (5). In years 2010-2014 in Poland, incidence rate ratio (IRR) increased 1.5-fold (by 12.73% annually) in children and adolescents aged 0-17 years (6).

It has been reported recently, among them in metaanalysis, that frequency of autoimmune diseases (AD) in general, has increased significantly over the last 30 years, with thorough research of risk factors and environmental impacts on susceptibility to AD (7, 8). The global prevalence of AD in pediatric age is \sim 5%, and the most frequent autoimmunities are represented by autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITDs) (9). The incidence of autoimmune hypothyroidism in children is rated at 1-2% with a dominance of female 4:1 (10). Even subclinical course of the disease is known to result in many adverse effects such as increased risk of congestive cardiac failure and coronary heart disease events. What is more, subclinical hypothyroidism is likely to cause cognitive impairment and non-specific symptoms, for example, fatigue and mood changes (11). Hyperthyroidism constitutes 15% of children's thyroid disorders, and most of the cases can be attributed to hyperthyroidism of autoimmune origin, Graves disease (GD) (10).

It is now recognized that the prevalence of additional autoimmunity is increasingly encountered in clinical practice of pediatric diabetologists. Additional ADs (AADs) frequently occur in the same individual over the course of T1D, suggesting strong shared genetic susceptibility and pathological mechanisms. Patients with T1D demonstrate an increased exposure to other autoimmune disorders, for example, AITD (Hashimoto thyroiditis and GD, 15–30%), Addison disease (0.5%), autoimmune gastritis (5–10%), celiac disease (CD; 4–9%), and vitiligo (2–10%) (12, 13). Revealed high prevalence of associated autoimmune conditions generated the need for early screening of these diseases (14).

There is increasing knowledge about the prevalence of AAD in the course of long-lasting T1D in children with T1D (15, 16). Notably, the association of T1D with other autoimmune illnesses that coexist from the onset of diabetes and the actual trend of this connection over the years are not fully recognized. We aimed to estimate the prevalence of patients diagnosed with the most common autoimmune disorders: AITD and CD at the diagnosis of T1D and the changes in prevalence of these diseases during 9 years (2010–2018) observation. Second, we intended to search for possible clinical factors connected with multiple autoimmunities since T1D onset. We hypothesized that together with increasing prevalence of diabetes type 1 in children over the years, the number of patients diagnosed with AAD will also increase.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

The study was planned as a retrospective, hospital records-based study including 493 children and adolescents (264 boys and 229 girls, aged 0-18 years), who were diagnosed for T1D between 2010 and 2018 at the Department of Pediatrics, Endocrinology, Diabetology with Cardiology Division, Medical University of Białystok, Poland. This is the only center for diabetic children in the Podlasie Voivodeship Region (northeast part of Poland), where all young patients with newly diagnosed T1D from the region are treated. The IR of the T1D was calculated as the total number of all cases that were newly diagnosed per 100,000 people between 0 and 18 years of age. General population figure was obtained from the Central Statistical Office of Poland (Polish: Glowny Urzad Statystyczny) (17). The selected age groups (0-4, 5-9, 10-14, and 15-18 years) were examined separately. Laboratory and anthropometric data were obtained from electronic medical records, body mass index (BMI), and standard-deviation-score (SDS) for BMI was calculated using age- and sex-specific BMI growth charts according to local Polish OLAF study (18).

The diagnosis of T1D was made on the basis of criteria for diabetes type 1 recognition according to the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes guidelines: history of polyuria, polydipsia, and weight loss with an elevated random plasma glucose of \geq 11.1 mmol/L or fasting plasma glucose of \geq 7 mmol/L (19). Diabetic autoimmunity was confirmed on the basis of at least one positive titer of autoantibodies to islet cells (ICAs), glutamic acid decarboxylase (GADA), and also the protein tyrosine phosphatase (IA2). Analysis was performed in the same laboratory for all the study period. The diagnosis date referred to the date of the very first injection of insulin, according to EURODIAB criteria (20), and our previous publications. The age of the patients was calculated in completed years on the day of T1DM diagnosis (21, 22).

Serologically screening tests for thyroid autoimmunity included anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies (aTPO) and antithyroglobulin (aTg), and, in cases of hyperthyroidism suspicion, anti-thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) antibodies (TR-Ab). Confirmation of thyroid autoimmunity was based on the elevated titer of aTPO, aTg, or TR-Ab. Both hypothyroid and hyperthyroid autoimmunity was taken into consideration. Children were screened for the thyroid diseases using TSH and free thyroxine (fT4) levels at the moment of diagnosing. Furthermore, in each case of newly diagnosed T1D, according to our local recommendations, thyroid ultrasound has been performed since 2016. The clinical entities found in AITDs are diverse and vary depending on whether it is in a state of autoimmune hypothyroidism (HT, Hashimoto disease) or hyperthyroidism (GD). Patients suffering from HT represented clinical and biochemical characteristics of hypothyroidism and demonstrated an elevated TSH with presence of elevated anti-TPO and/or aTg autoantibodies. Graves disease was diagnosed in children with large goiter, hyperthyroidism in laboratory tests and positive thyrotropin receptor (TR-Ab) antibodies, anti-TPO antibodies, and aTg antibodies. Subclinical hypothyroidism, without confirmed autoimmunity, was not taken into consideration into further analyses. The diagnosis of AITDs was set on the basis of clinical, laboratory, and ultrasound investigations and was always set with experienced pediatric endocrinologist, and pharmacological treatment was introduced if needed.

То diagnose celiac autoimmunity, anti-tissue transglutaminase (anti-tTGA) antibodies were performed. With titer of ≥ 10 IU/mL or with questionable results, antiendomysial (EMA) and anti-reticulin (ARA) antibodies were also implemented. In this case, small intestine-associated autoimmunity was recognized. The CD was diagnosed on the basis of the revised criteria of CD diagnosis according to the European Society Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition criteria (21, 23) and always consulted with experienced gastroenterologist. Patients positively serologically tested for tTGA, EMA, and ARA had a gastroscopy performed if needed for diagnosis. Children recognized with the disease started gluten-free diet since diabetes onset. We did not test our patients for Addison disease because it is out of obligatory screening in Poland. Yet, none of the children represented clinical symptoms of this or any other ADs that may accompany T1D (gastritis, vitiligo, etc.).

Laboratory Analyses

The analyses were performed with routine laboratory methods in hospital laboratory on an ongoing basis. Fasting blood sample for analysis was collected in the morning. Serum levels of TSH, fT4, and triiodothyronine (fT3) were assessed with the use of electrochemiluminescence "ECLIA" with Cobas E411 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics, Warsaw, Poland). Values within the norm presented the range between 0.28 and 4.3 μ IU/L for TSH, between 1.1 and 1.7 ng/dL for fT4, and between 2.6 and 5.4 ng/dL for fT3. Anti-TPO, aTg, and TR-Ab antibodies were analyzed in all samples with the use of ECLIA with Modular Analytics E170

| Parameters at diagnosis | No. of valid results | % of valid results | Median [interquartile range] | Minimal value | Maximal value |
|---------------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------|
| Age at diagnosis (years) | 493 | 100.00 | 9.50 [5.50–12.50] | 0.50 | 18.00 |
|)–4 | | | <i>n</i> = 109 | | |
| 5–9 | | | <i>n</i> = 151 | | |
| 0–14 | | | n = 172 | | |
| 5–18 | | | n = 61 | | |
| HbA _{1c} (%) | 369 | 75 | 10.70 [9.46–12.42] | 6.00 | 21.0 |
| Η | 487 | 99 | 7.37 [7.28–7.41] | 6.93 | 7.64 |
| HCO3 | 220 | 45 | 16.60 [8.50–20.95] | 2.60 | 43.4 |
| C-peptide (ng/mL) | 295 | 60 | 0.47 [0.28–0.79] | 0.00 | 1.1 |
| GADA (U/mL) 86.82%—positive] | 433 | 88 | 63.20 [8.67–280.03] | 0.27 | 5,775 |
| A2A (U/mL) 36%—positive] | 434 | 88 | 188.05 [8.16–777.51] | 0.00 | 3,626 |
| CA (JDF U) 64.91%—positive] | 431 | 87 | 20.00 [10.00-40.00] | 0.00 | 640 |
| FPO (IU/mL) | 474 | 96 | 5.00 [5.00-6.90] | 5.00 | 600.00 |
| ATG (IU/mL) | 474 | 96 | 10.00 [10.00–10.00] | 3.15 | 4,000.00 |
| TGA (UI/mL) | 461 | 93 | 10.00 [10.00–10.00] | 0.4 | 1,700 |
| BMI | 470 | 95 | 15.7 [14.2–18.1] | 8.9 | 35.01 |
| SDS-BMI | 429 | 87 | -0.43 [-1.08 to 0.29] | -3.40 | 5.07 |
| Gender (%), <i>n</i> | Boys: 53. n = 26 | | (| Girls: 46.45% n = 229 | |

analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). The positive values for antithyroid antibodies were >1.75 U/L for TR-Ab, >34 IU/mL for anti-TPO-Abs, and >115 IU/mL for aTg-Abs. Tests for beta cells and thyroid and celiac antibodies were performed after recovery from ketoacidosis and the initiation of subcutaneous insulin therapy, usually between the fifth and the seventh day of the child's stay in the ward (in our hospital, hospitalization usually lasts 8–10 and is related to patient's education).

The study was performed in accordance with the Guidelines of Good Clinical Practice. The protocol was approved by the Medical University in Białystok, Poland Bioethical Committee. Parents/legal guardians and their children both provided their written informed consent. The study adhered to ethical standards including ethics committee approval and consent procedure. Also, standard biosecurity and institutional safety procedures were adhered to.

Statistical Analysis

The IR of the T1D was calculated as the total number of all cases that were newly diagnosed per 100,000 population people at 0- to



occurring in a specified population during a year, expressed as the number of cases per 100,000 population of Podlaskie Voivedeship aged 0–18 yrs, standardized to the age-matched population of Poland from 2010. Slope = 0.948, P = 0.057. (B) T1D incidence rate (IR) in years 2010–2018 in certain age groups. A *crude incidence rate* is the number of new cases occuring, in a specified population during a year, expressed as the number of cases per 100,000 population of Podlaskie. Voivodeship in these age groups. 0-4 y.o. slope = 0.561, p = 0.566. 5-9 y.o slope = 1.78, p = 0.095. 10-14 y.o slope = 1.82, p = 0.127. 15-18 y.o slope = 1.78, p = 0.521.

18-year age per year. A multifactorial Poisson regression model was made to assess the IRR, depending on age and year. For the needs of the model for age, dummy variable was created, in which the 0- to 4-year age group is the base (reference) variable. Model fit was assessed using the Pearson goodness-of-fit test. One-way linear regression models were used in the time trend analysis. For IRR by age group and year, exact Poisson 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated. The IRs were directly standardized by age according to the population of Poland 2010. The prevalence of T1D and additional AID was evaluated using χ^2 or Fisher exact test when appropriate. A multiple logistic regression analysis was used to recognize independent factors and their influence on additional autoimmunity prevalence. The odds ratios with 95% CIs were calculated. p-value lower than 0.05 was determined as statistically significant. The results are presented as mean \pm SD, or numbers (*n*), and percentages (%). Statistically significant results were found at p < 0.05. The data were calculated using Stata/IC 12.1 package from StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA and STATISTICA 13.0 software, StatSoft Polska Sp. z o.o. Kraków, Poland.

RESULTS

We analyzed the data from total 493 pediatric patients (264 male and 229 female) aged 0 to 18 years [median (interquartile range) of age at diagnosis 9.50 (5.50-12.50) years], diagnosed successively between 2010 and 2018. During the study period, 23 children were diagnosed with other types of diabetes (11 with maturity-onset diabetes of the young 2, six with type 2, and six were insulin dependent, but autoantibody negative-not included into the present analysis as T1D). Two of our patients were diagnosed with AITD, and one, CD before the diagnosis of T1D. The general characteristics of the studied group are presented in Table 1. Mean IR of T1D among children and adolescent patients during the study period was 23.78/100,000 age-matched population. We found that incidence of diabetes mellitus type 1 in Podlaskie Voivodeship keeps rising. During the time of the study, the age-standardized annual incidence increased from 19.2/100,000 in 2010 up to 31.7/100,000 in 2018 over 9 years, in total 1.7-fold in the observed period. Annual fluctuations, with the lowest IR in 2016, were noticed. Time trend analysis revealed increase in incidence ratio (slope 1.06, p = 0.039), although statistically insignificant when standardized for age (p = 0.057) (Figure 1A). The increase in the IRR was 4% per year.

We divided the studied population into certain age groups and assessed the IR one by one. We discovered the growth in three of the age groups (from 8.22 to 21.08 in group 0–4 years old; from 19.61 to 43.45 in group 5–9 years old; from 29.26 to 52.01 in group 10–14 years old) and decrease in the oldest (15–18 years) age group of patients, from 20.16 to 10.95. The overall upward trend in incidence of T1DM seems to come from the increase in groups 5–9 years old and 10–14 years old, in which the rise in IR was the greatest. The lowest mean IR was found in group 15–18 years old (12.52/100,000), and the TABLE 2 | Model of Poisson regression for IRR based on a group of 0-4 years old.

| Age group (years) | IRR (95% CI) | Р |
|-------------------|------------------|-------|
| 0–4 | Base | |
| 5–9 | 1.37 (1.06–1.75) | 0.013 |
| 10–14 | 1.57 (1.23–1.99) | 0.000 |
| 15–18 | 0.61 (0.44–0.83) | 0.002 |
| Year | 1.04 (1.00–1.07) | 0.021 |

Pearson goodness of fit = 33.0039.

TABLE 3 Age-standardized incidence rates (per 100,000 person-years) of type 1 diabetes according to gender.

| | IR (95% CI) age standardized | | | | | | | |
|------|------------------------------|------------------|-------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Year | Girls | Boys | Total | | | | | |
| 2010 | 17.5 (9.8–24.4) | 21.2 (13.2–29.2) | 19.2 (13.7–24.6) | | | | | |
| 2011 | 24.2 (15.2–22.2) | 21.3 (13.1–29.4) | 22.7 (16.6–28.8) | | | | | |
| 2012 | 20.9 (12.5–29.3) | 24.2 (15.4–33) | 22.6 (16.5–28.7) | | | | | |
| 2013 | 21.3 (12.6–29.6) | 25.5 (16.4–24.6) | 23.5 (17.2–29.7) | | | | | |
| 2014 | 23.3 (14.2–32.2) | 26.9 (17.4–36.4) | 25.1 (15.6–31.7) | | | | | |
| 2015 | 19.9 (11.5–28.3) | 24.7 (15.7–33.8) | 22.4 (16.2–28.3) | | | | | |
| 2016 | 21.6 (12.9–30.2) | 16.7 (9.2–24.3) | 19.1 (13.20–24.8) | | | | | |
| 2017 | 29.6 (19.2–39.9) | 25.9 (16.5–35.4) | 27.7 (20.7–34.7) | | | | | |
| 2018 | 25.2 (15.9–34.6) | 37.9 (26.7-49.2) | 31.7 (24.4–39.1) | | | | | |

highest IR was noticed in group 10–14 years old (32.89/100,000). In other age groups, it was, respectively, 20.95 in group 0–4 years old and 28.78 in group 5–9 years old. In the time trend analysis, we did not prove significant differences when selected age groups were studied (**Figure 1B**). The Poisson regression model adjusted for the year of diagnosis and age group demonstrated the incidence risk ratio increasing 1.37 in children aged 5–9 years, 1.57 for children aged 10–14 years, and 0.61 for children aged 15–18 years. The year of diagnosis increased the IRR 1.04 times (4%) (**Table 2**). The differences in the standardized incidence ratios of diagnosed T1D cases between male and female were not statistically different and are presented in **Table 3**. In **Supplementary Table 1**, we included the data of incidence ratios with 95% CI in separated age groups in every studied year.

Next, we assessed the prevalence of additional autoimmunity and AD in all new-onset cases of T1D in subsequent years of analysis. In total, thyroid autoimmunity was recognized in 66 patients (13.39%), and AITD was recognized in 37 patients (7.51%) during the study period. Celiac autoimmunity was recognized in 38 patients (7.7%), whereas CD was found in 26 patients (5.3%). We found that general specific autoimmunity (other than diabetic antibodies) at T1D diagnosis remained stable during the study period (from 25% of patients in 2010 up to 23.6% in 2018; $\chi^2 = 1.2 \ p = 0.26$). As for AADs (celiac and AITD), their prevalence fluctuated during the study: it started from 10.4% in 2010, next increased in years 2012–2014, and then fell in years 2015–2017 to eventually finish at 20.83% in 2018. In



| Annual di | stribution | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|--------------|-------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|--------------|------------------------------------|---|
| Year | Total | 2010 | 2011 | 2012 | 2013 | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | χ^2 and <i>p</i> -value total | χ ² and <i>p</i> -value 2010 vs. 2018 |
| T1D, n | 493 | 48 | 54 | 50 | 54 | 57 | 51 | 43 | 61 | 72 | | |
| TAI, <i>n</i> (%) | 66 (13.5) | 8 (16.6) | 10 (18.5) | 9 (18.0) | 8 (14.8) | 6 (10.5) | 6 (11.8) | 4 (9.3) | 5 (8.2) | 10 (13.8) | $\chi^2 = 5.2$ $\rho = 0.7$ | $\chi^2 = 2.3 p = 0.12$ Y = 1.6 p = 0.19 Fi $p = 0.09$ |
| TTGA, <i>n</i> (%) | 38 (7.8) | 5 (10.4) | 7 (13.7) | 1 (1.9) | 3 (5.6) | 6 (10.5) | 3 (5.9) | 2 (4.6) | 4 (6.5) | 7 (9.8) | $\chi^2 = 7.8$ $\rho = 0.45$ | $\chi^2 = 0.4 p = 0.50$ Y = 0.09 p = 0.70 Fi $p = 0.30$ |
| Al, n (%) | 99 (20.1) | 12 (25) | 15 (27.7) | 10 (18.8) | 10 (18.5) | 11 (19.3) | 9 (17.6) | 6 (13.9) | 9 (14.7) | 17 (23.6) | $\chi^2 = 5.7$ $\rho = 0.68$ | $\chi^2 = 1.2 p = 0.26$ Y = 0.7 p = 0.37 Fi $p = 0.18$ |
| AITD, <i>n</i> (%) | 37 (7.5) | 3 (6.25) | 2 (3.7) | 7 (13.2) | 5 (9.3) | 3 (5.3) | 3 (5.9) | 3 (7) | 2 (3.3) | 9 (12.5) | $\chi^2 = 8.7$ $\rho = 0.36$ | $\chi^2 = 1.2 p = 0.20$ Y = 0.6 p = 0.40 Fi $p = 0.20$ |
| CD, n (%) | 26 (5.3) | 2 (4.2) | 1 (1.8) | 1 (1.9) | 1 (1.8) | 6 (10.5) | 2 (3.9) | 2 (4.6) | 4 (6.7) | 7 (9.8) | $\chi^2 = 10.4$ p = 0.2 | $\chi^2 = 1.3 p = 0.20$ Y = 0.6 p = 0.42 Fi $p = 0.21$ |
| AAD, n (%) | 61 (12.4) | 5 (10.4) | 3 (5.6) | 8 (15.1) | 6 (11.1) | 8 (14.0) | 5 (9.8) | 5 (11.6) | 6 (9.8) | 15 (20.8) | $\chi^2 = 8.5$ $\rho = 0.38$ | $\chi^2 = 2.7 p = 0.09$ Y = 1.9 p = 1.50 Fi $p = 0.07$ |

n, no. of patients; X² - Chi-squared; Y, Yates correction; Fi, Fisher exact test; T1D, type 1 diabetes mellitus; TAI, thyroid-positive autoimmunity; TTGA, anti-tissue transglutaminase antibodies positive; AI, autoimmunity (thyroid + celiac); AITD, autoimmune thyroid disease; CD, celiac disease; AAD, additional autoimmune disease (total).

the end, this gives a 2-fold increase in the percentage of patients with AADs during the 9-year study period (**Figure 2**, **Table 4**).

In further analysis, considering the frequency of autoimmunity in T1D age groups, we did not show statistically significant differences ($\chi^2 = 1.7$, p = 0.63). As for AITD, it

was similar; we found higher prevalence of these diseases in the oldest age group, although it was not statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 7.1$, p = 0.06) (Figure 3). The detailed comparison of the differences in mean age between additional autoimmunity "positive" and "negative" patients is presented in Table 5. We



TABLE 5 | Mean age at diagnosis of T1D in the groups of "positive" and "negative" patients in terms of total autoimmunity, AITD, thyroid autoimmunity, celiac disease, TTGA autoimmunity, and additional autoimmune disease.

| | Additional autoimmunity "positive" patients | Additional autoimmunity "negative" patients | p-value | | | |
|-------------------------------|---|---|---------|--|--|--|
| Mean age | | | | | | |
| Autoimmunity | 10.13 ± 4.42 | 8.80 ± 4.58 | 0.009 | | | |
| AITD | 11.14 ± 4.33 | 8.91 ± 4.56 | 0.004 | | | |
| Thyroid autoimmunity | 10.14 ± 4.68 | 8.92 ± 4.55 | 0.040 | | | |
| Celiac disease | 10.69 ± 3.52 | 8.98 ± 4.62 | 0.064 | | | |
| TTGA autoimmunity | 10.03 ± 4.29 | 9.02 ± 4.59 | 0.203 | | | |
| Additional autoimmune disease | 10.70 ± 3.96 | 8.85 ± 4.62 | 0.004 | | | |

found that patients with additional autoimmmune problem, especially thyroid disease, were significantly older. Thyroid autoimmunity varied significantly between male (9.13%) and female (18.5%) ($\chi^2 = 9.2$, p = 0.002), as well as thyroid AD (male 4.55%, female 10.92%, $\chi^2 = 7.2$, p = 0.007) (**Figure 4**). Such differences were not found for CD.

Finally, we analyzed the prevalence of AAD according to the presence of GADA antibodies. We discovered that children with positive anti-GAD antibodies were much more likely to develop thyroid autoimmunity at diagnosis of T1D than patients with negative anti-GAD, and this difference was observed as statistically significant (p = 0.024). We also obtained a significant difference in frequency of AITD between both groups (p = 0.045). As presented in **Figure 5**, in GADA(+) patients, 8.54% had AITD, and 14.33% had thyroid autoimmunity at diagnosis of T1D, whereas in GADA(-) patients, it was 3.42 and 6.9%, respectively, p < 0.05 (**Figure 5**). We have also assessed the possible relationship between the age of patients and the titers of

GADA, ICAs, IA2, and antithyroid antibodies without showing a statistically significant difference (Student *t*-test; data not shown).

Furthermore, we performed a multiple logistic regression analysis, which showed that female gender (p = 0.01), year of onset (p = 0.01), and GADA positive (p = 0.04) influenced the presence of additional thyroid autoimmunity at diabetes type 1 onset. In this analysis, we did not confirm the independent influence for the age at onset. As for AITD, the independent influencing factors were female gender (p = 0.03), GADApositive antibodies (p = 0.01), and age at onset (p = 0.01) (**Table 6**).

Autoimmune hyperthyroidism was found in three of our patients. Their cases were included into the AITD group. Four of the children had developed both CD and AITD; they were treated separately in the analyses. None of our patients represented clinical symptoms of any other autoimmune disorder.

DISCUSSION

In our study, we presented high, in our opinion, overall prevalence of AADs (thyroid and celiac) in children and adolescents who newly received the diagnosis of T1D. Our results showed increasing T1D IRs over the observed years, accompanied with growing prevalence of other coexisting ADs, with the 2-fold increase in AITD. To the best of our knowledge, this work represents the first report considering the epidemiological trends and distribution by demographic data (gender and age) of the most common AAD—AITD and CD— among newly diagnosed T1D pediatric patients. Therefore, we believe that our study may provide new insight into the relation of T1D and other autoimmunities in pediatric population. Moreover, we reported significant association between specific diabetic autoimmunity (GADA) and female preponderance with increased prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity and AITD. Last





but not least, we observed a trend for increase of AAD at T1D onset with the older age at diagnosis.

In our present results, we observed increasing T1D incidence over the observed 2010–2018 years; the overall IRR amounted to 4% a year (1.7-fold), and we noticed the highest IR in children aged 10–14 years. According to the latest data, incidence of T1D is increasing irrespectively of the genetics characteristic for the region and geographical location. Numerous research tried to find demographic trends concerning age and gender (6, 24). The recent literature emphasizes the trend of increased prevalence of T1D among all age groups of people (25–27). Observed worldwide IR of T1D incidence in children is increasing by 2–5% annually. Nevertheless, IRs vary among regions of the world. In Asia, the incidence of T1D is very low: China (Shanghai), 3.1 per

| TABLE 6 Independent factors influencing additional thyroid autoimmunity and |
|--|
| thyroid disease at diabetes type 1 onset in a multiple logistic regression analysis. |

| | OR | 95% CI | <i>p</i> -value |
|-------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------------|
| Additional thyroid auto | oimmunity | | |
| Gender | 1.9 | (1.1–3.4) | 0.01 |
| Year of onset | 0.9 | (0.7-1.0) | 0.01 |
| GADA antibodies | 1.0 | (1.0-1.0) | 0.04 |
| Age at onset | 1.2 | (0.9–1.6) | 0.09 |
| Autoimmune thyroid d | isease | | |
| Gender | 1.9 | (0.9-4.0) | 0.03 |
| Year of onset | 1.0 | (0.9-1.1) | 0.4 |
| GADA antibodies | 2.1 | (0.7-6.1) | 0.01 |
| Age at onset | 1.6 | (1.1–2.3) | 0.01 |
| | | | |

Cl, confidence interval; OR, odds ratio.

100,000 (28). Some research was made, looking for a possible link between these differences in IR and HLA specific to Caucasians and Asian populations (29, 30). In Europe, newly diagnosed cases of T1D are increasing by 3.4% per year (25). According to the large nationwide studies, in Poland, incidence of T1D is also increasing year after year (6). In the previous study considering our region, the lowest IR was observed in the youngest group of children aged (0–4 years), whereas the highest IR was identified in older children (10–14 years) (21). American SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth, a multicenter study of American population, also confirmed this phenomenon (an incidence of 33.9/100,000 between 10 and 14 years old, regardless of ethnic group and region of residence). The researchers link this to an increase in insulin resistance during puberty and pathogenic impact of infections (31).

One of the main findings of our study is the general increase in prevalence of AAD at T1D onset. During the study period, the percentage of patients diagnosed with CD and AITD doubled, with the greatest rise between 2017 and 2018. Numerous studies reported that incidence and prevalence of autoimmunity and AID in diabetic patients increase with age and are more common in females (32, 33), what we also confirmed in our research. Although statistically significant differences were noted only regarding AITD and thyroid autoimmunity, for autoimmunity connected to CD, we observed only percentage differences.

The frequency of AITD in a combined population of Europe is calculated as 3% for hypothyroidism and 0.75% for hyperthyroidism (34). Autoimmune thyroid disease affects as much as up to 3% of the pediatric population, so it represents the example of the most common ADs (9). In T1D, patients' reported weighted mean prevalence of hypothyroidism was 9.8%, whereas in hyperthyroidism it was 1.3% according to one of the recent meta-analyses (35), so it is significantly increased compared to general population. What is more, we could speculate that if prevalence of AITD increases during the disease (36), and we noticed incidence >20% at diagnosis in 2018, the prevalence of AITD in children diagnosed in 2018 may in the further course of the disease exceed the peak value of 30% reported by some studies (37).

The presence of thyroid antibodies among new-onset T1D patients occurs to be a common phenomenon, which may be significant for predicting the possible clinical manifestation of AITD at the same time of setting the T1D diagnosis (37). According to a previously conducted study (38), thyroid function at T1D onset is largely affected by metabolic derangement, and the assessment of thyroid antibodies may be valuable in recognizing patients prone to developing hypothyroidism. Our findings provide further evidence that the highest number of patients diagnosed with AITD was observed among teenagers (15-18 years). We also found a solid female predominance in both thyroid autoimmunity and AITD at diagnosis of T1D. Our results are consistent with existing studies that notice thyroid autoimmunity more often in girls (33, 39) and increase by 4.6% in prevalence of hypothyroidism (including subclinical cases) for every 10-year increase of age in T1D and with diabetes duration (15). These findings correlate with overall trends of thyroid autoimmunity incidence in other countries (39, 40) and also in Poland (41). Contrary to our findings, the meta-analysis based on 14 studies shows that the risk of thyroid dysfunction is much higher in children in comparison to adults (42).

Another very interesting finding of our study is the correlation between GADA and thyroid autoimmunity. In our study, we found vital correspondence between the presence of GADA antibodies and both clinically manifested thyroid AD and asymptomatic thyroid autoimmunity. Our results are consistent with previously published data (39, 43). Glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies are found in \sim 70-80% of patients who suffer from T1DM, long before the onset of clinical symptoms, and they remain positive over a long time after. The GADA presence is linked positively to gender (female) and older age at the time of diabetes onset (44). The association between GADA and TPOAb was previously observed. Glutamic acid decarboxylase in patients with T1D not only could indicate higher risk of more severe course of T1D but also could be a marker that takes part in reflecting other endocrine autoimmunity such as thyroid autoimmunity (39).

Deficiency of thyroid hormones, even subclinical, may lead to serious complications. Because of their influence on heart, vessels, and adipose tissue function, they play an important role in atherosclerotic processes (45, 46). Moreover, a possible link was found between subclinical hypothyroidism and cardiovascular risk factors and heart failure in adult patients (47). Despite the fact that similar conclusions have not been confirmed in pediatric patients yet, several studies have found some subtle proatherogenic abnormalities in children with a slight increase in TSH levels, showing improvement after levothyroxine treatment (45). All the facts mentioned above together with the results of our analyses confirm the need for screening and early treatment for AITD among T1D patients.

Celiac disease perception by clinicians has changed remarkably over past 50 years (48), and it became to be known as chronic, food-induced autoimmune disorder that is common and is diagnosed worldwide in patients of any age. Celiac disease keeps increasing in general population over last decades (49, 50). Some studies suggest that accuracy in diagnosis of CD (51) depends on the criteria used for selection of patients for the biopsy (the percentage of patients diagnosed increased

with the percentage of patients qualified for biopsy) (35). Celiac disease, when untreated, could lead to malnutrition and also extraintestinal manifestations of this disease: impaired bone density and stunted growth in children, liver failure, or even infertility (52, 53). Celiac disease, except for the aforementioned complications, may lead to increased risk of occurrence of other disorders. A retrospective study reported that patients who were on a gluten-free diet for a long time developed 50% fewer number of ADs during the period up to about 15 years of follow-up (54). Because of this, screening, possibly early identification and diagnosis are undoubtedly vital. The strong association of CD and AITDs was widely described in literature (55, 56). In patients with T1D, prevalence of CD is higher (4.7%) than in general population (1.4%) (35). Similarly to these results, prevalence of CD was increased among our patients, and the growth trend over the years was also noted.

Nowadays, there is a great effort in research trying to find the possible reasons for increased and multiple autoimmunity in T1D young patients (35). One of the possible explanations could be a common genetic background and defective immunoregulation (44). As for a shared genetic background, we can observe familial aggregation of ADs. It is widely known that some haplotypes of HLA predispose to both T1D and other ADs, i.e., HLA-DQ2, DQ4, and CD (57, 58). Also both T1D and AITD represent similar susceptibility gene polymorphisms, with HLA and non-HLA variants, which may cause such a clustering (59).

The TEDDY Study Group has already assessed a number of environmental candidate triggers, which include probiotics, infections, micronutrient, and microbiome, which could be responsible for recent increase in AD incidence (60). Other possible factors are altering the balance of gut microbiota due to probiotic or antibiotics use (61, 62) and epigenetic changes induced by air pollutants (63).

The increase in incidence of ADs over the last decades is accompanied by the outbreak of obesity. Complex interplay between the metabolic and immune processes is not fully understood, but may interact in developing various disorders (64). However, there are researches describing a visible correlation between obesity and greater prevalence or a worse prognosis of numerous immune-mediated conditions. In our study, the trend in annual changes of SDS-BMI was not considered, unfortunately. Numerous researches have described the properties of white adipose tissue as a crucial site in the dissolvable mediators generation defined as "adipokines" that in majority carry a proinflammatory activity. These adipokines occur to be the link between immune system and adipose tissue (65).

LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The first and foremost limitation to our study is the retrospective design, the improvement over the years in the diagnosis of many conditions, and not testing specifically for other autoimmune conditions. Second is the fact that data were sourced from electronic medical records. Tests screening for ADs other than those mentioned in the study were not performed because of lack of specific guidelines and lack of symptoms manifested by patients accounted for in the study. Controversial finding of our study is that we noticed a lack of simultaneous significant increase in prevalence of laboratory-recognized autoimmunity. It may be caused by growth in the amount of currently unknown factors triggering the development of AD in patients with present autoimmunity. We must also admit that, over the observed years, the diagnostic methods improved, ultrasonography of the thyroid gland was introduced into routine diagnostic method in all T1D patients, and diagnostic criteria for CD changed as well. These factors may have influence on this discrepancy. Further analysis of data gathered by us is required in order to identify factors possibly responsible for the observed phenomenon.

CONCLUSIONS

The IRR of T1D in children increased 4% a year, and the standardized IR increased 1.7-fold over the 9-year observation period. Additional autoimmunity represents a significant comorbidity in patients with new-onset T1D. The number of children diagnosed with AADs that accompany T1D is rapidly growing in all age groups throughout recent years. The most prone group of patients occurred in girls, older children, and patients who tested positive for GADA antibodies. Thus, more attention should be paid on subjects with other coexisting AD since T1D onset, and we hope that our work will contribute to greater emphasis on monitoring this problem. We believe that getting the comprehensive knowledge on this epidemiological problem with great clinical impact will help to establish better interdisciplinary treatment approach.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Medical University Bioethical Committee (no of approval: APK.002.112.2020). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BG-O made substantial contributions to study design and conception, acquisition, analysis and interpretation of data, and wrote the paper. PP and KZ partially gathered the data, analyzed and interpreted it, and co-wrote the paper. MS prepared the figures, partially gathered the data, analyzed and interpreted it, and co-wrote the paper. MJ-S made substantial contributions to study conception and design, acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of data. AM performed and interpreted statistical analyses. AK, AP, and WŁ were involved in the critical revision for important intellectual content. AB was involved in the design, conception, analysis, and revised the paper. All authors contributed in discussions, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by grants from Medical University of Bialystok, Poland.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The part of the data were presented during 45th Annual Meeting of the International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent

REFERENCES

- 1. Federation International Diabetes. *IDF Diabetes Atlas*, 9th ed. Brussels (2019). Available online at: https://www.diabetesatlas.org (accessed March 2, 2020).
- Maahs DM, West NA, Lawrence JM, Mayer-Davis EJ. Epidemiology of type 1 diabetes. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am.* (2010) 39:481– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2010.05.011
- Tajima N, Morimoto A. Epidemiology of childhood diabetes mellitus in Japan. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev.* (2012) 10(Suppl. 1):44–50.
- 4. Harjutsalo V, Sund R, Knip M, Groop P-H. Incidence of type 1 diabetes in Finland. *JAMA*. (2013) 310:427. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.8399
- 5. Tuomilehto J. The emerging global epidemic of type 1 diabetes. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2013) 13:795–804. doi: 10.1007/s11892-013-0433-5
- Szalecki M, Wysocka-Mincewicz M, Ramotowska A, Mazur A, Lisowicz L, Ben-Skowronek I, et al. Epidemiology of type 1 diabetes in Polish children: a multicentre cohort study. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev.* (2018) 34:e2962. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.2962
- Lerner A, Jeremias P, Matthias T. The world incidence and prevalence of autoimmune diseases is increasing. Int J Celiac Dis. (2015) 3:151– 5. doi: 10.12691/ijcd-3-4-8
- Selmi C. Autoimmunity in 2010. Autoimmun Rev. (2011) 10:725– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2011.06.004
- Minelli R, Gaiani F, Kayali S, Di Mario F, Fornaroli F, Leandro G, et al. Thyroid and celiac disease in pediatric age: a literature review. *Acta Biomed.* (2018) 89:11–6. doi: 10.23750/abm.v89i9-S.7872
- Hanley P, Lord K, Bauer AJ. Thyroid disorders in children and adolescents: a review. JAMA Pediatr. (2016) 170:1008– 19. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.0486
- Biondi B, Cappola AR, Cooper DS. Subclinical hypothyroidism: a review. JAMA. (2019) 322:153–60. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.9052
- 12. van den Driessche A, Eenkhoorn V, Van Gaal L, De Block C. Type 1 diabetes and autoimmune poly-glandular syndrome: a clinical review. *Neth J Med.* (2009) 67:376–87.
- 13. Kahaly GJ, Hansen MP. Type 1 diabetes associated autoimmunity. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:644–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.02.017
- Mahmud FH, Elbarbary NS, Fröhlich-Reiterer E, Holl RW, Kordonouri O, Knip M, et al. ISPAD clinical practice consensus guidelines 2018: ocomplications and associated conditions in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2018) 19:275–86. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12740
- Kordonouri O. Natural course of autoimmune thyroiditis in type 1 diabetes: association with gender, age, diabetes duration, and puberty. *Arch Dis Child*. (2005) 90:411–4. doi: 10.1136/adc.2004.056424
- Klonowska B, Charemska D, Jabłonska J, Banach A, Kacka A, Szynkarczuk E, et al. Carotid artery intima-media thickness (cIMT) in young type 1 diabetic patients in relation to comorbid additional autoimmune diseases and microvascular complications. *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab.* (2016) 22:92–104. doi: 10.18544/PEDM-22.03.0057
- Statistics Poland (Główny Urzad Statystyczny GUS) LOCAL DATA BANK. Available online at: https://bdl.stat.gov.pl/BDL/start (accessed March 15, 2020).

Diabetes (ISPAD), October 30–November 2, 2019, Boston, USA. Poster presentation: P107 Increasing coexistence of additional autoimmune diseases at diabetes type 1 onset among children and adolescents in Podlaskie Voivodeship (Poland) diagnosed in years 2010–2018.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2020.00476/full#supplementary-material

- OLAF Project. *Children's Memorial Health Institute*. Available online at: http://olaf.czd.pl/index.php?option=com_content&view=category&layout= blog&id=28&Itemid=75 (accessed March 15, 2020).
- Mayer-Davis EJ, Kahkoska AR, Jefferies C, Dabelea D, Balde N, Gong CX, et al. ISPAD clinical practice consensus guidelines 2018: definition, epidemiology, and classification of diabetes in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2018) 19:7–19. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12773
- Patterson CC, Dahlquist G, Soltész G, Green A. Variation and trends in incidence of childhood diabetes in Europe. *Lancet.* (2000) 355:873– 6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)07125-1
- Peczynska J, Peczynska J, Jamiołkowska M, Polkowska A, Zasim A, Łuczynski W, et al. Epidemiology of diabetes type 1 in children aged 0–14 in Podlasie Province in years 2005–2012. *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab.* (2016) 22:14–9. doi: 10.18544/PEDM-22.01.0045
- Chobot A, Polanska J, Brandt A, Deja G, Glowinska-Olszewska B, Pilecki O, et al. Updated 24-year trend of type 1 diabetes incidence in children in Poland reveals a sinusoidal pattern and sustained increase. *Diabet Med.* (2017) 34:1252–8. doi: 10.1111/dme.13345
- Husby S, Koletzko S, Korponay-Szabó I, Kurppa K, Mearin ML, Ribes-Koninckx C, et al. European society paediatric gastroenterology, hepatology and nutrition guidelines for diagnosing coeliac disease 2020. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2020) 70:141–156. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000000 02497
- Craig ME, Jefferies C, Dabelea D, Balde N, Seth A, Donaghue KC. Definition, epidemiology, and classification of diabetes in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2014) 15:4–17. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12186
- Patterson CC, Harjutsalo V, Rosenbauer J, Neu A, Cinek O, Skrivarhaug T, et al. Trends and cyclical variation in the incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes in 26 European centres in the 25 year period 1989–2013: a multicentre prospective registration study. *Diabetologia*. (2019) 62:408– 17. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4763-3
- Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Saydah S, Imperatore G, Linder B, Divers J, et al. Prevalence of type 1 and type 2 diabetes among children and adolescents from 2001 to 2009. *JAMA*. (2014) 311:1778–86. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.3201
- You WP, Henneberg M. Type 1 diabetes prevalence increasing globally and regionally: the role of natural selection and life expectancy at birth. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care.* (2016) 4:1–7. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2015-000161
- Zhao Z, Sun C, Wang C, Li P, Wang W, Ye J, et al. Rapidly rising incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes in Chinese population: epidemiology in Shanghai during 1997–2011. Acta Diabetol. (2014) 51:947– 53. doi: 10.1007/s00592-014-0590-2
- 29. PARK Y. Why is type 1 diabetes uncommon in Asia? *Ann NY Acad Sci.* (2006) 1079:31–40. doi: 10.1196/annals.1375.005
- Sugihara S. Genetic susceptibility of childhood type 1 diabetes mellitus in Japan. *Pediatr Endocrinol Rev.* (2012) 10(Suppl. 1):62–71.
- 31. Mayer-Davis EJ, Bell RA, Dabelea D, D'Agostino R, Imperatore G, Lawrence JM, et al. The many faces of diabetes in American youth: type 1 and type 2 diabetes in five race and ethnic populations: the SEARCH for diabetes in youth study. *Diabetes Care.* (2009) 32:S99. doi: 10.2337/ dc09-S201

- 32. Cerqueiro Bybrant M, Grahnquist L, Örtqvist E, Andersson C, Forsander G, Elding Larsson H, et al. Tissue transglutaminase autoantibodies in children with newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes are related to human leukocyte antigen but not to islet autoantibodies: a Swedish nationwide prospective population-based cohort study. *Autoimmunity.* (2018) 51:221–7. doi: 10.1080/08916934.2018.1494160
- Hughes JW, Bao YK, Salam M, Joshi P, Kilpatrick CR, Juneja K, et al. Lateonset T1DM and older age predict risk of additional autoimmune disease. *Diabetes Care.* (2019) 42:32–8. doi: 10.2337/dc18-1157
- Garmendia Madariaga A, Santos Palacios S, Guillén-Grima F, Galofré JC. The incidence and preva-lence of thyroid dysfunction in Europe: a meta-analysis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 99:923–31. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2409
- Nederstigt C, Uitbeijerse BS, Janssen LGM, Corssmit EPM, de Koning EJP, Dekkers OM. Associated auto-immune disease in type 1 diabetes patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2019) 180:135– 44. doi: 10.1530/EJE-18-0515
- 36. Orzan A, Novac C, Mihu M, Tirgoviste CI, Balgradean M. Type 1 diabetes and thyroid autoimmunity in children. *Maedica*. (2016) 11:308–12.
- Jonsdottir B, Larsson C, Carlsson A, Forsander G, Ivarsson SA, Lernmark A, et al. Thyroid and islet autoantibodies predict autoimmune thyroid disease at type 1 diabetes diagnosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2017) 102:1277– 85. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2335
- Balsamo C, Zucchini S, Maltoni G, Rollo A, Martini AL, Mazzanti L, et al. Relationships between thyroid function and autoimmunity with metabolic derangement at the onset of type 1 diabetes: a cross-sectional and longitudinal study. J Endocrinol Invest. (2015) 38:701–7. doi: 10.1007/s40618-015-0248-0
- Jonsdottir B, Larsson C, Lundgren M, Ramelius A, Jönsson I, Larsson HE. Childhood thyroid autoim-munity and relation to islet autoantibodies in children at risk for type 1 diabetes in the diabetes prediction in skåne (DiPiS) study. *Autoimmunity*. (2018) 51:228–37. doi: 10.1080/08916934.2018.1519027
- Al-Khawari M, Shaltout A, Qabazard M, Al-Sane H, Elkum N. Prevalence of thyroid autoantibodies in children, adolescents and young adults with type 1 diabetes in Kuwait. *Med Princ Pract.* (2015) 24:280–4. doi: 10.1159/000381547
- Piatkowska E, Szalecki M. Autoimmune thyroiditis in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Endocrinol Diabetes Metab.* (2011) 17:173–7.
- Shun CB, Donaghue KC, Phelan H, Twigg SM, Craig ME. Thyroid autoimmunity in type 1 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Diabet Med.* (2014) 31:126–35. doi: 10.1111/dme.12318
- Jonsdottir B, Andersson C, Carlsson A, Delli A, Forsander G, Ludvigsson J, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity in relation to islet autoantibodies and HLA-DQ genotype in newly diagnosed type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents. *Diabetologia*. (2013) 56:1735–42. doi: 10.1007/s00125-013-2934-9
- Kakleas K, Soldatou A, Karachaliou F, Karavanaki K. Associated autoimmune diseases in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM). *Autoimmun Rev.* (2015) 14:781–97. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2015.05.002
- Salerno M, Capalbo D, Cerbone M, De Luca F. Subclinical hypothyroidism in childhood-current knowledge and open issues. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2016) 12:734–46. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2016.100
- Cappola AR, Ladenson PW. Hypothyroidism and atherosclerosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2003) 88:2438–44. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-030398
- Biondi B, Cooper DS. The clinical significance of subclinical thyroid dysfunction. *Endocr Rev.* (2008) 29:76–131. doi: 10.1210/er.2006-0043
- Popp A, Mäki M. Changing pattern of childhood celiac disease epidemiology: contributing factors. *Front Pediatr.* (2019) 7:1–16. doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00357
- Lebwohl B, Sanders DS, Green PHR. Coeliac disease. Lancet. (2018) 391:70– 81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31796-8
- Almallouhi E, King KS, Patel B, Wi C, Juhn YJ, Murray JA, et al. Increasing incidence and altered presentation in a population-based study of pediatric celiac disease in North America. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2017) 65:432– 7. doi: 10.1097/MPG.00000000001532

- 51. Costa Gomes R, Cerqueira Maia J, Fernando Arrais R, André Nunes Jatobá C, Auxiliadora Carvalho Rocha M, Edinilma Felinto Brito M, et al. The celiac iceberg: from the clinical spectrum to serology and histopathology in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus and down syndrome. *Scand J Gastroenterol.* (2016) 51:178–85. doi: 10.3109/00365521.2015.1079645
- Tye-Din JA, Galipeau HJ, Agardh D. Celiac disease: a review of current concepts in pathogenesis, prevention, and novel therapies. *Front Pediatr.* (2018) 6:350. doi: 10.3389/fped.2018.00350
- Laurikka P, Nurminen S, Kivelä L, Kurppa K. Extraintestinal manifestations of celiac disease: early detection for better long-term outcomes. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:1015. doi: 10.3390/nu10081015
- Cosnes J, Cellier C, Viola S, Colombel JF, Michaud L, Sarles J, et al. Incidence of autoimmune diseases in celiac disease: protective effect of the glutenfree diet. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2008) 6:753–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2007. 12.022
- 55. Kurien M, Mollazadegan K, Sanders DS, Ludvigsson JF. Celiac disease increases risk of thyroid disease in patients with type 1 diabetes: a nationwide cohort study. *Diabetes Care.* (2016) 39:371–5. doi: 10.2337/dc 15-2117
- 56. Kahaly G, Frommer L, Schuppan D. Celiac disease and glandular autoimmunity. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:814. doi: 10.3390/nu10070814
- Bao F, Yu L, Babu S, Wang T, Hoffenberg EJ, Rewers M, et al. One third of HLA DQ2 homo-zygous patients with type 1 diabetes express celiac diseaseassociated transglutaminase autoantibodies. *J Autoimmun.* (1999) 13:143– 8. doi: 10.1006/jaut.1999.0303
- Ayesh BM, Zaqout EK, Yassin MM. HLA-DQ2 and -DQ8 haplotypes frequency and diagnostic utility in celiac disease patients of gaza strip, Palestine. *Autoimmun Highlights*. (2017) 8:11. doi: 10.1007/s13317-017-0099-0
- Anaya JM, Tobon GJ, Vega P, Castiblanco J. Autoimmune disease aggregation in families with primary Sjögren's syndrome. J Rheumatol. (2006) 33:2227–34.
- Rewers M, Hyöty H, Lernmark Å, Hagopian W, She J-X, Schatz D, et al. The environmental determinants of diabetes in the young (TEDDY) Study: 2018 update. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2018) 18:136. doi: 10.1007/s11892-018-1113-2
- Calcinaro F, Dionisi S, Marinaro M, Candeloro P, Bonato V, Marzotti S, et al. Oral probiotic administration induces interleukin-10 production and prevents spontaneous autoimmune diabetes in the non-obese diabetic mouse. *Diabetologia*. (2005) 48:1565–75. doi: 10.1007/s00125-005-1831-2
- 62. Vaarala O, Atkinson MA, Neu J. The "perfect storm" for type 1 diabetes: the complex interplay be-tween intestinal microbiota, gut permeability, and mucosal immunity. *Diabetes*. (2008) 57:2555–62. doi: 10.2337/db08-0331
- Zhao C, Xu Z, Wu G, Mao Y, Liu L, Dan Y, et al. Autoimmunity reviews emerging role of air pollution in autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2019) 18:607–14. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2018.12.010
- La Cava A. Leptin in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Cytokine*. (2017) 98:51–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2016.10.011
- Versini M, Jeandel PY, Rosenthal E, Shoenfeld Y. Obesity in autoimmune diseases: not a passive bystander. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:981– 1000. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2014.07.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Głowińska-Olszewska, Szabłowski, Panas, Żołądek, Jamiołkowska-Sztabkowska, Milewska, Kadłubiska, Połkowska, Łuczyński and Bossowski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Autoimmune Thyroid Disease in Specific Genetic Syndromes in Childhood and Adolescence

Eleni Magdalini Kyritsi and Christina Kanaka-Gantenbein*

Division of Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism, First Department of Pediatrics, Medical School, Aghia Sophia Children's Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

Autoimmune thyroid disease (ATD) is the most frequent cause of acquired thyroid dysfunction, most commonly presenting either as Hashimoto's thyroiditis or Graves' Disease. Hashimoto's thyroiditis is characterized by the presence of thyroid-specific autoantibodies, more commonly anti-thyroperoxidase antibodies in the serum and the typical inhomogeneous echostructure of the thyroid on a thyroid ultrasound examination. Hashimoto's thyroiditis can for a long time be accompanied by normal thyroid function and hypothyroidism can only progressively be established. Graves' disease is much less frequent in childhood and adolescence and presents with overt hyperthyroidism. After the onset of puberty, ATD affects females with a higher incidence than males, while during the prepubertal period there is not such a clear preponderance of affected females. ATD can occur either isolated or in the context of other autoimmune disorders, such as type 1 Diabetes mellitus (T1D), celiac disease, alopecia areata, vitiligo, etc. Especially at the pediatric age, a higher incidence of ATD is also observed in the context of specific genetic syndromes, such as trisomy 21 (Down syndrome), Klinefelter syndrome, Turner syndrome, or 22g11.2 deletion syndrome. Nevertheless, although thyroid dysfunction may also be observed in other genetic syndromes, such as Prader-Willi or Williams syndrome, the thyroid dysfunction in these syndromes is not the result of thyroid autoimmunity. Interestingly, there is emerging evidence supporting a possible link between autoimmunity and RASopathies. In this review article the incidence, as well as the clinical manifestation and accompanied pathologies of ATD in specific genetic syndromes will be presented and regular follow-up for the early identification of the disorder will be proposed.

Keywords: autoimmune thyroid disease, Hashimoto, genetic syndromes, Turner syndrome, Down syndrome, Klinefelter syndrome

INTRODUCTION

Autoimmune Thyroid Disease in Children and Adolescents

Autoimmune thyroid disease (ATD) is the most common thyroidopathy in children and adolescents. It comprises two main entities, Hashimoto's Thyroiditis (HT) and Graves' Disease (GD) and a wide spectrum of clinical presentations, ranging from Hashimoto's overt or subclinical hypothyroidism, euthyroidism, to Graves' subclinical or overt hyperthyroidism. Conversion of hyperthyroidism to hypothyroidism and vice versa may also occur, implying that these two

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Malgorzata Gabriela Wasniewska, University of Messina, Italy

Reviewed by:

Marek Niedziela, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland Alessandro Mussa, University of Turin, Italy

*Correspondence: Christina Kanaka-Gantenbein chriskan@med.uoa.gr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 05 April 2020 Accepted: 06 July 2020 Published: 19 August 2020

Citation:

Kyritsi EM and Kanaka-Gantenbein C (2020) Autoimmune Thyroid Disease in Specific Genetic Syndromes in Childhood and Adolescence. Front. Endocrinol. 11:543. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00543

64

disorders may represent opposite sides of the same coin. ATD results from the complex interplay between genetic, environmental and endogenous factors leading to loss of self-tolerance to thyroid antigens. Both cell-mediated and humoral immune responses are implicated in the pathogenesis of ATD. Activation of T- and B cell pathways drives the infiltration of the thyroid by autoreactive lymphocytes and the production of antibodies against three main thyroid antigens, thyroid peroxidase (TPO), thyroglobulin (TG), and thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor (TSHR). While in HT the autoimmune processes lead to apoptosis and destruction of the thyroid follicles, and subsequently hypothyroidism, in GD the immune-mediated activation of TSHR-reactive B cells results in the production of stimulating TSHR antibodies which in turn induce thyroid cell proliferation and function, manifested as hyperthyroidism (1, 2). Around 70% of the risk for developing ATD can be ascribed to genetic factors. It is noteworthy, that thyroid autoantibodies can be found in \sim 50% of first-degree relatives of patients with ATD (3). Some of the genes that have been shown to confer susceptibility to ATD include (1) immune modulating genes: Human leukocyte antigen/HLA-DR, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4/CTLA-4, cluster of differentiation 40/CD40, protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 22 (lymphoid) PTPN22 and (2) thyroid specific genes: TG and TSHR (1, 4). Moreover, hormones, mainly estrogens, as also observed during pregnancy, stress, smoking, iodine, infection, drugs (lithium, amiodarone, interferon-alpha), radiation and exposure to environmental toxins may also contribute to the occurrence of ATD in genetically susceptible individuals (1, 5).

The frequency of HT in the pediatric age ranges between 0.3 and 9.6% (around 3%), occurring rarely before the age of 3 years and reaching a peak in early to mid-puberty. There is a strong female preponderance with a female-to-male (F/M) ratio varying across studies between 2:1 and 9.7:1 (6–8). This female predominance is less pronounced in prepubertal children (F/M ratio: 1.6), suggesting the influence of sex hormones in the development of ATD (9). Diagnosis is established by detecting positive serum TPO and/or TG autoantibodies along with a heterogeneous echotexture and diffuse or irregular hypoechogenicity of the thyroid parenchyma on ultrasound scan (1, 6).

Patients with HT are commonly asymptomatic, may present with goiter or be fortuitously diagnosed during investigations for other reasons, such as growth retardation. Moreover, HT can be detected in regular follow-up studies of children that may have an inherent increased risk for ATD, for instance subjects affected by extrathyroidal autoimmune disorders or certain chromosomal abnormalities. At the time of diagnosis, 52.1% of patients are euthyroid, 22.2% have overt and 19.2% subclinical hypothyroidism (SH). The remaining 6.5% of cases present with hyperthyroidism either overt (3.5%) or subclinical (3%) (10). With regards to the natural history of the disease, Aversa et al. evaluated the long-term evolution of thyroid status in 234 children with HT and either euthyroidism or SH at baseline. During a 5 year follow-up, a substantial proportion of patients showed a deterioration of their thyroid function as evidenced by an increase in thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) and a decrease in free thyroxine (FT4) levels as well as an increase in thyroid volume in the whole study population. Among patients who were initially euthyroid, 30.6% developed SH and 12.3% overt hypothyroidism. In addition, of those who had SH at baseline, 31.2% progressed to overt hypothyroidism, 3.2% developed hyperthyroidism, and 25% remained in the SH stage. It is worth mentioning, however, that among patients who were initially euthyroid 57.1% remained euthyroid at the end of the follow-up period. Moreover, spontaneous recovery of thyroid function was noted in 40.6% of cases who had SH at baseline (11).

Further data indicate that the presence of goiter and elevated TG autoantibodies at HT diagnosis may predict a deterioration of thyroid function over time (12). Moreover, in patients with HT, elevated TSH levels and TPO antibodies at diagnosis, a progressive increase in TSH during follow-up a well as the concomitant presence of celiac disease were shown to increase the risk of developing hypothyroidism after a 3 year period (7, 13).

Overall, the natural course of SH is worse in patients with underlying HT compared to idiopathic ones (14). With regards to treatment, levothyroxine replacement therapy in patients with SH is generally recommended, if TSH levels are higher than 5 IU/ml in the presence of goiter or positive thyroid antibodies and in all cases where TSH levels exceed 10 IU/ml (1).

GD, the most frequent cause of hyperthyroidism, is uncommon in the pediatric age range, with a prevalence ranging between 1/10.000 in the United States to 1/100.000 in the UK and Ireland. Similarly to HT, GD occurs 4–5 times more often in females than males, but rarely under the age of 4 years and its frequency peaks during puberty. Further to typical manifestations observed in adults, pediatric GD patients may show a decline in their school performance, behavioral changes and acceleration of growth and bone maturation. Antithyroid medications are used as first line treatment, although lower long-term remission rates have been reported in children than in adults, with <30% of patients achieving lasting remission following 24 months of medical therapy, requiring either another course of antithyroid drugs or definitive treatment (either radioiodine with I-131 or thyroidectomy) (1, 15).

The association between ATD and extrathyroid autoimmune diseases has been well-documented. While arthropathies and connective tissue disorders were shown to be the most common coexisting autoimmune disorders in adults with ATD, celiac disease (CD) and type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1D) were the most prevalent ones among ATD children and adolescents. Skin diseases, namely vitiligo, were almost equally represented among adults and children (16–18). Similarly, among GD patients with a mean age of 43 years, the most common non-thyroidal autoimmune diseases (NTAD) were rheumatoid arthritis, followed by vitiligo and pernicious anemia. In contrast, vitiligo, followed by T1D and CD were the NTADs mostly seen in pediatric GD patients (16).

Interestingly, patients with certain genetic abnormalities, namely Turner syndrome (TS), Trisomy 21 or Down syndrome (DS) and 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (22q11.2DS) are prone to develop both ATDs and NTADs. In addition, association with these syndromes may influence not only the clustering of extrathyroid autoimmune disorders but also the evolution of thyroid function in patients with ATD (16, 19).

In this review, we will present the underlying mechanisms, frequency, and natural course of thyroid function disorders in specific genetic syndromes, providing in parallel recommendations for early identification, follow-up, and monitoring of thyroid disorders in affected individuals.

TURNER SYNDROME (TS)

TS is a rare chromosomal disorder, affecting 1 in 2,000– 2,500 live born females. It results from partial or complete loss of one of the X chromosomes and is associated with a constellation of clinical features including short stature, gonadal dysgenesis, dysmorphic features, cardiovascular and renal anomalies, sensorineural hearing loss, skeletal malformations, ophthalmological abnormalities, neurocognitive impairment of variable severity and lymphedema (20, 21). Mortality is increased by \sim 3-fold, especially due to cardiovascular diseases, congenital malformations, endocrine, nutritional, and metabolic diseases, resulting in a significant decrease in life expectancy (22).

Furthermore, women with TS are prone to develop autoimmune diseases, the most common being ATD (23– 25). Moreover, there is a 4- to 8-fold increased risk of CD over the general population (26, 27). Other associated autoimmune conditions include T1D, inflammatory bowel diseases, alopecia areata, vitiligo, psoriasis, lichen sclerosus, juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), and idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (ITP) (23, 25, 27). The risk of developing autoimmune diseases with a male predominance, such as T1D, Dupuytren's contracture, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, ankylosing spondylitis and reactive arthritis is \sim 4-fold increased, whereas the risk for femalepredominant autoimmune diseases is increased by 1- and 7-fold (25) (**Table 1**). The frequency of autoimmune disorders increases with age and two or more organ-specific autoantibodies or autoimmune conditions may coexist in the same patient (24, 27).

The pathogenetic mechanisms underlying the increased frequency of autoimmune conditions among women with TS may include X-chromosome genes haploinsufficiency, parental X chromosome origin, excessive production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, decreased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines and hypogonadism (23, 27, 33–35) (**Table 1**).

Haploinsufficiency of genes on the X chromosome may result in a lack of exposure to self-antigens in the thymus and subsequently inadequate thymic deletion of autoreactive T-lymphocytes and impaired "self" antigen recognition and tolerance (23, 34–36). The X chromosome is known to contain many immune-related genes (36, 37), one of them being FOXP3 (forkhead box P3). FOXP3, a member of the forkhead family of transcription factors is an essential transcriptional regulator for the development and suppressive function of regulatory T cells (Tregs), a subset of CD4+ lymphocytes (35, 38). Of note, Zinn et al. have mapped a possible locus for autoimmune thyroid disease in TS to a critical region of X chromosome, Xp11.2-p22.1, which also contains FOXP3 gene (38, 39). Mutations in the FOXP3 gene cause a rare disorder inherited in males, known as IPEX syndrome (Immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked) that can be also characterized by ATD (38).

Immune alterations observed in TS women include a decrease in the CD4+ to CD8+ lymphocyte ratio in the peripheral blood, lower IgG levels and percentage of CD4+ lymphocytes, as well as higher percentage of CD8+ T cells and frequencies of effector memory CD4+ T cells compared to controls (27, 33, 38, 40). Furthermore, levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL6 and TGF β 1) were found to be increased in women with TS, whereas those of anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL10 and TGF β 2) decreased (35).

With regards to Tregs the results are inconclusive. In the study of Lee et al., the Tregs of TS patients displayed impaired ability to suppress the proliferation of autologous effector CD4+T cells compared to controls, despite their higher frequency among CD4+ T cells. The above findings could indicate that the Tregs of TS patients are intrinsically defective at inhibiting the proliferation of effector T cells, and/or that the effector T cells of TS patients are resistant to the suppressive effects of Tregs (38).

On the other hand, Gawlik et al. found that the percentage of Tregs in girls with TS and coexisting autoimmune disease was lower than in healthy controls and TS girls with no autoimmune diseases (33).

PTPN22 encodes a lymphoid-specific phosphatase which acts as a negative regulator of T cells and its polymorphisms have been linked to several autoimmune disorders. In particular, the PTPN22 C1858T polymorphism was associated with autoimmune disease risk in a Brazilian population of TS, however, these findings were not replicated in Hispanic (Mexican) TS patients (41, 42), indicating the influence of different genetic backgrounds on the phenotypic expression of this polymorphism.

It has been shown that the majority (60–80%) of 45,X women retain their maternally derived X chromosome (43–45). However, the frequency of hypothyroidism or thyroid autoimmunity did not differ according to the parental origin of the X chromosome (43, 45). On the other hand, further studies supported that the inheritance of autoimmunity in TS women was preferentially paternally transmitted, since patients were more likely to harbor autoantibodies when their fathers had autoantibodies rather than their mothers. Moreover, HLA-DR7;DQ2 and HLA-DR7;DQ9 haplotypes were associated with autoimmunity in TS patients and were more often paternally transmitted (46).

Interestingly, Bakalov et al. revealed a stepwise increase in the prevalence of HT: from 3.4% in men, to 5.8% in the general US female population, 15% in women with idiopathic 46,XX primary ovarian insufficiency (POI) and 37% in women with TS, suggesting that androgen deficiency may be implicated in the pathogenesis of HT (35). The levels of androgens are reduced in women with 46,XX spontaneous premature ovarian failure and even lower in women with TS. Given the known immunosuppressive role of androgens, higher androgen levels might have a protective effect in men, whereas low androgen levels might be linked to an increased risk of HT in women with ovarian insufficiency (35, 47–49). Indeed, TABLE 1 (a) Prevalence of autoimmune thyroid disorders and (b) associated non-autoimmune thyroid disorders in pediatric patients with TS, DS, KS, 22q11.2DS, WS, PWS, NS, and NF1 (c) possible underlying mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity and (d) extrathyroidal autoimmune disorders associated with these syndromes.

| | тѕ | DS | KS | 22q11.2DS |
|---|--|--|---|--|
| a) ATD (prevalence) | HT (10–42%)* GD (1.7–3%) | HT (13–46%) GD (6.5‰) | HT (5.4–10%) GD (rare) | HT: (5% children, 30% age>17 years) GD (1.8%) |
| o) Non-autoimmune thyroid disorder | Primary hypothyroidism | CH - Incidence: 1:113–1:141 DS live births - mainly due to thyroid hypoplasia Primary hypothyroidism | Central hypothyroidism Peripheral hypothyroidism | Thyroid gland anomalies/hypoplasia (~50%) Primary hypothyroidism |
| Possible underlying mechanisms implicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity | X-chromosome genes haploinsufficiency parental X chromosome origin excessive production of pro-inflammatory cytokines decreased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines hypogonadism | thymic atrophy and diminished expansion of T and B lymphocytes altered thymic expression of AIRE association with MHC class II DOA 0301 allele altered regulation of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines hyperresponsiveness to IFN | immunomodulatory role of sex hormones in the immune response X-linked gene dosage | absent/hypoplastic thymus, ↓AIRE expression T-cell lymphopenia, ↓ Tregs restricted T cell repertoires, abnormal T cell activation, cell dysregulation, Th1/Th2 imbalance association with HLA-DR14 |
| d) Associated extrathyroidal autoimmune disorders | CD: ↑risk 4- to 8-fold T1D, IBD, alopecia areata, vitiligo, psoriasis, lichen sclerosus, JIA, ITP ↑ risk 4-fold for AD with a male predominance (T1D, Dupuytren's contracture, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, ankylosing spondylitis and reactive arthritis) | In particular: alopecia and vitiligo CD: ↑ risk >6 years of age T1D, idiopathic arthritis Addison disease, chronic autoimmune hepatitis, primary sclerosing cholangitis** | SLE: ↑risk 14-fold T1D Addison's disease, multiple sclerosis, RA, Sjogren's syndrome JIA, psoriatic arthritis, polymyositis/dermatomyositis, systemic sclerosis, mixed connective tissue disease, antiphospholipid syndrome, ankylosing spondylitis, primary biliary cirrhosis | JIA, ITP (next most common causes after ATD) autoimmune hemolytic anemia, autommune neutropenia psoriasis, vitiligo, CD, pernicious anemia/atrophic gastritis, IBD, urticaria, Raynaud phenomenon, rheumati fever with chorea, T1D |
| | WS | PWS | NS | NF1 |
| a) ATD (prevalence) | Rare | Rare | HT (14.3–60%) | HT: 2.5% GD: rare |
| b) Non-autoimmune thyroid disorder | Thyroid hypoplasia (75%) - Other structural abnormalities: agenesis, hemiagenesis and ectopy Primary hypothyroidism CH (rare) Hyperthyroidism (rare) Central hypothyroidism (rare) | Mainly central hypothyroidism (6.8%) Primary hypothyroidism CH Ectopic thyroid gland | Primary hypothyroidism | Central hypothyroidism Primary hypothyroidism |
| c) Possible underlying mechanisms implicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity | | | both under- and overactivities of disparate Ras effectors both increased and decreased Ras activities may be implicated in lupus-like autoimmunity linkage of a susceptibility gene for SLE to 12q24, a locus encompassing <i>PTPN11</i>, encoding SHP-2 SHP-2 inhibits NK cells activation, cytolytic activity and IFN-γ | loss of neurofibromin resulting in decreased Fas antigen expression which may prevent apoptosis of CD4+ T cells lymphoproliferative defects, including thymic and splenic hyperplasia, increased numbers of immature and mature T cells <i>in vivo</i>, but reduced proliferation in response to TCR and |
| | | | secretion by NK cells, may mediate inactivation of immunoregulatory receptors and functions as a regulator of NF-κB activation. Increased SHP-2 activity is involved in SLE pathogenesis, modulating T cell proliferation and downstream cytokine production | IL-2R stimulation <i>in vitro</i> , defective proliferative responses in B lymphocytes and thymocytes were shown in NF1-deficient mice |
| d) Associated extrathyroidal autoimmune disorders | - CD*** | - Autoantibodies against pituitary | Vasculitis, vitiligo, anterior uveitis, SLE, CD, antiphospholipid syndrome, and autoimmune hepatitis | Multiple sclerosis, SLE, membranous glomerulonephritis IgA nephropathy, mixed connective tissue disease, myasthenia gravis, ankylosing spondylitis, JIA, CD, autoimmune hemolytic anemia, bullous pemphigoid, vitiligo, alopecia areata, T1D |

TS, Turner syndrome; DS, Down syndrome; KS, Klinefelter syndrome; 22q11.2DS, chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome; WS, Williams syndrome; PWS, Prader-Willi syndrome; NS, Noonan syndrome; NF1, Neurofibromatosis type 1; ATD, autoimmune thyroid disease; HT, Hashimoto's thyroiditis; GD, Graves' disease; CH, congenital hypothyroidism; AIRE, autoimmune regulator; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; IFN, interferon; ↓, decreased; Tregs, regulatory T cells; Th, T helper (cell); HLA, human leukocyte antigen; PTPN11, tyrosine-protein phosphatase non-receptor type 11; SHP-2, Src homology phosphotyrosyl phosphatase 2; NK, natural killer (cells); NF-κB, nuclear factor kappa B; CD4, cluster of differentiation 4; IL-2R, interleukin-2 receptor; TCR, T cell receptor; CD, celiac disease; ↑, increased; T1D, type 1 diabetes mellitus; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; JIA, juvenile idiopathic arthritis; RA, rheumatoid arthritis; ITP, idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura; AD, autoimmune disease; SLE, systemic lupus erythematosus.

*Livadas et al. (28), Aversa et al. (29).

**Giménez-Barcons et al. (30).

***Giannotti et al. reported an increased prevalence of CD in WS subjects (31), whereas Stagi et al. found no evidence of increased autoimmunity in their patients with WS, including CD (32).

Kalantaridou et al. demonstrated lower serum free testosterone concentrations in women with 46,XX spontaneous premature ovarian failure (while off estrogen therapy) compared to control women with normal ovarian function. Interestingly, free testosterone concentrations dropped even lower while these patients were on physiologic transdermal E2 therapy and despite the fact that levels of sex hormone-binding globulin did not alter significantly. A possible explanation for this finding could be that estrogen therapy might have induced a relative androgen deficiency. Given that androgens are secreted by both ovaries and adrenals and LH receptors have been identified in the zona reticularis and the deeper layer of the zona fasciculata of adrenal glands, the induction of E2 therapy might have resulted in lower LH levels and consequently a reduction in the production of testosterone from both the ovary and the adrenals (47). Moreover, the study of Gravholt et al., revealed a 25-40% reduction of circulating androstendione, testosterone, free testosterone, and dihydrotestosterone in TS women while off hormone replacement therapy, compared to age-matched normal women, whereas the level of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS) was comparable between TS and control subjects. Most women with TS have no ovarian function and this might explain the difference in levels of androgens. On the other hand, the above results could point toward insufficient conversion from DHEAS into androstendione, testosterone, and dihydrotestosterone in TS, given the normal level of circulating DHEAS and thus insufficient extraadrenal and extragonadal 3b-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and 17bhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase activity (48).

Taken into account the data of Bakalov et al., showing a higher prevalence of HT in both TS and POI women, it seems that ovarian insufficiency *per se* may be a risk factor for HT, whereas the absence of a normal second X chromosome and the resultant haploinsufficiency for X-chromosome related gene(s) may further increase the risk for thyroid and possibly other autoimmune disorders (35).

The impact of a specific karyotype on the prevalence of thyroid autoimmunity in TS women has been also addressed with conflicting results. Increased frequency of thyroid autoimmunity has been observed among TS patients with isochromosome Xq and isolated Xp deletion (33, 50-52). Common feature of the aforementioned chromosomal abnormalities is the lack of the short arm of the X chromosome (Xp), indicating that haploinsufficiency of immune-related genes located in the Xpter-p11.2 region may predispose to the development of thyroid autoimmunity in women with TS (51). The reported prevalence of positive thyroid autoantibodies in TS women with Xq-isochromosome ranges from 15 to 83% (28). Other studies have failed to find an association between thyroid autoimmunity and specific TS karyotypes (25, 53). Of interest, an increased risk of ulcerative colitis (25) and a higher prevalence of anti-GAD-65 have been documented in TS patients with isochromosome Xq karyotype (24).

The frequency of HT is far higher among TS women than in the general population (29, 54), with the prevalence increasing with age, from 15.4% in patients younger than 10 years to

30.7% in the third decade of life (55) (Table 1). Up to \sim 50% develop thyroid autoantibodies (50, 56). The frequency of thyroid autoimmunity rises steeply after the age of 13 years (53), but thyroid autoantibodies may appear as early as 5.5 years of age. An estimated 15-40% of patients suffer from hypothyroidism (24, 28, 50, 52, 53, 55), with its annual incidence being 3.2% (57) (Table 1). The risk of developing subclinical hypothyroidism has been shown to be highest between the ages of 12 and 14 years (53). With regards to its natural course and hormonal pattern HT in TS is characterized by the following features (1) a milder biochemical picture at diagnosis, given the higher frequency of euthyroidism and the lower TSH levels compared to non-TS subjects. These findings may be related either to the increased physicians' awareness on TS-associated thyroid dysfunction, resulting in an earlier detection of cases or to a milder autoimmune pattern as indicated by the lower TPOAb serum concentrations among TS patients (2) a progressive deterioration of thyroid function over time toward either hypo- or hyperthyroidism. Notably, Aversa et al. reported that the majority (67.7%) of TS patients presenting initially with SH evolved to overt hypothyroidism after a median time interval of 4.9 years (3) a lower frequency of positive family history of thyroid disease (4) more frequent conversion to GD (58).

According to the latest clinical practice guidelines for the care of girls and women with TS, screening for hypothyroidism is recommended at diagnosis and then in annual intervals, with assessment of (free) T4 and TSH levels starting from early childhood throughout life. Thyroid antibodies testing is usually recommended in the presence of elevated TSH levels and/or goiter (53, 59). Taken into consideration that hypothyroidism in TS may occur even before the age of 2 years (53) and could impair growth during childhood and puberty and aggravate the already adverse cardiometabolic profile of these patients, careful endocrinological surveillance is warranted across the lifespan to early detect and appropriately treat thyroid dysfunction and other comorbidities and thus optimize medical management of this population (23, 60) (**Table 2**).

GD, although relatively rare, occurs more frequently in TS girls compared to the pediatric general population with an estimated prevalence of 1.7-3 vs. 1.07%, respectively (28, 29, 61) (Table 1). The prevalence rates may vary across studies depending on the patient population ethnicity, age at presentation or the length of follow-up. TS patients with GD present more frequently extrathyroidal associated autoimmune disorders, are older at disease diagnosis and have lower FT4 levels than non-TS subjects. The above findings are in line with previous observations showing an increasing prevalence of ATD with age as well as a higher susceptibility of TS girls to autoimmune diseases. Moreover, regular clinical and laboratory assessment of those patients may enable the detection of thyroid dysfunction at an earlier stage (29, 61). Of interest in patients with TS or Down Syndrome (DS), GD may evolve from antecedent HT more commonly (25.7%) and later during the course of the disease compared to GD patients with no TS/DS (62). The clinical course of the disease does not seem to differ between patients with and without TS, given that the mean methimazole dose required to maintain a euthyroid state during the first cycle of

| TS | • Screen for hypothyroidism as soon as the diagnosis is established and then in annual intervals, with assessment of (free) T4 and TSH levels starting |
|--------------|--|
| | from early childhood throughout life |
| | Thyroid autoantibodies testing is recommended at first detection of thyroid dysfunction and/or goiter |
| | • LT4 substitution therapy should be initiated in patients with OH, and is recommended for those with SH and TSH levels >10 mlU/l and/or positive |
| | thyroid antibodies and/or suggestive signs and symptoms (such as goiter, growth deceleration etc.) |
| 50 | Treatment modalities for GD include antithyroid medication, radioactive iodine therapy, or thyroidectomy |
| DS | Screen for CH at birth and repeat TSH measurements at 6 and 12 months and annually thereafter. Additional assessment of TSH and FT4 at both 6-8 weeks and 4 months of age may be advised |
| | If TSH levels are mildly elevated, consider reassessment of FT4 and TSH levels in a 2–3 month time, along with measurement of thyroid autoantibodies Obtain thyroid antibodies at least once every 2 years, from age 1 year and throughout life |
| | In the presence of positive antithyroid antibodies TSH and FT4 levels should be monitored regularly Treatment with LT4 is advisable in patients with SH and (a) TSH levels >10 μU/ml (b) TSH levels <10 μU/ml in the presence of goiter and/or positive |
| | thyroid antibodies. Special considerations should be given in infants and children below the age of 5 years |
| | LT4 therapy should be initiated in all cases that progress to overt hypothyroidism or become symptomatic |
| | A trial off therapy and re-evaluation of thyroid function tests should be offered in those patients who do not require increase in their LT4 dose following treatment initiation or displayed no rise of TSH > 10 μU/ml while on treatment. Regular auxological and clinical assessment and life-long monitoring of the thuroid function are recommended for all patients. |
| | the thyroid function are recommended for all patientsPatients with GD can be offered antithyroid medication or radioactive iodine. Of note, surgery may not be an optimal choice for DS patients with the |
| | GD, as their short necks, craniofacial anomalies and associated airway obstruction may predispose to increased anesthetic and surgical risks |
| KS | Measurement of TSH and FT4 levels at diagnosis and annually thereafter is advised. Screening for thyroid antibodies should be considered in case of TSH elevation and/or presence of goiter or periodically in the absence of suggestive clinical or biochemical signs |
| 22q11.2DS | Obtain TSH, FT4, total T3, and anti-TPO antibodies at diagnosis and annually thereafter |
| | Appropriate treatment should be initiated in case of overt thyroid dysfunction |
| | In case of subclinical thyroid disease, TFTs can be repeated in a 4–6 months' time interval |
| | If subclinical disease persists (and in case of overt thyroid disease), perform a thyroid ultrasound in order to rule out structural anomalies of the gland Medical treatment for subclinical disease should be offered if TSH levels remain abnormal despite normal FT4 levels in the presence of suggestive signs/symptoms and/or positive TPO antibodies and/or goiter or thyroid hypoplasia. Alternatively, TFTs can be rechecked after another 4–6 months' time interval |
| WS | • TFTs should be performed at diagnosis, annually for the first 3 years and at 2 years' intervals thereafter |
| | Ultrasonographic assessment of thyroid morphology would be advised as soon as the diagnosis is established and regularly until adulthood In patients younger than 6 years, or in those with thyroid hypoplasia, close monitoring of the thyroid function in shorter intervals, i.e., at 3–6 months from baseline, and then yearly, should be considered |
| | LT4 treatment should be started in patients with overt hypothyroidism |
| | • Ongoing monitoring may be considered for cases with SH. LT4 replacement therapy is advisable, especially in children younger than 3 years, if TSH levels are persistently elevated, in the presence of thyroid hypoplasia and/or suggestive signs and symptoms |
| PWS | Obtain TSH and FT4 levels within the first 3 months of life, regardless of the newborn screening result, given that TSH-based screening strategies cannot detect central hypothyroidism |
| | TSH and FT4 should be measured on an annual basis, with consideration of more frequent testing if the patient receives treatment with rGH Appropriate LT4 therapy should be initiated, if indicated. Taken into account the higher frequency of hypothyroidism during the first 2 years of life, a critical period for both growth and development, special consideration should be given in infancy and early childhood, to ensure adequate thyroid hormone levels |
| NS and other | NS |
| RASopathies | TFTs including measurement of thyroid antibodies should be performed in children with signs or symptoms of hypothyroidism and every 35 years in older children and adults |
| | Thyroid disorders should be managed as in general population CFC |
| | Obtain FT4 and TSH levels at diagnosis During follow-up thyroid function should be checked in children with growth failure. Ongoing monitoring of the thyroid function can be decided by the endocrinologist |
| | NF1 |
| | It would be advisable to apply the same recommendations on thyroid function monitoring as for NS patients |

TS, Turner syndrome; DS, Down syndrome; KS, Klinefelter syndrome; 22q11.2DS, chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome; WS, Williams syndrome; PWS, Prader-Willi syndrome; NS, Noonan syndrome; CFC, Cardio-facio-cutaneous syndrome; NF1, Neurofibromatosis type 1; T4, thyroxine; FT4, free thyroxine; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone LT4, levothyroxine; OH, overt hypothyroidism; SH, subclinical hypothyroidism; CH, congenital hypothyrodism; GD, Graves' disease; T3, triiodothyronine; anti-TPO, anti-thyroid peroxidase (TPO); TFTs, thyroid function tests; rGH, recombinant growth hormone.

therapy, the initial remission rates and relapse rates following first methimazole cycle discontinuation, remission rates for at least 2 years following withdrawal of the last methimazole cycle, percentages of girls who underwent non-pharmacological therapies and definitive remission rates were similar between the two groups (29, 61) (**Table 2**).

TRISOMY 21 OR DOWN SYNDROME (DS)

DS is the most prevalent chromosomal abnormality affecting 1 in every 787 live births (63). Trisomy of chromosome 21 (non-disjunction) accounts for 95% of cases, while mosaicism or a Robertsonian translocation occurs in the remaining 5% of children (64). DS is associated with intellectual disability, growth retardation, congenital heart defects, gastrointestinal anomalies, increased risk of hematologic malignancies, hypotonia, hearing loss, ophthalmic and immunologic disorders, dysmorphic features and early-onset Alzheimer's disease (65, 66).

Furthermore, patients with DS exhibit increased susceptibility toward thyroid and non-thyroid autoimmune disorders, in particular alopecia and vitiligo, but also T1D, JIA and CD, the latter presenting more commonly among children older than 6 years of age (66-68) (Table 1). Plausible biological mechanisms explaining the predisposition to autoimmunity in DS cases may include: (1) thymic atrophy and diminished expansion of T and B lymphocytes in the first years of life. The Tlymphocyte subpopulation counts gradually normalize, whereas the B- lymphocytopenia persists. After the age of 6 years, DS children display a considerable hypergammaglobulinaemia of the IgA and IgG type, with increased levels of IgG1 and IgG3 and reduced levels of IgG2, IgG4, and IgM. Furthermore, a decrease in CD4+ along with an increase in CD8+ lymphocytes and the percentage of natural killer (NK) cells have been observed. Overall, these immunologic abnormalities may contribute to the increased risk of infections and autoimmune diseases in DS patients (64, 66, 69, 70) (2) altered thymic expression of the autoimmune regulator (AIRE) gene. This gene is located on chromosome 21q22.3, mainly expressed in thymic epithelial cells and encodes for a transcription factor that regulates the promiscuous expression of genes encoding tissuespecific antigens, thus playing a key role in the induction and maintenance of central tolerance by eliminating autoreactive T cells. Mutations in AIRE cause a rare autosomal-recessive disorder, autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 (APS-1), also called autoimmune polyendocrinopathy-candidiasisectodermal dystrophy (APECED) syndrome, with the cardinal features being autoimmune hypoparathyroidism, Addison's disease and chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. Reduced intrathymic expression of AIRE accompanied by reduced expression of peripheral tissue-restricted antigens has been demonstrated in DS patients. Given that three copies of the gene were expressed in the thymus of those patients, the authors suggested that AIRE expression may be regulated by epigenetic or other post-transcriptional mechanisms in order to overcompensate for the excess of gene dosage (30). In contrast to the above findings, Skogberg et al. found increased expression of AIRE at both mRNA and protein level in the thymus of DS patients, implying that the increased AIRE gene dose in DS may alter thymic selection processes, thus contributing to autoimmune disease predisposition (71) (3) the genetic contribution of class II MHC genes. A strong association between the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II DQA 0301 allele and hypothyroid autoimmune thyroiditis was identified in DS patients, pointing toward a role of one or more genes on chromosome 21 that may regulate immune function (72) (4) altered activity of enzymes that modulate inflammatory and immune processes by regulating extracellular ATP and adenosine levels and the hydrolysis of acetylcholine (molecules involved in immune responses) resulting in increased pro-inflammatory cytokine levels such

as IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6, and decreased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (73) (5) hyperresponsiveness to interferon (IFN) secondary to increased gene dosage of the four interferon receptors encoded on chromosome 21 (74, 75) (Table 1). In this regard, it should be pointed out that treatment with IFNa is associated with thyroid dysfunction via immune mediated and direct thyroid-toxic effects, which may be manifested as either autoimmune (HT or GD) or nonautoimmune destructive thyroiditis (76). Interestingly, in vitro studies have demonstrated that both INF α and $-\beta$ inhibit the TSH-stimulated gene expression of thyroid peroxidase (TPO), sodium/iodide symporter (NIS), and thyroglobulin (TG) as well as T4 release (77). Taken together, it can be postulated that consistent activation of INF signaling may be implicated in the immune dysregulation and thyroid dysfunction associated with DS and may contribute to the increased susceptibility of DS patients to thyroid autoimmunity (74).

Thyroid dysfunction is the most frequently encountered endocrinopathy in DS, affecting 7 to 66% of patients. The spectrum of thyroid abnormalities includes congenital hypothyroidism (CH), isolated hyperthyrotropinemia or SH, primary hypothyroidism and thyroid autoimmunity, such as HT or GD (**Table 1**).

The incidence of CH is estimated between 1:113 and 1:141 DS live births (64, 66), being 28 times more common among DS patients compared to the general population, permanent in 70% and transient in 30% of cases (78, 79) (Table 1). Most cases are associated with thyroid hypoplasia, whereas thyroid agenesis, ectopy or goiter are infrequent. In line with the above, Luton et al. examined 13 fetuses with DS and reported that, the thyroid gland was eutopic in all fetuses, without gross anomalies, however, histologically, the thyroid follicles were abnormally small and heterogeneous in size. Moreover, they found TSH levels consistently above the 80th percentile, whereas the FT4 level was below the 50th percentile in most cases (80). Overall the pathogenetic mechanisms underlying CH in DS cases may include: (1) exaggerated response to thyroid-releasing hormone (TRH) stimulation until the third year of life and delayed maturation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid (HPT) axis (2) peripheral resistance to thyroid hormones resulting in inappropriate TSH secretion (3) inappropriate TSH release, due to a central defect or inadequate dopaminergic control (4) TSH insensitivity and reduced TSH bioactivity, which consequently may result in elevated TSH with low-normal T4 levels (64, 66). While the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) recommends screening for CH at birth and repeat TSH measurements at 6 and 12 months and annually thereafter, Pierce et al. have recently demonstrated that among those DS patients who were diagnosed with hypothyroidism beyond the newborn screening period, 11 (7.5% of all acquired hypothyroidism) were diagnosed before the age 6 months (81). Based on these findings, the authors recommended that TSH and FT4 be obtained at both 6-8 weeks and 4 months (81) (Table 2). Notably, it has been shown that thyroxine treatment within the first 2 years of life is associated with modest improvements in motor development and growth, however, without improvement of mental or motor development later in life. Nevertheless, it appears to have beneficial effects on growth outcome especially in children with neonatal plasma TSH concentrations higher than 5 mIU/L (78, 82, 83).

SH, defined as an elevated serum TSH level associated with normal total or free T4 and triiodothyronine (T3) values, is the most frequent thyroid abnormality among DS patients, with a prevalence ranging between 7 and 40% (64). The risk of developing thyroid dysfunction increases yearly by 10%, so that 25% of patients are expected to have thyroid disease by age 7.5 years and up to 50% by adulthood (81). On the other hand, SH before the age of 5 years may be a transient and self-limiting condition in >70% of DS cases. In this regard, the absence of goiter and thyroid autoantibodies have been associated with a greater chance of spontaneous remission (84). In the study of Pierce et al., euthyroidism was restored in 13% of DS patients with a history of hypothyroidism during follow-up, even in the presence of positive thyroid autoantibodies (81). It has been postulated that mild TSH elevation in DS may be an inherent defect of the syndrome reflecting a resetting of the HPT axis. Indeed, Meyerovitch et al. revealed that the 2.5th to 97.5th percentile TSH values in a cohort of DS patients ranged between 1.3 and 13.1 mIU/l, with the 95th percentile value being 8.9 mIU/l, i.e., significantly higher compared to controls. A similar upward shift was also shown in the distribution of FT4 levels (85). For these reasons, it has been supported that SH may be overdiagnosed in DS patients, leading to unnecessary life-long treatment. In addition, SH has not been shown to be a precursor of permanent hypothyroidism (i.e., low T4, increased TSH levels) and the 10 year incidence for onset of definite hypothyroidism has been reported to be low, 13.6% (86).

From another point of view, L-thyroxine treatment for SH in DS patients, whose development and growth are already inherently substantially compromised, is considered a safe and inexpensive treatment with possible benefits on growth and intellectual outcomes, if special attention can be laid to avoid pharmacological hyperthyroidism (64, 66, 82). Moreover, it has been shown that thyroxine treatment during the first 2 years of life was associated with higher FT4 concentrations at age 10.7 years, indicating that early thyroxine treatment may result in an alteration in the set point of the HPT axis that may persist later in life. In addition, the frequency of positive anti-TPO antibodies increased with age from 1% at the age of 12 months, to 6% at age 24 months and 25% at age 10.7 years in the DS placebo group, whereas there was a trend toward a lower percentage of children developing anti-TPO positivity among DS patients who received thyroxine treatment. The above results may indicate a protective effect of early levothyroxine treatment, possibly by reducing TSH levels and thus thyroid autoantigen presentation (87).

Taken together, in cases of mild TSH elevation, repeat testing of FT4 and TSH levels in a 2–3 month time, along with measurement of thyroid autoantibodies titers, should be considered in order to avoid treatment initiation in SH-cases that may be proved transient. With regards to thyroid antibodies screening, the Ireland and UK guidelines recommend testing (including T4 and TSH levels) at least once every 2 years, from age 1 year and throughout life (88). The presence of positive antithyroid antibodies alone does not warrant treatment initiation but TSH and FT4 levels should be monitored regularly in order to early detect conversion from euthyroidism to hypothyroidism. Treatment with levothyroxine is advisable in DS patients with SH and a) TSH levels >10 μ U/ml b) TSH levels <10 μ U/ml in the presence of goiter and/or positive thyroid antibodies. Moreover, special considerations should be given in infants and children below the age of 5 years. Treatment should be initiated in all cases that progress to overt hypothyroidism (low FT4 and elevated TSH levels) or become symptomatic. A trial off therapy and re-evaluation of thyroid function tests should be offered in those patients who do not require increase in their levothyroxine dose following treatment initiation or displayed no rise of TSH >10 μ U/ml while on treatment. Regular auxological and clinical assessment and life-long monitoring of the thyroid function are recommended for all patients (64, 66, 78, 81, 84, 89) (**Table 2**).

Autoimmune hypothyroidism is the most frequent autoimmune disorder in DS. Antithyroid antibodies are found in 13-46% of patients (Table 1). Interestingly, almost 50% of them, develop thyroid antibodies positivity at an age younger than 8 years (64, 81). In contrast to the general population, HT in DS is characterized by the following features: (1) younger age at diagnosis (mean: 6.5 years), possibly reflecting the increased awareness of physicians on DS-associated thyroid dysfunction which may result in an earlier detection of HT cases among DS patients (2) lower frequency of positive family history of thyroidopathy and higher frequency of extrathyroidal autoimmune diseases, suggesting that DS is per se associated with an increased risk of developing autoimmune disorders (3) no gender predilection (4) lower prevalence of euthyroidism and increased prevalence of SH at presentation, despite lower anti-TG and anti-TPO levels, suggesting probably a congenital alteration in thyroid gland regulation (5) progressive deterioration of thyroid function over time (median interval of 5.1 years) as the prevalence rates of overt hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism were shown to increase, whereas the frequency of SH remained unchanged (6) more frequent evolution toward GD (64, 66, 68, 90, 91).

GD occurs more frequently in DS children compared to the general population with an estimated prevalence of 6.5 vs. 1.07%, respectively (68, 92) (Table 1). Compared to patients without DS, GD in affected subjects usually presents at a younger age, between late childhood and early adulthood, is more frequently associated with other autoimmune diseases, namely CD, presents a higher rate of positive family history of HT but no gender predominance (92, 93). Furthermore, as already mentioned above, the risk of conversion from HT to GD is higher (64, 90). In the study of Aversa et al., long-term remission could be achieved in all GD patients following the onset of antithyroid medication. Low doses of methimazole treatment were required to maintain euthyroidism, no relapses occurred after treatment withdrawal and no alternative treatments were needed, pointing toward a less severe clinical course of GD in DS (90). Similar findings have been previously reported in a multicenter Italian study by De Luca et al., comprising 28 DS children with GD and 109 children and adolescents with GD but without DS (control group) (93). Lower relapse rates after the first cycle of methimazole treatment withdrawal and
higher persistent remission rates after definitive methimazole withdrawal were observed in DS patients compared to controls. In addition, no DS patient required surgery or radioiodine ablation, compared to 11% of controls who underwent nonpharmacological therapies. Of note, a longer time to achieve remission, but also a trend toward higher remission rate could be observed in GD patients with DS compared to those without in a more recent study (94). Furthermore, none of the DS patients received definitive therapy, compared to 36% of those without DS. On the contrary, Goday-Arno et al. reported that no patient could achieve remission following carbimazole discontinuation in their study population. Radioactive iodine was administered after a mean period of medical treatment of 40 months without clinical remission. Hypothyroidism developed in all treated cases necessitating replacement therapy with levothyroxine (92). At this point it should be noted, that despite the reluctance to offer radioiodine treatment in pediatric patients with GD as second-line therapy, surgery may not be an optimal choice for DS patients with the disease, as their short necks, craniofacial anomalies and associated airway obstruction may predispose to increased anesthetic and surgical risks (64, 92) (Table 2).

Of interest, in the study of Aversa et al., one third of GD patients shifted from hyper- to hypothyroidism following methimazole discontinuation. It should be stressed, however, that all DS children enrolled in this study had a previous diagnosis of HT. It can be postulated that the HT-related damage of the thyroid might have overcome the stimulating effects of the TSHR autoantibodies, resulting, thus, in the aforementioned conversion from hyper- to hypothyroidism in a proportion of patients (90).

KLINEFELTER SYNDROME

Klinefelter syndrome (KS) is the most common chromosomal aberration in males, affecting 1 in every 660 men (95). It results from meiotic or mitotic non-disjunction, leading to the presence of one or more extra X chromosomes. Most patients (90%) have the classic 47,XXY karyotype, whereas higher-grade aneuploidies (48,XXXY; 49,XXXY), structurally abnormal X chromosome (e.g., 47,iXq,Y) or mosaicisms (47,XXY/46,XY) account for the remaining 10% of cases (96). It is characterized by broad phenotypic variability with regards to physical traits, cognitive abilities and comorbidities and remains remarkably underdiagnosed with only around 25–39% of cases receiving a diagnosis postnatally and <10% before puberty (97–99).

Hypergonadotropic hypogonadism, gynecomastia, small firm testes, infertility, sparse facial and pubic hair, tall stature along with impaired psychosocial functioning of variable degree are common features of the condition (99). Moreover, KS is associated with multiple comorbidities, including cardiovascular, cerebrovascular and thromboembolic diseases, osteoporosis, diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome, as well as an increased risk of developing breast cancer and extragonadal germ cell tumors (96, 100). In addition, recent studies have demonstrated that KS patients are at increased risk of certain autoimmune disorders, in particular Addison's disease, T1D, multiple sclerosis, acquired hypothyroidism, rheumatoid arthritis, Sjogren's syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), most of which being female predominant (101). Concurrence of KS with other inflammatory rheumatic diseases such as JIA, psoriatic arthritis, polymyositis/dermatomyositis, systemic sclerosis, mixed connective tissue disease, antiphospholipid syndrome, ankylosing spondylitis and primary biliary cirrhosis has been also reported (102) (**Table 1**). Endocrine organ-specific autoantibodies can be detected in 13% of KS subjects and the frequency progressively increases in those with higher-grade aneuploidies and is higher in children than in adults (103). It is worth noting, that KS patients exhibited autoantibodies primarily (i.e., 8.2%) against diabetes-specific autoantigens (104).

Positive thyroid antibodies are found in 5.4–10% of children and 3.3–7% of adults with KS in different studies (103–106). Most cases are euthyroid, whereas GD occurs only rarely in patients with the syndrome (107, 108) (**Table 1**).

The influence of sex hormones as modulators of the immune response and X-linked gene dosage have been implicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmunity in KS (Table 1). The immunostimulatory effects of estrogens and the immunosuppressive effects of androgens are well-established. In males with rheumatoid arthritis both low testosterone and increased estradiol have been observed, with the latter being correlated with the degree of inflammation (109, 110). On the other hand, patients with KS often display elevated estradiol levels, which are comparable to those seen in normal menstruating women and androgen levels like those of a preadolescent male (111). Low serum testosterone levels were also found in males with SLE and a recent record linkage study demonstrated an association between testicular hypofunction and SLE (112, 113). Of interest, previous studies on sex hormone metabolism in KS patients with SLE revealed that this was similar to the one seen in women affected by SLE (114). Taken together, the above findings highlight the potential role of sex hormones as contributors to the development of autoimmunity in patients with KS (Table 1).

Notably, the risk of SLE among KS patients is 14-fold increased compared to 46,XY males and similar to the risk seen in 46,XX females (115), pointing toward the role of the number of X chromosomes and in particular an X-linked gene dose effect (Table 1). Indeed, genes escaping X inactivation may have higher levels of expression in subjects with two X chromosomes (116). The CD40 ligand gene, located in the Xq26.3 region, encodes a protein expressed on the surface of activated T cells, which binds to CD40 on the B cell surface and mediates B cell proliferation and immunoglobulin isotype switching, thus playing an important role in adaptive immunity (117). In vitro studies reported by Sarmiento et al. showed higher percentage of CD40L-expressing CD3+ T cells and CD40L protein and mRNA expression after activation in females and KS patients compared to males and TS women, indicating that the existence of two copies of the X chromosome may enhance both cellmediated and humoral immune responses (118). Another gene, TLR7, mapped to Xp22.2, encodes a member of the Toll-like receptor (TLR) family, which detects single stranded-RNA and activates innate immune responses, such as the production of inflammatory cytokines and type I interferons (119). Sarmiento et al. demonstrated also higher Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) mRNA levels post-stimulation in healthy females and KS patients than in TS women and males. However, TLR7-mediated IFN-alpha production did not differ between KS patients and healthy males, suggesting that hormonal factors or epigenetic alterations may modulate the innate immune response (118).

Apart from autoimmunity, other mechanisms involved in the development of thyroid dysfunction in KS patients include some degree of central hypothyroidism and peripheral hypothyroidism. A low TSH response to TRH stimulation has been previously observed in KS patients and attributed most likely to the chronic compensatory increase in the production of gonadotropins, leading to reduced availability of the alpha subunit for the formation of TSH (120, 121). Moreover, KS patients displayed lower FT4 and FT4/free T3 (FT3) ratio than control men with no increase in their serum TSH, whereas their FT4 values were in or just below the lower limits of the normal range. The above findings may suggest an impaired hypothalamic-pituitary control of the thyroid function resulting in secondary thyroid insufficiency (120). Similar TSH but lower FT4 levels were also documented in KS patients when compared to non-KS hypogonadal men with similar testosterone levels (105). Further to the above, pubertal KS patients showed similar FT4 and TSH, but lower FT3 levels when compared to age-matched pubertal healthy boys, indicating a mixed form of hypothyroidism in KS boys during the pubertal development: both secondary and peripheral, the latter due to reduced deiodinase activity (106) (Table 1). Interestingly, a Danish study aiming to explore the association between KS comorbidities and differential gene expression profiles, revealed that genes involved in 'abnormal thyroid hormone metabolism' were upregulated in KS patients (122).

Taken into account the above data and given the lack of formal recommendations on screening and monitoring of thyroid function in KS, we suggest measurement of TSH and FT4 levels at diagnosis and annually thereafter. Screening for thyroid autoantibodies should be considered in case of TSH elevation and/or presence of goiter or periodically in the absence of suggestive clinical or biochemical signs (**Table 2**).

22q11.2 DELETION SYNDROME

Chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (22q11.2DS) is the most common microdeletion syndrome with an estimated incidence of 1:4.000 live births worldwide. 22q11.2DS encompasses a heterogeneous group of phenotypically similar disorders, including DiGeorge syndrome (DGS), velocardiofacial syndrome (VCFS), conotruncal anomaly face syndrome (CTAF), some cases of autosomal dominant Opitz G/BBB syndrome and Cayler cardiofacial syndrome. It is caused by a (1.5–3.0 Mb) hemizygous deletion at chromosome 22q11.2, which is *de novo* in more than 90% of cases and inherited from a heterozygous parent in ~10%. The cardinal features of the condition are congenital cardiac defects, mainly conotruncal malformations (ventricular septal defect, tetralogy of Fallot, interrupted aortic arch and truncus arteriosus), palate anomalies, thymic

hypoplasia and immunodeficiency, neonatal hypocalcemia, developmental delay, learning disabilities and dysmorphic facial features (123, 124).

Endocrinopathies are identified in 60% of patients (125). In particular, hypoparathyroidism and hypocalcemia are observed in 17–60%, thyroid gland anomalies in 50% and hormonal dysfunction in up to 25.6%, short stature in 41%, growth hormone deficiency in 4%, whereas obesity is present in up to 43.5% of adults with the syndrome (123, 126–128).

Furthermore, 22q11.2DS patients are prone to develop autoimmune disorders, the most common being ATD, JIA, and ITP (129). Coexistence of autoimmune haemolytic anemia, autoimmune neutropenia, psoriasis, vitiligo, CD, pernicious anemia/atrophic gastritis, inflammatory bowel disease, urticaria, Raynaud phenomenon, adult RA, rheumatic fever with chorea and T1D in 22q11.2DS patients has been also reported (129– 133) (**Table 1**). Of interest, in the study of Lima et al., 9 of 28 22q11.2DS patients (32%) tested positive for adrenal autoantibodies, however ACTH and cortisol levels were normal in all cases (133). Overall, autoimmune phenomena may occur in 10–30% of affected individuals (129–131, 133).

ATD is common among individuals with 22q11.2DS. Thyroid autoantibodies were found in up to 5% of affected children and 30% of patients older than 17 years (127, 129, 133, 134) (**Table 1**). In the study of Shugar et al., overt thyroid disease was noted in 9.5% of 169 children with the syndrome. Hypothyroidism occurred in 7.7% and hyperthyroidism in 1.8% (**Table 1**). Interestingly, among patients with thyroidopathy the female to male ratio was 2.2, which is lower than the one reported in the general pediatric population. Furthermore, of those with prodromal or subclinical thyroid disease, 42% progressed to overt thyroid disease within a mean follow-up time of 27.6 months, necessitating medical treatment (135). In a previous study conducted in adults with 22q11.2DS the frequency of hypothyroidism reached 20.5% (136).

The association between GD and 22q11.2DS is noteworthy. As mentioned above, the prevalence of hyperthyroidism in the pediatric 22q11.2DS population (1.8%) is far higher than in the general pediatric population (1 in 10.000 children in the United States) (135, 137) (**Table 1**). Moreover, atypical presentation with seizures and very young age at onset (as early as 27 months of age) have been described in pediatric cases of 22q11.2DS, features that are quite unusual especially when taking into account that GD rarely occurs in children younger than 5 years of age (127, 137–139). Hyperthyroidism may occur at any age and affects around 5% of adults with the disorder (136).

A complex interplay between immunologic, genetic, and environmental factors may underlie the association between GD and 22q11.2DS. Possible mechanisms may include the following: (1) Absent or hypoplastic thymus may result in impaired maturation and dysregulation of T cells and thus defective central tolerance allowing self-reactive T cells to escape intrathymic negative selection and trigger autoimmune responses (124). In this regard, abnormal thymic development may lead to decreased AIRE expression and consequently impaired AIREmediated intrathymic expression of tissue-restricted antigens (TRAs) (140). (2) Certain HLA haplotypes, such as HLA-DR14 may increase susceptibility to GD in patients with 22q11.2DS (139, 141). (3) Thymic maldevelopment may result in several immunologic abnormalities. T-cell lymphopenia and decreased absolute counts of CD4+CD25+ natural Tregs have been observed in 22q11.2DS patients especially during the first 4 years of life and might explain the early age of GD onset in some cases (142–144). (4) Furthermore, lymphopenia and restricted T cell repertoires, abnormal T cell activation and associated B cell dysregulation and humoral dysfunction, as well as Th1/Th2 imbalance of the CD4+ T cells may also be implicated in the induction of autoimmunity (130, 141, 145, 146) (**Table 1**).

Further to ATD, thyroid gland anomalies can be also more commonly been observed in 22q11.2DS patients (Table 1). Among 28 22q11.2DS children who underwent computed tomography (CT) scans 50% exhibited thyroid gland abnormalities, including an absent isthmus (21%), retrocarotid (14%), and retroesophageal extension (14%) and absence of the left thyroid lobe (one case). Elevated TSH levels were detected in 2/14 patients. Low common carotid artery bifurcations were also noted (147). In a subsequent study, Stagi et al. implied that thyroid hypoplasia may be a feature of 22q11.2DS, given that 46.6% of 30 patients studied had decreased total thyroid volume, with the left thyroid lobe being significantly smaller in all cases. Overt and subclinical hypothyroidism were found in 3.3 and 23.3% of all study population, respectively, and thyroid hypoplasia was noted in the majority of these cases (62.5%). Of note, 71% of patients who presented with thyroid hypoplasia had coexistent congenital heart malformation, compared to 31% of those with a normal thyroid volume (148). Deeper insights into mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of 22q11.2DS unraveled the major role of T-box transcription factor (TBX1) gene. TBX1, mapped on the long arm of chromosome 22 at position 11.21, encodes a transcription factor protein essential for the regulation of developmental processes in a number of tissues, derived from the pharyngeal apparatus, such as the development, positioning and size of thyroid gland. Interestingly, Tbx1-/- mice exhibited most of the cardiac and pharyngeal arch anomalies seen in the 22q11DS, including cardiac outflow tract abnormalities, thymic and parathyroid gland hypoplasia and craniofacial anomalies (147-149).

The above findings underline the importance of a meticulous clinical and endocrine evaluation of all 22q11.2DS patients at diagnosis and during follow-up in order to address and appropriately manage associated comorbidities. With respect to thyroid function, baseline screening should include measurement of TSH, FT4, total T3, and TPO autoantibodies. If the results are normal, thyroid function tests (TFTs) should be checked on an annual basis lifelong. When overt disease is biochemically confirmed, appropriate medical treatment should be started. In case of subclinical thyroid disease, thyroid function tests (TFTs) should be repeated in a 4-6 months' time interval. If subclinical disease persists (and in case of overt thyroid disease), a thyroid ultrasound should be performed in order to exclude structural anomalies of the gland (135). Medical treatment for subclinical disease should be offered if TSH levels remain abnormal despite normal FT4 levels in the presence of suggestive signs/symptoms and/or positive TPO antibodies and/or goiter or thyroid hypoplasia. Alternatively, TFTs can be rechecked after another 4–6 months' time interval (**Table 2**).

WILLIAMS SYNDROME

Williams-Beuren or Williams syndrome (WS) is a multisystemic neurodevelopmental disorder caused by a 1.5-1.8 Mb heterozygous microdeletion at chromosome 7q11.23, encompassing 26 to 28 genes. It is a rare disorder, affecting roughly 1 in 10.000 people. Common clinical manifestations include intellectual disability, a constellation of dysmorphic facial features known as elfin facies, connective tissue abnormalities and cardiovascular disease, namely supravalvular aortic and pulmonary artery stenosis. In particular, haploinsufficiency of elastin (ELN) gene, located in the deleted region is responsible for the cardiovascular abnormalities of the disorder, whereas hemizygosity of LIM Domain Kinase 1 (LIMK1), mapped to the same area, may contribute to the cognitive impairment associated with the syndrome (150-152).

Endocrine disorders are frequently encountered in patients with WS, including short stature, hypercalcemia, central precocious puberty, hypothyroidism, impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes, dyslipidemia, decreased pubertal growth spurt, GH deficiency, decreased bone mineral density or osteoporosis (150, 153–155).

SH occurs in 15-37.9% of patients, is commonly associated with thyroid hypoplasia and its prevalence decreases with age (156-159) (Table 1). In this regard, the frequency of SH in WS children was considerably higher in those younger than 3 years (73.9%) compared to older patients, whereas the vast majority of children aged more than 9 years were euthyroid (158). Selicorni et al. noted the highest incidence of SH in patients under 1 year of age (157). Similarly, Chen et al. demonstrated that the frequency of SH in WS increased during the first years of life, reaching 44.4% among children aged 3-6 years, and declined gradually thereafter (159). The above findings may reflect immaturity of the HPT axis, further supported by an exaggerated, prolonged TSH response to TRH as well as a mildly low biological activity of circulating TSH, which were observed in a 2 month old female infant with WS, thyroid hemiagenesis and elevated TSH levels (160). TSH insensitivity of the thyroid gland has been also proposed to explain HPT axis dysfunction in affected individuals (159). Notably, patients with WS rarely present CH (Table 1). However, this could be the initial manifestation that could raise suspicion for the syndrome, in the presence of suggestive clinical features (161, 162).

With regards to the natural history of SH in WS, 13% of patients with normal thyroid function at baseline showed abnormal TSH levels at follow-up. On the contrary, 70% of those who had initially elevated TSH levels, were euthyroid on follow-up evaluation (159). These data point toward a transient, self-limiting condition in most cases, like the one observed in DS patients and the general pediatric population, as well. Overt hypothyroidism is less common (10%) (156) and thyroid autoantibodies are negative in most cases (156–159) (**Table 1**).

On the other hand, thyroid hypoplasia is a frequent feature of WS, presenting in up to 75% of patients (156, 157), with the left lobe being more commonly affected (156). Other structural abnormalities of the thyroid gland may include agenesis, hemiagenesis and ectopy (151, 156, 160, 163) (Table 1). From a biochemical point of view, most patients with hypothyroidism had thyroid hypoplasia, indicating that thyroid dysfunction in WS may result from reduced thyroid volume (156, 157). Taken into consideration that the prevalence of SH decreases with age, it can be assumed that the hypoplastic thyroid gland cannot compensate for the increased requirements for thyroid hormones during the very first years of life, resulting in TSH elevation. However, when the need for thyroid hormones decreases with age, the hormonal production by the hypoplastic gland may be sufficient leading to normalization of TSH levels in most cases (157).

Furthermore, thyroid hypoplasia was more frequently seen in older children, pointing toward poor growth of the thyroid gland, possibly associated with genetic defects within the 7q11.23 region (156, 158, 159). Indeed, *BAZ1B* (Bromodomain Adjacent to Zinc Finger Domain 1B), located in the deleted WS-region, has been recently implicated in the thyroid gland developmental defects seen in a percentage of patients with the syndrome. It encodes a tyrosine-protein kinase, which functions as a transcription regulator and plays a key role in chromatin remodeling. The most recent study by Allegri et al. demonstrated that BAZ1B silencing results in reduced cell viability and survival of human thyroid cells, largely due to an increase in apoptotic phenomena and these effects may be mediated through phosphatase and tensin homolog PTEN overexpression (164).

Apart from primary hypothyroidism, other thyroid function abnormalities are rare. In the study of Amenta et al., comprising 50 patients with WS, hyperthyroidism occurred in one case (152). Interestingly, central hypothyroidism and secondary adrenal insufficiency were most recently reported in a 10 month-old boy with WS (165) (**Table 1**).

With regards to concurrent autoimmune disorders, as already mentioned, thyroid autoantibodies are rarely present in patients with WS (152, 166). Of note, Giannotti et al. reported an increased prevalence of CD in WS subjects (9.5% vs. 0.54% in the general pediatric population in Italy) (31) (**Table 1**), whereas Stagi et al. found no evidence of increased autoimmunity in their patients with WS, including CD (32).

The American Academy of Pediatrics currently recommends thyroid function evaluation in WS patients at a minimum: at diagnosis, annually for the first 3 years and at 2 years' intervals thereafter (167). However, in light of the above findings concerning the high frequency of thyroid structural abnormalities associated with WS as well as the higher prevalence of thyroid dysfunction in early childhood, it would be prudent to suggest assessment of both thyroid function and morphology as soon as the diagnosis of WS is made and even if the newborn screening result for CH is negative. Moreover, in patients younger than 6 years, or in those with thyroid hypoplasia, close monitoring of the thyroid function in shorter intervals, i.e., at 3–6 months from baseline, and then yearly, should be considered. Given the higher prevalence of thyroid hypoplasia in older patients, thyroid ultrasound should be performed regularly until adulthood. In case of overt hypothyroidism treatment with levothyroxine should be promptly initiated. SH may be a self-remitting condition, so that ongoing monitoring without treatment initiation may be considered. However, levothyroxine replacement therapy is advisable, especially in children younger than 3 years, if TSH levels are persistently elevated, in the presence of thyroid hypoplasia and/or suggestive signs and symptoms (**Table 2**). In addition, considered the increased cardiovascular risk associated with WS, treatment could be likely of benefit for some of these patients in order to prevent further cardiovascular impairment (157, 159).

PRADER-WILLI SYNDROME

Prader-Willi syndrome (PWS) is a genomic imprinting disorder due to the lack of expression of paternally inherited genes within the chromosome region 15q11-q13. De novo paternally derived deletions of the chromosome 15q11-q13 region account for around 75% of cases, maternal uniparental disomy (UPD) for 24% and defects in the genomic imprinting center, chromosomal translocations or rearrangements within 15q11.2-q13 region for 1-3%, respectively. It is considered to be the most frequent form of syndromic obesity, affecting 1:10.000 to 1:30.000 people (168-170). The major clinical features of the disorder include neonatal hypotonia with feeding problems and failure to thrive during infancy, followed by excessive eating and rapid weight gain in early childhood, accompanied by global developmental delay and behavioral problems. Short stature, distinctive facial appearance, small hands and feet, cryptorchidism, and scoliosis are also common findings (169–171). Hypothalamic dysfunction may underlie many components of the syndrome, including hyperphagia, sleep abnormalities, temperature dysregulation, and multiple pituitary hormone insufficiencies, including growth hormone (GH), adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), TSH deficiencies, hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, but also, less commonly, precocious puberty (170, 172, 173). Pituitary gland abnormalities have been reported in more than 60% of cases regardless of the presence or number of pituitary deficiencies. Those may include empty sella, pituitary hypoplasia, small, globular, or displaced posterior pituitary gland or complete absence of the posterior pituitary gland bright spot (172, 173).

The prevalence of hypothyroidism in PWS, mainly of central origin, varies widely from 2.1 to 32%, with only few studies addressing this issue (172–180). In a recent study comprising 339 individuals with PWS (71.7% aged below 18 years), the frequency of thyroid dysfunction was 13.6%: 6.8% had central hypothyroidism (of whom 43.5% were younger than 1 year), 3.8% subclinical hypothyroidism, 1.8% hypothyroidism and 1.2% CH (179) (**Table 1**).

Vaiani et al. examined the thyroid function in infant PWS patients, revealing a frequency of 72.2% of central hypothyroidism during the first 2 years of life. Moreover, patients with thyroid dysfunction displayed lower body length which correlated positively to FT4 levels, indicating that early onset hypothyroidism may impair normal growth (175). In contrast,

studies conducted in older PWS patients reported a far lower prevalence of hypothyroidism (172-174, 176, 177), indicating that the thyroid dysfunction observed at very young PWS children might be associated with delayed CNS development and normalize with further CNS maturation, as these patients get older (175). Despite low T4 and/or FT4 levels in most patients in the study of Vaiani et al., T3 levels were low in just one case. This finding indirectly suggests, that low FT4 levels may be compensated for by an increase in peripheral conversion of T4 to T3 (175). Of note, leptin, produced by adipose tissue in proportion to its mass, increases deiodinase type 2 activity. Interestingly, young, still underweight children were shown to have relatively increased body fat and elevated BMI-adjusted leptin levels (181). In the study of Sharkia et al., PWS children had FT4 levels in the lower half and FT3 above the median of the normal range, findings that could be interpreted within the same context (176). GH replacement therapy may also contribute to the decrease in FT4 concentrations, reflecting either a central inhibition of TSH release due to increased somatostatinergic tone or increased peripheral conversion from FT4 to T3, which could further lead to T3 negative pituitary feedback (178, 180).

Notably, concurrent CH with fetal goiter or due to ectopic, sublingual thyroid gland has been described in association with PWS (182–184) (**Table 1**). Taken into account that signs and symptoms of hypothyroidism and PWS may overlap, the diagnosis of PWS should be considered in cases with CH and severe infantile hypotonia that do not improve, despite appropriate levothyroxine replacement therapy.

Given that endocrine dysfunction in PWS is mainly of hypothalamic origin, thyroid autoantibodies were measured in none but one study, reporting slightly positive TPO antibodies in one out of 21 PWS patients (176). Of interest, autoantibodies against pituitary (APA) were recently detected in 30.9% of 55 PWS patients, a frequency far higher than in healthy controls (**Table 1**). In addition, APA were more common in those with uniparental maternal disomy for chromosome 15 than in those with interstitial deletion of the proximal long arm of paternal chromosome 15. Based on these findings, it can be postulated that autoimmune processes may be involved, at least in part, in the pituitary impairment associated with PWS. However, given that the rate of positive APA did not differ among those with and without pituitary deficiencies, their clinical significance remains to be determined (185).

Based on published reviews and expert recommendations, TSH and FT4 levels should be measured within the first 3 months of life, regardless of the newborn screening result, taken into account that TSH-based screening strategies cannot detect central hypothyroidism. Subsequently, TSH and FT4 should be determined annually, with consideration of more frequent testing if the patient receives treatment with rGH. Appropriate thyroid hormone replacement therapy should be initiated, if indicated. Taken into account the higher frequency of hypothyroidism during the first 2 years of life, as well as, the detrimental effects of untreated hypothyroidism for somatic growth and development, that could be further compromised in PWS patients, particular attention should be paid in infancy and early childhood, to ensure adequate thyroid hormone levels (168, 171, 178) (**Table 2**).

RASOPATHIES: NOONAN SYNDROME AND NEUROFIBROMATOSIS TYPE 1

The RASopathies are a group of neurodevelopmental syndromes caused by germline mutations in genes encoding protein components or regulators of the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, a ubiquitous signaling transduction pathway activated by a large number of extracellular stimuli (growth factors, hormones, cell/cell interaction) to regulate essential cellular functions, such as proliferation, survival, differentiation, migration, or metabolism. Ras proteins are small guanosine nucleotide-bound GTPases activated following binding of a growth factor to receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), G-protein-coupled receptors, cytokine receptors, and extracellular matrix receptors. They alternate between a guanosine diphosphate-bound inactive state to a guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-bound active state. Ras-GTP can activate several downstream effector pathways namely, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), RAL guanine nucleotide exchange factor and the RAF kinases, the first MAPK kinase of the pathway. RAS-MAPK signaling dysregulation has profound pathophysiological consequences. Somatic mutations of genes encoding RAS-MAPK components resulting in RAS/MAPK pathway hyperactivation have been found in several types of cancer, whereas germline mutations are causally linked to RASopathies. This term designates a group of clinically related disorders sharing overlapping clinical features, including craniofacial dysmorphism, short stature, cardiac malformations, cutaneous lesions, musculoskeletal, and ocular abnormalities, neurocognitive dysfunction of variable degree, and an increased risk of cancer. RASopathies affect \sim 1 in 1,000 live births and include the following conditions (and associated gene mutations): Neurofibromatosis type 1 (NF1) (NF1 gene), Noonan syndrome (NS) (activating mutations in PTPN11, SOS1, RAF1, KRAS, NRAS, SHOC2, CBL), Noonan syndrome with multiple lentigines (NSML) (PTPN11, RAF1), capillary malformation-arteriovenous malformation syndrome (CM-AVM) (haploinsufficiency of RASA1), Costello syndrome (CS) (activating mutations in HRAS), cardio-faciocutaneous syndrome (CFC) [activating mutations in BRAF, MAP2K1 (MEK1) or MAP2K2 (MEK2)], and Legius syndrome (inactivating mutations in SPRED1) (186, 187).

NS is a multisystem genetic disorder characterized by dysmorphic craniofacial features, including a broad forehead, hypertelorism with down-slanting palpebral fissures, ptosis, low-set posteriorly rotated ears with a thickened helix, short or webbed neck, congenital heart disease (most commonly pulmonary valve stenosis, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and atrial septal defects), short stature, chest deformities, lymphatic dysplasias, ocular abnormalities, cryptorchidism, learning difficulties, short stature, renal anomalies, hearing loss and developmental delay of variable degree (188–190). Furthermore, affected patients have an 8-fold increased risk of developing childhood cancer, including juvenile myelomonocytic leukemia, acute myelogenous leukemia, B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia, whereas cases with solid tumors, such as rhabdomyosarcoma and neuroblastoma have been

also reported (190-192). NS occurs in 1:1000 to 1:2500 live births (190) and is the second most frequent syndromic cause of congenital heart disease after Down syndrome (190, 191). The diagnosis is primarily based on clinical grounds, however causative gene mutations can be identified in around 70% of cases (193). The disorder follows mostly autosomal dominant inheritance with a near complete penetrance but a considerable variable expressivity (188, 194). Sixty percentage of affected individuals have de novo mutations (193). Around 50% of patients harbor mutations in the PTPN11, 10-15% in the SOS1, 3% in the KRAS and 3-15% in the RAF1 genes, enhancing the function of the RAS/RAF-MAPK pathway (190). PTPN11 (tyrosine-protein phosphatase non-receptor type 11) encodes for the non-receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2 (Src homology phosphotyrosyl phosphatase 2). The majority of PTPN11 missense, gain-of-function mutations associated with NS primarily impair the activation/inactivation molecular switch of SHP2, resulting in constitutive or prolonged activation of the protein and increased activation of the Ras/MAPK pathway (186, 191).

Endocrine disorders associated with NS include short stature, growth hormone deficiency, neurosecretory dysfunction, and GH resistance, delayed puberty, diminished pubertal growth spurt, cryptorchidism and male gonadal dysfunction (191, 194). The frequency of thyroid autoantibodies in NS has been reported in a few studies, varying between 14.3 and 60%, whereas hypothyroidism occurs less commonly (4–21.4%) (195–199). In the study of Quaio et al., comprising 42 patients with RASopathies, the majority of whom had NS, 17% had subclinical hypothyroidism without thyroid antibodies, 7% were euthyroid having positive thyroid autoantibodies and another 7% presented overt autoimmune hypothyroidism (199) (**Table 1**).

On the other hand, in the study of Svensson et al., the frequency of thyroid antibody positivity did not differ between children with NS and controls. However, it tended to increase at puberty and with age in NS patients. In particular, 30% of those aged 12 years or older but none among those younger than 12 years had positive thyroid autoantibodies (195), suggesting that testing for thyroid autoantibodies should be performed periodically during adolescence in patients with NS.

Interestingly, accumulated evidence points toward a possible link between NS and autoimmune disorders. Scattered cases with NS and coexistent vasculitis, vitiligo, thyroiditis, anterior uveitis, SLE, CD have been anecdotally described in the literature (196, 200, 201). More recently, Quaio et al. revealed the presence of autoantibodies in 52% and autoimmune diseases in 14% of 42 patients with RASopathies, 37 of whom had NS. Those included autoimmune thyroiditis, SLE, polyendocrinopathy (association of autoimmune thyroiditis and CD), antiphospholipid syndrome, vitiligo, and autoimmune hepatitis and all occurred in patients with PTPN11 mutations (199) (Table 1). At this point, it is worth mentioning, that one of the SLE susceptibility loci has been identified at 12q24, a locus encompassing PTPN11, germline mutations of which are found in 50% of NS cases. The linkage of a susceptibility gene for SLE to a region implicated in NS lends further support for a possible association between NS and SLE (199, 200, 202).

In this regard, the activity of SHP2 (the protein product of PTPN11) was shown to be increased in both lupus-prone mice and in human SLE patients. Of interest, inhibition of SHP2 activity diminished skin lesions, increased life span, reduced lupus-associated organ damage, blocked abnormal T cell proliferation, normalized extracellular signal regulated kinase ERK/MAPK signaling, and decreased production of IFN-y and IL-17A/F in lupus-prone mice. In addition, SHP2 inhibition reduced the proliferation of cultured human lupus T cells and decreased the production of IFN-y and IL-17A/F in vitro, suggesting integral involvement of SHP2 in human lupusassociated immunopathology (203). Moreover, SHP-2 inhibits activation of human NK cells upon recruitment to killer cell Iglike receptors (KIR), but may also inhibit both cytolytic activity and IFN- γ secretion by NK cells independently of its role in KIR signaling (204, 205). SHP-2 also functions as a regulator of NF-KB/transcription factor nuclear factor KB activation, which in turn plays a critical role in various biological processes, including immune response, inflammation, cell survival and oncogenesis (206). Given that NK cells and NF-κB are important components of the immune system, gain-of-function mutations of PTPN11 might play a role in the development of autoimmunity (200). Further to the above, SHP2 may mediate inhibitory receptor tyrosine kinase signaling in immune cells and the consequent inactivation of immunoregulatory receptors might contribute to the development of the autoimmune-like phenotypes (203), as well. Overall, activation of Ras signaling pathway in response to T cell receptor (TCR) stimulation is essential for T cell development, differentiation and activation. Proper regulation of Ras signal transduction plays a critical role in both normal immune responses and the maintenance of tolerance. On the other hand, both increased and decreased Ras activities may be implicated in lupus-like autoimmunity, while both under- and overactivities of disparate Ras effectors have been also linked to autoimmune responses (207) (Table 1).

NF1 is an autosomal dominant multisystemic disorder with an estimated incidence of ~1 in 2,500-3,000 individuals, affecting primarily the bone, the nervous system, soft tissue and the skin. About 50% of cases are caused by de novo (spontaneous) mutations. The diagnosis is usually made on clinical grounds, whereas genetic testing may be helpful in cases with unusual presentations or for reproductive decision-making. The presence of two or more of the following clinical features are required to establish a diagnosis of NF1: (1) \geq 6 cafe'-au-lait macules >0.5 cm at largest diameter before puberty or >1.5 cm in diameter after puberty (2) axillary or inguinal freckling, (3) ≥ 2 Lisch nodules (4) \geq neurofibromas or \geq 1 plexiform neurofibroma (5) an optic pathway glioma (OPG), (6) a distinctive osseous lesion (sphenoid wing dysplasia, long-bone dysplasia), and (7) a first-degree relative with NF1. NF1 patients have an increased risk of developing both benign and malignant tumors, including OPG, glioblastoma, malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor, gastrointestinal stromal tumor, breast cancer, leukemia, phaeochromocytoma, duodenal carcinoid tumor, and rhabdomyosarcoma. Associated manifestations may include cardiovascular abnormalities, neurocognitive impairment and craniofacial dysmorphism (186, 208-210).

NF1 is caused by germline loss-of-function mutations in the *NF1* tumor-suppressor gene, located on chromosome 17q11.2 and encoding a large cytoplasmic protein called neurofibromin. Neurofibromin is a GTPase activating protein (GAP) that negatively regulates the Ras signal transduction pathway, by accelerating the conversion of active GTP-bound Ras to inactive GDP-bound Ras. Thus, loss of neurofibromin expression results in hyperactivation of RAS, as well as constitutive downstream MAPK and the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathways (208, 211, 212).

Endocrinopathies are frequently observed in patients with NF1 and are usually related to OPGs involving the hypothalamic and sellar region and associated treatment modalities. Those may include short stature, central precocious puberty (CPP), diencephalic syndrome, GH and other pituitary deficiencies, GH hypersecretion and obesity with insulin resistance/impaired glucose tolerance (213, 214). Endocrine disorders were reported in 55.6% of children with NF1 and OPG who did not receive radiotherapy or surgical resection (214). Of note, hypopituitarism or CPP may occur even in the absence of intracranial lesions in NF1 patients. In this regard, GH deficiency was demonstrated in 15 out of 19 NF1 short children who had no intracranial tumors or other recognizable risk factors for short stature (215).

The number of studies reporting an association between NF1 and autoimmune disorders is small but increasing. NF1 cases with multiple sclerosis, SLE, membranous glomerulonephritis, IgA nephropathy, mixed connective tissue disease, myasthenia gravis, ankylosing spondylitis, JIA, CD, autoimmune hemolytic anemia, bullous pemphigoid, vitiligo, alopecia areata, T1D but also autoimmune thyroiditis and GD have been scarcely described in the literature (216-223) (Table 1). More recently, Güler et al., conducted a case-control study aiming to assess a possible relationship between NF1 and thyroid disorders. This study revealed that the frequency of autoimmune thyroiditis was not higher compared to the one reported in the general population. In particular, out of 78 NF1 children enrolled, 6.4% had goiter, 2.5% positive antithyroid antibodies, 1.2% SH and 3.8% low TSH levels, possibly related to impaired hypothalamohypophyseal-thyroid axis, which normalized after 1 year (224) (Table 1). With regards to the latter finding, TSH deficiency has been previously reported in NF1 children in the absence of intracranial tumors (225). It is worth mentioning, that neurofibromin functions as positive regulator of the enzyme adenylyl cyclase and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) generation in the brain (213, 226). In particular, neurofibromin was shown to regulate hypothalamic function and pituitary development in the mammalian central nervous system by modulating intracellular cAMP levels. Interestingly, NF1 inactivation in mice resulted in reduced body weights and anterior pituitary hypoplasia with a 40-60% reduction in the levels of growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH), gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) and TRH mRNA levels compared to wild type controls as well as reduced GH, prolactin and insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) mRNA levels (212).

The mechanisms underlying a possible association between autoimmune disorders and NF1 have not been elucidated. Studies in mice have shown that loss of neurofibromin results in decreased Fas antigen expression and Fas-ligand mediated apoptosis via hyperactivation of the p21ras-class IA PI-3K signaling pathway. Suppressed Fas ligand expression may prevent apoptosis of CD4+ T cells, which may contribute to the development of autoimmunity (219, 227). Furthermore, NF1deficient mice exhibited lymphoproliferative defects, including thymic and splenic hyperplasia, increased numbers of immature and mature T cells *in vivo*, but reduced proliferation in response to TCR and interleukin-2 receptor (IL-2R) stimulation *in vitro* (228) as well as defective proliferative responses in B lymphocytes and thymocytes (229) (**Table 1**).

Overall, despite the lack of sufficient evidence, the growing number of reports on the concurrence of NF1 and autoimmune disorders implies a possible link between these conditions rather a coincidence.

Hypothyroidism/CH and thyroid hypoplasia have been scarcely described in the context of CFC, CS, CM-AVM, and Legius syndrome, however, to the best of our knowledge there are no reports on the coexistence of these RASopathies with ATD (230–233).

According to current recommendations for the care of children with NS, thyroid function tests including measurement of thyroid antibodies should be performed in all children with signs or symptoms of hypothyroidism (goiter, fatigue, constipation, poor growth, etc.) and every 3-5 years in older children and adults (194, 234). Thyroid disorders should be managed as in the general population (Table 2). Similarly, diagnosis and management guidelines for patients with CFC recommend thyroid function screening (TSH, FT4) at diagnosis, given that thyroid abnormalities can be observed in patients with other RASopathies and autoimmune thyroiditis is frequent in the general population. During follow-up thyroid function tests should be performed in case of growth failure. Only a few cases of hypothyroidism have been described in CFC, therefore the need for ongoing thyroid function testing can be evaluated by the endocrinologist (235) (Table 2). On the other hand, health supervision guidelines for NF1 children recommend annual evaluation of growth rate and pubertal development but lack information on thyroid function monitoring (236, 237). Taken into consideration (a) that TSH deficiency may be seen in affected individuals in the absence of intracranial tumors, (b) a possible although not well-documented association between NF1 and ATD, (c) the phenotypic similarities and common underlying pathogenetic etiology with NS and other RASopathies, it would be advisable to apply to NF1 patients the same recommendations on thyroid function monitoring as for NS patients (Table 2).

CONCLUSION

In recent years, several research studies have shed light on the complex pathogenesis of genetic syndromes-associated ATD. The presence of chromosomal abnormalities may influence the phenotypic expression of thyroid autoimmunity, in particular with regards to age of onset of thyroidopathy, evolution of thyroid function and even clustering of extra-thyroidal autoimmune disorders in affected children. While thyroid dysfunction is namely of autoimmune origin in TS, DS, and KS, thyroid hypoplasia and central hypothyroidism account for the majority of cases in WS and PWS, respectively. Patients with 22q11.2DS have an increased risk for developing GD, however, thyroid gland anomalies are also frequently seen in affected individuals. In addition, there is emerging evidence supporting a possible link between autoimmunity and RASopathies. This comprehensive review highlights the need for an early screening, and regular life-long monitoring of the thyroid function in

REFERENCES

- Cappa M, Bizzarri C, Crea F. Autoimmune thyroid diseases in children. J Thyroid Res. (2010) 2011:675703. doi: 10.4061/2011/675703
- Morshed SA, Latif R, Davies TF. Delineating the autoimmune mechanisms in Graves' disease. *Immunol Res.* (2012) 54:191– 203. doi: 10.1007/s12026-012-8312-8
- 3. Zaletel K, Gaberšček S. Hashimoto's thyroiditis: from genes to the disease. *Curr Genomics.* (2011) 12:576–88. doi: 10.2174/138920211798120763
- Brown RS. Autoimmune thyroiditis in childhood. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol. (2013) 5:45–49. doi: 10.4274/Jcrpe.855
- 5. Brent GA. Environmental exposures and autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid.* (2010) 20:755–61. doi: 10.1089/thy.2010.1636
- Kaloumenou I, Mastorakos G, Alevizaki M, Duntas LH, Mantzou E, Ladopoulos C, et al. Thyroid autoimmunity in schoolchildren in an area with long-standing iodine sufficiency: correlation with gender, pubertal stage, and maternal thyroid autoimmunity. *Thyroid.* (2008) 18:747– 54. doi: 10.1089/thy.2007.0370
- Crisafulli G, Gallizzi R, Aversa T, Salzano G, Valenzise M, Wasniewska M, et al. Thyroid function test evolution in children with Hashimoto's thyroiditis is closely conditioned by the biochemical picture at diagnosis. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2018) 44:22. doi: 10.1186/s13052-018-0461-5
- Dogan M, Acikgoz E, Acikgoz M, Cesur Y, Ariyuca S, Bektas MS. The frequency of Hashimoto thyroiditis in children and the relationship between urinary iodine level and Hashimoto thyroiditis. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2011) 24:75–80. doi: 10.1515/jpem.2011.115
- Mariotti S, Prinzis A, Ghiani M, Cambuli VM, Pilia S, Marras V, et al. Puberty is associated with a marked increase of the female sex predominance in chronic autoimmune thyroiditis. *Horm Res.* (2009) 72:52– 56. doi: 10.1159/000224341
- Wasniewska M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Mussa A, Capalbo D, Messina MF, et al. Thyroid function patterns at Hashimoto's thyroiditis presentation in childhood and adolescence are mainly conditioned by patients' age. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 78:232–6. doi: 10.1159/000343815
- Aversa T, Corrias A, Salerno M, Tessaris D, Di Mase R, Valenzise M, et al. Five-year prospective evaluation of thyroid function test evolution in children with Hashimoto's thyroiditis presenting with either euthyroidism or subclinical hypothyroidism. *Thyroid.* (2016) 26:1450– 6. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0080
- Radetti G, Gottardi E, Bona G, Corrias A, Salardi S, Loche S. Study group for thyroid diseases of the Italian society for pediatric endocrinology and diabetes (SIEDP/ISPED). The natural history of euthyroid Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children. *J Pediatr.* (2006) 149:827– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.08.045
- 13. Radetti G, Maselli M, Buzi F, Corrias A, Mussa A, Cambiaso P, et al. The natural history of the normal/mild elevated TSH serum levels in children and adolescents with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and isolated hyperthyrotropinaemia: a 3-year follow-up. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2012) 76:394– 8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.04251.x

patients with specific genetic syndromes, along with a thorough evaluation that will enable early identification and proper management of both thyroid and extrathyroidal autoimmune disorders and associated endocrinopathies, in order to optimize the health care provided to these patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CK-G contributed to the study design, critically revised the manuscript, and approved the submitted version. EK was involved in the literature research and drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Aversa T, Valenzise M, Corrias A, Salerno M, De Luca F, Mussa A, et al. Underlying Hashimoto's thyroiditis negatively affects the evolution of subclinical hypothyroidism in children irrespective of other concomitant risk factors. *Thyroid*. (2015) 25:183–7. doi: 10.1089/thy.2014.0235
- Léger J, Kaguelidou F, Alberti C, Carel JC. Graves' disease in children. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 28:233-43. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2013.08.008
- Aversa T, Corica D, Zirilli G, Pajno GB, Salzano G, De Luca F, et al. Phenotypic expression of autoimmunity in children with autoimmune thyroid disorders. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:476. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00476
- Ruggeri RM, Trimarchi F, Giuffrida G, Certo R, Cama E, Campennì A, et al. Autoimmune comorbidities in Hashimoto's thyroiditis: different patterns of association in adulthood and childhood/adolescence. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2017) 176:133–41. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0737
- Kakourou T, Kanaka-Gantenbein C, Papadopoulou A, Kaloumenou E, Chrousos GP. Increased prevalence of chronic autoimmune (Hashimoto's) thyroiditis in children and adolescents with vitiligo. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2005) 53:220–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2005.03.032
- Vaidya B, Kendall-Taylor P, Pearce SH. The genetics of autoimmune thyroid disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2002) 87:5385–97. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020492
- Bondy CA. Turner syndrome study group. Care of girls and women with Turner syndrome: a guideline of the Turner syndrome study group. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2007) 92:10–25. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-1374
- Shankar RK, Backeljauw PF. Current best practice in the management of Turner syndrome. *Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab.* (2018) 9:33–40. doi: 10.1177/2042018817746291
- Stochholm K, Juul S, Juel K, Naeraa RW, Gravholt CH. Prevalence, incidence, diagnostic delay, and mortality in Turner syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2006) 91:3897–902. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0558
- Larizza D, Calcaterra V, Martinetti M. Autoimmune stigmata in Turner syndrome: when lacks an X chromosome. J Autoimmun. (2009) 33:25– 30. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2009.03.002
- Mortensen KH, Cleemann L, Hjerrild BE, Nexo E, Locht H, Jeppesen EM, et al. Increased prevalence of autoimmunity in Turner syndrome-influence of age. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2009) 156:205–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.03895.x
- Jørgensen KT, Rostgaard K, Bache I, Biggar RJ, Nielsen NM, Tommerup N, et al. Autoimmune diseases in women with Turner's syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2010) 62:658–66. doi: 10.1002/art.27270
- Frost AR, Band MM, Conway GS. Serological screening for coeliac disease in adults with Turner's syndrome: prevalence and clinical significance of endomysium antibody positivity. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2009) 160:675– 9. doi: 10.1530/EJE-08-0846e
- Wegiel M, Antosz A, Gieburowska J, Szeliga K, Hankus M, Grzybowska-Chlebowczyk U, et al. Autoimmunity predisposition in girls with Turner syndrome. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:511. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019. 00511

- Livadas S, Xekouki P, Fouka F, Kanaka-Gantenbein C, Kaloumenou I, Mavrou A, et al. Prevalence of thyroid dysfunction in Turner's syndrome: a long-term follow-up study and brief literature review. *Thyroid.* (2005) 15:1061–6. doi: 10.1089/thy.2005.15.1061
- Aversa T, Gallizzi R, Salzano G, Zirilli G, De Luca F, Valenzise M. Atypical phenotypic aspects of autoimmune thyroid disorders in young patients with Turner syndrome. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2018) 44:12. doi: 10.1186/s13052-018-0447-3
- 30. Giménez-Barcons M, Casteràs A, Armengol Mdel P, Porta E, Correa PA, Marín A, et al. Autoimmune predisposition in Down syndrome may result from a partial central tolerance failure due to insufficient intrathymic expression of AIRE and peripheral antigens. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:3872– 9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400223
- Giannotti A, Tiberio G, Castro M, Virgilii F, Colistro F, Ferretti F, et al. Coeliac disease in Williams syndrome. J Med Genet. (2001) 38:767– 8. doi: 10.1136/jmg.38.11.767
- 32. Stagi S, Lapi E, D'Avanzo MG, Perferi G, Romano S, Giglio S, et al. Coeliac disease and risk for other autoimmune diseases in patients with Williams-Beuren syndrome. BMC Med Genet. (2014) 15:61. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-15-61
- Gawlik AM, Berdej-Szczot E, Blat D, Klekotka R, Gawlik T, Blaszczyk E, et al. Immunological profile and predisposition to autoimmunity in girls with Turner syndrome. *Front Endocrinol.* (2018) 9:307. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00307
- De Sanctis V, Khater D. Autoimmune diseases in Turner syndrome: an overview. Acta Biomed. (2019) 90:341–44. doi: 10.23750/abm.v90i3.8737
- Bakalov VK, Gutin L, Cheng CM, Zhou J, Sheth P, Shah K, et al. Autoimmune disorders in women with Turner syndrome and women with karyotypically normal primary ovarian insufficiency. J Autoimmun. (2012) 38:315–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2012.01.015
- Chitnis S, Monteiro J, Glass D, Apatoff B, Salmon J, Concannon P, et al. The role of X-chromosome inactivation in female predisposition to autoimmunity. *Arthritis Res.* (2000) 2:399–406. doi: 10.1186/ar118
- Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Selmi C, Persani L, Battezzati PM, Zuin M, et al. X chromosome monosomy: a common mechanism for autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol.* (2005) 175:575–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.575
- Lee YA, Kim HR, Lee JS, Jung HW, Kim HY, Lee GM, et al. CD4+ FOXP3+ regulatory T cells exhibit impaired ability to suppress effector T cell proliferation in patients with Turner syndrome. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0144549. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0144549
- Zinn AR, Tonk VS, Chen Z, Flejter WL, Gardner HA, Guerra R, et al. Evidence for a Turner syndrome locus or loci at Xp11.2-p22.1. Am J Hum Genet. (1998) 63:1757–66. doi: 10.1086/302152
- Su MA, Stenerson M, Liu W, Putnam A, Conte F, Bluestone JA, et al. The role of X-linked FOXP3 in the autoimmune susceptibility of Turner Syndrome patients. *Clin Immunol.* (2009) 131:139–44. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2008. 11.007
- 41. Villanueva-Ortega E, Ahedo B, Fonseca-Sánchez MA, Pérez-Durán J, Garibay-Nieto N, Macías-Galavíz MT, et al. Analysis of PTPN22, ZFAT and MYO9B polymorphisms in Turner syndrome and risk of autoimmune disease. *Int J Immunogenet*. (2017) 44:153–7. doi: 10.1111/iji.12323
- 42. Bianco B, Verreschi IT, Oliveira KC, Guedes AD, Galera BB, Galera MF, et al. PTPN22 polymorphism is related to autoimmune disease risk in patients with Turner syndrome. *Scand J Immunol.* (2010) 72:256–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2010.02438.x
- Sagi L, Zuckerman-Levin N, Gawlik A, Ghizzoni L, Buyukgebiz A, Rakover Y, et al. Clinical significance of the parental origin of the X chromosome in Turner syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2007) 92:846– 52. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0158
- 44. Uematsu A, Yorifuji T, Muroi J, Kawai M, Mamada M, Kaji M, et al. Parental origin of normal X chromosomes in Turner syndrome patients with various karyotypes: implications for the mechanism leading to generation of a 45, X karyotype. *Am J Med Genet*. (2002) 111:134–9. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.10506
- Mathur A, Stekol L, Schatz D, MacLaren NK, Scott ML, Lippe B. The parental origin of the single X chromosome in Turner syndrome: lack of correlation with parental age or clinical phenotype. *Am J Hum Genet*. (1991) 48:682–6.
- 46. Larizza D, Martinetti M, Lorini R, Dugoujon JM, Tinelli C, Vitali L, et al. Parental segregation of autoimmunity in patients with Turner's

syndrome: preferential paternal transmission? J Autoimmun. (1999) 12:65–72. doi: 10.1006/jaut.1998.0250

- Kalantaridou SN, Calis KA, Vanderhoof VH, Bakalov VK, Corrigan EC, Troendle JF, et al. Testosterone deficiency in young women with 46,XX spontaneous premature ovarian failure. *Fertil Steril.* (2006) 86:1475– 82. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2006.04.028
- Gravholt CH, Svenstrup B, Bennett P, Sandahl Christiansen J. Reduced androgen levels in adult Turner syndrome: influence of female sex steroids and growth hormone status. *Clin Endocrinol.* (1999) 50:791– 800. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.1999.00720.x
- Gubbels Bupp MR, Jorgensen TN. Androgen-induced immunosuppression. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:794. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00794
- Elsheikh M, Wass JA, Conway GS. Autoimmune thyroid syndrome in women with Turner's syndrome-the association with karyotype. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2001) 55:223–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2001.01296.x
- Stoklasova J, Zapletalova J, Frysak Z, Hana V, Cap J, Pavlikova M, et al. An isolated Xp deletion is linked to autoimmune diseases in Turner syndrome. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2019) 32:479–88. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2019-0067
- Grossi A, Crinò A, Luciano R, Lombardo A, Cappa M, Fierabracci A. Endocrine autoimmunity in Turner syndrome. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2013) 39:79. doi: 10.1186/1824-7288-39-79
- Gawlik A, Gawlik T, Januszek-Trzciakowska A, Patel H, Malecka-Tendera E. Incidence and dynamics of thyroid dysfunction and thyroid autoimmunity in girls with Turner's syndrome: a long-term follow-up study. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2011) 76:314–20. doi: 10.1159/000331050
- Aversa T, Lombardo F, Valenzise M, Messina MF, Sferlazzas C, Salzano G, et al. Peculiarities of autoimmune thyroid diseases in children with Turner or Down syndrome: an overview. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2015) 41:39. doi: 10.1186/s13052-015-0146-2
- Chiovato L, Larizza D, Bendinelli G, Tonacchera M, Marinó M, Mammoli C, et al. Autoimmune hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism in patients with Turner's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (1996) 134:568– 75. doi: 10.1530/eje.0.1340568
- Ivarsson SA, Ericsson UB, Nilsson KO, Gustafsson J, Hagenäs L, Häger A, et al. Thyroid autoantibodies, Turner's syndrome and growth hormone therapy. *Acta Paediatr.* (1995) 84:63– 65. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.1995.tb13485.x
- El-Mansoury M, Bryman I, Berntorp K, Hanson C, Wilhelmsen L, Landin-Wilhelmsen K. Hypothyroidism is common in Turner syndrome: results of a five-year follow-up. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2005) 90:2131– 5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-1262
- Aversa T, Messina MF, Mazzanti L, Salerno M, Mussa A, Faienza MF, et al. The association with Turner syndrome significantly affects the course of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children, irrespective of karyotype. *Endocrine*. (2015) 50:777–82. doi: 10.1007/s12020-014-0513-6
- 59. Gravholt CH, Andersen NH, Conway GS, Dekkers OM, Geffner ME, Klein KO, et al. International Turner syndrome consensus group. Clinical practice guidelines for the care of girls and women with Turner syndrome: proceedings from the 2016 cincinnati international Turner syndrome meeting. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2017) 177:G1–70. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0430
- Kosteria I, Kanaka-Gantenbein C. Turner syndrome: transition from childhood to adolescence. *Metabolism.* (2018) 86:145– 53. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.12.016
- Valenzise M, Aversa T, Corrias A, Mazzanti L, Cappa M, Ubertini G, et al. Epidemiology, presentation and long-term evolution of Graves' disease in children, adolescents and young adults with Turner syndrome. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2014) 81:245–50. doi: 10.1159/000357130
- Aversa T, Lombardo F, Corrias A, Salerno M, De Luca F, Wasniewska M. In young patients with Turner or Down syndrome, Graves' disease presentation is often preceded by Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Thyroid.* (2014) 24:744–7. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.0452
- Whooten R, Schmitt J, Schwartz A. Endocrine manifestations of Down syndrome. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. (2018) 25:61–6. doi: 10.1097/MED.00000000000382
- 64. Amr NH. Thyroid disorders in subjects with Down syndrome: an update. *Acta Biomed.* (2018) 89:132–9. doi: 10.23750/abm.v89i1.7120
- 65. Bianca S. Non congenital heart disease aspects of Down's syndrome. *Images Paediatr Cardiol.* (2002) 4:3–11.

- Guaraldi F, Rossetto Giaccherino R, Lanfranco F, Motta G, Gori D, Arvat E, et al. Endocrine autoimmunity in Down's syndrome. *Front Horm Res.* (2017) 48:133–46. doi: 10.1159/000452912
- Aversa T, Valenzise M, Corrias A, Salerno M, Iughetti L, Tessaris D, et al. In children with autoimmune thyroid diseases the association with Down syndrome can modify the clustering of extra-thyroidal autoimmune disorders. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2016) 29:1041– 6. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2016-0073
- Aversa T, Crisafulli G, Zirilli G, De Luca F, Gallizzi R, Valenzise M. Epidemiological and clinical aspects of autoimmune thyroid diseases in children with Down's syndrome. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2018) 44:39. doi: 10.1186/s13052-018-0478-9
- Nespoli L, Burgio GR, Ugazio AG, Maccario R. Immunological features of Down's syndrome: a review. J Intellect Disabil Res. (1993) 37:543– 51. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.1993.tb00324.x
- Burgio GR, Ugazio AG, Nespoli L, Marcioni AF, Bottelli AM, Pasquali F. Derangements of immunoglobulin levels, phytohemagglutinin responsiveness and T and B cell markers in Down's syndrome at different ages. *Eur J Immunol.* (1975) 5:600–3. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830050904
- Skogberg G, Lundberg V, Lindgren S, Gudmundsdottir J, Sandström K, Kämpe O, et al. Altered expression of autoimmune regulator in infant Down syndrome thymus, a possible contributor to an autoimmune phenotype. J Immunol. (2014) 193:2187–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400742
- Nicholson LB, Wong FS, Ewins DL, Butler J, Holland A, Demaine AG, et al. Susceptibility to autoimmune thyroiditis in Down's syndrome is associated with the major histocompatibility class II DQA 0301 allele. *Clin Endocrinol.* (1994) 41:381–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1994.tb02561.x
- Rodrigues R, Debom G, Soares F, Machado C, Pureza J, Peres W, et al. Alterations of ectonucleotidases and acetylcholinesterase activities in lymphocytes of Down syndrome subjects: relation with inflammatory parameters. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2014) 433:105–10. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2014.03.002
- Pascanu I, Banescu C, Benedek T, Duicu C, Csep K, Dema A. Thyroid dysfunction in children with Down's syndrome. *Acta Endocrinol.* (2009) 5:85–92. doi: 10.4183/aeb.2009.85
- Sullivan KD, Lewis HC, Hill AA, Pandey A, Jackson LP, Cabral JM, et al. Trisomy 21 consistently activates the interferon response. *Elife*. (2016) 5:e16220. doi: 10.7554/eLife.16220
- Tomer Y, Blackard JT, Akeno N. Interferon alpha treatment and thyroid dysfunction. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am.* (2007) 36:1051– 66. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2007.07.001
- 77. Caraccio N, Giannini R, Cuccato S, Faviana P, Berti P, Galleri D, et al. Type I interferons modulate the expression of thyroid peroxidase, sodium/iodide symporter, and thyroglobulin genes in primary human thyrocyte cultures. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2005) 90:1156–62. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-1173
- AlAaraj N, Soliman AT, Itani M, Khalil A, De Sanctis V. Prevalence of thyroid dysfunctions in infants and children with Down syndrome (DS) and the effect of thyroxine treatment on linear growth and weight gain in treated subjects versus DS subjects with normal thyroid function: a controlled study. *Acta Biomed.* (2019) 90:36–42. doi: 10.23750/abm.v90i8-S.8503
- Iughetti L, Lucaccioni L, Fugetto F, Mason A, Predieri B. Thyroid function in Down syndrome. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab.* (2015) 10:525– 32. doi: 10.1586/17446651.2015.1063995
- Luton D, Azria E, Polak M, Carré A, Vuillard E, Delezoide AL, et al. Thyroid function in fetuses with Down syndrome. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2012) 78:88–93. doi: 10.1159/000341149
- Pierce MJ, LaFranchi SH, Pinter JD. Characterization of thyroid abnormalities in a large cohort of children with Down syndrome. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2017) 87:170–8. doi: 10.1159/000457952
- 82. van Trotsenburg AS, Vulsma T, van Rozenburg-Marres SL, van Baar AL, Ridder JC, Heymans HS, et al. The effect of thyroxine treatment started in the neonatal period on development and growth of two-year-old Down syndrome children: a randomized clinical trial. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2005) 90:3304–11. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0130
- 83. Marchal JP, Maurice-Stam H, Ikelaar NA, Klouwer FC, Verhorstert KW, Witteveen ME, et al. Effects of early thyroxine treatment on development and growth at age 10.7 years: follow-up of a randomized placebo-controlled

trial in children with Down's syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 99:E2722-9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2849

- Claret C, Goday A, Benaiges D, Chillarón JJ, Flores JA, Hernandez E, et al. Subclinical hypothyroidism in the first years of life in patients with Down syndrome. *Pediatr Res.* (2013) 73:674–8. doi: 10.1038/pr.2013.26
- Meyerovitch J, Antebi F, Greenberg-Dotan S, Bar-Tal O, Hochberg Z. Hyperthyrotropinaemia in untreated subjects with Down's syndrome aged 6 months to 64 years: a comparative analysis. *Arch Dis Child*. (2012) 97:595– 8. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2011-300806
- Prasher V, Gomez G. Natural history of thyroid function in adults with Down syndrome–10-year follow-up study. J Intellect Disabil Res. (2007) 51:312–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2006.00879.x
- Zwaveling-Soonawala N, Witteveen ME, Marchal JP, Klouwer FCC, Ikelaar NA, Smets AMJB, et al. Early thyroxine treatment in Down syndrome and thyroid function later in life. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2017) 176:505– 13. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0858
- DSMIG. Medical Management of Children and Adolescents With Down Syndrome in Ireland. Approved Guidelines 2005 With Updates 2009 & 2015. Down's Syndrome Medical Interest Group (DSMIG).
- Léger J, Olivieri A, Donaldson M, Torresani T, Krude H, van Vliet G, et al. ESPE-PES-SLEP-JSPE-APEG-APPES-ISPAE; congenital hypothyroidism consensus conference group. European Society for Paediatric Endocrinology consensus guidelines on screening, diagnosis, and management of congenital hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 99:363–84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1891
- Aversa T, Valenzise M, Salerno M, Corrias A, Iughetti L, Radetti G, et al. Metamorphic thyroid autoimmunity in Down syndrome: from Hashimoto's thyroiditis to Graves' disease and beyond. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2015) 41:87. doi: 10.1186/s13052-015-0197-4
- Aversa T, Salerno M, Radetti G, Faienza MF, Iughetti L, Corrias A, et al. Peculiarities of presentation and evolution over time of Hashimoto's thyroiditis in children and adolescents with Down's syndrome. *Hormones*. (2015) 14:410–16. doi: 10.14310/horm.2002.1574
- Goday-Arno A, Cerda-Esteva M, Flores-Le-Roux JA, Chillaron-Jordan JJ, Corretger JM, Cano-Pérez JF. Hyperthyroidism in a population with Down syndrome (DS). *Clin Endocrinol.* (2009) 71:110–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2008.03419.x
- De Luca F, Corrias A, Salerno M, Wasniewska M, Gastaldi R, Cassio A, et al. Peculiarities of Graves' disease in children and adolescents with Down's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2010) 162:591–5. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0751
- 94. Dos Santos TJ, Martos-Moreno GÁ, Muñoz-Calvo MT, Pozo J, Rodríguez-Artalejo F, Argente J. Clinical management of childhood hyperthyroidism with and without Down syndrome: a longitudinal study at a single center. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2018) 31:743–50. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2018-0132
- Bojesen A, Gravholt CH. Klinefelter syndrome in clinical practice. Nat Clin Pract Urol. (2007) 4:192–204. doi: 10.1038/ncpuro0775
- Bearelly P, Oates R. Recent advances in managing and understanding Klinefelter syndrome. *F1000Res.* (2019) 8:F1000 Faculty Rev-112. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.16747.1
- Bojesen A, Juul S, Gravholt CH. Prenatal and postnatal prevalence of Klinefelter syndrome: a national registry study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2003) 88:622–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021491
- Herlihy AS, Halliday JL, Cock ML, McLachlan RI. The prevalence and diagnosis rates of Klinefelter syndrome: an Australian comparison. *Med J Aust.* (2011) 194:24–28 doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2011.tb04141.x
- Bonomi M, Rochira V, Pasquali D, Balercia G, Jannini EA, Ferlin A. Klinefelter Italian Group (KING). Klinefelter Syndrome (KS): genetics, clinical phenotype and hypogonadism. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2017) 40:123– 34. doi: 10.1007/s40618-016-0541-6
- 100. Bojesen A, Juul S, Birkebaek NH, Gravholt CH. Morbidity in Klinefelter syndrome: a danish register study based on hospital discharge diagnoses. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2006) 91:1254–60. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-0697
- 101. Seminog OO, Seminog AB, Yeates D, Goldacre MJ. Associations between Klinefelter's syndrome and autoimmune diseases: English national record linkage studies. *Autoimmunity*. (2015) 48:125–8. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2014.968918

- 102. Rovenský J, Imrich R, Lazúrová I, Payer J. Rheumatic diseases and Klinefelter's syndrome. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2010) 1193:1– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05292.x
- 103. Panimolle F, Tiberti C, Granato S, Anzuini A, Pozza C, Lenzi A, et al. Evidence of increased humoral endocrine organ-specific autoimmunity in severe and classic X-chromosome aneuploidies in comparison with 46,XY control subjects. *Autoimmunity.* (2018) 51:175–82. doi: 10.1080/08916934.2018.1477134
- 104. Panimolle F, Tiberti C, Granato S, Semeraro A, Gianfrilli D, Anzuini A, et al. Screening of endocrine organ-specific humoral autoimmunity in 47,XXY Klinefelter's syndrome reveals a significant increase in diabetes-specific immunoreactivity in comparison with healthy control men. *Endocrine*. (2016) 52:157–64. doi: 10.1007/s12020-015-0613-y
- 105. Balercia G, Bonomi M, Giagulli VA, Lanfranco F, Rochira V, Giambersio A, et al. Thyroid function in Klinefelter syndrome: a multicentre study from KING group. J Endocrinol Invest. (2019) 42:1199–204. doi: 10.1007/s40618-019-01037-2
- 106. Tahani N, Ruga G, Granato S, Spaziani M, Panimolle F, Anzuini A, et al. A combined form of hypothyroidism in pubertal patients with non-mosaic Klinefelter syndrome. *Endocrine*. (2017) 55:513–18. doi: 10.1007/s12020-016-1130-3
- 107. Park JS, Kim CS, Nam JY, Kim DM, Yoon SJ, Ahn CW, et al. Graves' disease associated with Klinefelter's syndrome. *Yonsei Med J.* (2004) 45:341– 4. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2004.45.2.341
- Yamashita S, Nagamine M, Kuribayashi T, Matsukura S. A case of Graves' disease associated with Klinefelter's syndrome. *Jpn J Med.* (1990) 29:523– 6. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine1962.29.523
- Tengstrand B, Carlström K, Hafström I. Bioavailable testosterone in men with rheumatoid arthritis-high frequency of hypogonadism. *Rheumatology*. (2002) 41:285–9. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/41.3.285
- 110. Tengstrand B, Carlström K, Felländer-Tsai L, Hafström I. Abnormal levels of serum dehydroepiandrosterone, estrone, and estradiol in men with rheumatoid arthritis: high correlation between serum estradiol and current degree of inflammation. *J Rheumatol.* (2003) 30:2338–43.
- Lahita RG. The influence of sex hormones on the disease systemic lupus erythematosus. Springer Semin Immunopathol. (1986) 9:305–14. doi: 10.1007/BF02099028
- 112. Ding Y, He J, Guo JP, Dai YJ, Li C, Feng M, et al. Gender differences are associated with the clinical features of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Chin Med J.* (2012) 125:2477–81. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.2012.14.015
- Pakpoor J, Goldacre R, Goldacre MJ. Associations between clinically diagnosed testicular hypofunction and systemic lupus erythematosus: a record linkage study. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2018) 37:559–62. doi: 10.1007/s10067-017-3873-5
- Lahita RG, Bradlow HL. Klinefelter's syndrome: hormone metabolism in hypogonadal males with systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol Suppl. (1987) 14:154–7.
- 115. Scofield RH, Bruner GR, Namjou B, Kimberly RP, Ramsey-Goldman R, Petri M, et al. Klinefelter's syndrome (47,XXY) in male systemic lupus erythematosus patients: support for the notion of a gene-dose effect from the X chromosome. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2008) 58:2511–17. doi: 10.1002/art.23701
- Sawalha AH, Harley JB, Scofield RH. Autoimmunity and Klinefelter's syndrome: when men have two X chromosomes. J Autoimmun. (2009) 33:31–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2009.03.006
- 117. Elgueta R, Benson MJ, de Vries VC, Wasiuk A, Guo Y, Noelle RJ. Molecular mechanism and function of CD40/CD40L engagement in the immune system. *Immunol Rev.* (2009) 229:152–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00782.x
- 118. Sarmiento L, Svensson J, Barchetta I, Giwercman A, Cilio CM. Copy number of the X-linked genes TLR7 and CD40L influences innate and adaptive immune responses. *Scand J Immunol.* (2019) 90:e12776. doi: 10.1111/sji.12776
- Petes C, Odoardi N, Gee K. The toll for trafficking: toll-like receptor 7 delivery to the endosome. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1075. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01075
- 120. Bjørn AM, Bojesen A, Gravholt CH, Laurberg P. Hypothyroidism secondary to hypothalamic-pituitary dysfunction may be part of the phenotype in

Klinefelter syndrome: a case-control study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2009) 94:2478-81. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-0365

- 121. Park HM. Co-existing Klinefelter's syndrome, sublingual thyroid, and hypothyroidism. J Nucl Med. (1982) 23:857-8.
- 122. Belling K, Russo F, Jensen AB, Dalgaard MD, Westergaard D, Rajpert-De Meyts E, et al. Klinefelter syndrome comorbidities linked to increased X chromosome gene dosage and altered protein interactome activity. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2017) 26:1219–29. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddx014
- 123. McDonald-McGinn DM, Hain HS, Emanuel BS, Zackai EH. 22q11.2 Deletion Syndrome. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, et al., editors. *GeneReviews* (Internet). Seattle, WA: University of Washington (1993– 2020).
- 124. McLean-Tooke A, Spickett GP, Gennery AR. Immunodeficiency and autoimmunity in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Scand J Immunol.* (2007) 66:1–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2007.01949.x
- 125. Sullivan KE. Chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome and DiGeorge syndrome. *Immunol Rev.* (2019) 287:186–201. doi: 10.1111/imr.12701
- 126. Weinzimer SA. Endocrine aspects of the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Genet Med.* (2001) 3:19–22. doi: 10.1097/00125817-200101000-00005
- 127. Choi JH, Shin YL, Kim GH, Seo EJ, Kim Y, Park IS, et al. Endocrine manifestations of chromosome 22q11.2 microdeletion syndrome. *Horm Res.* (2005) 63:294–9. doi: 10.1159/000086745
- Voll SL, Boot E, Butcher NJ, Cooper S, Heung T, Chow EW, et al. Obesity in adults with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Genet Med.* (2017) 19:204– 8. doi: 10.1038/gim.2016.98
- 129. Mahé P, Nagot N, Portales P, Lozano C, Vincent T, Sarda P, et al. Risk factors of clinical dysimmune manifestations in a cohort of 86 children with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome: a retrospective study in France. Am J Med Genet A. (2019) 179:2207–13. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.61336
- Gennery AR, Barge D, O'Sullivan JJ, Flood TJ, Abinun M, Cant AJ. Antibody deficiency and autoimmunity in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Arch Dis Child.* (2002) 86:422–5. doi: 10.1136/adc.86.6.422
- 131. Jawad AF, McDonald-Mcginn DM, Zackai E, Sullivan KE. Immunologic features of chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge syndrome/velocardiofacial syndrome). J Pediatr. (2001) 139:715–23. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2001.118534
- Elder DA, Kaiser-Rogers K, Aylsworth AS, Calikoglu AS. Type I diabetes mellitus in a patient with chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Am J Med Genet.* (2001) 101:17–19. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.1293
- 133. Lima K, Abrahamsen TG, Wolff AB, Husebye E, Alimohammadi M, Kämpe O, et al. Hypoparathyroidism and autoimmunity in the 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2011) 165:345–52. doi: 10.1530/EJE-10-1206
- Levy-Shraga Y, Gothelf D, Goichberg Z, Katz U, Somech R, Pinhas-Hamiel O, et al. Growth characteristics and endocrine abnormalities in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2017) 173:1301–8. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.38175
- 135. Shugar AL, Shapiro JM, Cytrynbaum C, Hedges S, Weksberg R, Fishman L. An increased prevalence of thyroid disease in children with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2015) 167:1560– 64. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.37064
- 136. Bassett AS, Chow EW, Husted J, Weksberg R, Caluseriu O, Webb GD, et al. Clinical features of 78 adults with 22q11 Deletion Syndrome. Am J Med Genet A. (2005) 138:307–13. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.30984
- Bauer AJ. Approach to the pediatric patient with Graves' disease: when is definitive therapy warranted? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2011) 96:580– 8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0898
- Brown JJ, Datta V, Browning MJ, Swift PG. Graves' disease in Digeorge syndrome: patient report with a review of endocrine autoimmunity associated with 22q11.2 deletion. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2004) 17:1575–9. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2004.17.11.1575
- Kawame H, Adachi M, Tachibana K, Kurosawa K, Ito F, Gleason MM, et al. Graves' disease in patients with 22q11.2 deletion. *J Pediatr.* (2001) 139:892–5. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2001.119448
- 140. Marcovecchio GE, Bortolomai I, Ferrua F, Fontana E, Imberti L, Conforti E, et al. Thymic epithelium abnormalities in DiGeorge and Down syndrome patients contribute to dysregulation in T cell development. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:447. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00447

- Ueda Y, Uraki S, Inaba H, Nakashima S, Ariyasu H, Iwakura H, et al. Graves' disease in pediatric and elderly patients with 22q11.2 deletion syndrome. *Intern Med.* (2017) 56:1169–73. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.56.7927
- 142. Sullivan KE, McDonald-McGinn D, Zackai EH. CD4⁺ CD25⁺ T-cell production in healthy humans and in patients with thymic hypoplasia. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol.* (2002) 9:1129– 31. doi: 10.1128/CDLI.9.5.1129-1131.2002
- 143. Di Cesare S, Puliafito P, Ariganello P, Marcovecchio GE, Mandolesi M, Capolino R, et al. Autoimmunity and regulatory T cells in 22q11.2 deletion syndrome patients. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol.* (2015) 26:591– 4. doi: 10.1111/pai.12420
- 144. Klocperk A, Grecová J, Šišmová K, Kayserová J, Fronková E, Šedivá A. Helios expression in T-regulatory cells in patients with di george syndrome. J Clin Immunol. (2014) 34:864–70. doi: 10.1007/s10875-014-0071-y
- 145. Zemble R, Luning Prak E, McDonald K, McDonald-McGinn D, Zackai E, Sullivan K. Secondary immunologic consequences in chromosome 22q11.2 deletion syndrome (DiGeorge syndrome/velocardiofacial syndrome). *Clin Immunol.* (2010) 136:409–18. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2010.04.011
- 146. Kawamura T, Nimura I, Hanafusa M, Fujikawa R, Okubo M, Egusa G, et al. DiGeorge syndrome with Graves' disease: a case report. *Endocr J.* (2000) 47:91–95. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.47.91
- 147. de Almeida JR, James AL, Papsin BC, Weksburg R, Clark H, Blaser S. Thyroid gland and carotid artery anomalies in 22q11.2 deletion syndromes. *Laryngoscope*. (2009) 119:1495–500. doi: 10.1002/lary.20281
- 148. Stagi S, Lapi E, Gambineri E, Salti R, Genuardi M, Colarusso G, et al. Thyroid function and morphology in subjects with microdeletion of chromosome 22q11 (del(22)q11). *Clin Endocrinol.* (2010) 72:839–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2009.03736.x
- 149. Jerome LA, Papaioannou VE. DiGeorge syndrome phenotype in mice mutant for the T-box gene, Tbx1. Nat Genet. (2001) 27:286–91. doi: 10.1038/88233
- Pober BR. Williams-beuren syndrome. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:239– 52. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0903074
- Güven A. Seven cases with Williams-Beuren syndrome: endocrine evaluation and long-term follow-up. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2017) 30:159– 65. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2016-0039
- 152. Amenta S, Sofocleous C, Kolialexi A, Thomaidis L, Giouroukos S, Karavitakis E, et al. Clinical manifestations and molecular investigation of 50 patients with Williams syndrome in the Greek population. *Pediatr Res.* (2005) 57:789–95. doi: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000157675.06850.68
- Levy-Shraga Y, Gothelf D, Pinchevski-Kadir S, Katz U, Modan-Moses D. Endocrine manifestations in children with Williams-Beuren syndrome. *Acta Paediatr.* (2018) 107:678–84. doi: 10.1111/apa.14198
- 154. Kim YM, Cho JH, Kang E, Kim GH, Seo EJ, Lee BH, et al. Endocrine dysfunctions in children with Williams-Beuren syndrome. Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2016) 21:15–20. doi: 10.6065/apem.2016.21.1.15
- 155. Morris CA. Williams syndrome. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJH, Stephens K, et al., editors. *GeneReviews*(R), Seattle, WA: University of Washington (1999). p. 1993–2020.
- 156. Stagi S, Bindi G, Neri AS, Lapi E, Losi S, Jenuso R, et al. Thyroid function and morphology in patients affected by Williams syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2005) 63:456–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2005.02365.x
- 157. Selicorni A, Fratoni A, Pavesi MA, Bottigelli M, Arnaboldi E, Milani D. Thyroid anomalies in Williams Syndrome: investigation of 95 patients. Am J Med Genet A. (2006) 140:1098–101. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.31210
- Cambiaso P, Orazi C, Digilio MC, Loche S, Capolino R, Tozzi A, et al. Thyroid morphology and subclinical hypothyroidism in children and adolescents with Williams syndrome. J Pediatr. (2007) 150:62– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.10.060
- 159. Chen WJ, Ji C, Yao D, Zhao ZY. Thyroid evaluation of children and adolescents with Williams syndrome in Zhejiang Province. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2017) 30:1271–6. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2017-0140
- Cammareri V, Vignati G, Nocera G, Beck-Peccoz P, Persani L. Thyroid hemiagenesis and elevated thyrotropin levels in a child with Williams syndrome. *Am J Med Genet.* (1999) 85:491–4.
- 161. Stagi S, Manoni C, Salti R, Cecchi C, Chiarelli F. Thyroid hypoplasia as a cause of congenital hypothyroidism in Williams syndrome. *Horm Res.* (2008) 70:316–18. doi: 10.1159/000157879

- 162. Dimitriadou M, Christoforidis A, Sarri C, Gyftodimou Y, Athanassiou-Metaxa M. Congenital hypothyroidism as the initial presentation that led to the diagnosis of Williams syndrome. *Gene.* (2012) 494:102– 4. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2011.12.007
- 163. Bini R, Pela I. New case of thyroid dysgenesis and clinical signs of hypothyroidism in Williams syndrome. Am J Med Genet A. (2004) 127A:183-5. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.20609
- 164. Allegri L, Baldan F, Mio C, De Felice M, Amendola E, Damante G. BAZ1B is a candidate gene responsible for hypothyroidism in Williams syndrome. *Eur J Med Genet.* (2020) 63:103894. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmg.2020.103894
- 165. Dayal D, Giri D, Senniappan S. A rare association of central hypothyroidism and adrenal insufficiency in a boy with Williams-Beuren syndrome. *Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2017) 22:65–67. doi: 10.6065/apem.2017. 22.1.65
- 166. Palacios-Verdú MG, Segura-Puimedon M, Borralleras C, Flores R, Del Campo M, Campuzano V, et al. Metabolic abnormalities in Williams-Beuren syndrome. J Med Genet. (2015) 52:248– 55. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2014-102713
- 167. Morris CA, Braddock SR, Council on Genetics. Health care supervision for children with Williams syndrome. *Pediatrics*. (2020) 145:e20193761. doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-3761
- Heksch R, Kamboj M, Anglin K, Obrynba K. Review of Prader-Willi syndrome: the endocrine approach. *Transl Pediatr.* (2017) 6:274– 85. doi: 10.21037/tp.2017.09.04
- Angulo MA, Butler MG, Cataletto ME. Prader-Willi syndrome: a review of clinical, genetic, and endocrine findings. J Endocrinol Invest. (2015) 38:1249–63. doi: 10.1007/s40618-015-0312-9
- Driscoll DJ, Miller JL, Schwartz S, Cassidy SB. Prader-Willi syndrome. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJH, Stephens K, et al., editors. *GeneReviews*(R) Seattle, WA: University of Washington (1993-2020).
- 171. Goldstone AP, Holland AJ, Hauffa BP, Hokken-Koelega AC, Tauber M, Speakers contributors at the Second Expert Meeting of the Comprehensive Care of Patients with PWS. Recommendations for the diagnosis and management of Prader-Willi syndrome. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2008) 93:4183–97. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-0649
- 172. Miller JL, Goldstone AP, Couch JA, Shuster J, He G, Driscoll DJ, et al. Pituitary abnormalities in Prader-Willi syndrome and early onset morbid obesity. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2008) 146A:570–7. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.31677
- 173. Tauber M, Barbeau C, Jouret B, Pienkowski C, Malzac P, Moncla A, et al. Auxological and endocrine evolution of 28 children with Prader-Willi syndrome: effect of GH therapy in 14 children. *Horm Res.* (2000) 53:279–87. doi: 10.1159/000053184
- 174. Butler MG, Theodoro M, Skouse JD. Thyroid function studies in Prader-Willi syndrome. Am J Med Genet A. (2007) 143A:488– 92. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.31683
- 175. Vaiani E, Herzovich V, Chaler E, Chertkoff L, Rivarola MA, Torrado M, et al. Thyroid axis dysfunction in patients with Prader-Willi syndrome during the first 2 years of life. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2010) 73:546– 50. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2010.03840.x
- 176. Sharkia M, Michaud S, Berthier MT, Giguère Y, Stewart L, Deladoëy J, et al. Thyroid function from birth to adolescence in Prader-Willi syndrome. J Pediatr. (2013) 163:800–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.03.058
- 177. Diene G, Mimoun E, Feigerlova E, Caula S, Molinas C, Grandjean H, et al. Endocrine disorders in children with Prader-Willi syndrome-data from 142 children of the French database. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2010) 74:121– 8. doi: 10.1159/000313377
- 178. Festen DA, Visser TJ, Otten BJ, Wit JM, Duivenvoorden HJ, Hokken-Koelega AC. Thyroid hormone levels in children with Prader-Willi syndrome before and during growth hormone treatment. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2007) 67:449– 56. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.02910.x
- 179. Iughetti L, Vivi G, Balsamo A, Corrias A, Crinò A, Delvecchio M, et al. Thyroid function in patients with Prader-Willi syndrome: an Italian multicenter study of 339 patients. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* (2019) 32:159– 65. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2018-0388
- 180. Oto Y, Murakami N, Matsubara K, Saima S, Ogata H, Ihara H, et al. Effects of growth hormone treatment on thyroid function in pediatric patients with Prader-Willi syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2020) 182:659– 63. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.61499

- 181. Eiholzer U, Blum WF, Molinari L. Body fat determined by skinfold measurements is elevated despite underweight in infants with Prader-Labhart-Willi syndrome. J Pediatr. (1999) 134:222–5. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(99)70419-1
- Insoft RM, Hurvitz J, Estrella E, Krishnamoorthy KS. Prader-Willi syndrome associated with fetal goiter: a case report. Am J Perinatol. (1999) 16:29– 31. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-993832
- 183. Bocchini S, Fintini D, Grugni G, Boiani A, Convertino A, Crinò A. Congenital hypothyroidism due to ectopic sublingual thyroid gland in Prader-Willi syndrome: a case report. *Ital J Pediatr.* (2017) 43:87. doi: 10.1186/s13052-017-0403-7
- 184. Sher C, Bistritzer T, Reisler G, Reish O. Congenital hypothyroidism with Prader-Willi syndrome. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2002) 15:105– 7. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2002.15.1.105
- 185. Grugni G, Crinò A, De Bellis A, Convertino A, Bocchini S, Maestrini S, et al. Italian autoimmune hypophysitis network study and of the genetic obesity study group of the Italian Society of Pediatric Endocrinology and Diabetology (ISPED). Autoimmune pituitary involvement in Prader-Willi syndrome: new perspective for further research. *Endocrine*. (2018) 62:733–6. doi: 10.1007/s12020-018-1666-5
- 186. Rauen KA. The RASopathies. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. (2013) 14:355–69. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genom-091212-153523
- 187. Tajan M, Paccoud R, Branka S, Edouard T, Yart A. The RASopathy family: consequences of germline activation of the RAS/MAPK pathway. *Endocr Rev.* (2018) 39:676–700. doi: 10.1210/er.2017-00232
- Jorge AA, Malaquias AC, Arnhold IJ, Mendonca BB. Noonan syndrome and related disorders: a review of clinical features and mutations in genes of the RAS/MAPK pathway. *Horm Res.* (2009) 71:185–93. doi: 10.1159/ 000201106
- 189. van der Burgt I. Noonan syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2007) 2:4. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-2-4
- Rohrer T. Noonan syndrome: introduction and basic clinical features. *Horm Res.* (2009) 72:3–7. doi: 10.1159/000243772
- 191. Roberts AE, Allanson JE, Tartaglia M, Gelb BD. Noonan syndrome. Lancet. (2013) 381:333–42. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61023-X
- 192. Allanson JE, Roberts AE. Noonan syndrome. In: Adam MP, Ardinger HH, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJH, Stephens K, et al., editors. *GeneReviews*(R). Seattle, WA: University of Washington (2001). p. 1993–2020.
- Bhambhani V, Muenke M. Noonan syndrome. Am Fam Phys. (2014) 89:37–43.
- 194. Romano AA, Allanson JE, Dahlgren J, Gelb BD, Hall B, Pierpont ME, et al. Noonan syndrome: clinical features, diagnosis, and management guidelines. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:746–59. doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3207
- 195. Svensson J, Carlsson A, Ericsson UB, Westphal O, Ivarsson SA. Noonan's syndrome and autoimmune diseases. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2003) 16:217–18. doi: 10.1515/JPEM.2003.16.2.217
- Sharland M, Burch M, McKenna WM, Paton MA. A clinical study of Noonan syndrome. Arch Dis Child. (1992) 67:178–83. doi: 10.1136/adc.67.2.178
- Vesterhus P, Aarskog D. Noonan's syndrome and autoimmune thyroiditis. J Pediatr. (1973) 83:237–40. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3476(73)80482-2
- Allanson JE. Noonan syndrome. Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet. (2007) 145C:274–9. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.c.30138
- 199. Quaio CR, Carvalho JF, da Silva CA, Bueno C, Brasil AS, Pereira AC, et al. Autoimmune disease and multiple autoantibodies in 42 patients with RASopathies. Am J Med Genet Part A. (2012) 158A:1077–82. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.35290
- 200. Lopez-Rangel E, Malleson PN, Lirenman DS, Roa B, Wiszniewska J, Lewis ME. Systemic lupus erythematosus and other autoimmune disorders in children with Noonan syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A*. (2005) 139:239– 42. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.31017
- 201. Amoroso A, Garzia P, Vadacca M, Galluzzo S, Porto FD, Mitterhofer AP, et al. The unusual association of three autoimmune diseases in a patient with Noonan syndrome. J Adolesc Health. (2003) 32:94– 97. doi: 10.1016/S1054-139X(02)00364-6
- 202. Nath SK, Quintero-Del-Rio AI, Kilpatrick J, Feo L, Ballesteros M, Harley JB. Linkage at 12q24 with Systemic Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) is established and confirmed in Hispanic and European American families. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2004) 74:73–82. doi: 10.1086/380913

- Wang J, Mizui M, Zeng LF, Bronson R, Finnell M, Terhorst C, et al. Inhibition of SHP2 ameliorates the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Clin Invest.* (2016) 126:2077–92. doi: 10.1172/JCI87037
- 204. Yusa S, Campbell KS. Src homology region 2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase-2 (SHP-2) can play a direct role in the inhibitory function of killer cell Ig-like receptors in human NK cells. *J Immunol.* (2003) 170:4539– 47. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.9.4539
- Purdy AK, Campbell KS. SHP-2 expression negatively regulates NK cell function. J Immunol. (2009) 183:7234–43. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900088
- 206. Kapoor GS, Zhan Y, Johnson GR, O'Rourke DM. Distinct domains in the SHP-2 phosphatase differentially regulate epidermal growth factor receptor/NF-kappaB activation through Gab1 in glioblastoma cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2004) 24:823–36. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.2.823-836.2004
- 207. Mor A, Philips MR, Pillinger MH. The role of Ras signaling in lupus T lymphocytes: biology and pathogenesis. *Clin Immunol.* (2007) 125:215– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2007.08.008
- Williams VC, Lucas J, Babcock MA, Gutmann DH, Korf B, Maria BL. Neurofibromatosis type 1 revisited. *Pediatrics*. (2009) 123:124– 33. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-3204
- 209. Hirbe AC, Gutmann DH. Neurofibromatosis type 1: a multidisciplinary approach to care. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:834–43. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70063-8
- 210. Ferner RE, Huson SM, Thomas N, Moss C, Willshaw H, Evans DG, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of individuals with neurofibromatosis 1. *J Med Genet.* (2007) 44:81–8. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2006.045906
- 211. Karaconji T, Whist E, Jamieson RV, Flaherty MP, Grigg JRB. Neurofibromatosis Type 1: review and update on emerging therapies. *Asia Pac J Ophthalmol.* (2019) 8:62–72. doi: 10.22608/APO.2018182
- Hegedus B, Yeh TH, Lee DY, Emnett RJ, Li J, Gutmann DH. Neurofibromin regulates somatic growth through the hypothalamic-pituitary axis. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2008) 17:2956–66. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn194
- 213. Bizzarri C, Bottaro G. Endocrine implications of neurofibromatosis 1 in childhood. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2015) 83:232–41. doi: 10.1159/000369802
- 214. Sani I, Albanese A. Endocrine Long-term follow-up of children with neurofibromatosis type 1 and optic pathway glioma. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2017) 87:179–88. doi: 10.1159/000458525
- Vassilopoulou-Sellin R, Klein MJ, Slopis JK. Growth hormone deficiency in children with neurofibromatosis type 1 without suprasellar lesions. *Pediatr Neurol.* (2000) 22:355–8. doi: 10.1016/S0887-8994(00)00123-5
- Demirbilek H, Küpeli S, Özbek MN, Saygi S, Yildirim AT. Neurofibromatosis type 1 and autoimmune hyperthyroidism in a 10, 5 years-old girl. *Cukurova Med J.* (2013) 38, 805–8.
- 217. Yalcin B, Tamer E, Gür G, Oztas P, Polat MU, Alli N. Neurofibromatosis 1/Noonan syndrome associated with Hashimoto's thyroiditis and vitiligo. *Acta Derm Venereol.* (2006) 86:80–81. doi: 10.2340/00015555-0005
- Nanda A. Autoimmune diseases associated with neurofibromatosis type 1. Pediatr Dermatol. (2008) 25:392–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1470.2008.00692.x
- Nabi J. Neurofibromatosis type 1 associated with Hashimoto's thyroiditis: coincidence or possible link. *Case Rep Neurol Med.* (2013) 2013:910656. doi: 10.1155/2013/910656
- 220. Ozhan B, Ozguven AA, Ersoy B. Neurofibromatosis type 1 and diabetes mellitus: an unusual association. *Case Rep Endocrinol.* (2013) 2013:689107. doi: 10.1155/2013/689107
- 221. Gundogdu B, Yolbas S, Yildirim A, Gonen M, Koca SS. Coexistence of ankylosing spondylitis and neurofibromatosis type 1. *Case Rep Rheumatol.* (2016) 2016:4039801. doi: 10.1155/2016/4039801
- 222. Kamoun M, Charfi N, Rekik N, Mnif MF, Mnif F, Kmiha H, et al. Neurofibromatosis and type 1 diabetes mellitus: an unusual association. *Diabetic Med.* (2009) 26:1180–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009. 02848.x
- 223. Işik IA, Akbulut UE. The coexistence of neurofibromatosis type I and celiac disease in a child. *Turk J Gastroenterol.* (2018) 29:522– 3. doi: 10.5152/tjg.2018.18053
- 224. Güler S, Yeşil G, Önal H. Endocrinological evaluations of a neurofibromatosis type 1 cohort: is it necessary to evaluate autoimmune thyroiditis in neurofibromatosis type 1? *Balkan Med J.* (2017) 34:522–6. doi: 10.4274/balkanmedj.2015.1717

- Howell SJ, Wilton P, Lindberg A, Shalet SM. Growth hormone and neurofibromatosis. *Horm Res.* (2000) 53:70–76. doi: 10.1159/000 053208
- 226. Yap YS, McPherson JR, Ong CK, Rozen SG, Teh BT, Lee AS et al. The NF1 gene revisited - from bench to bedside. Oncotarget. (2014) 5:5873– 92. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2194
- 227. Hiatt K, Ingram DA, Huddleston H, Spandau DF, Kapur R, Clapp DW. Loss of the nf1 tumor suppressor gene decreases FAS antigen expression in myeloid cells. *Am J Pathol.* (2004) 164:1471–9. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63233-6
- 228. Ingram DA, Zhang L, McCarthy J, Wenning MJ, Fisher L, Yang FC et al. Lymphoproliferative defects in mice lacking the expression of neurofibromin: functional and biochemical consequences of Nf1 deficiency in T-cell development and function. *Blood.* (2002) 100:3656–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-03-0734
- 229. Kim TJ, Cariappa A, Iacomini J, Tang M, Shih S, Bernards A, et al. Defective proliferative responses in B lymphocytes and thymocytes that lack neurofibromin. *Mol Immunol.* (2002) 38:701–8. doi: 10.1016/S0161-5890(01) 00101-8
- Armour CM, Allanson JE. Further delineation of cardio-facio-cutaneous syndrome: clinical features of 38 individuals with proven mutations. J Med Genet. (2008) 45:249–54. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2007.054460
- Triantafyllou P, Christoforidis A, Vargiami E, Zafeiriou DI. Growth hormone replacement therapy in Costello syndrome. *Growth Horm IGF Res.* (2014) 24:271–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ghir.2014.10.001
- 232. Macmurdo CF, Wooderchak-Donahue W, Bayrak-Toydemir P, Le J, Wallenstein MB, Milla C, et al. RASA1 somatic mutation and variable expressivity in capillary malformation/arteriovenous malformation (CM/AVM) syndrome. Am J Med Genet A. (2016) 170:1450–4. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.37613

- Denayer E, Chmara M, Brems H, Kievit AM, van Bever Y, Van den Ouweland AMW, et al. Legius syndrome in fourteen families. *Hum Mutat.* (2011) 32:E1985–98. doi: 10.1002/humu.21404
- DYSCERNE— Noonan Syndrome Guideline Development Group. (2010). Management of Noonan Syndrome: A Clinical Guideline. Version: 1. Available online at: https://www.orpha.net/data/patho/Pro/ en/NoonanGuidelines2011.pdf (accessed February 15, 2011).
- Pierpont ME, Magoulas PL, Adi S, Kavamura MI, Neri G, Noonan J et al. Cardio-facio-cutaneous syndrome: clinical features, diagnosis, and management guidelines. *Pediatrics*. (2014) 134:e1149-62. doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-3189
- 236. Bergqvist C, Servy A, Valeyrie-Allanore L, Ferkal S, Combemale P, Wolkenstein P, et al. Neurofibromatosis 1 French national guidelines based on an extensive literature review since 1966. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (2020) 15:37. doi: 10.1186/s13023-020-1310-3
- Miller DT, Freedenberg D, Schorry E, Ullrich NJ, Viskochil D, Korf BR. Health supervision for children with neurofibromatosis type 1. *Pediatrics*. (2019) 143:e20190660. doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-0660

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kyritsi and Kanaka-Gantenbein. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Genetic Association Study of IL2RA, IFIH1, and CTLA-4 Polymorphisms With Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases and Type 1 Diabetes

Hanna Borysewicz-Sańczyk^{1*}, Beata Sawicka¹, Natalia Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek², Barbara Głowińska-Olszewska¹, Anna Kadłubiska¹, Joanna Gościk³, Agnieszka Szadkowska⁴, Aleksandra Łosiewicz⁴, Wojciech Młynarski⁵, Adam Krętowski⁶ and Artur Bossowski¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aneta Monika Gawlik, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

Reviewed by:

George Paltoglou, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Katarzyna Zorena, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

*Correspondence:

Hanna Borysewicz-Sańczyk hannaborysewicz@poczta.fm

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

Received: 06 April 2020 **Accepted:** 09 July 2020 **Published:** 21 August 2020

Citation:

Borysewicz-Sańczyk H, Sawicka B, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Głowińska-Olszewska B, Kadłubiska A, Gościk J, Szadkowska A, Łosiewicz A, Młynarski W, Krętowski A and Bossowski A (2020) Genetic Association Study of IL2RA, IFIH1, and CTLA-4 Polymorphisms With Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases and Type 1 Diabetes. Front. Pediatr. 8:481. doi: 10.3389/fped.2020.00481 ¹ Department of Pediatrics, Endocrinology, Diabetology With Cardiology Division, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland, ² Department of Endocrinology and Diabetes With Internal Medicine, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland, ³ Faculty of Computer Science, University of Technology, Bialystok, Poland, ⁴ Department of Pediatrics, Diabetology, Endocrinology and Nephrology, Medical University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland, ⁶ Department of Pediatrics, Oncology, Hematology and Diabetology, Medical University of Lodz, Lodz, Poland, ⁶ Department of Endocrinology and Diabetes With Internal Medicine, Medical University in Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland

Autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITDs) which include Graves' disease (GD) and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) as well as type 1 diabetes (T1D) are common autoimmune disorders in children. Many genes are involved in the modulation of the immune system and their polymorphisms might predispose to autoimmune diseases development. According to the literature genes encoding IL2RA (alpha subunit of Interleukin 2 receptor), IFIH1 (Interferon induced with helicase C domain 1) and CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T cell antigen 4) might be associated with autoimmune diseases pathogenesis. The aim of the study was to assess the association of chosen single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of IL2RA, IFIH1, and CTLA-4 genes in the group of Polish children with AITDs and in children with T1D. We analyzed single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the IL2RA region (rs7093069), IFIH1 region (rs1990760) and CTLA-4 region (rs231775) in group of Polish children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes (n = 194) and autoimmune thyroid diseases (GD n = 170, HT n = 81) and healthy age and sex matched controls for comparison (n = 110). There were significant differences observed between T1D patients and control group in alleles of IL2RA (rs7093069 T > C) and CTLA-4 (rs231775 G > A). In addition, the study revealed T/T genotype at the IL2RA locus (rs7093069) and G/G genotype at the CTLA-4 locus (rs231775) to be statistically significant more frequent in children with T1D. Moreover, genotypes C/T and T/T at the IFIH1 locus (rs1990760) were significantly more frequent in patients with T1D than in controls. We observed no significant differences between AITD patients and a control group in analyzed SNPs. In conclusion, we detected that each allele T of rs7093069 SNP at the IL2RA locus and G allele of rs231775 SNP at the CTLA-4 locus as well as C/T and T/T genotypes

86

of rs1990760 SNP at the IFIH1 locus are predisposing in terms of T1D development. Thereby, we confirmed that IL2RA, IFIH1, and CTLA-4 gene locus have a role in T1D susceptibility. The analysis of selected SNPs revealed no association with AITDs in a group of Polish children and adolescents.

Keywords: Graves' disease (GD), Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT), type 1 diabetes (T1D), genetic susceptibility, single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), IL2RA, IFIH1, CTLA-4

INTRODUCTION

The underlying cause of autoimmune diseases is the loss of immune tolerance to tissue-specific antigenic peptides which leads to immune response directed against one's own body's cells. Still not completely understood, complex immune mechanisms including the dysfunction of the immune system might be involved in the autoimmune diseases pathogenesis (1). Among the most common chronic autoimmune endocrine disorders in children there are autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITDs) which include Graves' disease (GD) and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) as well as type 1 diabetes (T1D) (2). In children with autoimmune thyroiditis immune reactions are directed against the cells of thyroid gland. In GD the thyrotropin receptor (TSH-R) is activated with antibodies causing the overactivity of the thyroid gland, while in HT humoral and cell-mediated thyroid injury leads to destruction of thyroid cells and hypothyroidism as a consequence (3). In diabetic patients an inappropriate immune reaction results in autoreactive T-cell infiltration and production of tissue specific autoantibodies which cause the destruction and dysfunction of the insulin secreting pancreatic beta cells and insulin deficiency (4). The mechanisms leading to development of these diseases remain unknown, however numerous data indicate that apart from the environmental factors there is a strong genetic susceptibility to the autoimmune diseases (5-8). The relevance of genetic factors is evident from clustering of AITDs or T1D within families, in particular monozygotic and dizygotic twins (9, 10). Many genes might be involved in the modulation of the immune system and some of them were recently found to influence autoimmune endocrine disorders development. Moreover, recent studies have demonstrated that some genetic risk factors for autoimmunity are shared between diseases, contributing to the development of more than one autoimmune disorder (10). Current publications showed association between autoimmune diseases and chromosome 10p15 region for IL2RA (interleukin 2 receptor-α), chromosome 2q33 region for CTLA-4 (cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4) and chromosome 2q24 region for IFIH1 (interferon induced with helicase C domain 1) (11, 12). The most frequent type of human genome variation are single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) providing powerful tools for a variety of medical genetic studies (13). Although certain polymorphic variants of genes encoding IL2AR, CTLA-4, or IFIH1 have been reported to implicate T1D and ATDs development in adults, there are only few studies focusing on children (14-18).

Interleukin 2 (IL2) is a lymphocytes growth factor playing an important role in modulation of immune homeostasis as an

essential self-tolerance regulator (19, 20). Its action is mediated by a quaternary receptor signaling complex (IL2R) containing α , β and a common γ chain receptors (21, 22). Alpha subunit of the IL2 receptor, IL2R α (also known as CD25), encoded by the interleukin 2 receptor α gene (IL2RA), plays a key role in mediating interleukin 2 immunoregulatory function. The expression of IL2RA has been described at high levels on the surface of the regulatory T cells (Tregs), a population of T cells with an ability to inhibit autoreactive T cells (23). Further studies indicated IL2RA's essential role in sensitizing T cells for induced cell death (22) that is crucial for their function as a suppressor for T cell immune responses to auto-, alloantigens, as well as tumor antigens and antigens deriving from pathogens (24). SNPs of genes influencing Treg function, such as IL2RA, may cause an increased risk of autoimmune disease.

Interferon induced with helicase C domain 1 (IFIH1) also known as Helicard or melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA-5), plays an essential role in body immune reactions against viruses. IFIH1 belongs to the family of RNA helicases binding viral RNA (25, 26). IFIH1 protein acts as a detector of viral double strand RNA (dsRNA) and causes the apoptosis of virally infected cells (27). The studies suggest that variants of genes involved in the inflammation responses might have the potential to alter their function and expression (28). Previously established relationships between autoimmune diseases development and viral infection might have a molecular basis provided by genetic variants of IFIH1 (29). The SNPs of IFIH1 could cause the abnormal activation of antiviral defenses signaling leading to the autoimmune disease development.

Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4), also known as CD152, encodes T cell receptors responsible for the attenuation of immune response. CTLA-4 acts by delivering an inhibitory signal decreasing cytokine production, activation and proliferation of T lymphocytes (30–32). Polymorphic variants of CTLA-4 gene are implicated in dysregulation of immune homeostasis due to an aberrant activation of T-lymphocytes in the periphery which may cause the infiltration of glands leading to their dysfunction and autoimmune disease development. According to the literature, common CTLA-4 polymorphisms have been found to confer susceptibility to T1D, AITDs (12, 33) and other autoimmune disorders (34, 35).

Since it has been suggested that multiple genes are associated with pathogenesis of autoimmune disorders and some autoimmune diseases might share the same genetic background of co-occurrence within individuals and families, the aim of the study was to assess the association of chosen single nucleotide polymorphisms of IL2RA, IFIH1, and CTLA-4 genes in the group of Polish children with AITDs and in children with T1D. In our study we hypothesized that the same polymorphisms of IL2RA, IFIH1, or CTLA-4 genes might be associated with AITDs and might predispose to T1D development.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We performed this original research study in the group of 81 HT patients (mean age, 15.2 \pm 2.2 years) 170 GD patients (mean age, 16.5 \pm 2 years) recruited from the Outpatient Clinic in Bialystok and 194 patients with T1D (mean age, 10.18 \pm 3.4 years) recruited from the Outpatient Clinic in Lodz. None of the patients suffered from more than one of these conditions. The qualifying criteria for patients and controls are presented in Figure 1. AITDs were diagnosed according to the Polish Endocrinology Association guidelines which correspond with the guidelines of the European Society for Pediatric Endocrinology. The inclusion criteria for patients with AITDs were based on medical history, physical examination, laboratory and ultrasound investigations. GD was diagnosed in children with large goiter, hyperthyroidism in laboratory tests and positive thyrotropin receptor antibodies (TR-Ab). HT patients developed clinical and biochemical symptoms of hypothyroidism and demonstrated presence of anti-TPO and/or anti-TG autoantibodies. T1D was diagnosed according to the Polish Diabetes Association guidelines which correspond with the guidelines of the WHO and was based on clinical symptoms, hyperglycemia, low fasting C-peptide levels and the presence of diabetes autoantibodies (islet cell antibodies - ICA, glutamic acid decarboxylase antibodies - GAD, insulin autoantibodies - IAA, zinc transporter 8 autoantibodies - ZnT8 or antibodies to protein tyrosine phosphatase - IA2). The control group consisted of 110 healthy volunteers (mean age, 16.3 ± 3 years). All controls had no history of HT, GD or T1D, were euthyroid and had no thyroid and diabetes autoantibodies. For the treatment patients with GD received methimazole at a dose of 0.3-1.0 mg/kg/d together with propranolol (0.5-1.0 mg/kg/d) orally. HT patients were treated with L-thyroxine (1 mcg/kg/d) orally. Diabetic patients were receiving insulin in appropriate doses. Before enrolment, all parents of patients and controls and all children over 16 years old gave informed consent. The study protocol was accepted by the Local Ethical Committee at the Medical University of Bialystok and adheres to the Declaration of Helsinki. Additional information regarding the study subjects are shown in Table 1.

Blood for analysis was collected in the morning from the basilic vein. Serum levels of thyrotropin (TSH), free thyroxine (fT4), and free triiodothyronine (fT3) were evaluated on electrochemiluminescence "ECLIA" with Cobas E411 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). Ranges for TSH were: 0.28–4.3 (μ IU/l), for fT4: 1.1–1.7 ng/dl and for fT3: 2.3–5.0 pg/ml. Antibodies against TSH-Receptor (TR-Ab), Thyroid Peroxidase (TPO) and Thyroglobulin (TG) were determined using ECLIA with Modular Analytics E170 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). The positive values were: > 1.75 U/l for TR-Ab, > 34 IU/mL for anti-TPO-Ab and > 115 IU/mL for anti-TG-Ab. The conventional anti-diabetes autoantibodies were detected in serum samples: ICA

with immunofluorescence, GAD, IA2, and ZnT8 by ELISA (RSR, USA) and IAA with RIA (CisBiointernational, France and RSR, USA). The positive values for ICA, GADA, IA2 and IAA positivity were 10 Juvenile Diabetes Foundation units, 10 U/ml and 20 U/ml and 7%/0.4 U/ml respectively.

The DNA was extracted with a classical salting-out method from the blood leukocytes. All study subjects were genotyped for SNPs at three loci: IL2RA (rs7093069), IFIH1 (rs1990760), and CTLA-4 (rs231775). TaqMan SNP genotyping assay (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) was used for all genotyping. For this, polymorphisms fluorogenic TaqMan probes were used. Reactions were performed in a 7900HT fast real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems) according to the conditions: 10 min at 95 C for starting AmpliTaq Gold activity, 40 cycles of 95 C for 15 s and 60 C for 1 min. A sample without template served as a negative control and it was helpful to detect any false positive signal caused by contamination. All SNPs were analyzed in duplicates.

Median unbiased estimator (mid-p) of odds ratio, the exact confidence interval and associated *p*-value obtained with the mid-p method were used to determine any association between genotype or allele occurrence and patient's status (36). Either parametric or non-parametric methods, according to the normality and homogeneity of variance assumptions, were used to assess whether there are statistically significant differences between groups defined by genotypes and quantitative features. False discovery rate *p*-value adjustment method was applied due to the issue of multiple testing during the *post-hoc* analysis (37). As proposed in (38) measure D' of linkage disequilibrium was used. For all calculations *P*-value of < 0.05 was considered to be significant. The R software (Vienna, Austria) environment was exploited for all calculations (39). Statistical power calculation with respect to the total sample size was calculated with the use of G*Power ver. 3.1.9.6 software (40). Cohen's w was applied as a measure of effect size. Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium was checked with the utilities of the genetics package (41).

RESULTS

Significant associations were observed between T1D patients and controls in alleles of IL2RA (rs7093069 T > C, P = 0.013, OR = 1.59, 95% CI = 1.10-2.34, the power of the test was 0.999, estimated effect size w was equal to 0.231, with the total sample size *n* = 598) (**Figure 2**) and CTLA-4 (rs231775 G > A, *P* = 0.016, OR = 1.50, 95% CI = 1.07-2.10, the power of the test was 0.9935, estimated effect size w was equal to 0.203, with the total sample size n = 608) (Figure 6). In addition the study revealed T/T genotype at the IL2RA locus (rs7093069) and G/G genotype at the CTLA-4 locus (rs231775) to be statistically significantly more frequent in children with T1D (P < 0.001, OR = 8.50, 95%CI = 2.42–58.38, the power of the test 1, estimated effect size w equal to 1.000, with the total sample size n = 299 and P = 0.015, OR = 2.34, 95% CI = 1.17-4.84, the power of the test was 0.997, estimated effect size w was equal to 0.320, with the total sample size n = 304 respectively) (Figures 3, 7). Moreover, genotypes C/T and T/T at the IFIH1 locus (rs1990760) were significantly more frequent in patients with T1D than in controls (P = 0.011,



OR = 3.13, 95% CI = 1.29-8.00 and P = 0.008, OR = 3.36, 95%CI = 1.36-8.73 respectively, the power of the test 0.918, estimated effect size w was equal to 0.240, with the total sample size n = 303) (Figure 5). In contrast there were no significant differences between AITD patients and control group in analyzed SNPs. Further analysis revealed statistically significant differences between GD and T1D patients: T/T genotype at the IL2RA locus (rs7093069) was more frequent in T1D patients (P = 0.03, OR = 2.27,95%CI = 1.06–5.22, the power of the test 1, estimated effect size w equal to 0.449, with the total sample size n = 354) (Figure 3), as well as T alleles, C/T and T/T genotypes at the IFIH1 locus (rs1990760) were more often in diabetic patients (P = 0.003, OR = 1.58, 95% CI = 1.16-2.14, the power of the test 0.998, estimated effect size w equal to 0.203, with the total sample size n = 728, P = 1.69E-06, OR = 5.82, 95%CI = 2.72-13.69 and P = 1.74E-05, OR = 4.99, 95%CI = 2.32-11.80, the power of the test 0.999, estimated effect size w equal to 0.402, with the total sample size n = 364, respectively) (Figures 4, 5). Comparing HT children with T1D patients T allele and T/T genotype at the IL2RA locus (rs7093069) were statistically significant more frequent in patients with diabetes (P = 0.002, OR = 1.92, 95%CI = 1.25–3.02, the power of the test 0.999, estimated effect size w equal to 0.314, with the total sample size n = 558 and P = 0.002, OR = 4,96, 95%CI = 1.64-22.39, the power of the test 1, estimated effect size w equal to 0.449, with the total sample size n = 354, respectively) (Figures 2, 3). C/T and T/T genotypes at IFIH1 locus (rs1990760) were more frequent in T1D patients than in HT children (*P* = 0.001, OR = 4.67, 95%CI = 1.86–12.33, and P = 0.004, OR = 3.78, 95%CI = 1.50-9.99 respectively, the power of the test 0.990, estimated effect size w equal to 0.309, with the total sample size n = 282) (Figure 5). G alleles, A/G and G/G genotypes at the CTLA-4 locus (rs231775) were more frequent in T1D than in HT group (P = 0.009, OR = 1.63, 95%CI = 1.12-2.38, the power of the test 0.999, estimated effect size w equal to 0.246, with the total sample size n = 566, P = 0.003, OR = 2.42, 95%CI = 1.32–4.45 and P = 0.02, OR = 2.29, 95%CI = 1.12–4.81 the power of the test 0.999, estimated effect size w equal to 0.385, with the total sample size n = 283, respectively) (Figures 6, 7). There were no violations detected according to Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium: p = 0.7369 for rs1990760, p = 0.6331 for rs231775 and p = 0.3001 for rs7093069.

DISCUSSION

Variants of IL2RA gene had been recently associated with susceptibility to several autoimmune diseases such as T1D (42), AITDs (16, 43), rheumatoid arthritis (44) or juvenile idiopathic arthritis (45) that implies the possible general effect on predisposition to autoimmunity of this region.

| TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics of patients with | T1D, ATD and controls. |
|---------|---|------------------------|
|---------|---|------------------------|

| | T1D (mean \pm SD) | p * | HT (mean \pm SD) | p** | GD (mean \pm SD) | p*** | Controls (mean \pm SD |
|---------------------------|---------------------|------------|---------------------|---------|--------------------|---------|-------------------------|
| n (F/M) | 194 (88/106) | | 81 (59/22) | | 170 (126/44) | | 110 (50/60) |
| Age (years) | 10.18 ± 3.9 | < 0.01 | 15.2 ± 2.2 | NS | 16.5 ± 2 | NS | 16.3 ± 3 |
| Weight (kg) | 43.4 ± 17.0 | < 0.01 | 58 ± 5.28 | NS | 55.19 ± 2.39 | NS | 60.9 ± 7.8 |
| Height (cm) | 148.5 ± 17.8 | < 0.01 | 154.26 ± 4.14 | NS | 162.19 ± 2.69 | NS | 160 ± 8 |
| BMI (kg/m²) | 19.0 ± 3.9 | < 0.01 | 24.45 ± 1.33 | NS | 21.1 ± 2.1 | 0.012 | 23.78 ± 2.5 |
| HBA1c | 11.9 ± 2.9 | | - | | - | | - |
| TSH (mIU/I) | 2.19 ± 1.57 | NS | 9.87 ± 4.37 | <0.025 | 0.37 ± 0.1 | < 0.01 | 3.04 ± 0.72 |
| fT4 (ng/dl) | - | | 1.21 ± 0.03 | NS | 3.6 ± 1.4 | < 0.001 | 1.1 ± 0.17 |
| fT3 (pg/ml) | - | | 3.08 ± 0.5 | NS | 7.19 ± 1.65 | < 0.001 | 3.79 ± 0.18 |
| TR-Ab (IU/I) ^a | - | | 0.5 ± 0.32 | NS | 11.56 ± 2.11 | < 0.001 | 0.4 ± 0.2 |
| Anti-TPO Ab (IU/ml) | - | | 329.91 ± 92.93 | < 0.001 | 331.97 ± 58.12 | < 0.001 | 26.72 ± 6.8 |
| Anti-TG Ab (IU/ml) | - | | 620.98 ± 240.34 | < 0.001 | 347.49 ± 86.7 | <0.001 | 41.64 ± 12.1 |
| ICA | 65% (+) | | - | | - | | - |
| GAD | 79% (+) | | - | | - | | - |
| IA2 | 67% (+) | | - | | - | | - |
| ZnT8 | 63% (+) | | - | | - | | - |
| IAA | 43% (+) | | - | | - | | - |
| Treatment | Insulin | | L-thyroxine | | Methimazole | | - |

^aTR-Ab were analyzed in selected group of patients with HT (n = 43).

*Statistical significance between patients with T1D and controls.

**Statistical significance between patients with HT and controls.

***Statistical significance between patients with GD and controls.



In our study T allele at the rs7093069 locus of the Il2RA gene was observed to be more frequent in diabetic patients compared to healthy children and HT individuals. Moreover, T/T genotype of analyzed IL2RA SNP was more frequent in T1D patients compared to healthy children as well as AITD children, indicating strong susceptibility of T allele and T/T genotype to diabetes development.

In the literature there are numerous reports demonstrating the association of SNPs in the IL2RA gene with T1D but none of them alone explains the predisposition to the disease. In the meta-analysis of Tang et al. authors analyzed the results of 10 independent studies of polymorphisms in the IL2RA gene. They confirmed rs11594656, rs2104286, and rs41295061 SNPs to be the most associated risk factors for T1D development (46), but the analysis did not investigate rs7093069 locus we analyzed in our study. Further studies of Qu et al. showed two other SNPs in the IL2RA gene that were significantly associated with T1D rs706778 and rs3118470 (47). Moreover, Kawasaki et al. found in their study SNPs rs706778 and rs3118470 of the IL2RA in patients with T1D to be associated with acute-onset of the disease (24). According to the study of Lowe et al. ss52580101 locus in the IL2RA gene is most associated with T1D, however the authors emphasized the importance of other locus of this region (48). In addition they indicated that SNPs in IL2RA locus associated with T1D influence the soluble form of IL2RA concentration. Klinker et al. demonstrated the association of SNPs in the IL2RA locus to be an important determinant of age at diagnosis time in a group of Finnish type 1 diabetes subjects (49). The study of Fichna et al.





in a group of 445 Polish T1D patients and 671 healthy control subjects confirmed the association of Il2RA single nucleotide polymorphism rs11594656 and rs3118470 but not for rs7093069, that was on the contrary to our study (50). In another work of the authors they indicate the association of other polymorphism (rs6822844) with the disease (51).

In our work, rs7093069 polymorphisms in the IL2RA gene did not show any correlation with AITDs in the population of Polish children. However, Chistiakov et al. examined other SNPs in the region and revealed the allele A of rs41295061 SNP to be significantly associated with increased risk of GD in a group of 1474 Russian patients (44). Furthermore, the study revealed that patients carrying two copies of the haploid genotype AA/AA had elevated levels of serum IL2R α in both GD patients and healthy controls. Brand et al. found an association between GD and healthy control for the ILR2A region for 20 SNPs (among others rs7093069). The pattern of association was similar to that found in T1D patients (16). In our study there was no significant difference between AITD patients and controls in analyzed rs7093069 SNPs but we revealed statistically significant differences between GD and T1D patients in that locus, as T/T genotype was more frequent in T1D patients.

The IFIH1 gene locus has been recently defined as a candidate for susceptibility to autoimmune diseases like vitiligo, T1D and GD (14, 17, 52). Our current study confirms that the rs1990760 in IFIH1 gene is substantially associated with T1D as we found that genotypes C/T and T/T at the IFIH1 locus (rs1990760) is significantly more frequent in patients with T1D than in controls. The genetic predisposition of rs1990760 (A946T) SNP toT1D was first reported in a GWA (53). The data were recently confirmed







by the other investigators in the multipopulation analyses (54, 55). In the comprehensive meta-analysis by Jermendy et al. revealed that polymorphism in rs1990760 was associated with T1D in both Finnish population (with the high-incidence of the disease) and Hungarian population (with medium-incidence of the disease) and G allele (vs A allele) significantly decreased the risk of T1D (56). Furthermore, in the meta-analysis Cen and colleagues analyzed 19 studies and revealed that the IFIH1 rs1990760 T allele influences susceptibility to T1D and other autoimmune diseases like systemic lupus erythematosus, multiple sclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis (57). In a group of Polish adult individuals the association of allele A in rs1990760 locus with susceptibility to T1D was confirmed and the cumulative effect of other polymorphic variants in IFIH1 was observed (58). Genetic association between IFIH1 polymorphism and T1D development might be explained by the link of the disease with prior viral infection. Moreover, Jermedy et al. found in their work that there is a seasonal manifestation of T1D was related to rs1990760 polymorphism as the AA genotype, that predisposes to the disease, was more frequent in patients who developed the disease in summer than in patients with onset in winter indicating that this virus receptor gene might influence T1D manifestation mainly during the summer months (59).

Present work did not reveal any significant differences in allele or genotype frequencies for rs1990760 polymorphism between GD and HT patients in comparison to healthy control subjects in Polish population. In our study T alleles, C/T and T/T genotypes at the IFIH1 locus (rs1990760) were more often in



diabetic patients when compared with GD and HT patients. The association with GD and polymorphism rs1990760 (A946T) in IFIH1 gene was observed by Sutherland et al. in the study involving the United Kingdom population (17). In a previous analysis of Polish 142 pediatric patients with AITDs T alleles of rs1990760 were associated with GD in mails. Similarly in HT patients, rs1990760 T alleles were more frequent in males in comparison to healthy subjects (52). In contrast there were no significant differences for rs1990760 IFIH1 polymorphism in German patients with GD and HT in comparison to healthy control in the study of Penna-Martinez et al. (60). Similarly Zhao et al. observed no significant differences in the allele and genotype frequencies for this polymorphism between GD patients and healthy controls in Chinese population (61). In the previous mentioned meta-analysis the results of 19 studies suggested no effect of rs1990760 polymorphism on GD either (57). That stays in agreement with our results and may suggest the possible association between previous viral infection and T1D but not ATIDs development and link the gap between environmental triggers and the development of the T1D in genetically predisposed patients.

It has been proposed that the rs231775 (A49G) polymorphism in exon 1 of CTLA-4 causes a the amino acid replacement (threonine to alanine) influencing the posttranslational modification of CTLA-4, resulting in decreased expression of CTLA-4 on the surface of T-cells. The presence of G allele thus leads to increased activation of T-cell, either autoreactive, causing the autoimmune response, clinically manifested for instance as AITDs or T1D (32, 62). In our study we observed a significantly dominant effect of G allele in rs231775 SNP in CTLA-4 gene in children with T1D in comparison to healthy controls and children with HT. There was also a significantly higher incidence of G/G an A/G genotype in patients with T1D. This might be suggestive of an increasing susceptibility to T1D of G allele in rs231775 SNP. Similar observations result from the recent meta-analysis of Chen et al. The analysis of 76 studies revealed that rs231775 polymorphism was associated with susceptibility to T1D in Caucasians and South Asians, moreover rs231775 polymorphism was also found to be significantly associated with susceptibility to type 2 diabetes (T2D) in East Asians and South Asians (62). The results of another meta-analysis stays in agreement with that indicating that G allele of rs231775 in CTLA-4 increases the risk of T1D development (18).

We did not reveal any statistical differences between any of AITDs children and controls in our study, thus according to our study CTLA-4 gene rs231775 polymorphism seems not to contribute to HT nor GD development in Polish children population. In accordance with our results the study of Narooie-Nejad et al. indicated no association of alleles and genotypes of the A49G in CTLA-4 polymorphism with HT in a group of patients from Iran (63). Similar conclusions come out of the cohort of Japanese and Brazilian patients (64, 65). However, in the study of Fathima et al. the association between rs231775 polymorphism of CTLA-4 gene was reported in patients with AITDs. The study revealed that G allele in rs231775 contributes to an increased incidence in HT and GD (15). Similarly in the study of Tu et al. in Chinese population G allele of rs231775 was revealed to be significantly more often in subjects with GD than in control subjects (66). Ting et al. found in their work that CTLA4 SNPs A49G was associated with GD not only in Chinese adults but also and children (67). In the study of Patel et al. the G allele, GG and AG genotypes in SNPs A49G were also more prevalent among autoimmune hypothyroidism patients in Indian population (68). Interestingly, a significant association with A49G SNP in CTLA4 appeared for GD and HT in a group of 64 pediatric Polish patients. There were also a significantly higher antithyroid antibodies titres associated with T allele in GD, and with G allele in HT patients observed (69).

Our study certainly has some limitations. First, the analysis in our work did not take into consideration the influence of environmental components apart from genetic factors on AITD and T1D susceptibility. We also acknowledge that we could not distinguish whether the associated alleles were causative factors or just markers linked with disease loci. Another limitation of the study is a relatively small sample size.

Genome-wide association (GWA) investigations indicate chromosome regions associated with particular autoimmune diseases. However, the localization of the most likely susceptibility locus requires numerous studies with genotyping in large samples. Here we demonstrated the contribution of polymorphic variants of genes encoding IL2RA, CTLA-4, and IFIH1 to autoimmune diseases predisposition.

In conclusion the rs7093069 T allele and T/T genotype was preponderant in children with T1D in comparison to healthy children as well as AITDs subjects, likewise rs1990760 T allele or T/T genotype had increased frequency in diabetic patients. Moreover, rs231775 G allele, A/G and G/G genotypes were also prevalent in T1D patients when compared with controls and HT. In contrast, there was no association found in rs7093069, rs1990760, and rs231775 polymorphisms with AITD susceptibility in our study. Thus, IL2RA polymorphism (rs7093069), IFIH1 polymorphism (rs1990760), and CTLA-4

REFERENCES

- 1. Rose NR. Prediction and prevention of autoimmune disease in the 21st century: a review and preview. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2016) 183:403–6. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv292
- Krzewska A, Ben-Skowronek I. Effect of associated autoimmune diseases on type 1 diabetes mellitus incidence and metabolic control in children and adolescents. *Biomed Res Int.* (2016) 2016:6219730. doi: 10.1155/2016/6219730
- Collins J, Gough S. Autoimmunity in thyroid disease. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. (2002) 29:S417–24. doi: 10.1007/s00259-002-0848-8
- Boitard C. Pancreatic islet autoimmunity. Presse Med. (2012) 41:e636–50. doi: 10.1016/j.lpm.2012.10.003
- Tomer Y, Dolan LM, Kahaly G, Divers J, D'Agostino RB Jr, Imperatore G, et al. Genome wide identification of new genes and pathways in patients with both autoimmune thyroiditis and type 1 diabetes. *J Autoimmun.* (2015) 60:32–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2015.03.006
- Vaidya B, Kendall-Taylor P, Pearce SH. The genetics of autoimmune thyroid disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2002) 87:5385–97. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-020492
- Nyaga DM, Vickers MH, Jefferies C, Perry JK, O'Sullivan JM. Type 1 diabetes mellitus-associated genetic variants contribute to overlapping immune regulatory networks. *Front Genet.* (2018) 21:535. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2018.00535
- Bossowski A, Borysewicz-Sanczyk H, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Zasim A, Szalecki M, Wikiera B, et al. Analysis of chosen polymorphisms in FoxP3 gene in children and adolescents with autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Autoimmunity*. (2014) 47:395–400. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2014.910767
- Brix TH, Kyvik KO, Christensen K, Hegedüs L. Evidence for a major role of heredity in graves' disease: a population-based study of two danish twin cohorts. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2001) 86:930–4. doi: 10.1210/jc.86.2.930
- Hemminki K, Li X, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Familial association between type 1 diabetes and other autoimmune and related diseases. *Diabetologia*. (2009) 52:1820–8. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1427-3
- Todd JA, Walker NM, Cooper JD, Smyth DJ, Downes K, Plagnol V, et al. Robust associations of four new chromosome regions from genome-wide analyses of type 1 diabetes. *Nat Genet.* (2007) 39:857–64. doi: 10.1038/ng2068

rs231775) are associated with T1D susceptibility in Polish children and adolescents.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Local Bioethical Committee at the Medical University of Bialystok. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AB, AS, WM, and AK contributed conception and design of the study. NW-K organized the database. JG performed the statistical analysis. HB-S wrote the first draft of the manuscript. BS, BG-O, AK, and AŁ wrote sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

- Kristiansen OP, Larsen ZM, Pociot F. CTLA-4 in autoimmune diseases a general susceptibility gene to autoimmunity? *Genes Immun.* (2000) 1:170–84. doi: 10.1038/sj.gene.6363655
- Wang DG, Fan JB, Siao CJ, Berno A, Young P, Sapolsky R, et al. Large-scale identification, mapping, and genotyping of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the human genome. *Science*. (1998) 280:1077–82. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5366.1077
- Wang J, Wicker LS, Santamaria P. IL-2 and its high-affinity receptor: genetic control of immunoregulation and autoimmunity. *Semin Immunol.* (2009) 21:363–71. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2009.04.004
- Fathima N, Narne P, Ishaq M. Association and gene-gene interaction analyses for polymorphic variants in CTLA-4 and FOXP3 genes: role in susceptibility to autoimmune thyroid disease. *Endocrine*. (2019) 64:591–604. doi: 10.1007/s12020-019-01859-3
- Brand OJ, Lowe CE, Heward JM, Franklyn JA, Cooper JD, Todd JA et al. Association of the interleukin-2 receptor alpha (IL-2Rα)/CD25 gene region with Graves' disease using a multilocus test and tag SNPs. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2007) 66:508–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.02762.x
- Sutherland A, Davies J, Owen CJ, Vaikkakara S, Walker C, Cheetham TD, et al. Genomic polymorphism at the interferon-induced helicase (IFIH1) locus contributes to graves' disease susceptibility. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2007) 92:3338–41. doi: 10.1210/jc.20 07-0173
- Chen Z, Fei M, Fu D, Zhang L, Ma Y, Wang Y, et al. Association between cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 polymorphism and type 1 diabetes: a meta-analysis. *Gene.* (2013) 516:263–70. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2012. 12.030
- Lowenthal JW, Zubler RH, Nabholz M, MacDonald HR. Similarities between interleukin-2 receptor number and affinity on activated B and T lymphocytes. *Nature.* (1985) 315:669–72. doi: 10.1038/315669a0
- Waters RS, Perry JSA, Han S, Bielekova B, Gedeon T. The effects of interleukin-2 on immune response regulation. *Math Med Biol.* (2018) 35:79– 119. doi: 10.1093/imammb/dqw021
- Wang X, Rickert M, Garcia KC. Structure of the quaternary complex of interleukin-2 with its alpha, beta, and gammac receptors. *Science*. (2005) 18:1159–63. doi: 10.1126/science.1117893

- Burchill MA, Yang J, Vang KB, Farrar MA. Interleukin-2 receptor signaling in regulatory T cell development and homeostasis. *Immunol Lett.* (2007) 30:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2007.08.005
- Willerford DM, Chen J, Ferry JA, Davidson L, Ma A, Alt FW. Interleukin-2 receptor alpha chain regulates the size and content of the peripheral lymphoid compartment. *Immunity*. (1995) 3:521–30. doi: 10.1016/1074-7613(95)90180-9
- 24. Kawasaki E, Awata T, Ikegami H, Kobayashi T, Maruyama T, Nakanishi K, et al. Genetic association between the interleukin-2 receptor-alpha gene and mode of onset of type 1 diabetes in the Japanese population. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 94:947–52. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1596
- Rodriguez A, Alfaro JM, Balthazar V, Trujillo NP. Association analysis of PTPN22, CTLA4 and IFIH1 genes with type 1 diabetes in Colombian families. *J Diabetes*. (2015) 7:402–10. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12192
- Looney BM, Xia CQ, Concannon P, Ostrov DA, Clare-Salzler MJ. Effects of type 1 diabetes-associated IFIH1 polymorphisms on MDA5 function and expression. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2015) 15:96. doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0656-8
- Andrejeva J, Childs KS, Young DF, Carlos TS, Stock N, Goodbourn S, et al. The V proteins of paramyxoviruses bind the IFN-inducible RNA helicase, mda-5, and inhibit its activation of the IFN-beta promoter. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2004) 101:17264–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407639101
- Loza MJ, McCall CE, Li L, Isaacs WB, Xu J, Chang BL. Assembly of inflammation-related genes for pathway-focused genetic analysis. *PLoS ONE*. (2007) 2:1035. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001035
- Knip M, Veijola R, Virtanen SM, Hyöty H, Vaarala O, Akerblom HK. Environmental triggers and determinants of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. (2005) 54:S125–36. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.suppl_2.S125
- Kosmaczewska A, Ciszak L, Boćko D, Frydecka I. Expression and functional significance of CTLA-4, a negative regulator of T cell activation. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz).* (2001) 49:39–46.
- Płoski R, Szymanski K, Bednarczuk T. The genetic basis of graves' disease. Curr Genomics. (2011) 12:542–63. doi: 10.2174/138920211798120772
- Anjos S, Nguyen A, Ounissi-Benkalha H, Tessier MC, Polychronakos C. A common autoimmunity predisposing signal peptide variant of the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 results in inefficient glycosylation of the susceptibility allele. *J Biol Chem.* (2002) 277:46478–86. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M2068 94200
- Nisticò L, Buzzetti R, Pritchard LE, Van der Auwera B, Giovannini C, Bosi E, et al. The CTLA-4 gene region of chromosome 2q33 is linked to, and associated with, type 1 diabetes. *Hum Mol Genet.* (1996) 5:1075–80. doi: 10.1093/hmg/5.7.1075
- 34. Kemp EH, Ajjan RA, Husebye ES, Peterson P, Uibo R, Imrie H, et al. A cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) gene polymorphism is associated with autoimmune Addison's disease in English patients. *Clin Endocrinol.* (1998) 49:609–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.1998.00579.x
- Li F, Yuan W, Wu X. Association of CTLA-4 polymorphisms with increased risks of myasthenia gravis. Ann Hum Genet. (2018) 82:358–69. doi: 10.1111/ahg.12262
- Lydersen S, Fagerland MW, Laake P. Recommended tests for association in 2 x 2 tables. *Statist Med.* (2009) 28:1159–75. doi: 10.1002/sim.3531
- Benjamini Y, Hochberg, Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *J Roy Stat Soc.* (1995) 57:289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Lewontin, RC. The interaction of selection and linkage. I. General considerations; heterotic models. *Genetic*. (1964) 49:49–67.
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna (2012) Available online at: http://www.R-project.org/ (accessed April 04, 2020).
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang A-G. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav Res Methods*. (2009) 41:1149–60. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Warnes G with contributions from Gorjanc G, Leisch F and Man M. Genetics: *Population Genetics*. R package version 1.3.8.1.2 (2019). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=genetics (accessed April 04, 2020).
- 42. Vella A, Cooper JD, Lowe CE, Walker N, Nutland S, Widmer B, et al. Localization of a type 1 diabetes locus in the IL2RA / CD25 region by use of tag single-nucleotide polymorphisms. *Am J Hum Genet.* (2005) 76:773–9. doi: 10.1086/429843

- Chistiakov DA, Chistiakova EI, Voronova NV, Turakulov RI, Savostanov KV. A variant of the Il2ra / Cd25 gene predisposing to graves' disease is associated with increased levels of soluble interleukin-2 receptor. *Scand J Immunol.* (2011) 74:496–501. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02608.x
- 44. Stahl EA, Raychaudhuri S, Remmers EF, Xie G, Eyre S, Thomson BP, et al. Genome-wide association study meta-analysis identifies seven new rheumatoid arthritis risk loci. *Nat Genet.* (2010) 42:508–14. doi: 10.1038/ng.582
- Hinks A, Ke X, Barton A, Eyre S, Bowes J, Worthington J, et al. Association of the IL2RA / CD25 gene with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* (2009) 60:251–7. doi: 10.1002/art.24187
- 46. Tang W, Cui D, Jiang L, Zhao L, Qian W, Long SA, et al. Association of common polymorphisms in the IL2RA gene with type 1 diabetes: evidence of 32,646 individuals from 10 independent studies. *Cell Mol Med.* (2015) 19:2481–8. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.12642
- Qu HQ, Montpetit A, Ge B, Hudson TJ, Polychronakos C. Toward further mapping of the association between the IL2RA locus and type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes*. (2007) 56:1174–6. doi: 10.2337/db06-1555
- Lowe CE, Cooper JD, Brusko T, Walker NM, Smyth DJ, Bailey R, et al. Largescale genetic fine mapping and genotype-phenotype associations implicate polymorphism in the IL2RA region in type 1 diabetes. *Nat Genet.* (2007) 39:1074–82. doi: 10.1038/ng2102
- Klinker MW, Schiller JJ, Magnuson VL, Wang T, Basken J, Veth K, et al. Single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the IL2RA gene are associated with age at diagnosis in late-onset finnish type 1 diabetes subjects. *Immunogenetics*. (2010) 62:101–7. doi: 10.1007/s00251-009-0417-4
- Fichna M, Zurawek M, Fichna P, Januszkiewicz D, Nowak J. Polymorphic variants of the IL2RA gene and susceptibility to type 1 diabetes in the polish population. *Tissue Antigens*. (2012) 79:198–203. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0039.2011.01828.x
- Fichna M, Zurawek M, Fichna P, Januszkiewicz D, Nowak J. Polymorphic variant at the IL2 region is associated with type 1 diabetes and may affect serum levels of interleukin-2. *Mol Biol Rep.* (2013) 40:6957–63. doi: 10.1007/s11033-013-2815-9
- Rydzewska M, Góralczyk A, Gościk J, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Bossowska A, Kretowski A, et al. Analysis of chosen polymorphisms rs2476601 a/G - PTPN22, rs1990760 C/T - IFIH1, rs179247 a/G - TSHR in pathogenesis of autoimmune thyroid diseases in children. *Autoimmunity*. (2018) 51:183–90. doi: 10.1080/08916934.2018.1486824
- Smyth DJ, Cooper JD, Bailey R, Field S, Burren O, Smink LJ, et al. A genomewide association study of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a type 1 diabetes locus in the interferon-induced helicase (IFIH1) region. *Nat Genet.* (2006) 38:617–9. doi: 10.1038/ng1800
- Howson JMM, Walker NM, Smyth DJ, Todd JA. The type I diabetes genetics consortium. analysis of 19 genes for association with type I diabetes in the type I diabetes genetics consortium families. *Genes Immun.* (2009) 10:S74–S84. doi: 10.1038/gene.2009.96
- 55. Liu S, Wang H, Jin Y, Podolsky R, Reddy MV, Pedersen J, et al. IFIH1 polymorphisms are significantly associated with type 1 diabetes and IFIH1 gene expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Hum Mol Genet*. (2009) 15:358–65. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddn342
- 56. Jermendy A, Szatmári I, Laine AP, Lukács K, Horváth KH, Körner A, et al. The interferon-induced helicase IFIH1 Ala946Thr polymorphism is associated with type 1 diabetes in both the high-incidence Finnish and the medium-incidence Hungarian populations. *Diabetologia*. (2010) 53:98–102. doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1561-y
- Cen H, Wang W, Leng RX, Wang TY, Pan HF, Fan YG, et al. Association of IFIH1 rs1990760 polymorphism with susceptibility to autoimmune diseases: a meta-analysis. *Autoimmunity*. (2013) 46:455–62. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2013.796937
- Zurawek M, Fichna M, Fichna P, Skowronska B, Dzikiewicz-Krawczyk A, Januszkiewicz D, et al. Cumulative effect of IFIH1 variants and increased gene expression associated with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2015) 107:259–66. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.11.008
- Jermendy A, Szatmari I, Korner A, Szabo AJ, Toth-Heyn P, Hermann R. Association between interferon-induced helicase (IFIH1) rs1990760 polymorphism and seasonal variation in the onset of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Pediatr Diabetes*. (2018) 19:300–4. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12569

- Penna-Martinez M, Ramos-Lopez E, Robbers I, Kahles H, Hahner S, Willenberg H, et al. The rs1990760 polymorphism within the IFIH1 locus is not associated with graves' disease, Hashimoto's thyroiditis and Addison's disease. *BMC Med Genet*. (2009) 10:126. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-10-126
- Zhao ZF, Cui B, Chen HY, Wang S, Li I, Gu XJ, et al. The A946T polymorphism in the interferon induced helicase gene does not confer susceptibility to graves' disease in Chinese population. *Endocrine*. (2007) 32:143–7. doi: 10.1007/s12020-007-9024-z
- Chen M, Li SM. Associations between cytotoxic t-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 gene polymorphisms and diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of 76 case-control studies. *Biosci Rep.* (2019) 39:BSR20190309. doi: 10.1042/BSR20190309
- Narooie-Nejad M, Taji O, Tamandani DMK, Kaykhaei MA. Association of CTLA-4 gene polymorphisms-318C/T and +49A/G and Hashimoto's thyroidits in Zahedan, Iran. *Biomed Rep.* (2017) 6:108-12. doi: 10.3892/br.2016.813
- 64. Inoue HN, Watanabe M, Yamada H, Takemura K, Hayashi F, Yamakawa N, et al. Associations between autoimmune thyroid disease prognosis and functional polymorphisms of susceptibility genes, CTLA4, PTPN22, CD40, FCRL3, and ZFAT, previously revealed in genome-wide association studies. J Clin Immunol. (2012) 32:243–52. doi: 10.1007/s10875-012-9721-0
- Namo Cury A, Longui CA, Kochi C, Calliari LE, Scalissi N, Salles JE, et al. Graves' disease in Brazilian children and adults: lack of genetic association with CTLA-4 +49A>G polymorphism. *Horm Res.* (2008) 70:36– 41. doi: 10.1159/000129676
- 66. Tu Y, Fan G, Dai Y, Zeng T, Xiao F, Chen L, et al. Association between rs3087243 and rs231775 polymorphism within the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 gene and graves' disease: a case/control study combined with meta-analyses. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:110614–24. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.22702

- 67. Ting W-H, Chien M-N, Lo F-S, Wang C-H, Huang C-Y, Lin C-L, et al. Association of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA4) gene polymorphisms with autoimmune thyroid disease in children and adults: case-control study. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:0154394. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154394
- Patel H, Mansuri MS, Singh M, Begum R, Shastri M, Misra A. Association of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA4) and thyroglobulin (TG) genetic variants with autoimmune hypothyroidism. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:0149441. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0149441
- 69. Pastuszak-Lewandoska D, Domanska D, Rudzinska M, Bossowski A, Kucharska A, Sewerynek E, et al. CTLA-4 polymorphisms (+49 A/G and-318 C/T) are important genetic determinants of AITD susceptibility and predisposition to high levels of thyroid autoantibodies in polish children — preliminary study. Acta Biochimica Polonica. (2013) 60:641-6. doi: 10.18388/abp.2013_2034

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Borysewicz-Sańczyk, Sawicka, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek, Głowińska-Olszewska, Kadłubiska, Gościk, Szadkowska, Łosiewicz, Młynarski, Krętowski and Bossowski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Infliximab Therapy Could Decrease the Risk of the Development of Thyroid Disorders in Pediatric Patients With Crohn's Disease

Aleksandra Furtak¹, Anna Maria Wedrychowicz^{1*}, Malgorzata Sladek², Andrzej Wedrychowicz², Krzysztof Fyderek² and Jerzy Starzyk¹

¹ Department of Pediatric and Adolescent Endocrinology, Chair of Pediatrics, Pediatric Institute, Medical College, Jagiellonian University in Krakow, Krakow, Poland, ² Department of Pediatrics, Gastroenterology and Nutrition, Pediatric Institute, Medical College, Jagiellonian University in Krakow, Krakow, Poland

Autoimmune diseases, including autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITDs), may be associated with Crohn's disease (CD). Taking into consideration the role of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) in the immune-mediated inflammation that underlies both diseases, we evaluated an ultrasound of thyroid gland in pediatric CD patients, naïve, and treated with infliximab (IFX), an anti-TNF-alpha antibody, to assess the risk for AITD and evaluated the usefulness of ultrasonography to diagnose AITD in patients with CD. Sixty-one patients with CD were enrolled in the study, including 36 patients (mean age 14.5 \pm 3.5 years) treated with IFX (IFX group) for a mean of 13.9 \pm 16.6 months and 25 patients (mean age 14.7 ± 2.3 years) who never received anti-TNF-alpha therapy (control group). An ultrasound examination of the thyroid gland was performed; thyroid function tests and thyroid antibodies were assessed. We found 10-times higher prevalence of decreased thyroid echogenicity in CD and IFX-naive patients compared to IFX-treated group [a significant reduction in thyroid echogenicity in 1/36 (2.8%) patients receiving IFX compared to 7/25 (28%) patients naive to biologic therapy]. The latter showed significantly lower thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH) levels (p = 0.034) and higher levels of thyroid antibodies (p = 0.042) in comparison to control. Our data suggest the protective role of IFX therapy in the development of thyroid disorders and indicate the usefulness of thyroid ultrasound to identify the risk of probable AITD in pediatric patients with CD.

Keywords: autoimmune thyroid diseases, Crohn's disease, Ultrasonography, Anti-TNF-alpha, pediatric patients

INTRODUCTION

Crohn's disease (CD) is one of two main types of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) that can result in progressive bowel damage and disability. The etiology of CD is multifactorial, and it is considered that chronic inflammation results from complex interactions of environmental factors, an inappropriate immune reaction against an altered microbiome in genetically susceptible individuals (1, 2). Some studies have assessed possible common genetic factors between CD and autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITDs). The role of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) genes such as PTPN22, CTLA4, and CD40 in CD patients has been extensively investigated (3).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aneta Monika Gawlik, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

Reviewed by:

Artur Bossowski, Medical University of Bialystok, Poland Takao Ando, Nagasaki University Hospital, Japan

> *Correspondence: Anna Maria Wedrychowicz anna.wedrychowicz@uj.edu.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Thyroid Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 04 May 2020 Accepted: 18 August 2020 Published: 15 September 2020

Citation:

Furtak A, Wedrychowicz AM, Sladek M, Wedrychowicz A, Fyderek K and Starzyk J (2020) Infliximab Therapy Could Decrease the Risk of the Development of Thyroid Disorders in Pediatric Patients With Crohn's Disease. Front. Endocrinol. 11:558897. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.558897

97

However, some studies reported that there were no significant differences in thyroid function tests {serum levels of triiodothyronine [free T3 (fT3)], thyroxine [free T4 (fT4)], and thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSH)} between CD patients and controls, or even the prevalence of thyroid dysfunction was lower in CD patients in comparison to the general population (4-6). The studies identified by the literature search indicated a 2-8% prevalence of thyroid dysfunction (hyperor hypothyroidism) in the general population, including the populations in iodine-deficient countries (7). Snook et al. (8) reported that the prevalence of hyper- and hypothyroidism in CD amounted to 0.3 and 0.5%, respectively, similar to the control group, which was 0.7% for both. In the study of Yakut et al. (4), the prevalence of both hyper- and hypothyroidism in patients with CD as well as for both control groups was 0% (0/33) and 0% (0/66), respectively. Liu et al. (9) reported that the prevalence of hyper- and hypothyroidism in patients with CD was 0% (0/44) and 2.3% (1/44), respectively. In a study by Pooran et al. (6), the prevalence of hypothyroidism was lower in CD patients [3.8% (8/210)] than in control individuals [8.2% (17/206)], although the prevalence of hyperthyroidism was statistically similar between the groups. In a large population-based study in Canada that included 8,072 IBD patients [3,879 ulcerative colitis (UC) and 4,193 CD patients], the prevalence of Hashimoto thyroiditis (HT) was similar to that in the controls (10).

Taking into consideration the above data, a question appears: How CD therapy influences the diagnosis and clinical outcome of AITD? It is especially interesting nowadays when many patients with CD are treated with infliximab (IFX), a monoclonal anti-TNF-alpha antibody. TNF-alpha plays a role in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases, including thyroid diseases (11–13). Therefore, anti-TNF-alpha agents used in CD could modify concomitant autoimmune disease outcome or even may protect against them.

The diagnosis of AITD relies on the presence of circulating antibodies to thyroid antigens in blood and a typical ultrasound pattern of thyroid gland in a patient with proper clinical features and abnormal thyroid hormone levels (14). In the opinion of some experts, an ultrasonography is a more effective tool in the diagnosis and prognosis of AITD than testing for thyroid antibodies circulating in blood. According to data from a large cohort, an abnormal ultrasound pattern allows to diagnose AITD with the probability up to 95% (15–19). The lack of autoantibodies cannot exclude AITD; on the other hand, thyroid antibodies have been detected in healthy populations, also in children (20).

The primary aim of our study was the assessment of the thyroid gland morphology with ultrasonography in IFX-naive and IFX-treated pediatric CD patients. The second goal was to evaluate the usefulness of ultrasonography to assess the risk for probable AITD in pediatric patients with CD.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

We studied 61 patients with CD, treated in the Department of Pediatric, Gastroenterology and Nutrition, without any known thyroid disorder according to their medical history. Thirty-six patients were treated with IFX (IFX group), while 25 patients (control group) have never received any biologic agents. The Local Ethical Committee approved the study (No. 1072.6120.57.2019 of March 28, 2019). Parents and patients over 16 years of age signed an informed consent.

The clinical characteristic of the IFX group is presented in Table 1. All patients received biosimilar IFX, a chimeric human-mouse immunoglobulin G (IgG) monoclonal anti-TNFalpha antibody; 29 patients received Remsima (Biotec Services International Ltd.), and seven patients received Flixabi [Biogen (Denmark) Manufacturing ApS]. In the IFX group, there were 18 girls (mean age was 14.5 \pm 2.3 years) and 18 boys (mean age was 14.4 \pm 4.4 years). The mean CD duration in girls was 52.6 \pm 31.5 months, and the mean duration of IFX therapy was 43.8 \pm 30.1 months. The mean CD duration in boys was 53.6 \pm 31.7 months, and the mean duration of IFX therapy was 34 ± 19.2 months. The clinical characteristic of the control group is presented in Table 2. In the control group, there were 10 girls (mean age 13.9 \pm 2.8 years) and 15 boys (mean age 15.2 ± 1.8 years). The mean CD duration in girls from the control group was 26.3 \pm 32.5 months and in boys from the control group was 24.2 ± 22 months. There were no differences regarding the age and body mass index (BMI) between the groups (Table 3).

An ultrasound examination of the thyroid gland was performed using a Hitachi Aloka Arietta V70 in supine position with hyperextended neck using a high-frequency linear-array transducer (2-22 Hz) by the same researcher, and in doubtful cases this was followed by verification by a second specialist. Scanning was done in both transverse and longitudinal planes. Real-time imaging of thyroid lesions was performed using both gray scale and color Doppler techniques. Thyroid gland ultrasound examination included measurements of both thyroid lobes in three dimensions and thickness of thyroid isthmus. In addition, echogenicity of the thyroid parenchyma, vascularization of the gland, and presence of focal lesions were examined. Echogenicity of the thyroid gland was assessed using comparing and relationships with surrounding structures: sternocleidomastoid and strap muscles anteriorly; trachea, esophagus, and longus colli muscles posteriorly; and common carotid arteries and jugular veins bilaterally. A significant reduction of thyroid echogenicity was defined as a hypoechoic pattern of thyroid gland in comparison to submandibular gland and neck muscles. A slight reduction in thyroid echogenicity was defined as hypoechoic thyroid parenchymal pattern in comparison to submandibular gland and hyperechoic in comparison to neck muscles.

Thyroid gland function was assessed by measuring serum levels of TSH, fT3, and fT4. Moreover, anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies (ATPOs), anti-TSH receptor antibodies (TRAbs), anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (aTGs) were measured in diagnostic process of AITD. TSH, fT3, and fT4 levels were measured using direct chemiluminescence assay (Siemens, USA). ATPO, aTG, and TRAb levels were measured using an immunochemical method with isotope label sets (Brahms, Germany). The following reference values were used: TSH

| TABLE 1 The detailed characteristic of the study group - patients treated with anti-TNF alpha | TABLE 1 | The detailed | I characteristic of the | e study group. | -patients treated | with anti-TNF alpha. |
|---|---------|--------------|-------------------------|----------------|-------------------|----------------------|
|---|---------|--------------|-------------------------|----------------|-------------------|----------------------|

| Patient | Age (years) | Duration of Crohn disease (months) | Duration of anti TNF alpha therapy (months) | Other therapy |
|--------------------|----------------|------------------------------------|--|-------------------------------|
| 1 | 13–14 | 59 | 59 | Methotrexate |
| 2 | 12-13 | 21 | 21 | Mercaptopurine |
| 3 | 15–16 | 40 | 29 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 4 | 16–17 | 27 | 21 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 5 | 11-12 | 91 | 84 | Mercaptopurine |
| 6 | 12-13 | 25 | 9 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 7 | 11–12 | 11 | 10 | _ |
| 3 | 17–18 | 59 | 53 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 9 | 17–18 | 120 | 108 | Mercaptopurine |
| 10 | 12–13 | 65 | 65 | Budesonide, Mesalazine |
| 11 | 15–16 | 32 | 13 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 12 | 15–16 | 100 | 92 | _ |
| 13 | 17–18 | 62 | 50 | Azathioprine |
| 14 | 11-12 | 26 | 23 | Azathioprine |
| 15 | 14–15 | 16 | 9 | Mercaptopurine, Sulfasalazine |
| 16 | 12-13 | 84 | 52 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 17 | 17–18 | 38 | 34 | Azathioprine |
| 18 | 13–14 | 72 | 58 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 19 | 17–18 | 125 | 34 | Mesalazine |
| 20 | 15–16 | 70 | 37 | Mercaptopurine |
| 21 | 16–17 | 50 | 23 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine |
| 22 | 16–17 | 37 | 35 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 23 | 16–17 | 36 | 22 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 24 | 3–4 | 19 | 9 | - |
| 25 | 11-12 | 97 | 71 | Mesalazine |
| 26 | 17–18 | 45 | 14 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 27 | 17–18 | 13 | 8 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 28 | 6–7 | 45 | 41 | Mesalazine |
| 29 | 17–18 | 70 | 69 | Mercaptopurine |
| 30 | 17–18 | 13 | 12 | Methotrexate |
| 31 | 16–17 | 38 | 38 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 32 | 8–9 | 41 | 37 | Mercaptopurine, Sulfasalazine |
| 33 | 11–12 | 63 | 41 | Methylprednisolone |
| 34 | 17–18 | 24 | 23 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine |
| 35 | 17–18 | 105 | 66 | Mesalazine |
| 36 | 14–15 | 74 | 32 | Mesalazine |
| Mean data \pm SD | 14.5 ± 3.5 | 53.1 ± 31.2 | 13.9 ± 16.6 | |

Patients' age is presented as a range.

0.3–4.0 $\mu IU/ml;~fT3$ 3.0–8.1 pmol/l; fT4 10.0–25.0 pmol/L; ATPO <60.0 IU/ml; TRAb <1.0 IU/ml; aTG <60 U/ml.

Statistical analysis was performed using the Dell Statistica 13.1 64-bit package (StatSoft, Kraków, Poland). Variables are presented as mean with *SD*. Differences between the IFX group and the control group were determined by Student's *t*-test.

RESULTS

In the IFX group, 6/36 patients (5/18 girls, 1/18 boy) had an abnormal echogenicity of thyroid gland parenchyma. In

three patients, parenchymal echo pattern was heterogeneous (**Figure 1**); in two patients, it was slightly decreased (**Figure 2**), while in one case, it was decreased significantly (**Figure 3**). The mean CD duration in those patients was 46 ± 21.31 *SD* months (range 21–72 months). The mean duration of IFX therapy was 41 ± 17.9 *SD* months (range 21–59 months). In 8/36 patients (in two boys and five girls, including three with decreased echogenicity of the thyroid gland parenchyma), small colloid cysts located in the lower poles of the thyroid glands were found, and in one boy, two cystic solid lesions in both thyroid lobes (in left lobe $4.5 \times 4.3 \times 2.1$ mm; in the right lobe PP $6.2 \times 7.3 \times 3.2$ mm) were present.

| TABLE 2 The detailed characteristic of the control group - patients not treated | |
|---|--|
| with anti-TNF therapy. | |

| Patient | Age | Duration of | Treatment |
|-------------------|------------|---------------|---|
| | (years) | CD (months) | |
| 1 | 10–11 | 4 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 2 | 10-11 | 11 | Prednisone, Mercaptopurine |
| 3 | 9–10 | 5 | Methylprednisolone, Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 4 | 17–18 | 96 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine, Budesonide |
| 5 | 15–16 | 30 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine |
| 6 | 12-13 | 30 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 7 | 16–17 | 3 | Budesonide, Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 8 | 15–16 | 7 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 9 | 16–17 | 72 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 10 | 14–15 | 5 | Budesonide, Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 11 | 11-12 | 60 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 12 | 15–16 | 24 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 13 | 16–17 | 20 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine |
| 14 | 15–16 | 43 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine |
| 15 | 11-12 | 3 | Methylprednisolone, Mesalazine |
| 16 | 15–16 | 3 | Methylprednisolone, Methotrexate Mesalazine |
| 17 | 16–17 | 3 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine |
| 18 | 15–16 | 27 | Methotrexate, Mesalazine |
| 19 | 15–16 | 36 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 20 | 14–15 | 72 | Mercaptopurine, Mesalazine |
| 21 | 11-12 | 3 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| 22 | 16–17 | 36 | Mesalazine |
| 23 | 14–15 | 3 | Mesalazine |
| 24 | 16–17 | 6 | Methotrexate |
| 25 | 17–18 | 24 | Azathioprine, Mesalazine |
| Mean data ± SD | 14.7 ± 2.3 | 25.0 ± 26.1 | |

Patients' age is presented as a range.

In this boy, ultrasound examination was repeated after 6 months, and a reduction of their dimensions and a confirmation of their cystic nature were observed. Most IFX patients (25/36) presented with a normal ultrasound pattern of thyroid gland, and all had the normal vascularization of the thyroid gland.

In the control group, an abnormal echogenicity of the thyroid gland was found in 11/25 patients (5/10 girls, 6/15 boys). In four cases, we found heterogeneous parenchymal echo pattern, and in seven, heterogeneous and significantly hypoechoic parenchymal echo pattern was visible. The mean disease duration in these patients was 26 ± 26.1 SD months (range 3–72 months). In 9/25 children (in four girls and five boys, including eight patients with lowered echogenicity of the thyroid parenchyma), small colloid cysts localized in the lower poles of both lobes of the thyroid glands were present. Other patients of the control group (13/25) had a normal ultrasound pattern of thyroid gland and the normal vascularization of the thyroid gland.

Thyroid function tests TSH, fT3, and fT4 were within normal ranges in both groups (**Table 3**). However, TSH levels were significantly lower in the IFX group compared to control. In

| TABLE 3 The present | tation of | anthropomet | ric data and leve | ils of thyroid tes | TABLE 3 The presentation of anthropometric data and levels of thyroid tests and thyroid antibodies in patients with Crohn's disease treated (IFX group) and not treated with infliximab (control group). | in patients with | Crohn's diseas | e treated (IFX gi | oup) and not treated with | infliximab (contr | ol group). | |
|--|-----------|----------------|--|--------------------|--|------------------|--|-------------------|---------------------------|-------------------|------------|-----------------|
| Group | F/M | Age [year] | F/M Age [year] Height SDS | BMI SDS | CD duration [month] TSH [µIU/mI] fT3 [pmol/I] fT4 [pmol/I] Thyroid volumne [mI] aTPO [IU/mI] aTG [U/mI] TRAB [IU/mI] | TSH [µIU/ml] | fT3 [pmol/l] | fT4 [pmol/l] | Thyroid volumne [ml] | aTPO [IU/ml] | aTG [U/m] | TRAB [IU/ml] |
| IFX group $N = 36$ | 18/18 | 14.5 土 3.5 | 14.5 ± 3.5 1.16 ± -0.4 1.32 ± 0.12 | 1.32 ± 0.12 | 53.1 ± 31.2 | 1.31 ± 0.75 | 1.31 ± 0.75 5.22 ± 0.82 13.96 ± 1.95 | 13.96 ± 1.95 | 5.12 ± 2.15 | <30 | <20 | 0.53 ± 0.19 |
| Control group $N = 25$ 10/15 14.7 ± 2.3 -0.34 ± 1.07 | 10/15 | 14.7 ± 2.3 | -0.34 ± 1.07 | -0.6 ± 1.57 | 25.0 ± 26.1 | 1.68 ± 0.79 | $.68 \pm 0.79 5.33 \pm 1.21 17.17 \pm 2.46$ | 17.17 ± 2.46 | $5,38 \pm 1.76$ | <30 | <20 | 0.69 ± 0.22 |
| Р | 0.45 | 0.45 0.76 | 0.84 | 0.06 | < 0.001 | 0.07 | 0.51 | < 0.001 | 0.63 | 0.97 | 0.99 | 0.03 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

The data are presented as a mean \pm SD



FIGURE 1 | Longitudinal image of thyroid gland with heterogeneous parenchymal echo pattern.



FIGURE 2 | Longitudinal image of thyroid gland with slightly decreased parenchymal echo pattern.



FIGURE 3 | Longitudinal image of thyroid gland with significantly decreased parenchymal echo pattern.

contrary, fT4 levels were significantly higher in the control group than those in the IFX patients. No differences in fT3 levels between the two groups were found. All patients, in both groups, were negative for thyroid autoantibodies (ATPO, aTG). However, all TRAbs were negative in both groups; the titer was significantly higher in the IFX group in comparison to the control group, conversely to TSH levels. There was no difference in volumes of thyroid gland between both groups (**Table 3**). There was no association between abnormal thyroid ultrasound results and TRAb titer levels in the IFX group. In contrary, patients in the control group with heterogenic/hypoechoic thyroid parenchymal pattern have significantly higher TRAb levels compared to the patients with normal thyroid ultrasound (0.79 \pm 0.23 vs. 0.59 \pm 0.17 IU/ml, p = 0.042).

DISCUSSION

Our data could suggest the protective role of IFX therapy in the development of the thyroid disease and the usefulness of thyroid ultrasound to identify the probable risk for AITD in pediatric patients with CD.

Although the development of extraintestinal manifestations or coexistence of autoimmune disorders during the course of IBD is well-known, the coexistence of CD and thyroid diseases is still disputable (21–24). The results of our study show that the prevalence of thyroid abnormalities in CD patients is probably higher, but the outcome is different in comparison to the data from literature regarding the general population; therefore, the diagnostic criteria of thyroid disease used in the general population probably should be modified in this group of patients.

AITD is the most frequent autoimmune disease in the general population, and the most frequent form is HT (14). Most patients with HT have detectable antibodies in the blood. According to the data presented in adult patients with HT, about 81–97% of them have positive ATPO antibodies, and about 50–98% of patients have positive thyroglobulin antibodies (25). There are scarce data regarding this issue in pediatric patients with HT. About 5% of patients with HT based on clinical grounds or by ultrasound appearance have no detectable antibodies. Patients with antibody-negative HT had a milder form of hypothyroidism at the time of diagnosis. This could represent an earlier stage of the disease or simply a less aggressive form of HT (26).

Ultrasound evaluation is recommended as a screening test for patients with a high clinical risk of thyroid disease (27). The indication for thyroid ultrasonography, in spite of a diagnosis of a thyroid nodule, is to evaluate diffuse changes in thyroid parenchyma, including chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis, HT. The characteristic ultrasonography appearance of HT is focal or diffuse glandular enlargement with a coarse, heterogeneous, and hypoechoic parenchymal echo pattern. The presence of multiple discrete hypoechoic micronodules (1-6 mm in size) is strongly suggestive of chronic thyroiditis. Fine echogenic fibrous septae may produce a pseudo lobulated appearance of the parenchyma. Color Doppler may demonstrate slight to markedly increased vascularity of the thyroid parenchyma. Increased vascularity seems to be associated with hypothyroidism likely due to trophic stimulation of TSH (28). In the latter stages of HT, Doppler ultrasound findings are usually of diffuse hypovascularization and sometimes even with no detectable blood flow (29). Small atrophic gland represents end stage of HT. Occasionally, the nodular form of HT may occur, as well within a sonographic background of diffuse HT or within normal thyroid parenchyma. Moreover, ultrasonography examination may reveal the presence of perithyroidal satellite lymph nodes, especially the "Delphian" node just cephalad to the isthmus (28).

The diagnosis of AITD in patients with CD could be hindered or overlooked because of several reasons. Some signs and symptoms can be mistakenly recognized as signs and symptoms of CD or considered as adverse effects of the therapy for CD. All the more the therapy for IBD could modify the production of thyroid antibodies that are used to confirm the diagnosis of AITD and lead to false-negative results and to exclude of the disease. Wherefore in this group of patients, ultrasound examination seems to be a more useful and effective tool in the diagnosis of AITD or predict the risk in the future in patients with a normal level of thyroid hormones (30–32).

In our study, all 61 patients with CD presented with a normal thyroid function because the levels of TSH, fT3, and fT4 were normal in all cases. Moreover, all participants were negative for thyroid autoantibodies: ATPO, aTG, and TRAb. However, in 17/61 patients (27.8%), we observed a heterogeneous and hypoechoic parenchymal echo pattern of the thyroid gland. Presented data can suggest the predominance of the sensibility of thyroid ultrasound result over biochemical findings in the prognosis of the risk of probable AITD development in patients with CD. Our observations regarding the important role of ultrasonography results in the prediction of probable AITD risk in patients with IBD are in accordance with the results of studies performed in a general population.

Gutekunst et al. (19), on the basis of the results of their study performed in 92 patients with HT (aged 11–81 years), underlined the significance of ultrasound in the diagnosis of chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis. In this study, finally, chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis was confirmed by the results of cytology in 84/92 patients (91.3%). A heterogeneous parenchymal echo pattern appeared in 87/92 patients (94.6%), while antimicrosomal antibodies occurred in 80/92 (87%) patients, among which 16/80 patients (17.4%) had low titers of these antibodies (1:32– 1:100) (19).

Pedersen et al. (17) indicated the value of ultrasonography in the prediction of AITD based on the analysis of 3,077 patients, referred to the study because of goiter, thyroid dysfunction, neck discomfort, and/or difficulty in swallowing. Among them, 452/552 patients had diffuse reduction in thyroid echo and were included in the study and compared with 100 control patients with a normal thyroid echogenicity. The authors of this study reported that among 110 patients with a discrete hypoechoic pattern of the thyroid gland, AITD was diagnosed finally in 87/110 patients. But among 342 participants of the study with a significant hypoechoic parenchymal pattern, AITD was diagnosed finally in 312/342. Therefore, the predictive value of a reduced thyroid echogenicity as an indicator of AITD is 79.1% for a slight reduction of thyroid echogenicity and 91.2% for a significant diffuse reduction in thyroid echogenicity. Among participants with a normal ultrasound thyroid result, only seven had finally AITD. To underline the predominance of the value of a diffuse reduction in thyroid echogenicity in the prediction of AITD, in comparison to the role of positive thyroid ATPO antibodies, the authors of the study presented that among 220 patients with a low echogenicity of the thyroid gland and confirmed AITD on the basis of biopsy results, ATPO was positive only in 162/220 patients (73.6%) (17).

In the study of Raber et al. (15) with 451 patients included, abnormal thyroid ultrasound patterns were highly indicative of autoimmune thyroiditis. Positive predictive value of significant reduction of thyroid echogenicity, understood as hypoechoic to submandibular gland and to neck muscles, for the detection of autoimmune thyroiditis was 94% with overt hypothyroidism and 96% with any degree of hypothyroidism. Positive predictive value of the slight reduction in thyroid echogenicity, understood as hypoechoic to submandibular gland, hyperechoic to neck muscles, is 85 and 87%, respectively (15).

Rago et al. (16) presented thyroid ultrasonography as a tool for detecting thyroid autoimmune diseases and predicting thyroid dysfunction in apparently healthy subjects. Among 482 healthy subjects, living in a borderline iodine-sufficient urban area, 41 had thyroid hypoechogenicity, and in this group, 11 had an abnormal thyroid function (seven with positive and four with negative thyroid autoantibodies). None of the 429 participants of the study with normal thyroid echostructure had thyroid dysfunction, although 12 had positive thyroid autoantibodies. Although positive TPO and/or aTG was more frequent (24/482, 5%) in subjects with thyroid dysfunction (7/11) than in those who remained euthyroid during the study (17/471, $\chi^2 = 69.66$, p < 0.0001), thyroid hypoechogenicity had a higher sensitivity than the positivity of thyroid autoantibody tests (100 vs. 63.3%) for diagnosing or predicting thyroid dysfunction (16).

The results of our study not only indicate that ultrasound assessment could be a sensitive tool in detecting thyroid abnormality but also suggest that therapy with IFX can modify the clinical course. To our knowledge, this is the first such observation. The only study reported to date regarding the influence of anti-TNF-alpha therapy on the thyroid gland function did not present data on ultrasonography (33). The aim of this cited study was to investigate for the first time the thyroid function in patients with IBD and the potential effect of anti-TNF-alpha therapy. Forty-one patients with IBD, without any known thyroid disorder, were evaluated. Eighteen patients were on anti-TNF-alpha therapy for more than 1 year. From the second group, 12 of 23 patients on conventional therapy (azathioprine plus mesalazine) were put on anti-TNF-alpha and studied 6 months later. Anti-TNF-alpha-treated patients presented with significantly lower fT4 levels, but still within normal ranges, and no differences in TSH and T3 levels. The percentage of patients with positive thyroid antibodies was lower in the anti-TNF-alpha group, but not significantly. After 6 months of treatment with anti-TNF-alpha, fT4 levels were found to be reduced, while no changes in TSH and T3 levels and thyroid autoantibodies were noted. The advantage of this study comparing to ours is the long-term observation. However, the results, based only on biochemical results, seem to be in agreement with our results based on ultrasound of thyroid glands.

We found a significant reduction in thyroid echogenicity in 1/36 (2.8%) patients receiving IFX compared to 7/25 patients

(28%) naive to biologic therapy, although the duration time of CD in the IFX group had been longer in comparison to controls. Therefore, this 10-times higher prevalence of significant reduction in thyroid echogenicity in CD patients without anti-TNF-alpha therapy expressly suggests the preventive role of IFX in the probable development of AITD. Moreover, IFX patients have significantly lower levels of TSH without differences of thyroid volumes and higher thyroid antibody levels in comparison to the control naive group, although both groups did not differ regarding BMI and age. Our observations together with the knowledge from literature about the role of TNF-alpha in the pathogenesis of both AITD and IBD suggest that thyroid ultrasound could be a useful tool in the identification of CD pediatric patients at risk for AITD.

The advantage of our study is the novel observation of the possible preventive role of IFX therapy in the development of thyroid abnormalities probably preceding AITD. On the basis of the presented data, we propose thyroid ultrasound as a useful tool in the identification of the risk for thyroid disease in pediatric patients. All the more thyroid ultrasound is easily accessible, non-invasive, and cost-effective. The main disadvantage of the ultrasonography is that this method is operator dependent. For this reason, in our study, all participants were examined by one physician and verified by a second one, always the same two persons (34). In differential diagnosis of AITD, other diffuse thyroid diseases should be taken into consideration, multinodular goiter, de-Quervain's subacute thyroiditis, and Graves disease, because the sonographic features of these processes may be similar. However, these conditions have different biochemical profiles and clinical presentations. Therefore, always, ultrasound findings should be viewed in relation to clinical and biochemical status of the patient. The most dangerous, but possible, diagnostic pitfall is that diffuse infiltrative vascular thyroid carcinoma like papillary or follicular carcinoma may be mistaken for AITD. Ultrasonography features that suggest malignancy include irregular or nodular enlargement of the thyroid gland, local invasion, and nodal metastases. Sometimes, these features are not visible at once, and such cases require observation with repeated ultrasonography examination (35). Long-term observation is indicated in each case with an abnormal thyroid picture in ultrasonography. In AITD, abnormal ultrasound pictures never normalize and remain for the rest of the patient's life. Moreover, HT is associated with an increased risk of thyroid malignancies like follicular or papillary carcinoma and lymphoma (36). All the more there are data that in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases, focal lesions relating to tumors of the thyroid gland are more common than in the control group (37).

REFERENCES

- 1. Neumann MG. Immune dysfunction in inflammatory bowel disease. *Transl Res.* (2007) 149:173–86. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2006.11.009
- Cho JH, Brant SR. Recent insights into the genetics of inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 140:1704– 12. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.02.046

The weaknesses of the presented study are an uneven distribution of girls and boys in both groups and a lack of long-term observation. Female sex has a higher risk of thyroid diseases, so it could influence the results in both groups. However, in our control group with fewer girls than boys, we found more abnormal patterns of thyroid glands just in the boys in comparison to the girls. It would be very interesting how will be the further outcome of thyroid function and its morphology in the presented patients. Therefore, we plan to follow up our patients and repeat the study after 12 months with renewed assessment of thyroid antibodies in both groups.

Summarized, we propose thyroid ultrasound for use as an easily accessible, non-invasive tool to identify the risk of thyroid abnormalities probably preceding AITD in pediatric patients with CD. Because CD treatment especially with TNF blockers could modulate the AITD presentations, the thyroid ultrasonography should be considered before starting IFX therapy, and a long-term follow-up may be necessary in case of abnormal thyroid findings.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because, the data are the property of the patients. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to Jagiellonian University—Medical College.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Jagiellonian University Ethical Committee approved the study (No. 1072.6120.57.2019 of March 28, 2019). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AMW and JS contributed to the concept. AMW and AF contributed to the design, contributed to data collection or processing, contributed to analysis or interpretation, literature search, and contributed to writing. AF, AMW, MS, AW, and KF contributed to the medical and surgical practices. All authors contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank hereby the nurses, especially Malgorzata Hajdas, from the Department of Pediatric, Gastroenterology and Nutrition, for technical assistance in the study.

- Marinò M, Latrofa F, Menconi F, Chiovato L, Vitti P. Role of genetic and non-genetic factors in the etiology of Graves' disease. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2015) 38:283–94. doi: 10.1007/s40618-014-0214-2
- Yakut M, Üstün Y, Kabacan G, Soykan I. Thyroid disorders in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. *Int J Clin Med.* (2011) 2:89–92. doi: 10.4236/ijcm.2011.22018

- 5. Tunc B, Filik L, Ulker A, Demirbag A, Sahin B. Subclinical thyroid disorders
- and inflammatory bowel disease. *Romanian J Gastroenterol.* (2005) 14:98–9.
 6. Pooran N, Singh P, Bank S. Crohn's disease and risk of fracture: does thyroid disease play a role? *World J Gastroenterol.* (2003) 9:615–8. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v9.i3.615
- Casella G, De Marco E, Antonelli E, Daperno M, Baldini V, Signorini S, et al. The prevalence of hyper- and hypothyroidism in patients with ulcerative colitis. *J Crohn's Colitis.* (2008) 2:327–30. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2008.09.001
- Snook JA, de Silva HJ, Jewell DP. The association of autoimmune disorders with inflammatory Bowel disease. *Quart J Med.* (1989) 72:835–40.
- Liu S, Ren J, Zhao Y, Han G, Hong Z, Yan D, et al. Nonthyroidal illness syndrome: is it far away from Crohn's disease? J Clin Gastroenterol. (2013) 47:153–9. doi: 10.1097/MCG.0b013e318254ea8a
- Bernstein CN, Wajda A, Blanchard JF. The clustering of other chronic inflammatory diseases in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. *Gastroenterology*. (2005) 129:827–36. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.06.021
- Choudhury P, Chakraborty S, Saha A, Mazumder S. Association of serum TNF-Alpha with thyroid parameters: a hospital based study. *Int J Res Rev.* (2019) 6:30–2.
- 12. Polińska B, Matowicka-Karna J, Kemona H. The cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease. *Postepy Hig Med Dosw.* (2009) 63:389–94.
- Aust G, Heuer M, Laue S, Lehmann I, Hofmann A, Heldin NE, et al. Expression of tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) mRNA and protein in pathological thyroid tissue and carcinoma cell lines. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (1996) 105:148–54. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.1996.d01-726.x
- Caturegli P, De Remigis A, Rose NR. Hashimoto thyroiditis: clinical and diagnostic criteria. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2014) 13:391– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2014.01.007
- Raber W, Gessl A, Nowotny P, Vierhapper H. Thyroid ultrasound vs. antithyroid peroxidase antibody determination: a cohort study of four hundred fifty-one subjects. *Thyroid.* (2002) 12:725–31. doi: 10.1089/105072502760258712
- Rago T, Chiovato L, Grasso L, Pinchera A, Vitti P. Thyroid ultrasonography as a tool for detecting thyroid autoimmune diseases and predicting thyroid dysfunction in apparently healthy subjects. *J Endocrinol Invest.* (2001) 24:763– 9. doi: 10.1007/BF03343925
- Pedersen OM, Aardal NP, Larssen TB, Varhaug JE, Myking O, Vik-Mo H. The value of ultrasonography in predicting autoimmune thyroid disease. *Thyroid*. (2000) 10:251–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2000.10.251
- Rubello D, Gasparoni P, Rota G, Borsato N, Zanco P, Chierichetti F, et al. Functional meaning of scintigraphic and echographic patterns, and of circulating anti-peroxidase antibodies in asymptomatic chronic thyroiditis. *Quart J Nucl Med.* (1996) 40:359–64.
- Gutekunst R, Hafermann W, Mansky T, Scriba PC. Ultrasonography related to clinical and laboratory findings in lymphocytic thyroiditis. *Acta Endocrinol.* (1989) 121:129–35. doi: 10.1530/acta.0.1210129
- Taubner K, Schubert G, Pulzer F, Pfaeffle R, Körner A, Dietz A, et al. Serum concentrations of anti-thyroid peroxidase and anti-thyroglobulin antibodies in children and adolescents without apparent thyroid disorders. *Clin Biochem.* (2014) 47:3–7. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2013.09.017
- Cesarini M, Angelucci E, Rivera M, Pica R, Paoluzi P, Vernia P, et al. Thyroid disorders and inflammatory bowel diseases: retrospective evaluation of 909 patients from an Italian Referral Center. *Inflam Bowel Dis.* (2010) 16:186– 7. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20964
- Gimondo P, Mirk P, Pizzi C, Messina G, Gimondo S, Iafrancesco G. Clinicoultrasonographic assessment of the thyroid volume and function in chronic enteritis and colitis: preliminary data. *Radiol Medica*. (1996) 92:257–60.
- Halling ML, Kjeldsen J, Knudsen T, Nielsen J, Hansen LK. Patients with inflammatory bowel disease have increased risk of autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. World J Gastroenterol. (2017) 23:6137–46. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i33.6137

- Kappelman MD, Galanko JA, Porter CQ, Sandler RS. Association of paediatric inflammatory bowel disease with other immune-mediated diseases. *Arch Dis Child.* (2011) 96:1042–6. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2011-300633
- 25. Nishihara E, Amino N, Kudo T, Ito M, Fukata S, Nishikawa M, et al. Comparison of thyroglobulin and thyroid peroxidase antibodies measured by five different kits in autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Endocrine J.* (2017) 64:955–61. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ17-0164
- Rotondi M, de Martinis L, Coperchini F, Pignatti P, Pirali B, Ghilotti S, et al. Serum negative autoimmune thyroiditis displays a milder clinical picture compared with classic Hashimoto's thyroiditis. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2014) 171:31–6. doi: 10.1530/EJE-14-0147
- 27. Gharib H, Papini E, Garber JR, Duick DS, Harrell RM, Hegedüs L, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists, American College of Endocrinology, and Associazione Medici Endocrinologi medical guidelines for clinical practice for the diagnosis and management of thyroid nodules–2016 update. *Endocrine Practice.* (2016) 22:622–39. doi: 10.4158/EP161208.GL
- 28. Chaudhary V, Bano S. Thyroid ultrasound. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 7:219–27. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.109667
- 29. Takahashi MS, Pedro HMM, Chammas MC. Ultrasound evaluation of thyroiditis: a review. J Otolaryngol Res. (2019) 2:127.
- Dayan CM, Daniels GH. Chronic autoimmune thyroiditis. N Engl J Med. (1996) 335:99–107. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199607113350206
- Marcocci C, Vitti P, Cetani F, Catalano F, Concetti R, Pinchera A. Thyroid ultrasonography helps to identify patients with diffuse lymphocytic thyroiditis who are prone to develop hypothyroidism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1991) 72:209–13. doi: 10.1210/jcem-72-1-209
- Hayashi N, Tamaki N, Konishi J, Yonekura Y, Senda M, Kasagi K, et al. Sonography of Hashimoto's thyroiditis. J Clin Ultrasound. (1986) 14:123– 6. doi: 10.1002/jcu.1870140208
- Paschou SA, Palioura E, Kothonas F, Myroforidis A, Loi V, Poulou A, et al. The effect of anti-TNF therapy on thyroid function in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Endocr J.* (2018) 65:1121–5. doi: 10.1507/endocrj.EJ18-0243
- Russ G, Bonnema SJ, Erdogan MF, Durante C, Ngu R, Leenhardt L. European thyroid association guidelines for ultrasound malignancy risk stratification of thyroid nodules in adults: the EU-TIRADS. *Eur Thyroid J.* (2017) 6:225– 37. doi: 10.1159/000478927
- 35. Januś D, Wójcik M, Taczanowska A, Sołtysiak P, Wedrychowicz A, Roztoczyńska D, et al. Follow-up of parenchymal changes in the thyroid gland with diffuse autoimmune thyroiditis in children prior to the development of papillary thyroid carcinoma. J Endocrinol Invest. (2019) 42:261–70. doi: 10.1007/s40618-018-0909-x
- Anderson L, Middleton WD, Teefey SA, Reading CC, Langer JE, Desser T, et al. Hashimoto thyroiditis: part 2, sonographic analysis of bening and malignant nodules in patients with diffuse Hashimoto thyroiditis. *AJR Am J Roentgenol.* (2010) 195:216–22. doi: 10.2214/AJR.09.3680
- Neubauer K, Wozniak-Stolarska B. Ultrasonographic assessment of the thyroid gland structure in inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Adv Clin Exp Med.* (2012) 21:43–6.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Furtak, Wedrychowicz, Sladek, Wedrychowicz, Fyderek and Starzyk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Unusual Presentation of Polyautoimmunity and Renal Tubular Acidosis in an Adolescent With Hashimoto's Thyroiditis and Central Pontine Myelinolysis

Nora Bruns^{1,2*}, Ilja Finkelberg², Ibrahim Al-Attrach², Peter F. Hoyer² and Rainer Büscher²

¹ Department of Pediatrics I, Neonatology, Pediatric Intensive Care, Pediatric Neurology, University Hospital Essen, University Duisburg-Essen, Duisburg, Germany, ² Department of Pediatrics II, Pediatric Nephrology, University Hospital Essen, University Duisburg-Essen, Duisburg, Germany

Background: Hashimoto's thyroiditis is frequently associated with other autoimmune diseases and may include renal involvement.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aneta Monika Gawlik, Medical University of Silesia, Poland

Reviewed by:

Anna Malgorzata Kucharska, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland Alfonso Maria Lechuga-Sancho, University of Cádiz, Spain

> *Correspondence: Nora Bruns nora.bruns@uk-essen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 03 April 2020 Accepted: 01 September 2020 Published: 14 October 2020

Citation:

Bruns N, Finkelberg I, Al-Attrach I, Hoyer PF and Büscher R (2020) Unusual Presentation of Polyautoimmunity and Renal Tubular Acidosis in an Adolescent With Hashimoto's Thyroiditis and Central Pontine Myelinolysis. Front. Endocrinol. 11:548877. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.548877 **Case description:** A 17-year-old female with previously diagnosed Hashimoto's thyroiditis and vitiligo was admitted to a pediatric intensive care unit with hypokalemic paralysis and acidosis, after having suffered from recurrent muscular weakness for approximately one year. A few days later she developed central pontine myelinolysis. After initial stabilization she was also diagnosed with distal renal tubular acidosis (dRTA) and tubular proteinuria which can occur in Sjögren's syndrome. Extended screening for autoimmune diseases additionally revealed celiac disease. Treatment with Prednisone and substitution of potassium quickly lead to the resolution of proteinuria and dRTA, but unilateral paralysis of the sixth nerve as a result of central pontine myelinolysis was irreversible.

Conclusions: This is the rare case of polyautoimmunity including autoimmune thyroiditis, Sjögren's syndrome, vitiligo and celiac disease in an adolescent with few disease-specific symptoms. The diagnoses were made via a complicating nephritis causing dRTA and proteinuria. Delay in diagnosis lead to permanent neurological damage. This case highlights the need for pediatricians to be aware of rare accompanying diseases and their complications in "common" pediatric autoimmune diseases like Hashimoto's thyroiditis and celiac disease.

Keywords: case report, autoimmune thyroiditis, distal renal tubular acidosis, central pontine myelinolysis, Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Sjögren's syndrome, celiac disease, hypokalemia

INTRODUCTION

Hashimoto's thyroiditis is the most common autoimmune thyroiditis in children and adolescents and frequently associated with other autoimmune diseases including vitiligo, rheumatoid arthritis, polymyalgia rheumatica, celiac disease, diabetes, and Sjögren's syndrome (1, 2). The presence of more than one well-defined autoimmune disease in one patient is called polyautoimmunity

105

Polyautoimmunity in Hashimoto's Thyroiditis

(3). Various autoimmune disorders can affect the kidneys leading to interstitial nephritis with tubular dysfunction that results in electrolyte loss (distal renal tubular acidosis, dRTA). These autoimmune diseases include Hashimoto's thyroiditis, systemic lupus erythematosus and Sjögren's syndrome (4–7). Celiac disease has also been linked to kidney disease (8, 9). dRTA leads to hypokalemia that can be complicated by hypokalemic paralysis. As a matter of fact, hypokalemic paralysis can be the first manifestation of Sjögren's syndrome (10, 11). A possible complication of hypokalemia of different origins is central pontine myelinolysis, which has repeatedly been reported in the context autoimmune disorders and dRTA (12–15).

Here, we report the case of a female adolescent with Hashimoto's thyroiditis whose polyautoimmunity was unveiled via renal disease leading to severe neurological complications. Two years after being diagnosed with euthyroid Hashimoto's thyroiditis, the girl developed recurrent episodes of muscular weakness and pain that were associated with metabolic acidosis and hypokalemia. Only after developing severe hypokalemia with consecutive central pontine myelinolysis, she was diagnosed with polyautoimmunity that caused interstitial nephritis and dRTA.

CASE DESCRIPTION

A 17-year-old girl presented to the emergency room with muscular weakness and leg pain of \sim 2 days duration. For one year she had repeatedly suffered from muscular weakness associated with hypokalemia and metabolic acidosis. Because of the weakness and joint pains, she had presented to doctors of several pediatric subspecialties including neurology, rheumatology, cardiology, and nephrology. Periodic hypokalemic paralysis was primarily suspected, whereas the accompanying acidosis and elevated antinuclear antibody (ANA) titers (1:2560 [< 1:80]) could not be explained then. Three years before the present admission, autoimmune thyroiditis had been diagnosed but required no medical treatment.

Upon admission, she presented with severe hypokalemia (Potassium 1.8 mmol/l) and severe hyperchloremic acidosis (standard bicarbonate 13.3 mmol/l, Chloride 127 mmol/l) with normal anion gap. She was admitted to a pediatric intensive care unit and intravenous potassium substitution was performed with up to 6 mmol/kg/day. Five days after admission, the patient began to suffer from double images, impairment of speech, and general retardation. Magnetic resonance tomography revealed central pontine myelinolysis (**Figure 1**).

She was transferred to the pediatric nephrology department for further diagnostics and treatment. Upon admission, the patient was in stable condition and fully oriented. Neurological symptoms were bilateral palsy of the sixth nerve, dizziness, and slurred speech. She was unable to sit for more than half a minute, stand, or walk, whereas sensitivity and muscle power were not affected. Vitiligo could be observed on knees, chest, and upper back. Serum electrolytes and blood gas analysis were unremarkable.

Due to the persistent metabolic acidosis and high potassium demand, we screened for renal disease. Renin was normal and



FIGURE 1 | (A) The T2-weighted magnetic resonance tomography shows a diffuse increase of signal intensity and edema in the pons during the acute phase of central pontine myelinolysis. **(B)** Four weeks later, the edema has resolved, but a trident-like substance defect in the pons remains (T2 weighting).

Aldosterone low. The blood pressure ranged between the 5th and 50th percentile. Alkaline urine (pH 7.0), increased fractional potassium excretion (>20 %), and tubular proteinuria pointed toward tubular dysfunction. Due to the accompanying severe hypokalemia and metabolic acidosis (with normal anion gap), we suspected distal renal tubular acidosis (dRTA). Acquired dRTA frequently results from nephritis due to autoimmune disorders, e.g. systemic lupus erythematodes and Sjögren's syndrome. Supporting these differential diagnoses, central pontine myelinolysis can occur in both conditions. The consecutive renal biopsy revealed chronic and acute tubulointerstitial nephritis (Figure 2). Serum markers for Sjögren's syndrome (anti-Ro, anti-La, ANA) were strongly positive, whereas antibodies for systemic lupus erythematodes were negative. Extended screening for autoimmune diseases confirmed Hashimoto's thyroiditis and newly revealed celiac disease, which was verified by biopsy. Even after receiving the diagnosis of celiac disease, our patient denied having any gastrointestinal symptoms. Schirmer's test, ultrasound of the parotid gland and repeated extensive anamnesis could not reveal sicca symptoms. No signs of peripheral neuropathy or central nervous system involvement other than a persistent substance defect caused by central pontine myelinolysis could be found (Figure 1).

During the hospital stay, oral substitution of potassium hydrogencarbonate (0.5 mmol/kg potassium/day) stabilized electrolyte and metabolic homeostasis. Causal immunosuppressive treatment was initiated with oral Prednisone 60 mg/d and gluten-free diet. Additionally, intensive physiotherapy was initiated. Our patient quickly learned to cope with her neurological deficits that were partially reversible. However, unilateral palsy of the sixth nerve remained, accompanied by double images, intermittent dizziness, and perceived weakness upon physical activity. Four weeks after initiation of treatment, proteinuria was no longer detectable, and prednisone was tapered over the course of 2 months. Substitution of potassium hydrogencarbonate continues and maintains serum electrolytes and standard bicarbonate within normal range to date. Figure 3 depicts important symptoms, diagnostics, and treatment in a timeline.

DISCUSSION

lomerulun

We describe the unusual case of a patient with polyautoimmunity formed by Hashimoto's disease, celiac disease, vitiligo, and Sjögren's syndrome. Especially autoimmune thyroiditis and



nephritis. Diffuse interstitial infiltrates (arrow). Acute tubulus damage is light to moderate and potentially reversible. * tubular lumen.

Sjögren's syndrome are often associated with polyautoimmunity (16). In our patient, clinical symptoms of the autoimmune diseases were mild or did not exist. This may partially explain the delay in diagnosis that made severe hypokalemia with consecutive central pontine myelinolysis and persisting neurological sequelae possible. Sjögren's syndrome was diagnosed via the complicating nephritis, which results from peritubular infiltration of lymphatic cells and leads to tubular dysfunction. Urine analysis to detect this dysfunction, represented by tubular proteinuria and urine potassium loss (dRTA) gave the crucial cue, as dRTA is frequently caused by Sjögren's syndrome in adults. However, in children Sjögren's syndrome is very rare. Adult population prevalence differs between countries and lies between 0,09 and 1,6% in western European countries-data for children and adolescents are lacking, but believed to be lower (17-20). Recurrent Parotitis is the most common symptom in children with Sjögren's syndrome, whereas adults normally present with sicca symptoms (21, 22). To make diagnosis even more difficult, it is very rare that renal complications are the leading symptoms of Sjögren's syndrome among children. We found only one case report with hypokalemic paralysis revealing Sjögren's syndrome in a 16-year old girl (23).

Hashimoto's thyroiditis was the only pre-existing condition that had been diagnosed, when our patient started consulting doctors about one year before she became critically ill. Autoimmune thyroiditis is frequently associated with other

| symptoms path- breaking | | recurrent muscular weakness | severe hypokalemia | metabolic acidosis | hypokalemic paralysis | dizziness, dysarthria, and ataxia | hypokalemia resolved under substitution | urine distal renal tubular acidosis analysis tubular proteinuria | Sjögren's autoantibodies positive autoantibodies for celiac disease positive | enal and | duodenal biospies | dysarthria, dizziness and ataxia mainly resolved | I edema resolved, substance defect in pons | | he proteinuria resolved | recurrent muscular weakness resolved | | |
|-------------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------------------|---|---|---|----------|----------------------|--|--|-----------|-------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------|-----------|
| diagnostics | | | BGA | b l | | MRI | | urine analy | sere | Len | duo bios | | MRI | | urine | | | |
| diagnosis | Hashimoto's thyroiditis | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | vitiligo | | | | | CPIN | 1 (inc | l. bilater | al palsy of | 6th n | erve) | | unil | ateral pa | sy of | sıxti | h nerve | |
| | Withgo | | | | | | | | Sjögren' | s synd | rome | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | tubu | lointerst | itial | neph | nritis | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | celia | c diseas | e | | | | | | |
| therapy | | | | ssiur | | | | | - 0.5 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | μοτα | ssiur | n ny | urog | enca | roonate p | o.o. 0.5 m prednisc | | | y | | | dos | is ta | pered | |
| | | | | | | | | | preditise | | en-free c | liet | | | uos | 15 10 | pereu | |
| setting | ambulatory | | P | PICU | | | | | pediatric r | 0 | | | | rehab | litati | on | ambulatory | |
| duration | 2 years | 1 year | 1 | weeł | (| | | | 2 w | eeks | | | | 2 weeks | | 4 | weeks | 1.5 years |

FIGURE 3 | Timeline showing the chronological order of symptoms, diagnoses, and treatment. BGA, blood gas analysis; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.

autoimmune disorders that show different clustering depending on age at diagnosis (24). Concomitant autoimmune diseases in children are typically type 1 diabetes and celiac disease, whereas adults are more likely to suffer from arthropathies and connective tissue diseases (24). Thus, our patient matches the "pediatric cluster" even though she did not suffer from gastrointestinal symptoms. This fits with the observation that \sim 50% of celiac disease is diagnosed in adulthood or adolescence and symptoms in the majority of patients are subtle (2). The most common accompanying autoimmune skin disease in autoimmune thyroiditis in all age groups is vitiligo, which was also present in our patient (24). The coexistence of autoimmune thyroiditis and Sjögren's syndrome was examined by various studies and is attributed to shared pathophysiological mechanisms (25-28). Because of their common genetic and pathophysiological background, it has been suggested that patients with autoimmune thyroiditis who remain unwell despite treatment or develop new unspecific symptoms should be screened for accompanying autoimmune disorders (1).

Initially, our patient did not receive treatment for autoimmune thyroiditis and was unwell for a long period of time. She already presented two autoimmune diseases-Hashimoto's thyroiditis and vitiligo-when she started consulting doctors because of her recurrent weakness. The specialists screened for further autoimmune diseases: e.g., systemic lupus erythematodes was excluded three times and a Schirmer's test (with negative result) was performed months before admission to hospital. Relevant health information was only collected by the family physician or pediatrician in a paper file, making it very difficult to unveil the complexity of this case. The diagnostic approach to generate the suspect diagnosis (urine analysis of proteins and electrolytes and literature search) was simple-concordantly, the treatment required to balance electrolytes and immunosuppression to induce "remission" was mild. This makes it even more tragic that our patient suffered from persistent neurological damage that could have been prevented by timely diagnosis and adequate treatment

REFERENCES

- Fallahi P, Ferrari SM, Ruffilli I, Elia G, Biricotti M, Vita R, et al. The association of other autoimmune diseases in patients with autoimmune thyroiditis: review of the literature and report of a large series of patients. *Autoimmun Rev.* (2016) 15:1125–8. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2016.09.009
- Kahaly GJ, Frommer L, Schuppan D. Celiac disease and glandular autoimmunity. Nutrients. (2018) 10:814. doi: 10.3390/nu10070814
- Anaya J-M, Rojas-Villarraga A, Mantilla RD, Arcos-Burgos M, Sarmiento-Monroy JC. Polyautoimmunity in Sjögren Syndrome. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* (2016) 42:457–72. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2016.03.005
- Garza-Alpirez A, Arana-Guajardo AC, Esquivel-Valerio JA, Villarreal-Alarcón MA, Galarza-Delgado DA. Hypokalemic paralysis due to primary Sjögren Syndrome: case report and review of the literature. *Case Rep Rheumatol.* (2017) 2017:7509238–7. doi: 10.1155/2017/7509238
- Velarde-Mejía Y, Gamboa-Cárdenas R, Ugarte-Gil M, Asurza CP. Hypokalemic paralysis: a hidden card of several autoimmune diseases. *Clin Med Insigh*. (2017) 10:117954411772276. doi: 10.1177/1179544117722763
- Rodríguez Soriano J. Renal tubular acidosis: the clinical entity. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2002) 13:2160–70. doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.0000023430.92674.E5

(immunosuppression to induce remission and substitution of potassium and bicarbonate).

In the future, increased awareness among pediatricians regarding polyautoimmunity and its comorbidities in pediatric autoimmune diseases (e.g., autoimmune thyroiditis, celiac disease, type 1 diabetes, Addison's disease, or atrophic gastritis) may possibly help to detect similar cases earlier. Although the combination and severity of our patient's diseases is extremely rare, pediatricians should be aware of rare diseases and their even more rare complications. A central, national or international database integrating relevant diagnostic information may contribute to a better understanding of complex and rare diseases.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors were involved in the patient's treatment. NB wrote the manuscript and designed figures, IF procured informed consent, follow-up information, and material for figures. IA-A, PH, and RB critically read and redacted the manuscript.

FUNDING

NB received internal funding from the Medical Faculty of the University of Duisburg Essen (IFORES grant and Josepha und Charlotte von Siebold funding program).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank our patient for her consent to publication of the case.

- Falhammar H, Thorén M, Calissendorff J. Thyrotoxic periodic paralysis: clinical and molecular aspects. *Endocrine*. (2012) 17:1454–284. doi: 10.1007/s12020-012-9777-x
- Wijarnpreecha K, Thongprayoon C, Panjawatanan P, Thamcharoen N, Pachariyanon P, Nakkala K, et al. Celiac disease and the risk of kidney diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dig Liver Dis.* (2016) 48:1418– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2016.08.115
- Boonpheng B, Cheungpasitporn W, Wijarnpreecha K. Renal disease in patients with celiac disease. *Minerva Med.* (2018) 109:126–40. doi: 10.23736/S0026-4806.17.05403-9
- Sedhain A, Acharya K, Sharma A, Khan A, Adhikari S. Renal tubular acidosis and hypokalemic paralysis as a first presentation of primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Case Rep Nephrol.* (2018) 2018:9847826–4. doi: 10.1155/2018/9847826
- Martinho AL, Capela A, Duarte F. [Hypokalemic paralysis: the first presentation of primary Sjögren's syndrome]. Acta Med Port. (2012) 25:122-4.
- Abdulla MC, Alungal J, Ahammed S, Narayan R. Central pontine myelinolysis in Sjogren's syndrome with hypokalemia. *Int J Rheum Dis.* (2016) 20:2168– 70. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.12847

- Shinde SV. Central pontine myelinolysis associated with hypokalemia in a diabetic patient with sepsis. *Neurol India*. (2017) 65:674– 5. doi: 10.4103/neuroindia.NI_1092_16
- Pahadiya HR, Lakhotia M, Gandhi R, Bargujar P. Latent systemic lupus erythematosus presenting with hypokalaemic quadriparesis and central pontine myelinolysis. *Neurol Sci.* (2018) 39:1133–6. doi: 10.1007/s10072-017-3238-5
- Kishore S, Kandasamy D, Jyotsna VP. Central pontinemyelinosis, hyperparathyroidism, hypokalemia. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 17:S114–6. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.119523
- Rojas-Villarraga A, Amaya-Amaya J, Rodriguez-Rodriguez A, Mantilla RD, Anaya J-M. Introducing polyautoimmunity: secondary autoimmune diseases no longer exist. *Autoimmune Dis.* (2012) 2012:254319–9. doi: 10.1155/2012/254319
- Bowman SJ, Ibrahim GH, Holmes G, Hamburger J, Ainsworth JR. Estimating the prevalence among Caucasian women of primary Sjögren's syndrome in two general practices in Birmingham, UK. Scand J Rheumatol. (2004) 33:39–43. doi: 10.1080/03009740310004676
- Dafni UG, Tzioufas AG, Staikos P, Skopouli FN, Moutsopoulos HM. Prevalence of Sjögren's syndrome in a closed rural community. *Ann Rheum Dis.* (1997) 56:521–5. doi: 10.1136/ard.56.9.521
- Anagnostopoulos I, Zinzaras E, Alexiou I, Papathanasiou AA, Davas E, Koutroumpas A, et al. The prevalence of rheumatic diseases in central Greece: a population survey. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord.* (2010) 11:98. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-11-98
- Tomsic M, Logar D, Grmek M, Perkovic T, Kveder T. Prevalence of Sjögren's syndrome in Slovenia. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. (1999) 38:164– 170. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/38.2.164
- Mehta J, Yokogawa N, Lieberman S. A73: a comparison of serologic profiles of children with Sjögren syndrome based on the presence or absence of parotitis. *Arthr Rheum.* (2014) 66:S105. doi: 10.1002/art.38489
- 22. Yokogawa N, Lieberman SM, Sherry DD, Vivino FB. Features of childhood Sjögren"s syndrome in comparison to adult Sjögren"s syndrome:

considerations in establishing child-specific diagnostic criteria. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* (2016) 34:343–51.

- 23. Skalova S, Minxova L, Slezak R. Hypokalaemic paralysis revealing Sjogren's syndrome in a 16-year old girl. *Ghana Med J.* (2008) 42:124-8.
- Ruggeri RM, Trimarchi F, Giuffrida G, Certo R, Cama E, Campennì A, et al. Autoimmune comorbidities in Hashimoto's thyroiditis: different patterns of association in adulthood and childhood/adolescence. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2017) 176:133–41. doi: 10.1530/EJE-16-0737
- Al-Hashimi I, Khuder S, Haghighat N, Zipp M. Frequency and predictive value of the clinical manifestations in Sjögren's syndrome. *J Oral Pathol Med.* (2001) 30:1–6. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0714.2001. 300101.x
- Mitsias DI, Kapsogeorgou EK, Moutsopoulos HM. Sjögren's syndrome: why autoimmune epithelitis? Oral Dis. (2006) 12:523–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1601-0825.2006.01292.x
- Jara LJ, Navarro C, Brito-Zerón MDP, García-Carrasco M, Escárcega RO, Ramos-Casals M. Thyroid disease in Sjögren's syndrome. *Clin Rheumatol.* (2007) 26:1601–6. doi: 10.1007/s10067-007-0638-6
- Mavragani CP, Fragoulis GE, Moutsopoulos HM. Endocrine alterations in primary Sjogren's syndrome: an overview. J Autoimmun. (2012) 39:354– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2012.05.011

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bruns, Finkelberg, Al-Attrach, Hoyer and Büscher. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Analysis of Polymorphisms rs7093069-IL-2RA, rs7138803-FAIM2, and rs1748033-PADI4 in the Group of Adolescents With Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases

Beata Sawicka^{1*}, Hanna Borysewicz-Sańczyk¹, Natalia Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek², Tommaso Aversa³, Domenico Corica³, Joanna Gościk⁴, Adam Krętowski², Małgorzata Waśniewska³ and Artur Bossowski¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Eli Hershkovitz, Soroka Medical Center, Israel

Reviewed by:

Iwona Ben-Skowronek, Medical University of Lublin, Poland Andrzej Lewinski, Medical University of Lodz, Poland

> *Correspondence: Beata Sawicka sawicka.beata@wp.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pediatric Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 21 March 2020 Accepted: 18 September 2020 Published: 23 October 2020

Citation:

Sawicka B, Borysewicz-Sańczyk H, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Aversa T, Corica D, Gościk J, Krętowski A, Waśniewska M and Bossowski A (2020) Analysis of Polymorphisms rs7093069-IL-2RA, rs7138803-FAIM2, and rs1748033-PADI4 in the Group of Adolescents With Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases. Front. Endocrinol. 11:544658. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.544658 ¹ Department of Pediatrics, Endocrinology, Diabetology, with Cardiology Division, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland, ² Department of Endocrinology, Diabetes with Internal Medicine, Medical University of Bialystok, Bialystok, Poland, ³ Department of Human Pathology of Adulthood and Childhood, University of Messina, Messina, Italy, ⁴ Software Department, Faculty of Computer Science, Bialystok University of Technology, Bialystok, Poland

Introduction: The pathogenesis of autoimmune thyroid diseases is complicated and not completely known. Among the causes of thyroid autoimmunity, we distinguish genetic predisposition and environmental factors. Graves' disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis are associated with a disturbance of immune tolerance of thyroid antigen molecules. The IL2RA gene is located on chromosome 10 and encodes the interleukin 2 receptor (IL2RA), which is expressed by the regulatory T-cells (Tregs) responsible for suppression. It has been shown that this gene and its polymorphism occur in people with various autoimmune diseases (e.g. type 1 diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis, Graves' disease, or multiple sclerosis). The FAIM2 gene is located on chromosome 12 and encodes the molecule involved in the apoptosis inhibition process. The PADI4 gene is located on chromosome 1, and its expression is associated with activation of T-cells, differentiation of macrophages, which leads to increased inflammation.

Aim: The aim of the study was to analyze the polymorphisms of the IL-2RA (rs7093069), FAIM2 (rs7138803) and PADI4 (rs1748033) genes and their correlation to thyroid hormones and anti-thyroid antibodies in pediatric patients with Graves' disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis compared to the control group.

Material and Methods: The study was performed in 180 patients with GD (mean age 16.5 ± 2), 80 with HT (mean age, 15.2 ± 2.2), and 114 children without any autoimmune diseases (mean age 16.3 ± 3) recruited from the endocrinology outpatient clinic. Three single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs): rs7138803-FAIM2, rs7093069-IL-2RA, and rs1748033 PADI4 were determined by TaqMan SNP QuanStudio 12K Flex-OpenArray genotyping with PCR and correlated to thyroid hormones and anti-thyroid antibodies.

Results: Rs7090369-IL-2RA allele T was more frequent in patients with AITDs (33.7% in GD vs 28.7% in HT, p = 0.077, OR = 1.52) compared with healthy children (25%). Allele T of that gene predisposes to the occurrence of autoimmune thyroid diseases, especially GD and TT genotype gives a statistically significant 5.2 times higher risk of GD (p = 0.03, OR = 5.26) and increased risk of HT (p = 0.109, OR = 4.46). Allele A rs7138803-FAIM2 is more frequent in patients with GD (p = 0.071, OR = 1.45) and HT (p = 0.028, OR = 1.8). In our data the presence of GG genotype of that gene significantly reduces the risk of autoimmune thyroid diseases (p = 0.05, OR = 0.42). Allele C rs1748033PADI4 and its CC genotype were more frequent in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases, but it was not statistically significant. The occurrence of CT genotype significantly reduces the risk of HT (p = 0.03, OR = 0.03, OR = 0.4).

Conclusions: 1). Polymorphisms rs7138803-FAIM2 and rs1748033-PADI4 are more frequent in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases, more frequent in patients with Hashimoto' thyroiditis, but the occurrence of GG rs7138803-FAIM2 genotype could reduce the risk of thyrocyte apoptosis inhibition. 2). The TT rs7093069-IL2RA genotype may increase the risk of autoimmune thyroid diseases. 3). Analysis of polymorphisms of given genes in clinical practice will allow to determine predisposition to autoimmune thyroid disease development, to find symptoms of thyroid gland dysfunction earlier and to use appropriate treatment.

Keywords: Hashimoto's thyroiditis, Graves' disease, gene polymorphism, FAIM2, PADI4, II-2RA

INTRODUCTION

Nowadays we observe an increase of newly diagnosed autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD), like Graves' disease (GD) and Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) in different age groups. The pathogenesis of thyroid diseases is still unclear. Significant progress has been made in our understanding of the genetic and environmental triggers contributing to AITD (1). A number of molecular changes occur in genetically predisposed individuals in order to develop clinical symptoms (2, 3).

GD and HT are associated with a disorder of immune tolerance of thyroid antigen molecules. Both are involved with reduced regulatory T-cell (Treg) function. We distinguish a number of different genes encoding proteins included in the structure of the thyroid cell, elements of the immune system and those responsible for modulation of the apoptosis process. Among genetic factors we could divide: genes which coding thyrocyte elements (Tg, TSHR, SEPS1), genes encoding immunomodulators of thyrocyte antigen molecules responsible for the peripheral response (IL-2RA, FOXP3, FCRL3) (4) and responsible for T lymphocyte activation and antigen presentation (CD40, PTPN22, CTLA-4, HLA-B8, DR-3, DR-4, DR-5, PADI) (5, 6), and genes responsible for activating/ inhibiting apoptosis (FAIM2).

Gene Il-2RA (interleukin 2 alpha-receptor gene) is located on the short arm of chromosome 10 (p15.1) and coded protein also called CD25, which forms an alpha-receptor chain for interleukin 2 (high-affinity alpha subunit—CD25—of the interleukinreceptor). The molecular weight of CD25 is approximately 55 kDa. This protein plays an essential role in the T lymphocyte response to IL-2, which is the main growth factor for these cells— CD25 expression is important for proliferation, longer life expectancy and T-cell function. CD25 occurs on the surface of maturing T and B lymphocytes; it undergoes transient expression on activated T and B lymphocytes; it constitutively occurs on regulatory T lymphocytes (Tregs), which inhibit activation of autoreactive T lymphocytes. It was shown that the polymorphism of this gene occurs in people with various autoimmune diseases (*e.g.* diabetes mellitus type 1, rheumatoid arthritis, Graves' disease, sclerosis multiplex) (7–13).

Gene FAIM2 (Fas apoptotic inhibitory molecule 2 gene) is located on the long arm of chromosome 12 (q13.12). The molecular weight of FAIM2 is approximately 35 kDa. This gene codes the molecule involved in the apoptosis inhibition process (inhibits Fas-mediated). It regulates apoptosis in neurons by interfering with the activation of caspase-8. It can play a role in cerebellum development. The polymorphism of the molecular coding gene is associated with giant obesity and diabetes mellitus type 2 and increases the risk of cardiovascular diseases (14–19).

Gene PADI4 (Peptydil Arginine Deiminase 4) is located on the short arm of chromosome 1 (p36.13). The molecular weight of PADI4 is approximately 74 kDa. This gene codes the enzymatic proteins responsible for the deamination of arginins. It plays a role in the development of granulocytes and macrophages, leading to inflammation and immune response. It catalyzes the citrilution/deimination of arginine residues of proteins such as histones, thus playing a key role in the histone code and regulation of stem cell maintenance. It is found in the synovial membrane of people with rheumatoid arthritis (20).

The aim of the study was to analyze the polymorphisms of the IL-2RA (rs7093069), FAIM2 (rs7138803) and PADI4 (rs1748033) genes and their correlation to thyroid hormones and anti-thyroid antibodies in pediatric patients with Graves' disease and Hashimoto's thyroiditis compared to the control group.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was performed in 180 patients with GD (mean age 16.5 \pm 2), 80 with HT (mean age, 15.2 \pm 2.2), and 114 children without any autoimmune diseases (mean age 16.3 ± 3) recruited from two pediatric endocrinology outpatient clinics. The diagnosis of autoimmune thyroid diseases was based on medical history, physical examination, laboratory, and ultrasound investigations (21, 22). Clinical diagnosis of hyperthyroidism in GD is confirmed by elevated thyroid hormones in serum and suppression of TSH to values close to zero with positive antibodies against receptor for thyroidstimulating hormone (TRAb = anti-TSH), positive anti-thyroid peroxidase antibodies (aTPO) and anti-thyroglobulin antibodies (aTG) (23, 24). In clinically evident hypothyroidism in HT, serum TSH levels are elevated at reduced concentrations of thyroid hormones (fT4, fT3), usually accompanied by elevated thyroid antibodies (aTPO and/or aTG, rarely blocking anti-TSH). In patients with concomitant nodular goiter, fine-needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) was also performed, and we excluded thyroid carcinomas. All patients had appropriate therapy for autoimmune thyroid pathology. Patients with GD were treated with methimazole and b-blockers orally. In patients with HT in therapy was used l-thyroxine orally. We excluded other endocrinopathies, extra-thyroid autoimmune diseases or nonendocrine autoimmune diseases. The control group consisted of 114 healthy children with no personal or family history of any AITDs. They were euthyroid and negative for thyroid antibodies. All controls had normal thyroid gland in ultrasonography. Before enrollment, all patients and controls and all children over 16 years old signed informed consents. The protocol for the study was approved by the Local Bioethical Committee at the Medical University of Bialystok.

Assessment of the Thyroid Hormone Concentration and Anti-Thyroid Antibody Titers

Blood for analysis was collected in the morning from the basilic vein. Serum levels of free thyroxine (fT4), free triiodothyronine (fT3), and TSH were determined on electrochemiluminescence 'ECLIA' with Cobas E411 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). Normal values for fT4 ranged between 1.1 and 1.7 ng/dl, for fT3 between 2.3 and 5.0 pg/ml, and for TSH between 0.28 and 4.3 (μ IU/L). TR-Ab, anti-TPO and anti-TG antibodies were measured in all samples using ECLIA with Modular Analytics E170 analyzer (Roche Diagnostics). The positive values for anti-thyroid antibodies

were: >1.75 U/L for TR-Ab, >34 IU/ml for anti-TPO-Abs and >115 IU/ml for anti-TG-Abs.

Genotyping

DNA was extracted from the leukocytes deriving from peripheral blood using classical salting-out method. It was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. The three analyzed SNPs rs 709369 in the IL-2RA gene, rs 7138803 in the FAIM2 gene, and rs1748033 in the PADI4 gene were determinated byTaqMan SNP QuanStudio 12K Flex-OpenArray genotyping with PCR. SNP analysis was performed twice, by the commonly used instructions. As a negative control, we used a molecular grade water.

Statistical Analysis

To assess any relationship between allele or genotype occurrence and patient's status median unbiased estimator (mid-p) of odds ratio (as well as its 95% exact confidence interval), the exact confidence interval (CI) and associated p value obtained with the use of Fisher's exact test, both obtained with the use of the mid-p method were used (25). To determine statistically significant differences between groups defined by genotypes and quantitative features, either parametric or non-parametric methods were used depending on fulfilling the normality and homogeneity of variance assumptions. Due to the issue of multiple testing during the *post-hoc* analysis, false discovery rate p value adjustment method was applied (26). Measure D' of linkage disequilibrium was used as proposed in (27). The p value of <0.05 was considered to be significant for all calculations. The R software environment was exploited for all calculations (28).

RESULTS

Age and anthropometric parameters in the study groups of children with GD, HT compared to the control group did not have statistically significant differences (**Table 1**).

Results for IL-2RA (rs7093069)

Our study shows that rs7093069 T alleles were more frequent in patients with AITDs (33.7% in GD *vs* 28.7% in HT, p = 0.077, OR = 1.52) compared with healthy children (25%) (**Table 2**). Allele T predisposes to the occurrence of autoimmune thyroid diseases, especially GD, and T/T genotype gives a statistically significant 5.2 times higher risk of GD (p = 0.03, OR = 5.26) and increased risk of HT (p = 0.109, OR = 4.46). Comparing both groups of autoimmune diseases: patients with GD and HT allele T, it is more common in patients with GD (33.7 *vs* 28.7%, p = NS). There was no statistically significant correlation between rs7093069-IL-2RA thyroid hormones levels and anti-thyroid antibodies in the studied groups (data not supplied).

Results for FAIM2 (rs7138803)

In the study groups we reported that allele A is more frequent in patients with GD and HT. Allele A was found in 44.7% of

| TABLE 1 | Clinical characteristics of patients with Grav | es' disease (GD) and with | h Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) and control group. |
|---------|--|---------------------------|---|
|---------|--|---------------------------|---|

| | GD (mean ± SD) | p* | HT (mean ± SD) | p** | Control group |
|--------------------------|---------------------------|-----------|-----------------|----------|---------------|
| Female/Male | 180 (135/45) | | 80 (59/21) | | 114 (88/26) |
| Age (years) | 16.5 ± 2 | NS | 15.2 ± 2.2 | NS | 16.3 ± 3 |
| Weight (kg) | 55.19 ± 2.39 | NS | 58 ± 5.28 | NS | 60.9 ± 7.8 |
| Height (cm) | 162.1 ± 2.6 | NS | 154.2 ± 4.1 | NS | 160 ± 8 |
| BMI (kg/m ²) | 21.1 ± 2.1 | p < 0.012 | 24.45 ± 1.33 | NS | 23.78 ± 2.5 |
| fT4 (ng/dl) | 3.6 ± 1.4 | p < 0.001 | 1.21 ± 0.03 | NS | 1.1 ± 0.17 |
| fT3 (pg/ml) | 7.19 ± 1.65 | p < 0.001 | 3.59 ± 0.69 | NS | 3.79 ± 0.18 |
| TSH (mIU/L) | 0.37 ± 0.1 | p < 0.01 | 6.45 ± 3.27 | p <0.02 | 3.04 ± 0.72 |
| Anti-TSH (U/I) | 11.56 ± 2.11 | p < 0.001 | 0.5 ± 0.32*** | NS | 0.4 ± 0.2 |
| aTG (IU/ml) | 347.49 ± 86.7 | p < 0.001 | 389.8 ± 245.34 | p <0.001 | 41.6 ± 12.1 |
| aTPO(IU/ml) | 431.97 ± 58.12 | p < 0.001 | 531.5 ± 460.93 | p <0.001 | 26.72 ± 6.8 |
| Treatment | methamizole/ b-blocker | - | I-thyroxine | - | none |

NS, no statistical significance.

p*, statistical significance between patients with GD and controls.

p**, statistical significance between patients with HT and controls.

anti-TSH^{***}, anti-TSH antibodies levels were analyzed in a selected group of HT patients. (n = 43).

TABLE 2 | Genotype and allele frequencies for IL-2RA gene polymorphism (rs7093069) in groups with Graves' disease (GD) and with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) compared to control group.

| Group | Patients with GB (n = 180) | p (95%Cl)/OR | Patients with HT (n = 80) | p (95%Cl)/OR | Control group (n = 114) |
|----------|----------------------------|--------------|---------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|
| Allele C | 175 (66.2%) | NS | 67 (71.2%) | NS | 114 (75%) |
| REF | | p = 0.077; | | | |
| Т | 89 (33.7%) | OR = 1.52 | 27 (28.7%) | p = 0.05 | 38 (25%) |
| | | | | OR = 1.2 | |
| Genotype | | | | | |
| CC | 51 (38.6%) | NS | 23 (48.9%) | NS | 38 (50%) |
| CT | 73 (55.3%) | NS | 21 (44.6%) | NS | 38 (50%) |
| Π | 8 (6.1%) | p = 0.03 | 3 (6.3%) | p = 0.109 | 0 (0%) |
| | | OR = 5.26 | | OR = 4.46 | |

P, p-value; REF., reference. NS, p-value > 0.05. OR, odds ratio. 95% Cl, 95% confidence interval for odds ratio.

patients with GD (p = 0.071, OR = 1.45), in 50% of patients with HT (p = 0.028, OR = 1.8), and in 35.6% of healthy children (**Table 3**). In our data the presence of GG genotype significantly reduces the risk of autoimmune thyroid diseases (p = 0.05, OR = 0.42). There were no significant differences in the frequency of A and G alleles and their genotypes when comparing the groups of patients with autoimmune diseases (data not included). A statistical correlation between rs 7138803 FAIM2 gene polymorphism and aTPO antibodies in patients with GD was found (p < 0.05). There was no statistically significant correlation between rs7138803 FAIM2, thyroid hormone levels, and other anti-thyroid antibodies in the studied groups (data not supplied).

Results for PADI4 (rs1748033)

Allele C rs 1748033 PADI4 and its CC genotype were more frequent in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases, but it was not statistically significant. The occurrence of CT genotype significantly reduces the risk of HT (p = 0.03, OR = 0.4) (**Table 4**). Allele T and its CT genotype occur more frequently in this group of patients with GD, but it is not a significant correlation. The positive correlation of rs1748033 PADI4 with anti-TSH antibodies in patients with GD (p = 0.05) and positive correlation of this gene with aTPO antibodies in patients with

HT were found (p = 0.001). It is worth noting that there were no statistically significant correlations between gene polymorphisms and thyroid hormone levels in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases (data not supplied).

DISCUSSION

In recent years, many reports have been published confirming the various genes in the development of autoimmune thyroid diseases. There are still very few reports of children assessing chosen genes as a risk autoimmune endocrine disorder (2, 3, 5).

An important development of autoimmune diseases is the disturbed immune system. Physiologically correct investigation and removal of the "foreign" antigen ensure the safety of the owned tissues and organs. Autoreactive lymphocytes are cloned in thymus, while in peripheral organs of the immune system, tolerance is achieved by energy or active suppression with Tregs regulatory (suppressor) lymphocytes. IL-2-cytokine is the most important growth factor for T lymphocytes. Moreover, this cytokine has a positive effect on the immune response because, after stimulation of T lymphocyte, it induces the appearance of molecules on its surface that enable apoptosis of this cell. Many

TABLE 3 | Genotype and allele frequencies for FAIM2 gene polymorphism (rs7138803) in groups with Graves' disease (GD) and with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) compared to control group.

| Group | Patients with GB (n = 180) | p (95%Cl)/OR | Patients with HT (n = 80) | p (95%Cl)/OR | Control group (n = 114) |
|----------|----------------------------|--------------|---------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|
| Allele A | 126 (44.7%) | p = 0.071 | 51 (50%) | p = 0.028 | 57 (35.6%) |
| REF | | OR = 1.45 | | OR = 1.8 | |
| G | 156 (55.3%) | NS | 51 (50%) | NS | 103 (64.3%) |
| Genotype | | | | | |
| AA | 45 (21.27%) | NS | 12 (23.5%) | NS | 9 (11.2%) |
| AG | 66 (46.8%) | NS | 27 (53%) | NS | 39 (48.7%) |
| GG | 45 (31.9%) | p = 0.05 | 12 (23.5%) | p = 0.02 | 32 (40%) |
| | | OR = 0.42 | | OR = 0.28 | |

P, p-value; REF., reference. NS, p-value >0.05. OR, odds ratio. 95% CI, 95% confidence interval for odds ratio.

TABLE 4 | Genotype and allele frequencies for PADI4 gene polymorphism (rs1748033) in groups with Graves' disease (GD) and with Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) compared to control group.

| Group | Patients with GB (n = 180) | p (95%Cl)/OR | Patients with HT (n = 80) | p (95%Cl)/OR | Control group (n = 114) |
|-----------------|----------------------------|--------------|---------------------------|--------------|-------------------------|
| Allele C REF | 155 (74.8%) | NS | 78 (76.5%) | NS | 107 (69.5%) |
| Т | 69 (25.2%) | NS | 24 (23.5%) | NS | 47 (30.5%) |
| Genotype | | | | | |
| CC | 78 (56.9%) | NS | 34 (66.7%) | NS | 39 (50.6%) |
| CT | 49 (35.8%) | NS | 10 (19.6%) | p=0.03 | 29 (37.7%) |
| | | | | OR=0.4 | |
| ΤΤ | 10 (7.3%) | NS | 7 (13.7%) | NS | 9 (11.7%) |

P, p-value. REF., reference. NS, p-value >0.05. OR, odds ratio. 95% Cl, 95% confidence interval for odds ratio.

studies have confirmed the association of IL-2 level in serum with many autoimmune diseases, for example, diabetes mellitus type 1 (7), pediatric atopic dermatitis (8), alopecia areata (9), autoimmune thyroid diseases (10), or multiple sclerosis (11). There are only few studies evaluating alleles and individual genotypes of the IL-2 gene in particular diseases (12). It has been shown that the alleles T in rs11938795 Il and Gin rs6822844 Il 2 were significantly associated with a higher risk of colorectal carcinoma in adults (13). Our study has showed that rs7093069 T alleles were more frequent in patients with AITDs compared with healthy children. Genotype TT gave a statistically significant 5.2 times higher risk of GD and increased risk of HT.

As it turns out, there are various immunomodulators that strictly control cellular functions. For example, the citrullination is a process in which arginine is deminated to citrulline. It is catalyzed by a group of hydrolyses called arginine protein deiminases (PADs), from which, till now, five isoforms have been identified. Hypercitrullinating, as a result of increased expression or activity of PAD, is associated with autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, lupus, Alzheimer's disease, ulcerative colitis, multiple sclerosis, and certain cancers (29). PADI4 is found in various cells, including granulocytes, lymphocytes, monocytes and macrophages (30). One of the theories of the autoimmune process is the production of antibodies against citrulline proteins. Peptidylarginine deiminase 4 (PADI4) catalyzes the citrullines of histones and thus regulates the maintenance of stem cells. This process results in extracellular neutrophil traps (NETs), which as citrullinated proteins, are the target of autoantibodies in the treatment of inflammation and arthritis (31). PADI4 was found in the differentiation of macrophages and its role in inflammatory reactions (32). So far, there are no studies evaluating the polymorphism of the gene encoding PADI4 in humans with autoimmune diseases of the thyroid gland. We found that patients with allele C rs1748033 PADI4 and its CC genotype predisposes to the occurrence of autoimmune thyroid diseases.

Apoptosis plays an important role in the pathomechanism of autoimmune thyroid diseases. It is one of the forms of programmed cell death. In Hashimoto's thyroiditis, cytokines released by macrophages and Th1 lymphocytes induce mass regulation by the increase of expression of CD95 molecules on the surface of thyroid cells. This stimulation activates the programmed death of these cells when Fas ligand is present on their surface as a result of self-destruction mechanism. In Graves' disease, Th2 lymphocytes are infiltrated and IL-4 and IL-10 are produced, causing the expression of anti-apoptotic molecules and also, their resistance to apoptosis through CD95. Thyroid cells, both Graves' disease and Hashimoto's disease, showed a strong expression of Fas ligand together with a receptor for Fas. As a result of combining the Fas receptor with its ligand, intracellular areas are initiated, which activate cascades responsible for cell death. There are many molecules that influence the apoptosis process. One of them is the FAIM2 molecule. Many studies suggest that the polymorphism of this gene is associated with obesity and the development of type 2 diabetes (14). A multicenter study of more than 13,000 children aged 2-18 with BMI above 95 percentile years confirmed the occurrence of this gene polymorphism in obese children (15). The variant of gene

FAIM2-rs7138803 is associated with BMI z-scores in children over 6 years (16). On the other hand, the Mexican researchers have not confirmed that kind of association in obese children without metabolic disorders (17). It is known that the obesity gene, the apoptotic suppressing molecule Fas 2 (FAIM2), is regulated by nutritional status, and the promoter FAIM2 methylation levels are significantly related to overweight. An interesting study was conducted by Chinese researchers, who studied the influence of different lifestyles on methylation changes in obese and lean children. They have showed that lifestyle (17) might have an impact on FAIM2 (18), but it has been independently associated with dyslipidemia (19). The polymorphisms of this gene in people with thyroid diseases are till now unknown. In patients with HT, thyroid cells are destroyed as a result of cytotoxic action of T lymphocytes and increased process of apoptosis. Even though in our study we reported that allele A of gene FAIM2-rs7138803 is statistically significantly more frequent in patients with HT, the presence of GG genotype significantly could reduce the risk of autoimmune thyroid diseases. Because of the small group, this requires further research.

There are no studies of these genes' polymorphisms in adolescents with autoimmune thyroid diseases in the literature. To sum up, analysis of polymorphisms of presented genes in clinical practice could allow for determining the predisposition to autoimmune thyroid disease development, to find symptoms of thyroid gland dysfunction earlier, and to use appropriate treatment, but it still requires a lot of research to improve the knowledge on this topic.

CONCLUSIONS

1. Polymorphisms rs7138803-FAIM2 and rs1748033-PADI4 are more frequent in patients with autoimmune thyroid

REFERENCES

- Tomer Y, Huber A. The etiology of autoimmune thyroid disease: a story of genes and environment. J Autoimmun (2009) 32(3-4):231–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.jaut.2009.02.007
- Cardenas- Roldan J, Rojas-Villarraga A, Anaya J. How do autoimmune diseases cluster in families? A Systemat Rev Meta Analys BMC Med (2013) 11:73. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-73
- Kuś A, Radziszewski M, Glina A, Szymański K, Jurecka-Lubieniecka B, Pawlak-Adamska E, et al. Paediatric-onset and adult-onset Graves' disease share multiple genetic risk factors. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2019) 90(2):320–7. doi: 10.1111/cen.13887
- Bossowski A, Borysewicz-Sańczyk H, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Zasim A, Szalecki M, Wikiera B, et al. Analysis of chosen polymorphisms in FoxP3 gene in children and adolescents with autoimmune thyroid diseases. *Autoimmunity* (2014) 47(6):395–400. doi: 10.3109/08916934. 2014.910767
- Rydzewska M, Góralczyk A, Gościk J, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek N, Bossowska A, Krętowski A, et al. Analysis of chosen polymorphisms rs2476601 a/G- PTPN22, rs1990760 C/T- IFIH1, rs179247 a/G- TSHR in pathogenesis of autoimmune thyroid diseases in children. *Autoimmunity* (2018) 51(4):183–90. doi: 10.1080/08916934.2018.1486824

diseases, more frequent in patients with Hashimoto' thyroiditis, but the occurrence of GG rs7138803-FAIM2 genotype could reduce the risk of thyrocyte apoptosis inhibition.

- 2. The TT rs7093069-IL2RA genotype may increase the risk of autoimmune thyroid diseases.
- 3. Analysis of polymorphisms of given genes in clinical practice will allow for determining predisposition to autoimmune thyroid disease development, for finding symptoms of thyroid gland dysfunction earlier, and for using appropriate treatment.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of his article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Bioethics Committee of Medical University in Bialystok. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kins.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The authors equally participated in the creation of the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Bossowski A, Stasiak-Barmuta A, Urban M. Relationship between CTLA-4 and CD28 molecule expression on T lymphocytes and stimulating and blocking autoantibodies to the TSH-receptor in children with Graves' disease. *Horm Res* (2005) 64(4):189–97. doi: 10.1159/000088875
- Inshaw JRJ, Cutler AJ, Crouch DJM, Wicker LS, Todd JA. Genetic Variants Predisposing Most Strongly to Type 1 Diabetes Diagnosed Under Age 7 Years Lie Near Candidate Genes That Function in the Immune System and in Pancreatic β-Cells. *Diabetes Care* (2020) 43(1):169–77. doi: 10.2337/ dc19-0803
- Brunner PM, He H, Pavel AB, Czarnowicki T, Lefferdink R, Erickson T, et al. The blood proteomic signature of early-onset pediatric atopic dermatitis shows systemic inflammation and is distinct from adult long-standing disease. J Am Acad Dermatol (2019) 81(2):510–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2019.04.036
- 9. Hordinsky MK. Current Treatments for Alopecia Areata. J Invest Dermatol Symp Proc (2015) 17(2):44–6. doi: 10.1038/jidsymp.2015.41
- Hwangbo Y, Park YJ. Genome-Wide Association Studies of Autoimmune Thyroid Diseases, Thyroid Function, and Thyroid Cancer. *Endocrinol Metab* (Seoul) (2018) 33(2):175–84. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2018.33.2.175
- Goyal M, Khanna D, Rana PS, Khaibullin T, Martynova E, Rizvanov AA, et al. Computational Intelligence Technique for Prediction of Multiple Sclerosis Based on Serum Cytokines. *Front Neurol* (2019) 10:781. doi: 10.3389/ fneur.2019.00781

- D'Netto MJ, Ward H, Morrison KM, Ramagopalan SV, Dyment DA, DeLuca GC, et al. Risk alleles for multiple sclerosis in multiplex families. *Neurology* (2009) 72(23):1984–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181a92c25
- Dimberg J, Shamoun L, Landerholm K, Andersson RE, Kolodziej B. Wågsäter D.Genetic Variants of the *IL2* Gene Related to Risk and Survival in Patients With Colorectal Cancer. *Anticancer Res* (2019) 39(9):4933–40. doi: 10.21873/ anticanres.13681
- 14. Xi B, Takeuchi F, Meirhaeghe A, Kato N, Chambers JC, Morris AP, et al. Associations of genetic variants in/near body mass index-associated genes with type 2 diabetes: a systematic meta-analysis. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2014) 81(5):702–10. doi: 10.1111/cen.12428
- Bradfield JP, Vogelezang S, Felix JF, Chesi A, Helgeland Ø., Horikoshi M, et al. A Trans-ancestral Meta-Analysis of genome-Wide Association Studies Reveals Loci Associated with Childhood Obesity. *Hum Mol Genet* (2019) 28 (19):3327–38. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddz161
- Krishnan M, Thompson JMD, Mitchell EA, Murphy R, McCowan LME, Shelling AN. Analysis of association of gene variants with obesity traits in New Zealand European children at 6 years of age. *Mol Biosyst* (2017) 13(8):1524– 33. doi: 10.1039/C7MB00104E
- Jiménez-Osorio AS, Aguilar-Lucio AO, Cárdenas-Hernández H, Musalem-Younes C, Solares-Tlapechco J, Costa-Urrutia P, et al. Polymorphisms in Adipokines in Mexican Children with Obesity. *Int J Endocrinol* (2019) 2019:4764751. doi: 10.1155/2019/4764751
- Wu L, Zhao X, Shen Y, Huang G, Zhang M, Yan Y, et al. Influence of lifestyle on the FAIM2 promoter methylation between obese and lean children: a cohort study. *BMJ Open* (2015) 5(4):e007670. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-007670
- Wu L, Zhao X, Shen Y, Zhang MX, Yan Y, Hou D, et al. Promoter methylation of fas apoptotic inhibitory molecule 2 gene is associated with obesity and dyslipidaemia in Chinese children. *Diabetes Vasc Dis Res* (2015) 12(3):217–20. doi: 10.1177/1479164114565630
- Ehnert S, Linnemann C, Braun B, Botsch J, Leibiger K, Hemmann P, et al. One-Step ARMS-PCR for the Detection of SNPs-Using the Example of the *PADI4* Gene. *Methods Protoc* (2019) 2(3):1–14. doi: 10.3390/ mps2030063
- Aversa T, Corrias A, Salerno M, Tessaris D, Di Mase R, Valenzise M, et al. Five-Year Prospective Evaluation of Thyroid Function Test Evolution in Children with Hashimoto's Thyroiditis Presenting with Either Euthyroidism or Subclinical Hypothyroidism. *Thyroid* (2016) 26(10):1450–6. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2016.0080
- Wasniewska M, Aversa T, Salerno M, Corrias A, Messina MF, Mussa A, et al. Five-year prospective evaluation of thyroid function in girls with subclinical mild hypothyroidism of different etiology. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2015) 173 (6):801–8. doi: 10.1530/EJE-15-0484

- 23. Lydersen S, Fagerland MW, Laake P. Recommended tests for association in 2 x 2 tables. *Statist Med* (2009) 28:1159–75. doi: 10.1002/sim.3531
- 24. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *J R Stat Soc B* (1995) 57:289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- De Luca F, Corrias A, Salerno M, Wasniewska M, Gastaldi R, Cassio A, et al. Peculiarities of Graves' disease in children and adolescents with Down's syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2010) 162(3):591–5. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0751
- 26. Valenzise M, Aversa T, Corrias A, Mazzanti L, Cappa M, Ubertini G, et al. Epidemiology, presentation and long-term evolution of Graves' disease in children, adolescents and young adults with Turner syndrome. *Horm Res Paediatr* (2014) 81(4):245–50. doi: 10.1159/000357130
- 27. Lewontin RC. The interaction of selection and linkage. I. General considerations; heterotic models. *Genetics* (1964) 49:49–67.
- R Core Team. A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2012). Available at: http:// www.R-project.org/.
- Mondal S, Thompson PR. Protein arginine deiminases (pads): Biochemistry and chemical biology of protein citrullination. Acc Chem Res (2019) 52:818– 32. doi: 10.1021/acs.accounts.9b00024
- Anzilotti C, Pratesi F, Tommasi C, Migliorini P. Peptidylarginine deiminase 4 and citrullination in health and disease. *Autoimmun Rev* (2010) 9:158–60. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2009.06.002
- Mergaert AM, Bawadekar M, Nguyen TQ, Massarenti L, Holmes CL, Rebernick R, et al. Reduced Anti-Histone Antibodies and Increased Risk of Rheumatoid Arthritis Associated with a Single Nucleotide Polymorphism in PADI4 in North Americans. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 25:20(12). doi: 10.3390/ ijms20123093
- 32. Lai NS, Yu HC, Tung CH, Huang KY, Huang HB, Lu MC. Increased peptidylarginine deiminases expression during the macrophage differentiation and participated inflammatory responses. *Arthritis Res Ther* (2019) 21(1):108. doi: 10.1186/s13075-019-1896-9

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Sawicka, Borysewicz-Sańczyk, Wawrusiewicz-Kurylonek, Aversa, Corica, Gościk, Krętowski, Waśniewska and Bossowski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

